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Secession

by Fel (aka James Galloway)

ToC 1

Jason and thKarinnes continue to fight théonsortium while negotiating with EmpreBahnai to split the
Karinnes from the Faey Empire.



To: Title ToC 2

Chapter 1

Raira, 10 Demaa, 4401, Orthodox Calendar

Tuesday, 27 April 2014, Terran Standard Calendar

Raira, 10 Demaa, year 1327 of the"@Zereration, Karinne Historical Reference Calendar
Foxwood East, Karsa, Karis

There was quite a bit going on today.
Jason was up early and downstairs, nursing a cup of coffee as the-tedphshblue sun of Karis rose
and streaked light across the kitnhet abl e, t he at mospherebdés content and
turning the sun red as it crept over the eastern horizon. Nobody else was up yet, and the quiet gave him
time to organize the day in his mind. The most important thing, though niisthen his itinerary, was
Miaari. Denmother would be arriving today to take her cubs back to Kimdori Prime, which Miaari assured
him would be quite easy. Jason had seen a scan of the thremyit§imdori within her, two males and a
female, whichdt Jasondés surprise were not very developed, di
Mi aari 6s body. Their eyes |l ooked to have no eyelids,
cope with bright light for another couple of months, bul@$iom that, they looked disturbingly like
puppies with their heads mounted on their necks to accommodate a vertical base. They would stay with the
Denmother until Miaari had the time to care for them herself, which Jason fervently hoped would be very,
very soon.
The second really big deal going on today was the arrival dfgmeri. The ship was complete and
fully operational, and as soon as it arrived, Admiral Haema Karinne would be taking command of it after a
brief commission ceremony. It was tsister ship of thé\egis looked exactly identical now that thegis
had a GRAF cannon installed, and that behemoth was going to make an immediate impact. With two
capitol ships, one could deploy to the PR sector while the other remained at homedeferiag.
And up in Kosigi, the keel of the third capitol ship, given the interim designatttomitable was
already laid. Now that Kosigi had doors big enough to let the big ships in and out, there was no reason to
hog one of the major stardocks ardutimdori Prime. They had built a capitol dock, and now the
Indomitablewas under construction, projected to be completed in 7 months, 3 days.
On a related note, after a major setback in construction caused by an accident, the first caalser was
going to be commissioned today. That ship had been assigned to Jaiya, sort of moving sideways from the
Tr el | ddauseGhe fvas considered by Navii to be best suited for command of a carrier, and thus far,
she had kept her intended name of hernew carria s ecr et . Shedd spent al most e
ship since she was awarded command, studying every aspect of its operation, poring over blueprints and
design holos, and assembling her crew. The command chairs had been shuffled a bit withribeobaen
chair on a battleship. After nearly two days of deliberation, and something of a surprise to Jason, the
generals decided to promote Jeya Karinne td'thee | | e Jeya had some of the shortest time in the
chair of a big ship, but when Jastimallenged their decision, they showed him her scores since taking
command of th&emeron They had improvedastlys i nce shedd moved up from the c
the bigger the ship, the better she commanded it. They admitted they were takitigrepafer chance
putting such a young captain in the chair of a battleship, but the House Karinne promoted based on merit,
not cronyi sm. Jeyabs command scores beat out the ot |
Jeya got the chair. Hgouth made them carefully consider that decision, but the numbers were the
numbers. Other captains had better scores, but those captains were still settling into their own new
commands, and Navii had instituted a minimum command time policy so as ooistartly upset the
crews. Jason had the feeling, after his long talk with Myri, Juma, and Navii, that Jeya was going to be just
fine. Every ship shebdd commanded had had outstandi ng
created a series of steps in the command structure. Koye Karinne had been promoted up from the
cruiserimai to replace Jeya on tfieemeron and Miya Foralle from the destroyeheyenndiad been
promoted up to replace Koye. The daemrtadepathr 6 s chair
named Greg Masterson, who joined Pete Abrams as the second of the human male ship captains in the



KMS. Much like Pete Abrams and Justin Taggart, Greg had been a Naval officer before the subjugation,
having just graduated from the Navata&dlemy two years before the Faey arrived.

The third big thing going on was happening all the way over @8 PR Things had more or less
stalled over there as his girls got the system defended, digging in on the heavy gravity, heavy pressure
planet andaking delivery of more and more stockpiles of 3D toys, building up until they had sufficient
inventory to start operations. They were also waiting for the Kimdori to finish their surveillance as they
used CMS equipped infiltrators and hyperspace probhs.Kimdori would tell them where to strike, once
they fully understood exactly what the Consortium and their subject race there, called the Imxi, were
buil ding. It was a situation akin to théeewiaSitskrieg:¢
willing to move and the result was a lull in the fighting. That situation was the same in the home sector,
since the Consortium had given up every system they had taken except for Trieste, mainly because the
interdictors made attacking anythidgngerous

They learned that lesson nine days ago, when a trio of Consortium destroyers jumped into the Skaa
Republic system of Trazik to most likely conduct a sensor sweep of the defenses for possible future action,
relying on their ability to jump in, scathen jump out before the Skaa could respond. The KMS and
Kimdori had been monitoring, and as soon as they jumped, the KMS jumped an interdictor into the system
with supporting Kimdori SCM ships within 90 seconds, and the Consortium ships found batdrend
brutal way that the KMS had come up with a counterstrategy to those probing actions meant to identify
weaknesses in uninterdicted systems and follow up with an overwhelming attack fleet that would destroy
all population. The KMS countered thoseibterdicting those systentehindthe invading ships, trapping
them in there with the swarming hordes of Skaa defense pickets, virtually uncountable numbers of fighters
and corvettes. Those ships were old, virtually obsolete, but there were so maam diat even highly
advanced Consortium ships were overwhelmed by the raw firepower that some 15,000 defensive picket
ships could unleash.

Numbers were the Skaabs advantage, and they knew hoc

The Consortium learned quickly that sending skipany system meant that whatever ships they sent
there were going to be lost, whether they accomplished their mission or not. And at this point, the
Consortiumcould notafford to throw away ships.

Since the probing action at Trazik that cost the Cdnsuorthree destroyers, not a single ship had
moved from Trieste.

Myri and the generals were preparing a contingency plan for Trieste in case the spiders failed. If they
were going to just sit in Trieste, then Myri was going to pin them in there likapsitig the opening of the
den of an angry bear. They needed 6 interdictors to completely surround and entrap the Trieste system,
placing the interdictors at strategic points so their interdiction fields overlapped Trieste, creating a
minimum of .3967 lighyear void through which the Consortium could not jump, and that was at the
tangential border of where two interdiction fields intersected. The maximum was a 1.49999979917 light
year journey across the diameter of the interdiction field, which was gWbylears across by diameter, one
light year across by radius. Syncing 6 different interdictors so their fields could intersect in common space
without interfering with each other was no easy feat, requiring Cybi herself to write the governing
algorithm b pull it off.

However, they couldnét trap them in Trieste until t
the civilian population there. There were 127 Kimdori infiltrators in various positions in and around the
planet killer that they werbuilding, there to sabotage or prevent it from being activated, but what was far
more important, there were now six different variant
Trieste system.

The plan to send a cruiser shell filled withspglerhad been a compl ete success.
little trick 9 days ago, changing the plan slightly
cruiser shell filled with spiders and carrying an entire hold full of Skaa antimatter bombs tiwkieh
Kimdori infiltrator ships had towed in from hyperspace and then released to allow it to drop into normal
space on its own, also so as not to put engines on the ship that the Consortium could get their hands on if
something went wrong. The ship hadpersed its nanitesell before approaching the planet, dropping out
of hyperspace some 320,0ké&thrafrom Trieste I, then a CMS ship already there picked it up and towed
it enough to give it enough momentum to close that distance within 1.2 hourshipted SCM on it to
prevent the Consortium from scanning it and seeing
how it worked to make them suspiciouséafter all, t
hold their attentin. Much as they expected, the Consortium destroyed the ship after penetrating the SCM

t !
he



with a destroyer equipped with sensor pods, hitting it with gravometric missiles and making the thing go up
like a supernova, thanks to all those antimatter bombs.Coheortium knew then that their energy being

had failed and that the Karinnes had tried to sneak a Trojan horse in on them, blut tiddgndiwtthat all

that was just subterfuge. About two days later, the spiders that the ship had released drifiedrimste
system, and they diekactlywhat they were programmed to do. They infiltrated 2,393 Consortium ships in
orbit around the planet, they infiltrated 580 of the 1,317 Imperium weapon platforms the Consortium had
taken from the Shio, and some sp&leven managed to get down onto the planet via shuttles and

dropships, and were slowly spreading out on the planet, seeking out the planet killer and the planetary
operations center. The plan for those spiders was for themnothing at least for now They were

going to be given time to get into position, spread to more ships, more weapon platforms, and when the
time came to either attack Trieste or seal it off behind interdictors, the spiders were there to help protect the
Alliance population at thenercy of the Consortium, wheadno mercy.

Of only slightly Il ess importance was that Rannbés bi
importanceJ y s lbiimGshday was in five days. In the Faey cal e
actualleytumemdaogbfive if he wanted to be technical ab

system, however. They added one year to the birthday because they believed that life stamteghtbn
andthatwas the day that the Faey truly celebratéch ey al so saw age not as a hard
current year of your Ilife.o A newborn was one year (
months prior, and they were the first year of lifetherefore they werene year old Faey gestain was
very nearly a standard year, so they just rounded off for the sake of convenience. A newborn was
considered to be one diwlaef ode,bibriclhusel t hegdldl pewas n ¢
it a birthday, though that was thetdiral translation from Faey to English. It was more correct to dhakit
anniversary of life It was a quirky thing they did that Jason did himself, since he was living in a Faey
system and that was how t he g¢go9erramywfdia childeed asai t ébut Go ¢
five year old was almosghsultingto him. He was so mature, so intelligentesiicated The Faey started
teaching their kids literally in the cradle, so while Rann was almosi %ie by Faey reckoniriy
chronologically, it waso easy to think of him more as a seven or eight year old. When Rann turned six,
many Faey would consider him to be startingdeigenth year of lifeand many of the ultrarthodox old
school Faey, like the Exiled, would actually consider him tedyen.

Not officially, though. By official birth records, Rann would be turning 6 on 1 Kedaa, so they had

some 16 days to prepare a party and buy presents. J
more i mmedi at e, e s p eetysuelwhayto gel herdoeherbethdayajsteay@étt ent i

She wouldnét care that much. F a enportahiindcaeg e | e br at e bi
culture as they were in Terran culture. A few congratulations, maybe a present from her paremis, and t
was it. But Jason was Terran, and birthdays were setl
thrown her a party every birthday, almost embarrassing her a couple of times, but this year, with the war
and all, he | ugedthemthissygatt sur e what to

Well, one thing he could do was get her family here. Her parents had never visited Karis before, the
visits always Jyslin going to see them, and she hadn:¢
busy and behindthesecr¢ f i rewall of Karis that she didnét talk
shoul d. But with them being outed, the secrets of tI
any real reason for her parents to stay on the other side of thddisen had offered to bring them to Karis
several times over the year s, but for mlodye strange r ¢

visited Karis that waneexéeptiorm urn essideenthe &ndndtolmer e wWegrse
factory manager and her mother was a primary school teacher, the reason Jyslin had one of the broadest
vocabularies Jason had ever seen in a Faey, and Jason figured that they were too entrenched in their lives
and responsibilities to pull up their roots andve to Karis.

He had to work on that, he supposed. Her parents currently lived on Jerama Ill, which was a farming
planet and the planet that produced the Faey with that saqgpire or ed skin thanks to Jer a
having moved from that arcticaonon when Jysl inds father got his job ma
by House Duralle, one of the smaller minor houses. l
there due to a trade agreement with House Shovalle, who did own the systente $dplied hovercars
to the Jerama system at a reduced cost, and in return, got a discount on food produced on Jerama for
Duralle consumption.

After just three years, Jyslinbés parents were very
as tke native Faey population, and if they stayed there and had more kids, most likely their grandkids would



have the same pigmentation mutation as the other Faey natives by the third generation. Humans, on the
other hand, would sunburn within minutesofbeing Jer ama i f they didnoét have su
atmosphere blocked the harmful UV rays that caused skin cancer, but barely blocked the UV spectrum that
caused tanning at all.
That was a curious aspect of the Faey. They genetically adapted to diéfeveahments very
quickly, and would even demonstrate abnormal traits compared to other Faey after being there long
enough. Hara was the perfect example of that. Her eyes were so adjusted to a nocturnal lifestyle that
Kar i s® sunl i g h her, iofcifigeher to weae protective Istinshadesdluring the daylight hours.
J er a ma 6 sskimedpg-pyhthe Faey like Hara, they were genetic variants of the standard Faey race,
produced by adapting to different environments.
It just showed everyone thevhile Faey were virtually identical to Terrans, theseresome pretty
significant differences.
Ayama set a plate of waffles in front of him silently as he pondered, then set dowrhuertgar
produced by those Kizzik beetle livestock bugs and mixek m#ple syrup, which was actually pretty
damn good.So quiet this morninddyama noted lightyWh at 6 s t he matter ?
Pondering what to get Jys for her birthddug replied privately, so as not to tip off his wife that he was
scheming.
And here | thoughyou were angry with me over the calendsdre sent playfully. Ayama had bought a
day on the calendar, and in typical Ayama fashion, henbddeaif she was serious about it or if it was
some kind of joke. He 6 d wo r &«oftbe hardest menmlchoedtiat on Ay ads
that vicious bitch could think up. Ayamabds day co0me:
on her mind about it, she handed him a keycard to a hotel room and shooed him off. In the hotel room was
a fully arimatronic female sex doll, one of the robot sex toys the Faey sex industry manufactured, a bowl of
oyefruit, a bottle ofAll Nighter! male enhancement formula, and a full sized poster picture of Shey on the

wall wearing nothing but a smile, finally payihgi m back for al/l those times heodd
putting on clothes. Shey had already paid for her part in that little joke, spending an entire shift at her

console wearing a nothing but a sign on her back thatlnedichot tease my Grand Dukb ut he6d | et
Ayama sl i deaslueng.ause it

Revenge is a dish best served cold, and from complete sutm@is@rned with a light smileJust ask
the twins what happens when you get on the list.

It sounds like someone wants to have a nionh cuinary adventureshe threatened, smacking him
playfully on the wrist with a wooden spoon.

I 61 | jyousedt everghing firsthe counteredl do t hink ités about ti me | [
around to protect me from poisoning.

She gave him a liltingmile. Y e s , Il et me cook the food I &dm tasting,
beforehandshe teased, which made him laugh.

Bitch.

Her Majesty isnb6t the only one t hsheésentcheekilgasi t when vy
she poured more batter inet waffle iron. Rann, Danelle your breakfast is readfe sent, adding power to
get his attention.Yours will be ready in just a couple of minutes, my Lady.

Okay, Ayama. IRGnmanawenetb st r eady,

What c ha Jgsinagkedn 6 ?

Waffles.

Ooh! Be right down!

So, no ideas for Lady Jyslifdama asked.

Nothinggoodyet,he answered with an audible grumtam going to bring her family here for the party
and make it a surprise, her parents, Lorna, and her uncle and cousins.

Shedl | | ealees love eafamilAyanta nodded.

[Jason,] Cybi called.

[What is it, Cybi?]

She manifested her hologram, that nude sil houette v
face, the hologram fading into nothingness just below the knees. Shergwand on his shoulder and
leaned over to look down at hinfil need you at the 3D dock up in Kosigi after breakfast, my friend.]

[The string jammer?he asked hopefully.

[ Yes, theyodre inst al | sheaapswerédetheh raaset towaeds theiothexend r r ay s nc
of the table. Another hologram formed, showing the interior of the 3D drydock up in Kosigi where they



were building the string jammer, which looked like an egg with a bunch of TV antennas stuck in both ends.
Much like the carrig the string jammer had run into a snag that extended the build time, caused by the
Shimmer Dome accidentally sending parts that were made wrong. The lattice arrays, which were the
fant ennaso that produced t he | anglatica matrig that puicso , had beer
much feedback into the system that it caused an emergency shutdown. It had taken them nearly six hours
of troubleshooting to figure it out when they gave ititsinitialstag t est, and t heydd had tc
for the Shimmer Dome to fix the problem and get time on the assembly line to produce the parts.
That was becoming a problem that Jason had ordered them to rectify. The Shimmer Dome was
running at 138% capacity, and Bunvar already had orders to go in thezgpamtl the complex to give it
more production capability. The Shimmer Dome was now the biggest bottleneck in Karinne production,
because all biogenic units and components wehgbuilt in that complex, for both the Karinnes and the
Kimdori, and virtualy all modern Karinne technology contained biogenics in one form or another.
Computers, interface control nodes, biogenic relays, translation nodes, sensors, it was all biogenic, and that
meant that anything that was interface controlled had, at the mimimbiogenic interface control circuit

init. [ | know itds going to make the day even busier, bu
[ Wel I | I can at | east come up and hang around wuntil
doesshe reasoned, checking the time usinbyansergéstalt,

expected arrival time. Zaa was arriving aboardyha@eri, just hitching a ride on it actually.

Amber jumped up onto the table and immediately satdioviront of her dish, yipping
commandingly. Jason had to pause and watch in amusement as Ayama carried over a small pan holding
t he vul pa manasaubages Bekahn aggg, and diogdfruit all scrambled together, and scraped it
i nt o A nvwd eShefpattedittm little vulpar on the head fondly and went back to tending the waffle
iron, and Jason had to chuckle a little. There was no doubt wiibisénousehold.

[ Yes, shebds quite t heybiadskeaddghtly, inomdpubtotehimg through oelofe not ? ]
the cameras.

AYou know, Amber, you could say thank you, 0 Jason s
general direction without taking her muzzle out of he
and pinding one of those tailtips. Amber gave a squeaky little growl, which made him |jMplen is
thelyanerischeduled to arrive?]

[Itis still at Kimdori Prime. If there are no changes, it is scheduled to arrive at 12:25 local time.]

Accessing his gestahe saw that it was 07:48, so he had a little under four hours. It was very nearly
the solstice, which would be the longest day and shortest night of the year on Karis, the official start of
what passed for autumn in the tropical belt. In Karsa, hbege of seasons affected weather patterns and
precipitation far more than temperature. As fall progressed, the weather systems would shift to come more
out of the north, and since that meant that they had to cross the continent, it was the stary of the d
seasonét hough when they first got here, that also me:
bare earth in the unterraformed northern tracts of Karga. The entire continent was now at least partially
terraformed to the point whedringrass careted the ground to prevent erosion, the Draeoriggn grass
actually was a very tough plant that could grow in very hostile conditions. There were some bare stretches
too on the west side of the continent north of Karsa, where prevailing winds afarétia Mountains
formed a desert environment. Naturally, the Kizzik had colonized that area, for they preferred hot, arid
conditions like the desert planet of their origin, and quite a few Makati had settled in towns on the edges of
the desert, where thiry grassland reminded them of Makan.

[ Well, you can relay a message to the Denmother the

[l would be happy to do so. I owi || al so send a mes
White House today.]

[Not unless | have to,he agreed.

[ will see you in Kosigi then,Cybi nodded, then her hologram wavered and vanished.

Jyslin wandered down, yawning, wearing nothing but
Jason said aloud, which made her laugh #aqul lsim lightly on the back of the head as she sat down.

Rann up yet8he asked.

On his way downJason answered as Ayama put a cupyefuice down in front of Jyslin.

Syrup or nectar, my Lady?

Both,she replied as Ayama picked up a plate of waffles the warmer, drizzled liberal amounts of
both syrup and Kizzik nectar over them, then set the plate before her. She attacked it immétimteld r e
gonna be in Kosigi today?



Yup, Il 6m not going t o t hhenodded as kedk-bannk of coteeTh@or e Zaa ar
string jammer should be finished today, and | want to be there when we test it. Where you guys at on that
Consortium flagship?

About halfway done. Webre starting to té&ar througt
advanced, webre act whkelrdplipgd. | earning a few things,

Ni ce. I havendt seen the report yet.

ShenoddedYou shoul d have the repor tgothere,sheosantlighthons ol e o v «

Hey, | 6 v ehe firadested, fdichisghilwating handpanel from the far side of the table with his

power. As inbusy not that lightassed playing around shit you and Myli are doing up in Kosigi.

Watch it, bustershe winked.

Rann hustled into the kit chenlethimwge tischaolgvithbutteke ar mor .
armor, especially since it had a tactical gestalt in it. His helmet was locked behind his neck and shoulders
in its resting positionMorning Daddy, Mommyhe sent as he climbed into his chair, and Ayama brought
over his waffles, already dressed with syrup and nectar just the way he liked them.

Morning, pippy.Jason sent.

Morning baby boyJyslin mirrored.Did you have a good sleep?

Yeah.

Wherebds Danny?

Sheds lkeamiened as he started cutting his waffles.

Danelle! Ayama called.Hurry up, you have school!

| 6m al most shereplig. ,Dantlle haohbeen more or less a permanent houseguest for the
last two weeks, since Myleena was so busy with the Consortium ship, the string jammer, and therb0 milli

ot her things clogging her inbox. Jason certainly di ¢
adopted daughteaddy Jason, I think | may need you or Mommy,
Come on down with wh akealpadakatitwhdeweu,eat préeakfast, and |1 611 t a
I got it on, it just wonbét move right.
Disable the power assist, pips, dondét take any char
assist isndt working right.
6Kay. Be right down.

Danelle hurried dowmto the kitchen and climbed into a chair, and Jason got up and got behind her,
leaning down. He jacked the handpanel into the armor using the neckport, at least after taking off her
helmet, and interacted directly with the armor through his gestalt anfpp&ael, which was biogenic. He
had the armor run a passive diagnostic while Danelle got to work on the waffles Ayama put in front of her.
What 6s t hdyslimaseeg.nosi s ?

Definitely a problem, |1 ooks | i &hardwarertsofttvdnee mot i on s €
This is a new one to me.

Me t oo, and | dondt r emembedyslnsagreed.Ng sensor i ssues i
Pips, wheredés your backup suit?

Uh, ités in my room at home.

Then go change into it Dbtekéalookatthioane forgoa.ve f or school
Aww, I dondét | ike my old armor. I't doesndét have t he
You shoul dndt be showi ng of fJasorssenblightiyt dmesermeatct i ¢ a l any

bleeding into his sending.
After breakfast, Danelle $aed the problem of having to carry her malfunctioning armor back by
taking it off right in the kitchen. Jason found her solution to be both practical and amusing, especially
when a naked Danelle hurried out twasDathallec Herdoor and he
solutions were usually practical to the point of being not entirely socially acceptable, but that was the mind
of a six year old girl who was raised to believe that nudity was entirely proper. Danelle had similar
tendencies when askingiestions. She had very little tact.
After breakfast, Aya sent the guards out to escort Rann and Danelle to school, Jason picked up his own

retinue of Dera and Suri, and they headed up to Kosigi in the Marine cdneetos Jason had Danell
armor wth him, troubleshooting it back on the tactical deck of the corvette. Ryn had been going with Rann
much more | ately, since she was probably the most ski

tutoring just about all the kids on the strip bothdheol and after school. Shen was her usual partner, so
Jason hadnét been paired with her for a few days eit!
more than one plot against Jason thwarted, Aya had been spending more and more time at the house,



overseeing security from her office in the barracks behind the house and ready to dispatch the Rapid
Response Team at the first hint of trouble. That team was a unit of 6 Imperial Guard and 12 Marines in a
corvette with two Wolf fighter escorts that steyia the exact center of all Dukal family positions,

minimizing the response time to any one of them as much as possible. With Jason and Jyslin at Kosigi,
Rann in school, Tim at work at the White House in the intelligence office, and Symone doing pigher d
over at the Gladiator factory, the RRT would be in orbit over Karis, right smack in the middle.

Jason had Danell ebds armor repaired and on its way b
docked at the 3D bay. Cybi had wanted him at thegsfammer, so that was where he went after dropping
Jyslin off at the dock holding the Consortium flagship. Myleena greeted him at the guarded entry into the
contained dock, grinning brightly as sh@ used her ar |
environmentHey babes, wedre installing the |l ast | attice ar
Cybi told me, thatdés why | &d&m herlggneri 1 611 be in your
Il 611 just put you in the naughmydockhshewnked you cause t
Says who? | 6m t he Grand Duke here, not to mention
Big whoop,| 6the one that makes everything work. So that makemthisybox,she sent smugly.
Someone needs to have her butt taken down a fewJasgssent with a smile And what do you
know, loutrankyou.
She laughedYou t ake my Duchess title, and youdre gonna w
surprise than you ever bargained fshe threatenedA y a w o mnméftom somimginto your house
Touché he returned with a chuckle, rapping his armored gauntlet on her shoulder.
Jason rolled up his sleeves in a figurative sense and helped them install the last of the lattice arrays,
enjoying something he rarely got to do anymore, which was thiilds. The string jammer had eight
arrays, four on each side of its ovoid central body,
jammer had its own hyperspace jump engines in it, why it took so long to build, so it coulddelf,
redepoy to a new position on remote command, and also remove itself from possible danger. The jammer
would be paired with an interdictor that the jammer would carry in an internal bay, which was one reason
why it was so big, and give the string jammer powetéfense. The jammer could deploy in real time and
jump the entire distance in one jump like any other robotic device that had no living things in it, deploy its
interdictor, and then pick up its interdictor and move if it was necessary. For diretf sueh as an
asteroid or some space object on a collision course, the jammer was armed with rail cannons and pulse
cannons, and was equipped with the strongest Teryon hard shield they could fit in it without interfering
with the | amme dlesnforcediaputithe lattice arr@yksilethé hard shield else the
Teryon shield would interfere, but the jammer woul dn:i
weapons were defensive only and geared almost specifically for dealing with rgects,afot a hostile
ship. If the jammer was under any kind of direct threat from a hostile force, it would pick up its interdictor
and jump outéor just jump out and have the interdict

jammers would be carolled by a console over at the military command center, allowing an operator to
move the jammers if necessary.

Once the jammer was tested, they were going to deploy it. After what happened at Raxxad and
Pathrana, they were very wary of putting it ie thome sector as first planned, fearing that the jamming of
their longrange communications would incite an attempt to eradicate the population of Trieste. They
wouldsacrifice Trieste if they had no other choice, but they were going to try to avoifighatl possible.

So, this first jammer was going to be deployed to Exile, in a position where it couddl jahthe

communications between Andromeda and the Milky Way due to the angular vectors that the intergalactic
communications had to take to cerfrom Andromeda to their galaxy. That one chokepoint would jam any
attempt for Andromeda to communicate wathy part of their galaxy. Once they had an idea of what to do
about Trieste, the second jammer would be deployed in Alliance space not féindrémperium border,

which would allow that one string jammer to jam all Consortium-amge communications in the entire
sector, as well as a whole lot of uninhabited space in the sectors surrounding them, and blanketing about
15% of the Verutan Empirand 12% of the Haumda Federation, which were in the next sector over. From
there, they already had a plan drawn up to completely destroy all Consortivnaf@@communications

in the entiregalaxy, which would require 26 string jammers deployed in Zifpgattern along critical

vectors, which would cripple any attempt for the Consortium to use string communications anywhere that it
mattered. String communications were, in a iag of sight meani ng that if there
between the emsmitter and the receiver, then the transmission would fail to reach the receiver. The string
jammers were designed to more or less put up a wall between the two, and their string jammer placement

wa s



more or less choked off all the main transmission vecté'bat this meant was that a string jammer would
disrupt all communications within its jamming field, la$odisrupt any communications attempting to
passthroughits jamming field en route to a receiver on the far side. An additional 138 string jammer
would saturate the entire galaxy in a string jamming field and make it absolutely impossible to use string
communicationsnywheren the Milky Way galaxy. That was the ultimate goal, but in the short term,
preventing communications in critical areasswehat mattered most.
Between the interdictors and the string jammers, Jason fully intended to render the Consortium as
helpless as a slug on a salt flat.
Jason got so wrapped up in helping them build the string jammer that he was honestly surprised when
Cybi told him that théyaneriwas an hour out. The Kimdori were planning a 45 minute jump, giving the
crew a chance to rest since maditKimdori had the same resistance to hyperspace that Zaa did, as well as
pausing to inspect the jump engines, whiakuld be the first time they were used when the flagship was
fully operational. Jason headed to the ops center al
center to watch its progress on the board. Down on the surface, Admiral Haema was forneingregp,
some 7,390 Faey, Terrans, Makati, Kizzik, as well as a handful of ShieB&ariJakkans, Shurai, and
Beryans, some of the first Alliance races to graduate from the KMS training academytiainiogy
intensive PTS roles; their Primary Traing Speci ali zation, their fjobd as it
in nature, so they would excel in the scientific departments, as would the Beryans, who were both highly
intelligent and exceptionally cunning. B&ari, Shurai, and Stevaki were by neams dumb, but Jakkans
and Beryans were more or less the scientific specialists in the Alliance. There were no Stevaki in the crew,
at least yet, buttheBaBar i and the Shurai certainly we&aiendét hard
were highlyintelligent, versatile, and adaptable, very hu+fika in that regard, and could be found
anywhere in the Alliance, doing most anything, which meant that there would bBdai most any
department on the ship. The Shurai down there, seven or salf@tioids with feathers, beaks, and
taloned hands that only had three fingers and a thumb, were all fighter pilots, the first to rate on the Wolf
fighters using an interface. Arbly fuck were theynasty Shurai had reflexes almost five times faste
than the average Terran or Faey, and they had flight instincts that made them holy terrors in the cockpit of a
ship. And when they used an interface, which cut down their response times even more due to not having
to moveto react, their reflexes shotputo nearly eight times faster than a Terran or Faey. Those two traits
made them almost born to fly fighters, but Shurai al ¢
battleship. Some of the best s cySheapildtsunderposng Pi | ot 6 s
flight training for big ships after passing basic KMS training.
Zora had better look out, the Shurai were coming for her job.
Jason was actually a little surprised when Miaari and Tim came into the command center with a
Beryanal ong with him, wearing the uni fddsapshewasMi aari 6s | |
hiring some Beryans, and this had to be the first shi
could see why the Kimdori had a fondness for Besy&r both were canine races. But where Kimdori
were anywhere from five to eight feet tall, Beryans were only about three to four feet high, and had short,
narrow muzzles that were almost vulpine, expressive eyes that were usually brown, yellow, erardng
l ong, slightly shaggy tails with a artificially dyed,
breed, and therefore their family lineage, which wagyducking deahmong the Beryans. The banding of

the tip was like the tartanofsac ot t i sh c | an, identiftying the Beryanés
Beryans were fully plantigrade, having no elongated feet, and their arms were slightly longer than normal
in Terran proportions. Not grdadeliy kmeelsyt wheBer yna mi

hands would hang just below the crotch. What Jason found most curious and slightly disturbing about the
Beryan race was that the females had permanently pronounced breasts, like Terran, Faey, and Shio women,
but they hadour of them. This Beryan was a male, thank goodness, with mottled black, white, and brown
fur where Jason could see it, and a tail banded with red, yellow, red, blue, black, and red, which marked
himasNg 6 g-brelaha member of t he shmgdiged thanselvésdyrianliligs,ina Ber y an
pack mentality, similar to the clan structure of the Kimdori. There were only 17 Kimdori clans, but there
were 296 different and unique Beryan families, and every Beryan belonged to one of those families.

ThankGal f or gestalts that could instantly supply that
memorize all of it.

AKravakk, might | present the Grand Duke, Jason Kar
Kravakk Evakk RahdehNgMrgalyedahd NNjidagarrria hi notfr a chuec e d . i He
assigned to Timdéds analysis office. o



Ailt is good to greet the Highest of High, o the Ber.y
bowing it.

A have high expectatiuomsorafh yhou iinfg,Mi alarsio nd e eonhedd ty
AfBut the reputation of the Beryans fills me with conf
AYou honor me, Highest of High, o6 the Beryan said sn

charismatic as the Shio. Beryans were glib and-sgmdken, and excelled as merchants, politicians, and
diplomats. In the Alliance, the vast majority of embassy workers, diplomats, and ambassadors were
Beryan, and as such, they were the race with whiskr@mpires had the most contact.

Ails this your first visit to Kosigi?Oo

AYes, Hi ghest of High. I have only just completed
into the division. o He | ooked ,HighssbofiHigh,A amghaeed ey e . il
byMrrageh with talent. Itéds not nearly as strong as ou

AWow, a talented Beryan? How did the Alliance | et
honest surprise. Only abb0.6% of the Beryan race was telepathic.

AHIi gh Miaar. made me an offer | couldndét refuse, 0
simply say that my resignation tendered to the Organi
takmeback into the fold. o
AHe was one of their best, o0 Miaari smiled. ABut he
How is he so fardason asked Tim privately.
Fucki néerepledh g , d 0 e s radythingfamdrhetalks as fast as Symonesdeben she
wants something.
Jason had to stifle a laugBetter be careful, your job is on the line, Tim.
Dondt | helgreedwithiout much humor.

I f heds that good, odds assomnoted wondt be in anal ysi s
Yeah. | st divinghtim esposairé ® thé different offices.
Jason chatted with Kravakk for a few moments as Miaari watched on, then she almost casually stepped
up to hi m. She didndét say a word, she simply reachect
places she could make skin to skin contact. Jason felt her reach out and connect to him in the way Kimdori
coul d. She imparted to him that while Zaa was here

alsocarrying very important and highly sétge information concerning the Consortium, and also the
Syndicate. Jason nodded silently when he processed that, then put a finger on his gestalt, which was
becoming something of an unnecessary habit when communing with[Cybiy bi , we 6 rWhitegoi ng t o
House after \ewanedhetone her e, ]
[Shall | warn Chirk?]

[Just tell her than |1 &m not coming to do any busi ne
prepare my office.]
[ I under stand. I 611 have her prepare it for your &

Jason spent most of the time waiting talking with Miaari and Tim as Kravakk listened intently, and
then thelyaneriarrived. It was indistinguishable from tAegisexcept by the name painted on the bow in
both English and Faey script, and the fact thatyaneriwas immaculately clean. After so much action,

theAegishad a few scars and smudges on it that they hadnd¢
were the last thing on their minds right now. A holo of the bridge winked on in theentes,cand Admiral
Dellin stepped up with Jason and saluted sharply whei

thelyanerir equesting permission to enter the base, 0 she sa
APer mi ssion granted, D e nreneinghtransmitted a6 pdr dockedsignyment n st r uct
as we speak. o

AUnder stood. Navigator, access telemetry instruct.i

iAt once, Denmot her, 0 a voice replied off the screce

AYou are looking well, Jason. o

Ailtds nice t hats ywdhwedrhearrmatngwirsiotfi dgpom t his time, 0 |
laugh.

AYes, for oncehappyo cacna sviiosni,toi nsgh ef osrmid ed rogui shl y.
surrender your cubs to me, Handmai den Miaari ?0

il am, my Denmoti lerce. ®dt your conven

A have all prepared, 0 she replied. iwWe wil. retir
speak of several affairs, and then Handmaiden will d



AYoudl I have to endure giern,ng Jnesan toaird.of filhted s hmy
the christening of any new ship.o

AAt | east you wil!/ know your way around, 0 she smil e

ADel | in, | dm going to be busy with theari®enmot her , s
unt i | I have time to attend, if you dondt mind, 6 Jas

Aildll see to it, your Grace, 0 he nodded.

Jason and Miaari went down to the staging area while Tim and Kravakk returned to work, and he
chatted with Haema while they waited for hewrghip to navigate to its assigned docking space. Haema
was middle aged as Faey reckoned things, her face showing a few age lines and her lavender hair showing
a few strands of blue, which was the Faey version of gray hair, but she was sharp as astiltk and
handsome woman. She was one of his Imperial steals, had been a cruiser captain before they stole her from
the I NS, and had worked her way up to the Admiral 6s ¢
crew stared as the massiyaneri meded into view through the gloom, a hulking monstrosity whose
gravitational pull would have affected the core center of Kosigi and pulled it out of position were it not held
in position by gravometric stabilizers and its physical support struts. Jadtm, Baema, and Miaari
went over to where one of those milggle supports pierced the core and boarded an elevator, then rode up
to a docking facility built right into the side of the support, which was but one function those struts served,
forming permaent anchors for construction as well as providing elevator access between the inner core
and outer shell. Thiganeripulled up to the docking facility, and four different docking ramps extended
from the docking array and connected to its docking peritscstarboard side. Three of those ramps were
for personnel, and one was for cargo and supplies. The four of them walked down the docking ramp and
reached the hull of the ship just as the docking doors opened, and a group of Kimdori led by Zaa stood
insi de the docking port room. AfPer mission to come a
AiGranted, and welcome, 0 Zaa replied. Jason stepp
mirrored the motion in the st athélyaned GrEnd Buke r i greetin
Karinne, and | pronounce it operational and ready f
take my tour as the crews transition and t
ransfer. o
on, do you phguly.trust me?d Zaa aske
ed. il dondt now, 0 he replied wit
to cut corners and pad your profit
t her finger to her interface. i B
she called, wutilizing the gravband in her in
AAt once, Admiral .o
Zaa allowed one of the shipbuilders to conduct the tour for Jason and Haema, showing them all the
major departments and explainingthedf er ences i n constructilyameritechni que s
since theyod | ear Asgid Tlose leanning éxpebanded vwkie algady imuse in the
construction of the third flagship that was happening in Kosigi with Karinne buater&imdori
consultants. The Kimdori were training the Karinne shipbuilders in the technique, and it would translate to
the third ship being built even faster than the second. The new ship was exactly the sarhegisdbe
Jason already knew hiswayr o u nd , but he found Gremaani ds discussio
method sincerely fascinating, from one engineer to another if nothing else. Jason was one of the few
leaders in th&iannthat understood all the technical jargon that the GramchBsses dismissed as
irrelevantscience talk Haema and Miaari listened quietly as Jason debated the construction changes,
learned theyutsof it as only an engineer could, and endeared himself to the Kimdori shipbuilder in the
process. By the time thegached the bridge, Gremaani was treating Jason like an old friend, a fact that
Zaa found strangely amusing. The bridge crew had already transitioned by the time they arrived, the
Kimdori replaced by Faey, Terrans, one Makati, and a nearly criminayShio female with shimmering

emerald hair, to Jasonds surprise, who was sitting at
of ficers. She had Ensignédés bars on her armor over S
surprisethata$ho had come out of officero6s academy and trairt
Bl ackstone had graduated even faster, and was recei Vi

just had to go over and make her uncomfortable. She lookechup at surprise, then stammered out a

greeting in a very pretty, clear, strong voice that would make her a good choice to sit at the comm terminal.
But, it wasan odd position for a neRaey to hold, since the captain would often send to the comm

officer to relay communications.



AAnot her Shio officer, itds good to see, 0 Jason sai
creep into the young | adyds cheeks. Shio had green |
your name, Ensign?o0
AEnsign Mikano Strongbl ade ;lengthoemerald®airstiveringpasisehe r epl i €
head bobbed.
il added her to my crew personally. I Il i ked her sc
AThat s some highaptaia&si yoAdmier awbrHhemer time, Er
Aiwhat brought you to comm? That 6s an unusual positi
il have talent, your -Geprecadat ishgl| gompetedulprald. wd no &t 3 €
Every race arond except the Kizzik, Jobodi, and the Kimdori did hasmetelepathic talent in their ranks,
to varying degrees. The Colonists had the highest percentages among their population, where some 50% of
their population had some kind of telepathic or empathility, where the other races had a telepathic
representation of anywhere between 0.06R%. Even the Zyagya had telepaths, albeit maybe a grand
total of 5,000 in their entire population. Most telepaths ended up getting roped into jobs that made them
deal with the Imperium, pitting telepaths against telepaths, since the only defense against talent was another
talent. Virtually every single ambassador, diplomat, and embassy worker in the Imperium had talent, from
the Colonists to the Zyagya, and quatéew corporate executives as well that did business in the Imperium

were telepathic as well. They would be crippled in |
i We |l | doesit ehlag when youdre on comm, 0 Jason chuckl ed.
AAnot her eda®en, b piaelma agreed. fitdledted merobers pr ej udi c ¢

of my crew, but the bridge is far too important a place to have a sending barrier. Especially at the comm
position. o

So, that told Jason that the Terrans here and the loneiMakate r e al | t el epat hs. It w
requirement on a bridge to have talent, but it was Hz
Nobody, not even Jason, had the right to gainsay her personnel decisions within the bounds of her own
ship

AAt | east her e, differeitonpourf e@d acgod Minlbavno bl urted, s

understand. Faey had serious problems outside of the Imperium due to parano@esiraeknew that
everyFaey was a telepath. The talented membéother races did tend to suffer the same paranoia from

their peers if it was found out that they had talent,
a job that required them to use it. For a talented Shio, she was, in a way,l@nomm, among those who
understood her talent and werenét afraid of it, becal

Jason could see the appeal for a telepathic Shio to join House Karinne, if only to be in a place where
people werenét suspiwhaussbé teul odr dfarbettarAdd her e, she
instruction in her talent, since the Faey had raised the training of telepathy to a science. After all, they
more or les®iadto, since the entire race was telepathic. Faey middle school aratpsohool were the
only schools in the galaxy where students had telepathy classes as part of their standard curriculum. It was
as ingrained into Faey scholastics as language, art, social studies, science, and math.

AWell then, do UJdasonaaid]pating rerod her aBnmored showldedand making her
beam at him.

Jason and Zaa more or less stood to the side as the ceremonial passing of the flag was conducted on the
bridge. Gremaani had the honor of passing the flag as the represesttgtizduilding contractor,
officially transferring the ship from the contractor to the recipient. Haema kissed the flag and then passed it
to her exo, and Jason stepped up and accepted the official charter of commission from an aide. He offered
it to her, and a floating camera pod took several pictures as they paused with both of them holding it,

l ooking in the c¢amer alyaneriii AAdemiyroaul X0eeping t he name
Al am, your Grace. 0
AThen | of fi ci al lyaneridseamnmiasiored anthtered intoladive ke, under

the command of Haema Karinne. May he serve long and well. Congratul@#piain 6 he stressed wi
a smile as the bridge crew applauded.

AThank you, your Grace. Not e t gandchaterenthe i n t he shi
di splay case in my ready room, 0 she ordered.
nAye, Captain, o0 her first officer replied, scurryin

iComm. 0
AYour orders, Captain?0 Ensign Strongblade answer ec
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he ch , then gasped, got up quick
Whole ng, 0 she complained, which m
s i nét mandatory, you know, 0 he said, l eaning
i s o me, 0 she said. She | et Jason sit in her
systems diagnostic of every major ship operatien finally let him up and sat in it herself.

th your permission, Captain, we have some things
course, your Grace. You have my permission to
whole and ready, Denmothe 0 she sai d, bowing in her chair to Zaa.
Ailt was our pleasure, Captain, o she replied regally
tention. 0o

Jason took Zaa and Miaari to the White House aboard his corvette, and as soon as they were in his
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ice, he activated secure mode and sat behind his
od behind her. She touched her memory band and c:
join us, Cybi, 0 salme waalelreedd. i nGyb ivd £ wh dblechgmd Jasonés
immediately sat on the edge of his desk, as was her custom, leaning on her hand and regarding Zaa soberly.
A have received several packages friotm oallr iimgadr ttaradae
she began. The holos activated, creating a hologram of a strange spherical ship that hadlike mast
projections from its top and bottom. AMy children i1
finally managed to crack themomputer security, with the help of Mahja Siyhaa. She must be granted a
bonus for her hard work, Jason, 0 she noted as she tur
makes up the Syndicate fleet. It is their mainstay destroyer, to paeinis, with all other ship classes
| arger than this. Jason, this ship is nearly the si:
largest ship classes are significantly larger thariytheeri. Their size equates them to
remarked.
AWhat ? That big?06 Jason gaspe
AThat explains the Consortiumbd complete |l ack of wus
AfAgainst a ship that size, a fighter has I imited effe
Ailt does, as wel | ctcal expdrienceragainsh aivifzators ehat benaploykfightefs t a
as a core complement of their militaries, 0 Zaa agr ee:
wearing a blue tunic and baggy leggings appeared, his skin a greenish tinge like@ BHioi s i s t he
primary controlling race of the Syndicate. They are called the Benga. As you can see, their resemblance to
Terrans, Faey, and Shio is quite striking. However, this race averages fourteen shakra tall. Some are as
short as eleven shakrahw | e ot hers are as tall as seventeen shakr:
iHodhiy t hatdéds more than three times as tall as we ar
was just a touch under 17 feet tall, or a little over five meters.
ifYes. They ar e ogformadf life inowr gataryr Ehid also explams their
preference for massive ships, since they are a giant
download basic technical information about Syndicate technology and capabilities, whichehsgddso
critical that they forwarded it to us as quickly as possible. Further and more detailed data are to be sent
later, as possible. | have a file for your analysts to study, but in summary, Syndicate technology is slightly
behind Consortium technadg. In fact, most of their technology wat®lenfrom the Consortium. Their
weapons are primarily Torsion, as well as hot plasma. As yet, they have not yet managed to acquire dark
matter weapon technology from the Consortium. Tactically speaking, KigS will be highly effective
against the Syndicate, 0 she surmised. AMy children |
even your Wolf fighters will have impact, due to the firepower of pulse weaponry. However, their
effectiveness diminishess t hey come up against | arger and | arger
il get it, theydd be a gnat coming up against their
fucking Death Star frorStar Wars 0
AThat is a fitting co+wwpdrdiisrsgn, wejapotn, wi tZlma@u tn otdhldee dp | &
enigmatic race. Consortium information on them remarks that they are both skilled orators and deadly
soldiers. Theirs is a warrior society, much akin to your Romans, who employ commerce, diplomacy, and
naked force with equal effect to continue their salfowed mission to expand their influence over all
inhabited worlds. Their system of government is a corporate plutocracy, where the heads of the
Syndi cat e d s -comporations ifoersatgovenang eazihthat directs all Syndicate activities.
Their entire society is based on these corporations. Every citizen works for one, is agtonatipy the
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corporation as chattel, whose contracts the corporations buy and sell among themselves as neeged. To sa
that it is a slave empire would not be incorrect. The greed of the corporations drives the Syndicate to make
war against all others, for they want to own everything everywhere. Of important note is that they are also
utterly ruthless. Their answer &my challenge to their authority is the utter obliteration of the offenders,
their families, their neighbors, and anyone even remotely connected to them. Power within the Syndicate is
similarly ruthless, where the ambitious move up the ladders of powasdagsinating those above them
while protecting themselves against those below. Over the last thirty years, the Syndicate has decided that
endless war with the Consortium is no longmsfitable, and has resorted to truly ghastly tactics to defeat
their adversaries, including the destruction of entire planets and wholesale genocide. Our intelligence
suggested that the Consortium arelibaorableones in Andromeda, and this information only confirms it.
The Syndicate is far more ruthless than the Cansou m coul d hope to be. o

AGi ven what theyb6ve done here, | 6m not inclined to
sinking themselves to the level of their enemy. When they did thatbdteyng hei r enemy. 0

iYes, 0 Zaa a g Foethacrimes thely hase comondted herefi the Consortium should not
be bargained with, only defeated, 0 she decl ared. i We
probes. The Syndicate fleets have just come into the very edge of our range. eWeurded them at
approximately thirty thousand of various ship classes, though the bulk of their ships are of the destroyer
class. They felt that their smaller, more vulnerable ships would be capable of stamping out Consortium
presence in our galaxy abeginning the conquering process. They are on schedule to arrive in our galaxy
just beyond Exile in three years, two months, and ni:
she pointed at a starchart, pointing at the galactic edge verytclose Ex i | e . AThis is their
troop movement, where the Consortium has been undertaking these actions for the last fifteen hundred
years, even before they could jump hyperspace in real time. Those crossings would talenthees 0
shesaid evenly.

iHOw? A standard Faey ship would take nearly two t
Jason protested.
AThey utilized a technology which Myl eena has pl aye
answered. redlativity delaydnuhgperspace jtneps. They would jump to another galaxy with
all the supplies they needed to build a catapult on the other side. We have located the ancient catapult they
used when they captured the Karinnes, but it was completely desiroy I't was struck by a m
AOh. Ohhhhh, 6 Jason breathedwecoaoaddi nge. 0AToo bad.
AfiThat technology is no |l onger used now that they cae@
archived da tcausing thesholegram to ghiftiagaith, ,focusing on the PR sector, while the image
split and those curved arc sections they were buil di:i

determined what they are bui ltchieng nmdtl elreraeg,cte ds tsee cs a iof
suspected, these sections are for the quantum phase launcher they acquired from the Imxi. Using phased

Eretrium cores to agitate a bubble of space into a singular quantum state, they then launch the bubble at a

speed dister than light. Their plan is to build the device in stages in the PR sector, then jump them to

Trieste and complete the device behind the bulk of their defenses, which then deploy when the device is

compl ete. o

AAl right, that meamrstWweydgstrohet bbmnbef o Jason noc
ones?0

AThose are part of an augmentation array, to expone
she replied, giving him a steady | @addéddasanéwihbley chose
appeared in front of the others, one showing the local sector with Trieste on one side of the chart and Karis
on the other. AiTheir plans are quite ambitious, but
moons. The moon @farticular interest is this one, which the BB&ri who colonized Trieste named
Gobdbjurdmi, 0 she said, zooming ithnee days, tishnoomreachesa or bi t al
perigee that, if it wer e k hedrailkdeofl thénrzaomed the image batky an o u't
out and traced a |line away from Triesteé.

And right to Karis.

Alt is quite remarkable that this moon would consi s
dislodged from orbit at the right time. Thei pl an, Jason, to put it in |l aymano
at Karis |Iike a baseball . o

Awel |, I would say that | 6d have to worry about it



ABut, they are outfitting t hyestmomnl whawe tehwerl aggers,t
replied, zooming in on massive construction efforts, huge pits dug into the surface of the barren moon with

a constant line of supply dropshinpaatthegropari ng and | ea\
window and use thengines to refine its trajectory, it will be knocked out of hyperspace by the interdictor
and then be on a direct collision course with Karis.
AHow big is that moon?0o
iRoughly the same size of Terrads moon, 0 she replie
fi H ofuck that big? Canwead somet hing about that?0
ifYes, it could be turned, but this is not a ship, ¢

The moon will have so much inherited velocity and gravitational flux, the entire moon is going to shatter
during the jump.It will jump out whole, but jumpn as a dense asteroid field as the stresses of hyperspace
on an object of such mass that it carries its own significant gravity field interacts with the sheer velocity the
moon will be carrying into hyperspace. A singlean would be very easy to turn aside, but turning aside

an asteroid field will be significantly more challenging. Their plan is to jumgrttitent of their invading

force, using it as both weapon and shield to make trying to attack their ships insiganiicantly harder.

Ailtollome a year

AfJason, it owi | not . We have further |l earned that
determined that ships encapsulated within this phase bubbjemprhyperspace without disrupting the
phaseshit, 6 she said intensely. Stamtywhknethe bubble farms, i s f or t h

before the ships have too much relative velocity to stably enter hyperspace. As you know, both inertia and
potential energyre saved while a ship is in lggspace, causing the ship teimberit those states when
returning to normal space. If they do it exactly right, they form the bubble, jump their fleet, and then it
accelerates to a faster than light spakerit hits the interdictor and dropsintomea | space, 0 she tol
hi m. ATheir plan is to form the fleet ahead of the I
fleet and the moon, then jump the moon and the fleet separately. They drop out of hyperspace at the
i nterdict or hshattersdfrgre the streBsethemtheofleet moves into the asteroid field to use it as
protection, using their engines and towing beams to |
enough to protect the fleet. And mind, cousin that this wib@lmoving faster than light, which will
severely restrict our ability to fire on them. They have also engineered a defense in case we find some way
to launch our own ships at a faster than light velocity to attack them. Just as our phased energy weapon
can firein, they can fire phased weapang. They have appropriated a phased ion weapon technology
from the Imxi, and will use those to attack any ships that jump to attack that fleet while in transit. As you
know, ion weaponwiill affect ships usinglasma energy, and with that energy being phased, that means
that they would pierce the shields of any of our allies, but not Karinne and Kimdori Teryon shields. Even if
we find some way to achieve faster than light speed ourselves, chase them dosngyagmdthem, we
couldonly effectively attack those ships using KMS and Kimdori ships, which would be vastly
out numbered. 0

AHoly fuck, 06 Jason bfuckirgtbrdiliand If thay coald Build a bubbletbigt wa s é
enough to enclose an entire moas well as the volume taken up by all those ships,jtimep it t heyodod
have fourteen days to get their fleet to Karis, and those asteroids would make gettingratichéarder.
The only thing that could hit a phased object was rplieised energyle pulse weapons or MPACS,
plasma torpedoes, and objects or energy that was in the same phased state. And if they had phased ion
weapons they could use to fivat, it would make trying to ambush the fleet as it passed by at faster than
light speeds reall really,really tricky. Their only real plans for attacking that fleet if it got in was to refit
a GRAF to fire a multiphased version of its resonance beam, which would significantly reduce its power,
but wouldlet it hit a ship phased into a singularagptum state. That weapon literally had no range
limitation, letting them fire on the oncoming fleet and beat it down to make it much more manageable to
take it out when it got to Karis.

But now, with that moon in the equation, it just guichnastier. The planetary shield would be
assaulted by those asteroids when it came out of phase and reverted to a normal state, which would most
likely bring it down and danassivedamage to the planet when it was bombarded by isd&redl chunks of
rock. Theyknew hat Cybi és core could retreat into the mant|
out of harmés way when those asteroids obliterated t|I
hellstorm of fire and liquefied rock. All they had to do wasdtithe attack so Kosiningi was on the far side
of the planet when the moon debris started falling.



AWe canét | et them do it, Denmother, o he said in a
even if it means losing Trieste and its entire populati, we candét | et them do it (.
of f, theydll get their fleet here, the debris from t|
captured, then sheo6ll be destroyed. 0

iwWe have time, ¢ ous inotkrmowwekeow tharatert el we havethh ey do
spiders in their system, and that gives us the advantage. But, to consider the matter, the easiest way to foil
this is redeploy our interdictors iNiaef r om Kari s to Tr i est eeryShalgdofe sai d. f
space between here and there, they candt pull off thi
intend, but we do have an option here, 0 she replied.
secret, forthey knowweanc ount er t his easily if we know their plar

the hyperspace jump system inside the moon deep under its surface, and have spread the construction of the

guantum device out to hide its purpose from our spies. They dmat &ibllowing out the moon to install

the hyperspace system, pulling any available jump engine out of a ship that is too damaged to easily repair.

For the moment, let us put this aside and consider instead the Syndicate. Their combat strategies differ

from the Consortium, and as such, we must consider battlingatiermve have defeated the Consortium.

But, we also cannot ignore the Consortium as a threat
Aiwe fight the current war with an eye on thE next

know you ran the sims, Denmother. How effective is our current strategy offlgltes e d t act i cs ?0
AfAgainst their smaller ships, very effective, 0 she

threat to their destroyer class vessdsit they have too many heavy battleship, flagship, and even larger

ship classes to rely solely on Wolf fighters. | have already ordered an increase in the production of

battleship class and |l arger ships. I would highly s
AButcawmebdt shift away from the Wolf strategy because

too effective, 0 Jason grunted. AAnd i f the Consortiul

neither will they. employ fsioguhntdesr sl.idk e t hey donédét even
AThey do not. They have a mindset similar to the L

withstand battle damage and simply beat down the opp«
designed around combating the Syndicate, hey &re effective. They use the KMS strategy, actually,
employing smaller, highly mobile, very fast ships e

AfiThat 6s why they use such oversized engines on th
maneuverable than thegrn e my . 0

AThat i s their st r adrks dnyabattle betiveem sverly numbered naviese d , it
Consortium ships win the battle more often than not. They have a technological advantage, and they
exploit it.o

fi B wvéhave the edge ovéinem dason said, to which Zaa nodded.

AThe only technology the Syndicate employs that the

g
el

technology that Myleena has been tinkering with in he
appear on t holo behind her. It was a Torsion shockwave generator, Jason knew that piece of equipment.
AiMyl eena has been tinkering with devices she calls T
generator, which attempts smooth outhe Torsion effectrad reduce the power of the beam, or
completely nullify it.o

il ve read her reports on it. I't has some promi se,
she hasnét had much luck getting them to be effective

iThi s nolegy that theeSyrdicate has just mastered and installed on all their ships, according to
the data that my infiltrators have sent back. It reduces the power of a Torsion beam by nearly half, but the
problem they have with it is that the diffusion effeairksboth ways 0

ADampening Torsion weapons the ship uses itself, 0o J
Torsion weapons, they have to turn off the diffuser,
t hrough t he eenfhdviagcsome issudsywithithe glealon any ship with a shockwave generator,
because it diffuses the shockwave effect. And the shockwave is far more important. Our ships can take
hits from Torsion weapons, but the shockwaves protect them from misag&sathat could wipe them out.

That 6s why shebs not been too opti mi sAegigsineelsleut it . f
hasnét miniaturized the idea far enough to fit it on
AThis is why the wamsohmds utmuomnaedheagadinnsthutelle Cd@Mhes:«

their primary long distance weapon and force them to close in range to use dark matter weaponry, or force
them to retreat and utilize missiles. Neither of which are as effective. At close range, the €Cdngsomé s



speed and maneuverability is less effective, given that Syndicate ships are larger and carry far more
weapons, and the sheer size of the Syndicate ships m:
Jason could see what she was saying. The Tosera pons wer e t he Consortiumbs
against the Syndicate, and the Syndicate had developed a defense that weakened their primary weapon, and
then used that defense as a battering ram to steamroll Consortium defenses over in Andromeda.
AHow teiffeecare these Syndicate diffusers?o
AUnknown, but it must be enough to |l et them tak
the Syndicate arrives, our allies wi f f
AThemewel more information, 0 Jason
use will be effective. Il 6m fair.]l
about ion and hot plasma weapons, or Coloniahisatronwep o nr y . 0
i have told my children to bring us that informat:i
cousin. We need the Torsion weapons against the Consortium, knowing that that effort we invest in them
is effectively wasted when the Syndie arrives. Unlike the Wolf fighters, who have value in both
theaters, we are using up resources to fight one enemy, which will then put us at a disadvantage against the
second. O
AFuck, 6 Jason growled, l eaning.hi &l édmi goomghtit
have a long talk with the gener al sc.a reg#pthe sectbore n |
with Karinne weaponry, Denmother. | took @ath And 1 6m al most positive
hand over MPAC techiogy. Even with Torsion weapons, MPACs give her an edge. Ounce for ounce,
theydre even more powerful than Torsion weapons, and
then the I mperium wil |l have a major |l eg up on everyolt
i knowhawatsovme time to consider a solution, cousi
data concerning the Syndicate. Detailed analysis of their ships. Their tactics. Their technology. We must
find the weaknesses much as we have done with the Consomidrthen exploit it. | have tasked my
children to this, and they will not fail me. After all, this was butftie packet to be delivered, what they
considered the most critical information to get to us. But in the short term, | would highly suglyiisina
logistic planning. Reduce your output of Wolf fighters and shift that production into larger class vessels,
that way you have blanket coverage against all elements of the Syndicate fleet, yet all those resources will
be viable against Consortiusnh i ps. 0
AAnd Gl adiators, 06 Jason grunted. Al f they consider
initiate ground attacks. And a Gladiator is wvirtuall
one of them comeeupaiagawinsh &gwvlk, bumor . AiBut we ca
either, o he growl ed. Al f they pullwinodf what theyd
ilt is devious, 0 Zaa agreed. AwWhen will your fo
ﬁThoerye gonownad stasgdn decl ared. iwWe candt wai't r
ge there now. We need you to call in our s
A WI|| see to it per dwihhave mychildrensptioetizeroa gowinge d  wi t
down or disrupting the completion of the quantum phase device, which will lull them into belief that we
dorktntow what theydre doing at Trieste. Theirs was a
were pulling your eyes away from what they didnét wal
theyd i dmant you |l ooking at Trieste. o
AAnd | fAgdinl o floe dgrnawl ed.
iPat i enc e, areretatively young in the@chair. Withpxer i ence comes wisdom, 0
soot hed. iBesides, you have us. That permits you c
AiOur time grows short. Cybi, Il will download al/|l re
she said, lookg to the hologram.
il am ready. All ow me access. 0
Zaa touched her memory band, and then she took on a distant expression for a second.
AFiles are copied. I owi |1 pl ace relevant files on
c entshetqglddasoni Al I files are available on your home panel
AAlright. Let me go talk to Myri and the girls. !
AAnytime | so wish,d she replied.
Al would speak with Miaanidabputtpegsbeal hmatdt ens ME
AThough | a msthehmathef. dEgeh rayrtitle asCremmother gives me no right to raise her cubs
in a manner of which she disapproves. She must make

1 not
0 grunt ed.
y sure that F

® hawe
6m got
t hat

— —h

N

(
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AAlright. e tmwew tabboauctk wvat my house in four hours?0 h

AThat is more than enough ti me. I would enjoy Ayan
licking her chops in anticipation.

Al wil | Cybiedidl her, o

Dera, wedr e goi ngenendaonsdntintotthe sext coonmwheere dis goards were

waiting, probably chatting with Chirk and BralMyli.]

[Yeah babe?]

[Get everyone in the Legion together and be ready to have us all meet, probably in a couple of hours. |
dondt haivtiemeyet]speci f

[Sounds important.]

[Itis. What | want you to do is take your hands out of that Consortium ship and get together every
single megastring of data you have on those Torsion diffusers and get it organized, and pick a team at 3D
to take it oer and work out all the bugs. It needs to be vialoe:]

[l dve b&len trying

[ Youbre too busy to keep tinkering, My | i . Package
[You got it, babe. | have to go back to 3D to do that.]

[ Then do i tter] | 61 I explain |

[No sweat. See you soon.]

ADi ffusers? What i d€ybiasked you consider, Jason?o

il f the Syndicate developed them to the point wher e

helpusd o t he same t hi ng, 0 obasolid gefehsé against Torgioh Weapors, themn dev el

we can shift our production to start preparing for the Syndiuate We donét have infinite
have to use them wisely. o

ABut our allies wutilize Torsion weaponry.o

ATr ue, but dicats, bur dllieskhavethteriveapofsythat can be effective if their ships can
survive long enough to get in range to use them, 0 he

will deal damage if the ship is protected from Torsion bolts enough in gatge. Dark matter weaponry
has a far short er armoatimegvay Tarsioth wehporssion Ve devetpm ibandeoffer it to
everyone else in the Confederation, stressing that using them diminisheswié&orsion weapons, and

withtheCos or t i um ar mor available to them, it owi I Il et th
they want to use them or not. o
i Cl e \CgbispidwithasmilefiBut it reveals our intent to move av

AThat canbbasbe helupeddd JAThe others are gonna be n
weapons were leveling the playing field, making any war too costly to wage, but with us developing the
di ffusers, webre more or | ess pheFaeyihadghestiongesgs back t hi
weapons and everyone else built up to combat that advantage. Not even Consortium armor can really stand

up to MPAC weapons for |l ong. I 611 have to put a ser.|
might start getting exansionistic, especially with the Confederation. She all but has this idea thah@& s
one in charge of it. 't woul dndt beEmpressifitast ch for he
well . o
Al wi || notify Ji nnaahneir ,tdo Zkaeae pn oad dceldo.s e rfi Neoywe, oby you
Handmai den Miaari and | must retire and speak of higl
iYeah, be my guest, Denmot her . And thanks for not
She | auagnygldyou did fiot start to consider my appearance on Karis to be akin to the angel

of death. o
Jason stood up and beckoned to his helmet on the side table, causing it to float over to him. He seated

it on the back shoulders of his armor, initslocked st i ng position. AAlright, |et
to Myri and the generals, o0 he said. Al 6l 1 do my best
|l ate. 0O

AWe will be there, cousin, 0 Zaa nodded.

Jason opened t he Hrlgamangatramspod forrthe Demmotherto.my hoés€ at the
strip, and warn Ayama and Surin theydre en route. [
Come on, girls, 0 he nodded to Dera and Suri.

Al wi l |l arrange it €hmm&disatmainyt omedmWo@mhadegobuon soul

require refreshment while there is waiting?o



Al am content, noble Kizzik, o0 Zaa said. ABut t he t
ti me. o

Al t  wildl be on pad easssyou, reverefl Kinmddeaderi lwill ¢éseogyou | f it pl
there. o

APl ease, 0 she nodded. AuUNt il |l ater, cousin. o

ADonét eat everything in the house, 0 he replied as

What goes on, your Grac&®ra asked curiously.
A change of plasy Dera,he replied, sending privately to his guard@a brought some critical
information about the Syndicat e termasitradegy. t 6s going to si
Ah. Good or bad?
Both, he replied as the corridor doors opened, and the Emstationed at the hallway intersection
shapped to attention. Jason nodded to them as he passed by, turning to the corridor that led to the tram that
would take him from the administration building to the military command build@igls, send down the
order that all Marine guard units in the White House will be carrying external pulse rifles or railguns from
this point forwardhe sent backtothenMa ke sure theydre the ones equipped
from now on, double the number of Gladiaton patrol on the White House grounds.
The order will be sent immediately, your Grattes guard replied, and he heard her call out to her
commander to relay.
Your Grace, might | ask why the increase in secufity® White House watch captain, Gemai
Doyalle, sent.
Just an overall general increase in securltg,answeredl 61 I f ul ly expl ain the reas
I 61 I have sent down from General My r i
Understood, your Grace. | will call in the additional Gladiators immediately. All guagpert to the
armory in standard shift change rotation to pick up additional equipment, effective immedietely,
sending rippled across the White House complex.
Jason walked in on Myri and Navii poring over a starchart of Trieste and its surroundemgsyste
had them call in Sioa and Juma, then he sat down with them at the main holoviewer, a circular device set
like a table in the middle of the main command center and brought up the images Zaa brought him, as well
as thoroughly explaining everythingestold him. The entire command staff gathered around them, Dellin
listening in via holo from Kosigi, and they all listened in attentive silence as he briefed them, then brought
up the file that Cybi had tranbferfetdet owMychbégoabf Il
study. It lists everything about the Syndicate that the Kimdori was able to pull from the Consortium

archives so far, 0 he surmised. AWhat it means for u:
away fromthe W | v e s . Theydre damn effective against the Col
against thoseée zdcliup&rmdhompmps t he Benga use. We 61 | ne
means we have to shift our production to the bigger
i Ngustt he bigger ships, your Grace, 0 the venerabl e Na
Ailf the Consortium enjoyed tactical superiority util]
same tactic will work fous Yes, wedmere shipsifrongthetheavyrcreiser class and higher,
but we should not ignore the value of our destroyers. A particle beam is going to do damage, even to those
megaships, and we can get more particle beams into the theater on thirty destroyers titlamithesin
heavy cruisers. o
Everyone listened intently to Navii. Myri was the one that was in overall command of all house
military forces, but Navii was almost legendary in the INS and now the KMS for her military expertise.
AHow many cahei bosaradré doma asked.
AThere are eight under construction, o Dellin suppli
AFighters still have use, so we should complete thc
more to bring our inventory to ten. That allows us to afive thousand fighters to any theater quickly,
and even one of their moon ships will feel the bite ¢
smil e. iwWe should shift our resources togoupa balanced
text |ist of all avail able KMS warships. iWe shoul d

major tactical assets to any theater. Wolf fighters, ranged heavy weapons, and close combat support. If the
description of these Bengartuout accurate, then a major increase in the production of Gladiators is also
advisable. Our infantry will need heavy support against individual infantry elements the enemy can deploy
that are the size of a Gladiator themselves. 0



Awell, theydbl hbe efisnhething else, d Sioa grunted.

to their assaults, since we employ superior ground w¢
on impact | i ke MPAC and heavy ssuedamage tpaliVirgbeingthea pons do,
size of a Gladiator. Something that size will emptbubchakitactics. A frontal assault utilizing heavy
armor as a spearhead. Somet hing that big is not buil!t
ABut, t hitsheye pcoonsisdaeird themselves a warrior race, s
their size, o0 Navii warned. AAl varian blood apes are
a scareacthabi The largest of them can overtake a hovertank at fallr ot t | e . Wedbre going to
information from Denmother Zaabds spies before we st al
we have more intelligence before we start considering
AListen t,00 Naawsan g@riudtsed, noddi ng.
Aoh, we do, Jason, 0 Myri chuckled, smiling at the ¢
ADel | in, how does it |l ook up there?0 Jason asked.
Dellin glanced to his |l eft, taking a handpanel fror
thealterd ship projections,d he answered as he |l ooked ove

within the next ten days, and we have twelve other docks under construction, all of which can build
anything but a capitol ship. | have thigix docks coming pen within the next ten days capable of

building anything up to a mark two cruiser. Wedbre fi
the carrier, that one could begin on the fourth flag:
dock, but we can shift to another ship class in two days. | have all the major ship class keels in inventory
and ready for wuse. 0

il would suggest you go ahead and build that <carrie
Navii said withanodii Then shi ft that dock to building a heavy ¢

ildd have to concur, o0 Myri grunted. filf he has eve
go for it.o

Al agree. Go with that , oilgdoméed you tp dpdafeaws lboardwito | d hi m.
most recent |ist of ship projects and estimated compl

A have it right here, d he said, holding up the par
most recent data, updated two seconds ago. 0

fiGood man, 0 Navii smiled at the hologram.

Al run a tight base, General, o Dellin replied with

Navii chuckl ed. Dell inés board was his base | ayout

ship being builas well as every parked ship already completed inside Kosigi was displayed. Five base

officers constantly monitored and updated that board in real time. A change on a dock was reflected on

that board within thirty seconds. The command center had Esboiard, but it updated every hour rather

than in real time. The board shimmered and reset, showing every ship under construction and estimated

completion time. Jason noticed immediately that Dellin had taken the carrier just completed off the list.

Navii stood up and walked over to the board, studying it for a long moment, as everyone remained quiet

and | et her think. il would suggest as a basic prec:
cruisers and tactical battleships, at least urgilhave more detailed information. Both carry more

firepower than their sister class ships, in particular the tactical battleships and their multiple particle beams.

Bull dogs, I believe you call them, yfAmr aGrparcoep roi asthee
nickname if there ever was one. We have found great success with that ship class, and we have few enough

of them as it is. They pair well with the carriers, and they are a generic asset that we can employ with equal

effectiveness againstot h t he Consortium and the Syndicate, i f De
ildve never known it to be wrong, o6 Jason noted.
AiMe either, butassaumesinsydg hg enrge r aylo urre vGrrace, 0 she said
what you can see with yoown eyes, and take everything else wifaeno f suspi ci on. 0 She t a

crystal of the board, bringing up a list of tactical battleships both completed and under construction. There

were two active and 18 more in product|on She then brouglhieupattleship list, with four active and 26

in production. ifWe have enough battleships on the bt
waiting to get performance reviews from the ones in service before committing assets to the ship class, and

both have performed admirably. We should turn around every heavy dock to produce a tactical battleship

while our small docks rotate to mark two cruisers, build up those numbers, and hopefully by then we have

more detailed intelligence to planournextlbdi r ot at i on. Juma, how is staffin



AAs of r i ghtbaraeyhw, dwed@r @ hjeudtine, 0 she re
training to man the ships currently on th
have moreships han we have crews. 0

AThat wouldndét be a bad thing, o0 Navii said easily.
emergency. We can put those ships in reserve and activate them as needs be, in case we lose ships. We
have very low casualty res among our naval crews thanks to Crusader armor, so a reserve ship can just
pick up the crew of a ship that is lost and get right back into service. We will even leave them unnamed, so
the captains can simply assign the name of their old shiptothetnone t o provide a sense
she chuckl ed. ilt would also give us real ships to
taking ships out of active service to do so. 0

AThat might be useful, tGenasasles Rrmandtosvshowe wgst hree
want to see on a ship,06 Juma said seriously.

Navii and Dellin more or less hammered out a new build rotation after new ships were completed and
the docks came available, which relegated Jason to the pasiions pect at or ébut t hat was f
were the experts, and this was what he paid them to do. They discussed the matter for nearly two hours,
then Jason managed to extricate himself when they went past his training and understanding. He walked
out of the command center and almost knocked Yila over, who was waiting outside with Kumi, as well as
four Marines escorting Yila around the White House as secUfityat are you two doingffe demanded.

Waiting for you, babe&umi replied, falling into step withim as he walked down the hall, Dera and
Suri behind him.We need your authorization on a few contracts.

Contracts? For whathe asked, giving the fefaced Yila Trefani a glance.

Today itdés pir ac gheanswered lighdynheldirg aphandpgnbl®myerutans

plied. i We
e board, but

want an increase in the metals webre selling them. [
replication. Trenirk wouldndt do it without your col
Hedd f uckiJashnshi@with anraudibleshar candét okay this right thi:

have something going on, and | need to talk to Trenirk about replicated material availability. Get back
with Trenirk tomorrow, and heodl | have the figures f ol
Sure thing, babegumi nodded.
Wh a gding on, JasonYila asked privately.
I canodt Itexepliedali nd oynebtt, have al l the information mysel
more.
Ah. Say no moreshe nodded.
Kumi, | need you at the staff meeting. Yila, feel free to go to my aodseait, we can catch up later.
Just to warn you, Zaa and Miaari are there.
Ah, no thanks. Kimdori give me the creegtee repliedl 61 1 go shoppi ng. You have
interesting bunch of stuff in your shops down in the commercial district. tdattoft | can get Verutan
silk in one store, and Colonial firepowder in the next.
We are a multicultural houség replied lightly. And go ahead, pay the house back some of those
credits you swindled from us in the first place.

She laughed and gave handarling smile.l 61 1 do just that, Jason. I f | 6m
bring Dara?

Still fishing for that betrothal, eh?

You know it. I 61 | cheat outrageously to get Zach.

Just to warn you, if Dara marries Zach, she movdsighouse he €nt lightly.

She bristled a little bit Now wait just a minuteshe protestedZach is theboyhere!

Heds a Karinne, t halasontanswaregd snmédiateigo ikeep schemirag, justo vy
understand the consequences if you sucdeedent fjhtly as he turned down a different hallway, leaving
Yila alone with her Marine escort.

What do you need me fokiimiasked.You know | dondét sit in on staff m
I donodt, I j ustrealhavatn ttsa k n o vd aafhdstetingsvheen have a s
She laughedPr ettty much what we said. Webdbve arranged an

titanium sales to Veruta, but we need the replication slots to get the metal.

And what about Zach?

She gave him a sideways, clever littlange.She knows the truth about the Ka
trying to get her claws in among the Generations, and what better way than to get her daughter married to
one?



| figured.

I wouldndét put my nose up atinthehousefbutitgivemuae vy ou. It
foothold in House Trefani. That works both ways, you know. You know what the Trefanis are like, babes.
Theydre much better allies than they are enemies.

Il 6m not sure my father everisgrandsennmoamrrylintotherbob, consi der
Jason sent darkly, which made Kumi laugh.

Youdre a politiciawrseow, Jayce baby. That 6s

Oh hush, youhe threatened with the back of his armored hand, which made her laugh harder.

He left the White house aboattetHonor and flew straight to 3D. Everyone was there, and they
settled down the chatter as he and his guards came in through the ldédanlain warehouse door.
AEveryone gather in, we have work to daeadtaithche shout ed
main conference table and regarded his Terran and Faey compatriots in 3D, which was the original Legion
and the scientists and experts theydd recruited from

a holo of Trieste and explainekhvat al |l t he Consortiumbés construction w
tabl e. AAlright, we know what theydre doing, and if
what are the inventories like over at2R7 1 ? 0

Al think we hlaov e oemeo uwgpmatge, 6 he replied. AWedbve b
finish their surveillance so they can direct our stri

Awell, we should start getting those strike target s
theImxirigtt now and |l et them think we donét know what the
ride that bronco, Tom. Jenny, Myl i, what about the ¢

ATheydve spread to almost forty percent of the Cons
percent of the orbital platforms, 0 Myleena answered.
royally with the push of a button. o

ifiGood, because wedbre going to need it, and maybe soc
havenodét ternnsdas tcdhwdmr idrefthe PR sector yet, and they mi
assume that our strikes at their construction facili:'t
He turned a bit and lookedpaweGecanner siidlowdei hp@0br ¢

AioOn schedule, Jason, 06 he replied. -scdlewWritsttyhoul d have
twenty Demaa, and the industrial applications should be online by-thiotypemaa. The planetary use
interfaces are alreadycomept el y converted, and | 6ve included a subr

it leaves its permitted operational areas. That should prevent the overly curious from wandering where they
shoul dnodét be. 0
AExcel l ent, thatoéll e warkrampadwitmned | sadokdmstomn owoddea
it done?o0
ASure di , babe, 06 she replied, holding up a memory

d
he job. o
b

Eraen on t

AwWhat | ob, boss?0 Eraen asked.0s He swag cah satnala IDefvred n
department.

Jason explained the diffusers to the group, and stressed how the Syndicate had used them to turn the
war in Andromeda to their favor. ASo, wedre going t
withthe i dea for a few months now, but sheds too busy t
youbre the best suited for the job, 0 he said, smiling¢

brilliant scientist, whose specialty was spapiedpulsion, producing better engines for the INS and now
tinkering with Karinne translation engines to make t|
perfect to lead a project dealing with Torsion. i My I
close to cutting enough power o fyburjdb nowoandsypudave bol t t o |
the run of 3D until you finish it. You have priority over everything but the implant project. And how is
that going?0 he asked, l ooking to Ol an.

fiMuch better than planned, 06 he replied, standing up
Wedve acquired three hundred volunteers here on Kari:
and theydve already beaeid iampl d mt ed swinti H att h @ nd & viad end n
made the operation minimally invasive, they did much of the work laying the fiber fromsile 6 he sai d
nodding at a grinning Myl eena. AThe ohbehipdthehi ng we r ¢
l eft ear. o

AHow are the volunteers doing?0o0



AiSo far, it looks very hopeful, o he replied. AThey
interlink and the devices attached to it, and there have been only two incidents of side wffieh we
were able to correct with secondary procedures. Aft e
Webdbve mapped out synaptic implant patterns for Terrat
working on synaptic patterns for Uruiaand Skaa. We also have plans to map out implant procedures for
any race that joins the house, just in case they wish to undergo this procedure once it becomes
mai nstream. 0O

ADo those implants interfere with talent?d Leamon &
fi U s againstthem? Nomt all , 06 Ol an replied. ANo telepath has
can be adapted to use with talents. And | dondt bl ai
AAmen, 0 Gerann agreed. ANo way wawld | risk that
Awell, send Olan your ideas if you get any about tFh

want you to get with Trenirk and get some factory space, Tom, and get more toys out to the PR sector. And
kick Myridés ass tokgetomombeofmi burasyubdbf ba

A |l ove yelling at Myri, o0 he grinned.

AExpect the first strike targets to come in over tF
operatorsoveratPR71, 6 he added. il just hope Maggie and Jak

Al magine all that time in hyperspace, 0 Jenny shudde

that drew the short straw and had to deploy all the way across the galaxy to manage the attack packages.
AAnyway, that 6s ab o uheyhauethe carrigh madgfor chnisgeningget,then see i f t
get back with the Denmother and discuss some things.

Dondét forget, you have the daily briebarang with the
reminded. In three hours and six minutes.

AOh ,joohe said blandly, which made a few of the tele

Shall | warn theHonorwe 6 r € ab o Suriasked. | eave?

AfYeah, go ahead, 06 he nodded to her, then he turned

AJust one, Jayce, owBogstpokedaypy.of iWhen can

There were some boos, and Bo was pelted with random pieces of machinery laying around, which
made him laugh.
ADondét worry, the partyod6s at my house when we dri ve
he stood up. Dera handbiin his helmet, which he seated into plag€ybi, get me Dellin.]
[Certainly. One moment.[There was a paus¢Cybi said you wanted to talk to me, your Grace?]
[l have about a spare hour, Admiral. Is that enough time to attend the christenhey cartier?]
[ Theybdbve been hol di nhgchuckledfdsfgo straighitdit] you had ti me, ]
[ Thanks, Admiral. Tell them wedre on the way up ri
[Will do, your Grace.]
The corvettéHonortook them back to Kosigi, and they docked with massive new carrier. It was
even larger than a battleship, but it was like a honeycomb inside, massive amounts of empty space to store,
prep, launch, recover, and repair fighters. The final design allowed a carrier to carry 500 fighters at full
capaity, as well as all the personnel and equipment to operate and maintain those fighters. The carrier
would have a crew of 3,106, which included both ship operations and fighter support, not counting the
pilots themselves. Though it was larger than ddsdtip, it had been much easier to build due to the lack
of heavy power systems and complex and pedvaining equipment, like weapons. The carrier was
designed to be dependent on the escorting ships and its own fighters for its primary defense, dlafays pa
a task force of a minimum of 17 ships, from missile gunboats all the way up to escorting heavy ships, be
them heavy cruisers, tactical battleships, or battleships. Because of its size and purpose, the carrier looked
unlike any other ship in the KMSViost KMS ships were triangular with stubby, narrow wings at the stern
that ran along the back third of the ship, vaguely similar to the Star DestroyerStapkWars or more
closely like the Jedi cruisers fronie Clone Warsbut much less vertical. By were more like flying pie
wedges with flared hind ends, the bow 63% as thick as the stern, an angular design that helped deflect
incoming fire. The particle beams on those cruisers were installed in the bow and at the edges of those
stern wings to prade maximum coverage. The wimgounted particle beams had full 200 degree
coverage laterally and 220 degrees vertically, allowing them to fire at least one particle beam at any enemy
from any angle, and usually get at least two beams on the targetlyivbow particle beam emitter had a
155 degree range. But the carrier almost looked like a bloated whale, with a rounded, tapered bow that
expanded radically to form the widmdied design that allowed the carrier to launch and recover fighters



literally from all surfaces. It was pretty fast despite its ungainly design, equipped witthacanere
fucking engines that would get it the hell out of there in case of an emergency.
Jason sat in the cockpit but dnBnmdiagbayfofthe caarier, t he pi | o
which was on the starboard centerline not far from the bow, the bay where visitors would arrive. It was a
small bay designed to be just big enough to hold a corvette, ahtidhe opilod showed her mettle by
swinging the covette around and backing into the bay, since it was too small for the corvette to turn
around. Jaiya was there with two companies of her crew, mostly the higher ranking officers, who all
snapped to attention as t heuckledand antblecedéoven thg @mmpgapd ank | o w¢
right into Jaiyads arms, giving her a fond hug rat hei
uncomfortably. The pirthaired Faey patted him on the sidé&ot in front of thecrew, your Graceshe
complained privatgl

Jason | aughed and kissed her on the cheek. ASorry
lightly.
AThat 6s alright, your Grace. Bigger is bigger, o0 st

this boat, but | haviots of toyso
Al édm glad youdre not mad at me, 0 he chuckl ed.
iPosh. Now, we know you don6ét have much time, so Vv
ATrue enough. o
Jason visited with the upper officers of the carrier in his usual way, stopping to chat as he was
supposedly inspectig t he troops, then Jaiya got him on the shipg
vast interior. The carrier used cargo trams as the primary means of movement inside, each of the six tram
tunnels that ran from bow to stern large enough to put a dvidlfie platform and transport it to another
hangar. The ship had 9 major hangars were fighters were stored, utilizing the entire space by hanging
fighters on wall and ceiling racks, a tenth hangar for fighters that required extensive repairs, holding
speialized equipment. The maintenance hangar was in the exact middle of the ship and had dedicated
tramlines and elevators to all the other hangars for the fast movement of fighters from hangar to hangar, but
they still designed the primary conveyertramlims t o be able to carry a fighter

foresighted in Jasonds opinion. She then took him t|
bridge, which was a huge affair designed to coordinate and direct its fighters, so it ass\&@ aps

center . Jaiyabs captainés chair was in the front ar
the center, with her personal quarters just behind 1

mi ddl e of téeoten, doke tgpadnslshipspbetween the two forward hangars and providing

protection for the critical command staff. There were no windows looking out in the bridge, but every wall

was actually a monitor to display information along with consoles anthgibplos all over the bridge.

Jason sat in her chair for a moment as she smiled, then he got up and offered it to her, helping her sit down.

Whil e she was there, he |l eaned on the arm with his h:

bets,di ya, 0 he said. AWhat name are we painting on the
Al dve already had the honor of naming three ships,

got me to thinking. You are our Grand Duke, gnd u Bevee been given the honor of namingef

your own ships. So, your Grace, the question is, what napeldsa nt t o put on the bow?d

with a smile.

He | aughed. ANobodyb6s ever passed on the naming ri

AThen allow me to be the first, o she replied cheeki

fi We heh, if L get to name it, | could make you embarrassed everywhere you go for the rest of your
career, 0 he threatened |Ilightly, which made her gasp
how about we name this ship tBean Fox in honor & my father and his memory. He was a fighter pilot,

I think hedd have |l oved having a carrier named after
AThen that is what he wild/l b BriaoFoxJ ai ya smil ed. AThi
AThank you, Jaiya, t hat hemsbuadedarethatthe KMBtaroFoxise, 0 he s mi |

commi ssioned for active duty and ready for service.

voi ce. The bridge crew applauded as his aide present

flag, which she cradled to her breast a moment before handing them to her first officer.
iSet these in their places in my ready r

oom, Exo, 0
the boarding of the first isvijedadrons of fighte

rs, youl



Al wish | coul d, but I 6m really busy today, Jaiya,c
cheek AAnd youdre busy, so with your permission, |
scheduled all day, 06 he said with a sour face

She | aughed. AMuch as | enjoy havishogldegyyow at my mer

get back to those dreadfully boring meetings instead of making you stay here and do something much more
fun, 0 she winked.
ABitch, 0o he acherdasghd, whi ch made
AYou know it. Now with all due respect, your Gr ace
The corvette took him back home and made a water landing, letting him and his guards off as they tied
up and prepared to just wait until he needed to go aihadHe took off his helmet and carried it, waving
to llia and Sheleese, who were splashing in the water of the beach furtherldeywdayce, you home for
the daylia called.
| hope so. | have meetings, but | can do them from my home office. /&/gatiawo up to?
Day off, wedr e Shelesst repliedlust goirhgme dramoshoppihg.
Well, Yilads on planet, sobewames. mi ght be having dinr
Wedl I tell Ay amasSheleesehepliddeimpashly, whichhneadink anuckiee s |
Someday that might be necess&igagreed as he started up the stairs leading to the walkway that
would get him home.
Zaa and Miaari were in his living room, talking, when Jason stumped in through the deck door. He
tossed his helmet itné general direction of the side table and missed, and left it laying on the floor as he
came in and flopped down on his recliner chair, which had been reinforced to handle him sitting in it in his
armor. Dera and Suri shut the door behind him and st@aytsitie, but Aya padded into the living room

and | eaned over, wordlessly taking hold of his gaunt |
Aya, 0 he said with a nod. She knew he hated staying
confe ence, Denmot her ?0
AAcceptable, 0 she replied. AMi aari clearly has muc
wi shes are what | would do mysel f. 0
Mi aari | ooked away modestly, a Ilittle embarrassed ¢k
AfShe does hwoee practhecesamd years of raising kids, 0
il athatmlod, 6 Miaari protested.
AUntil you tell me how old you are, you |l eave it urg
hel ped with his other gavuentyloeutr. c ufbV8h?ebn ar e you going
il already have, 0 she replied simply. Alt is not s

And it does require certain preparations. | think that you would have found attending the event to be quite
dar k. o
AThe newbermwssamei tive to |light, o Zaa explained. fi
lightless environment. They are currently on board the transport | had brought abdgadéhneinder the
care of a personal attendant who has extensive experiesce mh matt er s. 0
i Damn, I was hoping to be there, 0 he sighed. fi | h ¢
AOf course | do, -ltiaktetn rwad ¢ dhr chers,p® cMiadarliowsai d proud
band. A holo popped up in the living room showing atmeawrely tiny little bundle of wet fur, looking
strangelyunformed wi t h barely recognizable features and eerie
eyelidséno wonder they were sensitive to |ight. The\y
Two of them had the same color fur as Miaari, while the third had honey colored fur with black hands and
feet, color not far from Jinaami. She cycled through several of the pictures, then brought up a picture of all

three nestled iemaabassitmets. i siHaiaswn,i and this is Maa
mot herly love rippling through her voice. AMy cubs.
out to them.
AThey show much potential, Ha n d mithbe Bothrmy dutyZznela s ai d wi
my pleasure to care for them until you can take up Yy«
AAny time you need to go to Kimdori, Mi aari, you ju
il dondét want your babies to ever not know who their
Mi aari gave him a kind smile. ANot that | ever nee

your sentiment, Jason, 0 she said.



Jason | aughed. ADamn Kimdori,d he grinned as Aya g
excuse me while go put on somethintpnuchmore comfortable, and we can continue our conference up in
my office. o
A few minutes later, Jason was in a tee and sweatpants, and the three of them continued to discuss
Zaabs information up i n hehBerma and theiSgndicate, theynrstead foacised f di s c
on the Consortium and the PR sector, studying many of the various Imxi systems and the massive
construction efforts going on there. Shipyards and production facilities were studied along with the
constructdn of the quantum phase device. Zaa had the most recent information, as well as the first strike
orders sent from the infiltrator craft surveying the systems. Maggie and Jake would take those orders,
study the systems, and design strike packages offtaysvould attempt to sabotage their efforts. The one
thing they couldnét really use was spiders, since the
yet, so the spiders would have no power source. That meant that conventional automates wealoo
be deployed, and they also had four solar collectors in their inventory to use as they saw fit.
AfHave you tried to make contact with the | mxi, Denpr
She shook herwillngaldl. i edfiTwietyh arlee ConsThewmar € casi n,
species much akin to the Faey, | fear to say, in that conquer and rule are their primary motivations. They
exist in an island of sorts of habitable planets in a cluster, with large tracts of uninhabitable systems
surrounding them and separatithem from their neighbors. Those deserts isolate the Imxi from their
enemies, but also make conquest nearly impossible given their tech level. It is a two week hyperspace
jump to the nearest neighboring enemy system, at least for them. Their hypeegpeology haswaorse
relativity delay than this sectordés norm.o
AiSo theydve barely just started developing hyperspa
AThe I mxi see alliance with the Consortiwym as the ¢
with the Consortium allowing them to rule it by proxy. That was the price they exacted for their willing
assistance, one the Consortium was willing to pay, given they have found a kindred species and even intend

to use the Imxi as a safe evacuatiompbi i n case they must flee Andromeda. O

Awell, therebs no accounting for taste, 0 Jason grur
willing allies, I see no r easonanylraxisystes isamotertild ni ce, 0 |
target 0

His vidlink beeped, a timer reminding him about t he
warning, 06 he said. ADo you want to sit in over here,
unavailabl e, Denmot her ?0

Al will sit iwniédereKariThefyr @amowi me to time, Jason.

Cybi manifested and joined them as Miaari left his office to let them have their meeting, Cybi sitting
on the edge of his desk on one side, and Zaa sitting on the edge of his desk on the bthed den of
the habit of attending these meetings in person in the last couple of weeks, as if to reinforce to the others
just what she was, and a stark reminder of what the Karinnes were fighting for. Dahnai liked to banter with
Cybi, and Magran seemé¢o have a fondness for her, but it was Grran of the Jobodi that seemed most
inclined towards the CBIM. Their faces appeared near the far wall as a series of flat holograms, and Jason
al most reflexively focused o hhe.awWeware \oaderinpwherd v f ace.

you wer e, Denmot her, your emissaries simply said you
A am over for dinner, your Majesty. I am ever fon
AYoubre not the only one, 0 shet sias dona thelaln dcfo nae sgo
Al find myself curious Perhaps she might prepare
to me, 0 Assaba decl ared.
Aaloall tell her, your | mperi al Maj est y,rtobehe would fi
guite a challenge, 6 Jason said earnestly.
AYoubre in for a treat, Assaba, 0 Dahnai <chuckl ed.
days ago, after nearly a week of wrangling over it. They would fight over fuekiyithing it seered.
Since Jason wasndét a ruler, however, he still addres:
AfLet us settle in and di s@rursan fbsu svionceossdse r myn teosr eede meesc
fourteen fingers danced in front of him. |  a m tohrepartghat the factories on Joboda are retooled

and already producing Torsion cannons bearing univer :

Jason listenedonlyhatfe ar t edl y as each ruler brought wup the da
troop dispensation, and infrastruct e r el ated to the war ef fealywant Jason Kk
to know what the Consortium was doing at Trieste, but Zaa had said that keeping it a secret was imperative,



so he held his tongue. They filYdmwdsedmtdihstmr ectape dia
SkéVrae noted.

A have reason to be, 06 he replied with a grunt. fi
information to pass along, but my forces over in the PR sector are going to be conducting their first attacks
anytime now, 06 he announced. Al dm waiting for reports

AFinally. What took so long?d6 Prime Minister Vizzi

AThe kind of warf alotmowe Cohdlbbtitgepqeitesda effectiv
iWe wer e wai tadritogonduct thordugheurviiiamed andgie recon missions to tell us
where and how to attack. We have that information nq
might provoke a response over here. They may make noise to try to dratentiombackt o t hi s sector .

AfAs we have discussed in the past, 0 Magran nodded,
Ailf the Consortium moves out of Trieste, we wil!/l be 1

AWe have Trieste effectivelegi sMedbeurn dsetda taendd, bA aonck ak
sensor posts are tracking every move they make. They seem remarkably unconcerned about allowing us to
monitor them.o

AHaving that many ships in one place makes them bol
theppper circumstances, 0 Assaba stated.

AHow is the food situation? Are the transport sche
wor king effectively?0 Jason asked.

AENt irely,c‘) High Prince Grayhawk an ddwead fer that, AMy pec
you ha my eternal gratitude, your Grace. 0

AThe replicated food augments our shipment s, but nc
agreed

Al am extremely i mpressed with your IKatheyweke al |l i es,
so exceptional . o

iltds the |l anguage barrier, Assaba. They can be ve

never doubted their intelligence, or their capability. They have been an integral and vital part of the
Imperium fortwotho sand years. 0

AKizzik are just built to handle complex |l ogistical

Al find myself considering the possibility of seeki
consultants, Dahnai. They might help the Empire improvetheefe ncy of our own freighte
Assaba intoned.

il dm sure we could come to some kind of mutually be
honeyed smile. AThey can beéwell, |l et s just say t h:
you would about any other sentient being. Theydre gl

AAs are we all in the eyes of our <creator s, my yourn
guoting from Coloni st r e llifedorns,ut st sometimnes takes studiylaedr e i s b e
an open mind to see it.o

iSpeaking of rebuilding, we have received the next
the critical operations at Farroll. We will be returning to the Allied Condrass | di ng within the w
Badmradei Medber said, and they shifted back to borirt

as he should. He listened to the rulers discuss the rebuilding of the Shio Federation and Alliance, with the

Moridon leader, Overseer Brayrak Kruu chiming in from time to time to discuss financing through

Moridon banks. The Moridon werendt part of the Conf
provide financial advice and also so they knew what was goind@ ba Moridon were just as threatened as

everyone else, they just fought their wars with money, not guns.

The council wound down, and it startled Jason with
for another face to face conference todiscs cer t ain matters in a more inti ma
said as they wrapped up. Al also would |Iike the opp«
once in my |life, 0 he added, | o o kanfargnceatruledsaysuo n . i Wo ul
Grace?0

AHuUh? Of course not, your I mperial Majesty, 0 he r €
not be up to your usual standards since wedre not uUsS:E¢
due. 0

Al t hti nkowlhda be a good idea, o0 Brayrak agreed. AThe

discussed over galactic crypto. It is a security threat. Our most critical plans should be formed in a secure



setting, and there are few places in the galaxy more sdmne&aris. Even Moridon is challenged by the
House Karinne in that regard. o

AOn that we do agree, Overseer Brayrak, 06 Zaa nodded
parties. o

AfLet 6s start with ten days fdr g otdd?dba ypashmd i waarsk efdr, o n

all assented. iokay, unl ess something changes, we wi
members and our most trusted advisors among the Kimdori, Zyagya, and Moridon on Karis in ten days.
| 6ve been theteemgdepbermy and trust me, youbdre in f
is a place unlike any other. o

Ten daysét hat was Rannbés birthday. That was going
rulers were goi ng everalthings plamned for Bann dt was going td steala dittle ®f
his sonés thunder, but he could still work around it.
greet all the different rulers.iblHebddvohrakv eRatnon 6ge thitrh
events into the dayésomehow. He <coulustibbeéatisetr er y wel | t
was his sonés birthday. He could make it work. He 6

Al find myself quertse, 0e aMjaegrr atno ssaeied .i t s wond

[ That i s Rann6s bkilryouhJhdsoryCybi noteg lightli. s goi ng t o

[ She probably is, and | know. Jadod said,evhidh eausedve ar my &
Cybi to chuckle.

AWhat did she sgranaskedoudouslyGr ace?0 Ma

AJust reminding me that my security chief is going
made Dahnai | augh. ABut dondét | et that dissuade you.
to stayinapenthouses t e in a | uxurious hotel, but wedll work s
AWe don6t exactly have extensive facilities to cater
roughing it in compari son Ijaoerywhbneble hoyse inthateegatds ed t o . We
Pomp and circumstance are not things you find in any

AwWe fully understand, your Grace. Kar-ftasking s a cl| ose
visitors, 0 Badnhiam.ei fAverdd elr am squuietde happy with aver a
you find a bed | arge enough for me to fit in it, o she

Al ol l have to rush order something suitatble from ar
wedll take care of you, 0 he replied.

il can take care of that for you, your Grace. I ceé
t he hGCyhiassured him.

AThen thatoés your chore, Cybi, 0owhrteuncd gembeesd . Al n fac
might appreciate your personal touch, my friend, so you get together with our Secretary of State and help
her make the preparations. Go kick some butts and gc¢

Ailt would be my pl easur @hotels and proc@e amycsaitable sditeswi | | start
avail abl e. It will also |l et us arrange your personal

AYou reveal yourself to the common Karisian popul ac

i Of c o u rskeepliéd lightty.,AicAf t er t he Consortium revealed my s
any reason for me to remain hidden. Not all fully comprehend what | am, but they know that | am a

member of his Graceds personal shadf, and afford me 1
APer sonad r e WheaG®Hsgar |l and, how could | forget?06 Dah
Aiwhat is the problem?0 SkéVrae asked.

AThat 6s Rannés birthday! o she decl ared. Al totally
iltds Dalhmiaght we chose ten days, and weod6ll work wit!@t

me the right to inconvenience everyone else. If anything, | can bring Rann with me when | meet all of you

as you arrive as part of his birthday present. o

il wsudeetho bring a present for him when | arrive, 0
his father being taken from himtsd ay . 0

AThanks, Sko6éVrae, o0 he said gratefully.

Al f the anniversary of one6s uWdiberenhssiofgnoethei mport ant

custom myself, 0 Assaba stated. il too shall bring a
day of celebration. o



AJust dondét go crazy, o0 Jason warned, which made Dat

intel | i gent boy, and he doesnét need someone to bring h
pets. Rann already fIntesselhpealbbpari ki somaodeshedhfsght
il can give you sokemowud@Raesnt veny, wasdsaba. knlow what
offered.
Awel |, I could easily see fit to bring young Rann o
And i f Lady Cybi is overseeing our accoymwkdati ons, I

said, giving Cybi a smile.

AYou might be di s apQywanedefidHi sy oGQrra cHi gwhanse snso,td0 bei ng o
about our hotel situation. We only have two hotels that are up to the task of hosting guests of your
excellence, and luxuguites within them are few. | would highly suggest being prepared for rude housing,
and it would behoove all of you to limit your retinues to those that can handle a common hotel room with
no |l uxuries. o

AiWe can work with whatsabsa aavsasiuraebd eh erlL.ad yfi ICyam , sou rAes
roughitf or a few days. 0

Dahnai snorted. ADondt tempet hBi Mjrgodboutsmeul dveeset e
which made Jason laugh.

AA |Tittle humility isstygo000 dhefosraitdhewistohula syloiugrhtMasjnei

il 6 mhabhoutmb| e, 06 she shot back.

inwel |, if I 6m hosting this conference, excuse me | f
Jason said. AThereds a lot to do. o

AiOf course, 0 Magran nodded.

AsSit i @ybobor mBPenmot her , my office is yours, o he sai

Aya wasnot happy when he sent for her and told her what the Confederate Council waetedays?
Ten days? | barely have the time to prepareofwgleader in ten days, let alone ten! Anch aR abnsn 6 s
birthdayt | 81l have all of his activities on top of this
Eleven, the Moridon are coming tdwe corrected, which earned himanuglyglagtey bi 6 s going to
help Yuri handl e the preparati on s utthenoup ipthe fivebigt h t hem
hotels in Karsa. And | know itéds Rannds birthday, vy«
birthday? Half the things | had planned just got axed, and now | have to was&nityaround my
schedul e Ihatimportamteodrshe hrigtled atbitGet in touch with Yuri and make it happen,
Aya. And please, keep me informed as much as you can so wdeastigpet Ranndés party in sol
in a block where | have the time to show him how sorry | am this hegdpn his birthdayhe added.
Aya put a compassionate hand on his shouldl®iill, Jason. If anything, we can arrange a morning
party for him and have Yuri convince the leaders to push their arrivals back into the afternoon.

That might work.. Makeen pr oud, Aya. It wasndét my idea to hold
ruin Ranndés birthday. But | donét have any probl ems
secure than Kari s. I f anyt htlermgre jusmiow se@ousiwe drd | make t he

about protecting Cybi.
Yuri rushed onto the Strip before he could even talk to her, since Cybi beat him to it, and she looked
both frenetic and eager. AWebre hosting the entire
He noddedas he looked through the fridge, as Ayama was busy preparing diiyleirtold you?
Of course she did. What do you want me to do?
| thought state wagour job, Yuri,he winked.| 6 m entirely confident that vyour
everything | hopedr.
She gave him hugesmile. | wonét | et you down, Jayce. So, I hav
You can even wear spiked bodts,replied as he fished a bottleoykjuice out of the door.
She laughedl can do that. Not often | get to flex mhiplomatic muscleshe winked.

Cybidés going to help, so get with her and hammer oLl
give her something worthwhile to do. Sometimes she gets a little bored.

I 61 1 be overj oyYerdasswed hth.ave her al ong,

Remember one thing, Yune sent.That i s al so Rannés birthday. I wan
so | at |l east have four or five hours for Rannds birt

afternoon so we have the morningeep Cybi and Aya as updated as possible so | can arrange my
schedule that day.



Of course | can, your Grace. Dondét wor Ngw, I 61 | get
i f youol |l e xfuckloadto donand notimudh dmee a

Goge 6 e mhesndledr i ,

She grinned in reply, then rushed off almost at a dead run.

Zaa came down into the living room almost the same time that Yila and Kumi knocked on the deck
door. Aya escorted them in, and Yila looked a little unwilling to hangratavith Zaa in the room.

However, she came over to Jason and put her hand on |
precious cargo to return to Kimdor.i Prime, 0 she said,
your leave, Jasonwi I I return home. o

AOf cour se, Denmot her . Thank you for coming. It v
kissing her on the side of her muzzle.

nAttend, Handmai den. There is one final thing | Wi

AYes, my D e nrisaid, fbllewing ber tdhiaraisathe kitchen and the deck door.
Thank Trelle, Kimdori give me the creepyda sent in relief when they left, flopping down on his
couch. S he dd -likethatar tpetdat hadhat ledt sleeve bhat @nded at hewedinol a pair of
hot shorts, much less formal attire. She put her feet up on his coffee table, and then acceptedayglass of
juice from Surin after he scurried ifgo, can | stay for dinner?
Of course. Dara coming?
Shebés at home waiting for a ship.
Aya, can you organize that, pleaskon sent.
| 61l have a ship dispatched i mmediately, your Grace
Wh er e 6 sYilaaskedh ?
Still at school, but he should be home any time hewgnswered.
What are we having for dinneNila asked.
Broiled grall, Terran corn on the cob, ruga rooisi beans, five spice bread, ajidu pudding for
dessert, your Gracdyama answered.
Zyagyan pudding? Brave.
Dondét compl ain til Jgsonuetottady it , itds pretty good,
Do you know whatodés in it?
Nope. Idod t  terepbked.| learned long ago not to ask.
Coward,she winked.
Youdbd be a coward too if Ayama was your cook.
| heard that, your Gracéhyama sent tartly, which made him laugh.
Then you wondt be ashamed whieenntls twhleln ¥Yi laas kt hvahta tydosL
somethinghe shot backl happened to find out thktammakieyeballs arenotan ingredient ifFremga
stew.
They are in my cookbooghe replied teasingly.
There are two rules in this house concerning food, Yila. Firstuiswwer tell Ayamahateverwhen

she asks you what you want. Second is you never ask
It keeps you on your toes, your Grasbe sent shamelessly from the kitchen, which made Yila and

Kumi laugh.
Bullied by your own servantSuch a manYila teased.
I put up with it because Ayamabs one of the best <cc

obnoxious, but sometimes you just work around the thorns when you enjoy the rose.

You aresogetting a special meal now, your Gradg;ama threatened.

If | eat it, you eat ithe retaliated.

| 6m not af r ashedeasedinrstpm.cy f ood,

Rann and Danelle all but skipped into the living room from the kitchen with Daila, one of the morning
shift guards, behind thenHello Miss Graml DuchessDanelle sent, bobbing her head in a little bow.

You can call me Yi | a wh e rshewmilédr sitinghback @p arod holdigheri s | i tt
arms out.Come give me a kiss, Rann!

Hullo, Miss Yila,he greeted, coming over and kiggiher on the cheek.

How was school?

Boring, but okayhe answeredls Mommy home yet, Daddy?

Afraid not, little man. Sheds up in Kosigi right r
But , I think sheés worked | ong enough, | emme get her



Good.

Jason put a finger on his gestdltove.]

[ Hey baby, whatdés up?]

[You about done?]

[ 6m boarding the corvette right now. I 611 be home

[Sounds good. Just to warn you, Yila and Dara are coming for dinner.]

[ I tdmnd, dlike Yila,]she replied.

AShedl | be home in about h adwfgo getryouhaomoroff, bgthiopb py, 6 he r
you.

6 K aDanelle sent in reply, heading for the stairs.

l'lia, mind if you and Zacdh schoendes fbdasondgntroagimd?ar aY.i | a o s
out enough t o Sheeabcsh ddiinag sa hroautsheer poor job of trying
hoping for a betrothal.

That sounds nice, |l 6d li ke to get to know this | itt

Thencome on over.

The ship is on its way, your Grace. Dara should be here within an Agareported.

Sounds good, thank you Captatfila replied.

llia got to know Yila and Dara as they sat out on the deck to eat dinner, enjoying the breezy, warm
Karis afternoon. Dara made sure to sit beside Zach, talking with him as Yila talked shop with Jason and
Kumi, discussing some additional metal sales she was trying to arrange with the Haumda. They made
room when Myleena came over, still in her armor, and &y@ppd down in a chair at the far end of the

tabl e. fiMan, what a day, 06 she said aloud.

ABusy?0 Yila asked.

ASince wbtbasgam Yil a?d she r e grhliflendto floatuphoffthe gr unt , cau
platter and onto a nearby spare plate, thdne pl at e came over to her. Yila di

knew that Myleena and Jason were telekinetlow was school, pipsshe asked Danelle.

We learned about fractions todashe replied.And we went to Karsa on a field trip, to that new
museum that has all the bones in it. It was really neat.

Sounds like you had a fun d&yleena smiled lovinglyGat her your things after di
be home for the next few days.

6Kay.

Aww, | like having Danny in my roorRann complained.

Shedoeslive in her own house, sodiason sent, a bit amused.

I heard that youdre pregnant, Myl eena. Congratul at
Aww, thanks, Yilashe smiled.l t & sheladded, pointing at Jasdie put aside our mutual rot
attractiveness for each otheraddi d t he deed. oMedbire thenthande o $ather bne of e n d I
my children.
Sheds pralpwdhayn tdhe the strip that isnbét attracted t
Kumi teased.
Hey, different peopl eoffindedJasordchuckiedvae mtl yt absetceasu.s e |18nmm r
attracted to her that way either. ltdd make it awkws:
True,Yila nodded. | had that problem when | was younger. | was lucky enough to have a rather
handsome attctive young manbeeryat t r act ed t o me, but | didndét have t

What did you do?

You think I ém crazy, K u mi ? she feplidd,anhich mhadie Kumelaughr y ¢ han c €
A girl doesndt pathads up 6am noopgp osrttupnidt.y | i ke

So, you led him on as long as possible to get everything you could out of him, then crushed his hopes
and dreams without a second thouglatson teased lightly.

Damn right | did,she replied shamelessly, which made Jyslin and Mylberst out laughing.

At | east vy ou o0 dasonaent, dmosangest tingipgihis thaught,

Raping and pillaging i s rslkhewhkedhinrepgly t hey dondét know v

Jason laughed helplessly.

| did have a request, Jasoshe sent privatgl

Oh, here it comede sent cheekily.

Hush,she shot back, which made himgrin. woul d | i ke to come to Rannds bi
and Dara. Is that alright?



Actually, thatés just fine. Rann Icomestsaparyyu and Dar
Just remembenly you and Dara are invited. No entourage.
Well , can | at | east bring my son? Heds ten
Wel | éokay, that sounds alright.
Who else is invited that | know?
Dahnai, her fany, and Anyahe answered.
I 611 find a good pr esenote xftorra vRaagnann.t . S ol medtohnidntg tnhii cnek,
away with thatshe sent lightly.
| already laid down the law on the Confederate Council when they talked about brireginggRs he
told her, which made her laugh. The others gave her a curious look, then shrugged and went back to the
public conversationNothing outrageous, and no pets. Amber would throw a complete temper tantrum if
we brought another pet into this tee.
Vulpars are like thatYila nodded, glancing at the tiny vulpar, who was sitting on the table beside
Rann, her own little dinner plate and water dish before Weell, thank you, Jason. | appreciate being
allowed to come.
Dondt worrytevem isturies wh@auodr e s c hehareplied, whish goi ng to
made her grin impishly.
Posh, dchemingnotl 6m just coming to his birthday party.

, heos
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The first attack was a complete success.

Maggie had sent back video taken from a hyperspace probe watching the systef06f RRich was
one of the major constructidubs. The system had three inhabited planets that were packed into an almost
shockingly tight series of orbits, the three planets existing in orbits about the same distance as Terra was
from Venus, and all three planets were life sustaining. That wasalmheard of, and something Jason
had never seen before. How those planets formed without crashing into one another was a miracle. The

t hree planets had al/|l kinds of heavy industry in orbi

systems.It was also where they were building 26% of the quantum phase device.

Or é waswhere they were building 26% of the device.

The attack was a great success, but it was also a
easily fool sensors, what theguldnotdo was fool that clairvoyant energy being, nor did they expect to
fool it for long. The SCM was there to prevent their enemies from seeingntloemin but once they were
there, they werendt worried ab atuheywere therggandhad beent e d .
preparing their Imxi systems for KMS attacks, but it was very hard to prepare for the Legion.

The initial attack was with Buzzsaws, launched from a suicide freighter, which accelerated at flank
right at their primary tardethe core body of the quantum phase emitter, on a collision course. The
Buzzsaws were aimed at their primary control station in orbit, while the freighter was careening towards
the phase device, but the Imxi and their Consortium allies managed toydbstfeighter at the price of
taking moderate damage by the Buzzsaws, as well as
plant were rigged to explode if the freighter lost power, and that massive detonation took out two
Consortium destroyersAlmost immediately, ten more freighters dropped out of hyperspace, and they
| aunched nearly 50% of the inventory theydd brought
they dedicated sizable assets to taking it out. A virtual cloBlipfsaws, missiles, gun drones, and
backpack robots carrying other toys exploded out of those freighters, which also turned to try to ram the
main body of the quantum phase device. It was a chaotic swarm of intense action in almost every direction
as thegun drones and Buzzsaws tried to get the other devices to their target, attacking anything that fired in
that general direction as the backpack robots acted like living shields for the other weapons, jettisoning
their cargo boxes when they detected thair tthestruction was imminent, which sent a cloud of debris
floating in the direction it needed to go. The Consortium desperately tried to protect the device, the control
station, and several of the Eretrium arc sections from rampaging missiles and Bjzzisawnore
weapons coming up behind them. In the chaotic scrum, the Consortium managed to protect the device
from the onslaught using their ships, Imxi figh@enshich actually looked halfway decent, on par with
SkaaU n 6 D fighters, from watching therm actiord and automated defense weapon platforms in orbit
around the planet. The Consortium lost 14 ships, 128 automated platforms, and sustained heavy damage to
the control station because of Sat anobdasghtMawobl e s, b
mi ssiles holding Satandés Marbles managed to hit t
was ready for that with a sustained magnetic field projected from a nearby ship, pulling the marbles
towards the ship and out of the dexic

Then the device exploded like a nova, when it was struck by the intense blast of a solar collector that
had been deployed 1.2 light seconds from the system, the entire device contained in a CMS box that opened
and deployed the collector. The Consartiseemed to pause in shock as the incandescent beam of
coherent solar radiation lanced in and struck the device, hitting its power plant and causing it to explode,
then it fired again 17 seconds later and hit the command station, melting through theirog meed
holding one of its flared wing sections to the main body, causing the entire wing of the station to tumble
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away and start its death spiral into the atmosphere of the planet. Two Consortium destroyers quickly
turned and raced away at flank spéedet to jump distance, but it gave the collector time to fire again 17
seconds later, another 18Bakrawide blast of overwhelming solar energy lanced into the chaos and struck
one of the arc sections of the device, melting it in half almost exadthe imiddle of its curved length, as
the impact of the beam knocked the piece against its drydock construction scaffolding. There was no
fourth shot, however, for the Consortium destroyers that deployed quickly locked in on the device and
destroyed it, buhot without taking shock damage when they fired on it just as it was about to fire, all that
energy pulled in from the ramjstyle collector unleashed when its guiding force was destroyed suddenly.
Had they fired a split second before or after, theectdir would have just blown up, but they had the bad
luck of firing when it had all the energy gathered to fire.
God bless pinpoint targeting systems, capable of letting the collector hit a target the size of a car from
over 350,000 kilometers away.
Evenaft er the attack was over, it wasnbét over. Ever
disguised in the bulkheads and cargo doors that were ejected to open the cargo hangars, the units offline to
avoid detection, equipped with broadcast poweruritssaned t o t he Consortiumbés broa
Those mines slowly drifted towards the planet, then activated and attacked when they got within range of
the broadcast power emanating from their ships. The Consortium lost two more ships to the mings, mak
the fatal mistake of not giving those blown doors a wide berth and wandering too close to them as they
commenced cleanup operations. That reminded the Consortiuamgithingthat the Legion left behind
could be deadly, even the trash.
In the endMaggie and Jake had been right to send all that equipment in, because it kept the
Consortium busy while the collector deployed and powered up, but the video proved that the Consortium
were adapting to Legion tact i cvetasadaptthdmaetvesmehant t hat t |
collector had done that job, for it was somethiegvthat the Consortium had never seen before. But, the
lack of collateral damage from their other weapons was a bit of a disappointment. There was supposed to
be more damagm shipbuilding docks and other arc sections, but the Consortium had responded quickly
and almost perfectly to the toy attack. They had deployed proper cetnatexgies to everything but the
conduit smashers and the Buzzsaws, which had no cestraigg)y except shooting them down before they
could hit something.
Clearly, the Legion had to get mosurpriseattacke r handedéor
rather tharfrontal attacks.
So, while the attack was considered a success in that it destheypdmary target, it had been a
failure in the lack of collateral damage inflicted. It had also proved that the solar collector had been a
smashingsuccess. Jason had gone to bed last night right after ordering morpdekigjed collectors.
That little toy had some serious potential.
And they still had the meson cannons and gravity guns in their arsenal to try out as new weapons
against their enemies.
If only they could get some interdictors in place over there to use offensively. The only time they
tried, the Consortium jumpedstantyt o t he i nterdictordéds |l ocation and can
hour sublight cruise, launching a massive barrage of missiles in front of them that could go faster than they
could, and arrive in 4.5 hours. Thelairvoyant energy being was paying special and very intense
attention to the I mxi systems, making it hard to move
hyperspace, theydd worked that out , adywherantte®R i nst ant
sector, that energy being knew about it immediately, and it quickly deployed ships to attack the interdictor
before the effect put it out of reach. Their counterstroke was effective, but not unstoppable. After seeing
that report, Jason orderdtktn to stockpile enough interdictors to inter@ieerylmxi system in the PR
sector at the same time and force them to sacsbogesystems to protect theitical ones. The
Consortium woul dafl the intdadictora, bspeially whenesy interdictor was jumped in
with a defensive picket that would force them to commit real resources to destroying the interdictor. And
once they knew which systems the Consortium would actively fight to protect, well, they knew where to
start focusing tair attacks.
Jason yawned and sat wup as daybreak sun poured in t
alarm by about twenty minutes, mainly because having about ten hours to sleep was usually about three
hours more t han h etecht@a29 eodr.day, bid théredwerle tinhe$ whenahel sept too
long or not long enough, as his-Bdur based body occasionally yearned for the good old days. Faey had a
30 hour rhythm gleaned from evolution on Draconis, but oddly enough, they needdedpsmsthe



average than humans, so they still only slept abeédih@urs a day. Their telepathic minds were highly
organized and developed, and thus needed less sleep to regenerate-te@patiric humans. Jason
himself had never needed much sleepegitwhich had been really handy at the University of Michigan,
and again when he was taking classes in Faey technology. Jason had been able to go on very little sleep for
l ong periods, but those al ways c¢ amerldvoisevhnosaeigftcr asho sl
hours.

It was one of the ways that the human telepaths were different from the rest of humanity. In a way,
Cybi had always been correct to call him a differspecieghan regular Terrans, and not just because he
was a GenerationThere were very small but very significant differences between the humans and the
human telepaths, mainly dealing with mental acuity and basic thought patterns. Not all telepaths were
intelligent, but telepaths were naturally disposed to be slighthe imbelligent than Terrans. Virtually all
telepaths had naturally strong minds, capable of discipline, willpower, and virtually all of them had faster
than normal cognitive abilities due howtelepaths thought. The most significant difference wasathat
telepaths of any race had a natural aptitude to manage multiple tasks simultaneously, able to quickly and
efficiently shift their focus from one matter to another. This was a critical ability that was absolutely
required for any but the simplest fedehic applications. Some telepaths, like the Generations, could
actuallythink of more than one thing at a time, allowing them to perform highly complex telepathic tasks.
Most sentient beings were hardwired to théekially, to think of or be able togy attention to only one
thing at a time, but many telepaths were capabpeaddllel thought, able to maintain focus on more than
one thing at a time. These were natural aptitudes that allowed telepaths to excel in life, for they had
willpower and discifine, and that gave them the drive to achieve goals, and in a way, it was why the Faey
were so good at fighting, able to take in, process, and react to vast amounts of information faster than the
nontelepathic mind. The ability to commune, to think anchmunicate with moreandwidth naturally
required the ability to think in a more expansive way than just one subject at a time.

Jason was a different species from the Terrans, and even the Terran telepaths, but that did not make
him betterthan them. Ibnly made hindifferent

So, while he was technically married outside his sy
pickings were pretty slim, since everyone thought he was the only pure Terran Generation in existence for
about five yearshefore they stumbled across Rahne, and now they knew that he and Rahne and his
children were the only Terran Generations in existence. They were literally a race of seven, with five more
on the way; the twins Siyae odawmndsheREbosehaleyinstead®afi sha, Yan:
Brian was beyond Jason, and Siyara.

He looked down at Jyslin, who was sleeping on her back with her head turned towards him, and he just
had to marvel yet again at how beautiful she was. Their pair bond was true, hieebilgulling him
towards her gently, inexorably, powerful bonds of love and friendship and trust and companionship that
would ensure that they were together for life. For commoners, the formation of a pair bond was a
guarantee of marriage. For thebtes, who married for political reason, the formation of a pair bond was
the realm ofimuy the most favorite subject of Faey poets and writers since they invented paper and ink.
The pair bond could bend a little, allow a bonded person to form diffemeag kif bonds with others, but it
always ensured that no matter how many women Jason slept with, or even loved, Jysliaweygte

first in his mind, heart, and soul. Shewlassone and he woul dndt want it any ot
and kissed hegently on the cheek, and almost immediately, her beautiful gray eyes opened and she smiled
at hi m. mdwmmnmmg tods t he way | should be woken up ever

you to want the morning girl8he asked sensually.
Can | give you a kiss without turning you on, womae?accused.
No. That is absolutely impossib&he replied impishly, grinning at him as she wrapped her arms
around his shoulders. They had a little episode of some fairly heavy making out, at leasthaatidhen
odd whining sound in the distance. He glanced at his clock and saw that it flickered as it lost power, and
then was brought back up by the power generators in the basement, and almost instantly, surprised sendings
spread across the strip and tigb the upscale neighborhood on both sides of it.
What the fuck, the power just went dodason grunted, sitting up and focusing himself, then casting
his sending halfway across Karsa by accessing the tactical gestalt in the basement, far enougihé¢o reach
White House when he a s sefiding with JysinWh at 6 s goi nghedemandeder t her e?
His gestalt, which hadno6t been switched to broadcas
on, enduring that moment of it intertwining itself iftis thoughts, then Rund Hervakk appeared in his



mindbég Power should be back up in a moment, your Grac
rebooting the master command system now.]
[What happened?]

[ dm not entirely ptdosyou as soen ayteetpower mariagementcantee a r
tracks it down. Wedl |l Dbe bringing up the contin
[ Al right. This doesndédt bode well, Rund. We 6 v
[Nosystem s utterly dependable, your Grace. I 611

What 6 s g oi Jygin asked as Jasob rplfed over and sat on the edge of the bed.
Rund isndt entirely sure yet, srdnoetetuteargy caused t he
emergency shutoff.
Tr el |I e 6 dysligsendlsaerly. ,
Yeah. There goes my mood, | 6d better go find out v
Oh wel | , t her shépurrad]shdiag/hsr hand alongghls side sensually.
Dondt st aaaling Aura tolcdmie to mpoffice during lunch.
Jyslin laughed.So easy to get turned oshe teased with a smile.
Whenyoudo i t, you bet yobhr aeplliéd shayeli @essliiyn asn he
image appeared as a holo againsthiaick wall, her using the command center override to get in touch with
him directly. Al know, | already contacted Rund, 0 he
ifWe get the feeling that the plume of smoke to the
power failure,yourGace, 0 she said, l ooking down. The holo spli
grasslands nort hwest of Karsa appeared. Alt |l ooks |
failure. o
iOQuch, 0 Jas wasabou wherelthe KarJalSabtibn was located, where the industrial,
high-capacity plasma exchangers stepped the plasma down from transmission stage to distribution stage.
Fortunately, however, Rund had designed the entire planetary power grid with redundancy. Backup station
KarsaB would come online to take over for the primary once the power came back up. The feedback must
have went back down the transmission pipes and to the primary singularity plants that powered the entire
planet, and caused an emergency shutdown. He openedntbry door and caused his armor rack to
extend out, then stepped over to it. Al ol l be over
still at work?o
My shift ends in ten minutes, youirndgss aicregnédtoutd| d
replied, glancing at Jyslin. fi | hope you dono6t 1
of me, my Lady. Heb6s hopelessly incorrigible.
in |l aughed. fi l'i ke him bomed taahat sas8y, onshef v
for working nightshift.o
, it most certainly is, ofinalhgottaabop mete turmthet h a s i g

A Bet it was awfully @araf thy ksidt, das hegtargetbputfimgu s ac¢ ons o |
on his armor.

Al found the experience strangely | iberating, your
| augh. il did enjoy being the only woman in the c¢omi
she adde dryly.

ANext time | 081] have them turn the climate control
threatened.

AYour Grace, it happened to contact you with nippg
wrong i mpr es s i o ichmadesliskn rofl over brehertbaeldlgughind

iStop being bad and | et me get dressed, 0 he told he

iOf cour se, your Grace. I 611 send the warning that
chair in the corner ready for you. o

Her image winkew ut before he could respond, which made Jys
reason | |l i ked her, 0 she giggled after she got contr

AAnd here | thought making her pull a duty shift we

goong to have to get creative, 0 Jason grunted as he c
them over his shoulders, then went about locking them to the codpiece and sealing the border along his
sides.

AYou stil!/ h a v e nwéete ns tKiurnri e da ntdh itrhges tuwp nbsetyet , 0 Jysl i



I havendt t houg hhereplied. Tahneyyt hrien gg egtotoidn gy eat , | i t t |
ot her . I f t heknedirne hreaatt ,f it hhetyiébmrge Iniok & un at al |l .
They are going t&ill youvhen t hey find out that half of what the)
she winked.
Life is boring if hardpeeddylyKumiandthedwing lettme acelikeiam i t ,
arrogant I|little ass, i t 6 sdeua, he@qadeddightty,uvhithenade heolaughmy del u s i
Jason picked up Dera and Suri just as they came on shift, then he headed for the White House without
even so much as breakfast. He marched right down to the power management satellite office in the
basement fothe administration building, where Rund had his main office and his staff monitored the power
grid and made any planned changes using simulations. The place was filled with Makati who were rushing
all over the place, and he went right over to Rund Hesvaho had his horned head bent together with

tle too s
I

t hree other Makati. AWhat 6s the word, Rund?o
il was just about to call you, your Grace, 0 he saiod
a distribution board. Iy$ricdhcenddit &ailutle leadimg intoethss steleava s e d b (
(

y a
exchanger, d he said, pointing &tB]J]an ificTcthre @r atshmm K cecar
the unit, and that triggered a cascade failsafe protocol due to the sheer gigawattage ofijshyper Ib
looks like that conduit junction might have been defective, but on a microscopic level. It took it nearly four

years to fail.o

AWedd better inspect all industrial conduit junctic
notedcandWeafford some kind of microscopic design f1
the next year. o

il already have an inspection team assembling to doc
i T hi sotwaassd by the broadcast powenaything else, your Grace. It looks like a simple case of
t he wrong piece of equipment failing at the right tir
which caused one of his |ieutenants t oforallgridfy, over t hei
and Karsa is running off its primary backup substati

secondary backup station to run the exchangers for two hours once the repairs are complete, give them
some operational uptime, thesturn to the primary substation after the uptime cycle. We had that planned

for Brista, but we may as well do it now. 0
iGood man, Rund. I't looks like this is under contr
my office and tackle my inbgxd6 he si ghed. AKeep me updated. o
il 611 send hourly reports until wedre back to nor ms
Jason nodded. iGood job, everyone! o he shouted to
Jason stopped for breakfast in the complex cafeteria, then headed fordbe Gfiirk and Brall were
already there, sitting at their stations and hard at
his hands. AAlright, hit me, 06 he said without pr eaml

iYour schedul e t od-bga dhmerrindatphittonediRRoetr ede Hpaper wor k a
three appointments. Trenirk Bruun of resources in-fifty minutes, the daily meeting of the Confederate

Council at twelvetwenty hr ee, and t he weekly meeting of the cabin
AOh yeahp tahketdo Trenirk, guess he beat me to the
chuckl ed. AAlright, sounds good. Paper wor k?0
ANothing out of the ordinary or r dcacuidreirng your i mme
AfGood. Oh, thaul  eani malsl meor ®Be ha&td, umm, 0 he said,
forty. o
AContacted party?0o
ARill en Shaddale, Jyslinds father .notteHiysih cont act nun
about this. o
Al will set wuphetffmed appoint ment, 0
Jason moved over to Brallés desk. AiwWhat cha got, Br
AJust the usual, your Grace, o0 he replied, bringing
rule changes for residential infrastructure service calls, and the broadcast depanatieed the
programming |ineup changes on planetary vidlink servi

channels, mainly from outside empires. Since we have other races in the house now, broadcast
incorporated some of their entertainment transmissinto the vidlink lineup. Half of the new channels
are feeds from Alliance entertainment broadcasts, and the rest are Shio, Colonial, Jobodi and Skaa. Oh,



except for five. Webre bringing two Veeutan chann
Zyagyan farming colony on Exile specifically reque

AiGl ad we could get them for them, o6 Jagsaskaurnodded
channel . 0

Brall 1l aughed. Al ndeed it t®&8ad he.pbeplied. AVi ol e
AThe Zyagya |love it, and t haheyps agl li tt watlaseal Iswi mat
AiTrue, your Grace, true, o0 Brall chuckled. i have
around Karsa, so get me on gravhandbity need me after | |l eave in twenty n

He went back to his office and started tackling his inbox, but he was interrupted barely a half an hour
into the most boring part of his jolii R e v e r dedderHyiowhave a visitor. Grand Duchess Yila

Trefan i is in the reception room. 0
Jason chuckled. Yila had stayed overnight in the guest house, had even kept Dara with her, and clearly
hadnét gone ho nserioyslghto.t fShre tnhuosste bceont r act s. iGo ahea

replied over the itercom.
Yila came in when the door slid open, wearing something that was quite normal for the Faey but would
get her arrested on Terra. It was a wrap that went over her left shoulder and down her body diagonally,
looping around her right waist, whichtidfer right breast bare. The garment had a left sleeve on it that
reached her elbow, with the Trefani crest embroidered into the shoulder of the sleeve. r®8lkihgdn
outside from that except a pair of krieigh boots, leaving her virtually nude.uBvhat she was wearing
was quite acceptable in Faey society, where they considered the nude body to be something beautiful and
worth displaying. I't wasnbét uncommon at all to see |
Dracora wearing nothing butshe s . She wouldnét walk around I|ike that
two smalljaingi tattoos that flanked her dark, trimmed pubic hair, which were considered fringe for a
Grand Duchess. But that was Yila, breaking the rules in her understatibel weays while appearing
compl etely above board to the community at l ar ge, de
around almost as soon as she got into his office, taking in his decorations. From a football and Michigan
jersey hanging in alass case on one wall, a replica of his jersey from his days as a college football player,
to a Jobodi spirit spear, Jason had a wide variety of tirnkets, gifts, andkk@cks arrayed about the
of fice, but his of fi celyfurnisheddHalidhdvd a sindll bedroomianyg Jlivingn o r was |
room attached to it, like a little apartment where he could relax a little without leaving work, but that was
behind a door and solidly separated from his work spbicg.what | expected to see in yaffice.
And what were you expecting?
Somet hing moreégrand.
Then you dondét know meeaskedskriouslads hedfihidhed updtle foyrohawas Yi | a ?
workingon.You 6r e earl y. I havenoét talked to Trenirk yet.
He said he has an appointmemith you this morning. | was hoping it was done already.
Or that you could jushapperto crash in during the middle of e sent acerbically.
We | | é mmm mshasegr leghtly, taking a seat in one of the two chairs facing his desk, then
putting herbooted feet up on the edge comfortabBo, when will you have an answer for me?
My, webre just mohesergwith milg Aniusement as le readittéaugh the riext
form. You donét have that betrothal yet, woman.
I 6 m wo r ksheadymitted sharmeiessh\Dara reallylikes Zach. And | think he likes her too. But,
there is one thing | wanted to put past you before we get into other business.
What?
Well, given Dara wants to play professional bachi, | keep my ear to the groundtwemes to the
various bachi leagues. Well, | happened to find out that Frinia Foralle intends to sell the Velta Paladins.
ThelBL team?he sent in surprise.
The very one. Velta has two IBL teams, and the Paladins are a consistent basement dwedler, so

price isnbét that outrageous. realysedouslyinuhesSlammaeoour t hat i f y
house has to own an | BL team. ltds a matter of prest
|l 6m not all that worried about prestige, Yila.

Well, | am. | could afford to buy ¢hPaladins on my own, but | thought you might consider going into

a partnership.
You alreadyowna n | BL team, Yil a. Arendt the Tamiri Tiger:¢
own a second?



Of course, which i s why heldéamJayce e ga irafityle fortyginet o y o u . F
on the Paladins, angouar e t he maj ority partner. I dm all owed to
The Paladins move to Karis, you pick the people to manage the team. We split away game and
merchandisingrofits fifty-fifty, and home game arena and broadcast profits eighéynty in your favor.

After all, youbére doing most of the work.

You want me to move #BL team here? T&aris? he protestedWhat part ofcomplete isolation and
securitydo you nounderstand, Yila?

Jayce, you could fill the stadium just with your own people, and you alleagan IBL-quality
stadium in that games arena you built in Karsa that I
Karsa Knights. How many doesitseat a hundred fifty t hous arnredsily Two hund
an IBL-level arena. The Knights and the IBL team can share the arena, quite a few arenas host both IBL
and planetary league teams at the same time. Hell, my arena in Tamirinhrestsachi league teams,
and they dondt have any probl ems. The only peopl e t
You could even make agreements with the IBC thatacdybroadcast crews manage the Paladin home
games, and IBC gets the exclusivetioeir feed ofp | a n e t .-win, Halie$ Karigvgets an IBL team,
your people get to see IBjuality bachi live, you get the prestige of being the face of IBL ownership and a
seat at the ownerds council. pbet oatg pekepViesiybungKHi
players and support staff, which you can arrange well before the game itself. Oh, and both of us make
moneyshe winkedYou said yourself that thereds not as much r
You can keep yowecurity and still bring an IBL team to Karis, and make your Faey house members
seriouslyhappy.

Youbre seriheacsuseebout thi s,

I 8m c omp | esherépled, saking heo faes gff his desk and leaning her elbows on it, getting
herfaceclosrtohis.| f ound out that Fri ni a6 ghreakilionaregits.pr i ce wi | |
T hat 0 s bothof psrcaneasily afford if we split the cost. If we jump on it, we can lock it down before
she goes public. If it turns into a biddingmyit could go as high as five hundred billion, but Frinia
doesnd6t want to do that to the t edhmeseasdnHosing have enouq
record without having to worry about ownership issues on top of it, then the pressure gftbaeann that
half trillion backf or whoever wins t he b icatedaboutghe tsam Theonlyt 6 s odd, k

reason sheds selling it is sheds not been well, and
terribleowner. Like | sil, she cares about her team.

Well, that explains why vy o uhéaceusedbyacandyntgbuttetneet out f i t
up

She laughedl usually wear even less around my home estate outside Tashieinyinked.Besides,
youbre xpr etathyd sae gi r | doesnd6t mind showing off a bit
And you didndét wear that outfit for any other reasdg
She just smiled naughtily.
You aresucha bitch.
I know,she purred in replyln fact, | already mentioned the idea to Jyslin arrthRover breakfast,
she added lightly.
Youd i d heGsént with an audible gasp. If Jyslin found out they could buy an IBL team, she would
hound himmercilessiyto get him to agree to it. Very few little girls in the Imperium grew up without
dreamingobei ng involved in the I BL in some manner, thoug
be a player, theawningan IBL team was the next best thing.
I didndét get wher e | shasantbmuglybkedwmaytosgb oversao nesd® s |y boy,
head, and | know who really holds the whipyaur house.

Damn you, womanmleryodd 6m gonna
Whine all you want, C a u s eshelséntmvithgan awditde clguekte. my way i n t
always do.

You drop that bomb on me, and expect meamthrow you off the planet® retorted.

As long as | leave with what | waishe sent teasingly, leaning back in her chair, putting her hands
behind her head, her feet back on his desk, and grinning at him victori@uslys i d e s, I 611 be back
as Kumineedstotalktome. Weverdi scuss business any way but face to
sense for women that do what we do.

| ¢ belebdeyou,he accused, but in reality, it just showed how smart anddamgerousyila
Trefani really wa. He pointed imperiously at his doddut, you treacherous bitch!



She laughed brightlyAl r i ght . I 61 1 be back after you have your
metal sales. And you should expect a call from Jyslin anytime now.
i Out ! 0 edhvehichbnadelkher explode in laughter. She got up, blew him a kiss, then sauntered her
naked, sexy butt out of his office like she owned it.
Give her twenty years, and simghtown it.
After fuming a bit over her power play, dal sit there and condér the idea from a more objective
point of view. He didndét give a care for being on tl
pure morale perspective, having an IBL team on Kaosldbe a good thing. The team could pay for
itself just fom ticket sales and merchandising, and Miaari could probably manage the security for their
own players and for visiting teams, their players and staff. And 153 billion was actually a major bargain
for an IBL team. Yila was right that either of them a@bafford to buy it themselves.
He considered it seriously enough to call Miaari into his office immediately after his meeting with
Trenirk, where they arranged to get the full metal quotas that Kumi was asking for to trade without messing
up their other chedules, as well as wrangled more factory space for 3D orders. Miaari padded in just as
Trenirk | eft and sat in front of his desk. AWhat di
He leaned over his desk and offered his hand. She leaned forward and tookeét felhthat sense of
expansiorthat came when a Kimdori accessed his nervous system using their uncanny ability. Instead of
spending ten minutes explaining, he related everything in less than a second, and far betteothidn he
have explained it.
i Fhm, it does have potential, o0 she said clinically.
much more burdensome given how many outsideralezadyon planet. | agree that we should permit no
travelers to attend the games, make it home plargt mowever. | can manage a couple dozen opposing
team members in Karsa, but not several dozen thousand drunken fans.tdhatasyt o s af el y manage.

AAnd the inevitable attempts by other organizati ons

fitan manage that, 0 she answered.

il candét believe | 6m seriously considering this, o J

filista good idea, cousin, 0O she answeredownlBlWilt is good
team, and the venture will easily pay for itself. Aidce we can buy it outright, well, | see no reason to
involve Yila in the matter, 0 she said with a wolfish

Jason burst out Il aughing. Al f we backstabbed her |
war ned. fi Bwenmg aoh BE tean ugsi weos me a hold on her. And | ge
need @uncho f t hem. o

AfShe is a dangerous woman. Af fable and charming, k
on her and take measure of her true intentions over the ideay#hvén back t o you. 0O

ADo that, she should be hovering somewhere near t he
But she thinks Kimdori are creepy, SO0 you might want

She nodded. AlLook away if it bothers you, friend,

il wen it before. o

He only glanced a couple of times as Miaari undertook the rather gruesome process of shapeshifting,
but he c¢oul dndamneffeetiney Mitah ads replaced yeasather cute Faey male staffer that

usually worked eveningswea ng a st andard Dukal of fice worker unifoc
didnét wusually work days, and she certainly wouldnot
Faey male, since males weretwersyeet aetri Inom.w, ofilsthlel stae Idl
voice much different from her usual one.
AfGo sic her, 06 Jason chuckl ed. fiBand me your answer
AWill do, friend Jason, 0 she said as she opened t he
ABy the wayepyyoaus lao onkalcer,e0 he call ed.
ATrust me, itds muchalewreeg, @rsheramewer gthi as feleé spo

made him laugh.
A few moments later, while Jason was tracking down Kumi to get her to come to his office, Miaari
sent him a rassage using her memory band, which would allow her to do it without spefRimg has no
ulterior motives outside of getting another grip on you, trying to insinuate herself more and more into the
house,]Miaari reported, her band using the biogenicuaek. [And she made a rather bold pass at me.]
[Why am | not surprisedJason chuckledf So, t hatdés why sheds after Zach?
[Partially. In reality, half the reason she is so intent on Dara marrying Zach isstiettas something
of a crush on him.]



[Yila has a crush on nfive year old sofi] Jason gasped.

[Not sexually] Miaari answered[His looks remind her of one of her earliest lovers, for whom she
still has fond feelings. So she is quite inclined towards him.]

[ Ohhh, okay, tdsaonteplied. imthe rookisbaried rdalm) obiannpolitics, well,
that was something that Jason could use if it came down to it.

Yila sauntered back in and took a seat, and Kumi rushed in seconds later, carrying a haivadpanel.
wanted to see me, bas?she asked.

Takeaseahe repli ed. Mi aari came in behind them, back
change mass to shift into the Faey for m. AAlright, f
the increase intungstenandtini um production, and hedl |l have those ¢
you asked for, 0 he said aloud as both Kumi and Yila I
around Jasonbdés desk, then sat aoattobbiee toba lopimg tlefe. | t . Bot
ANow, that second order of business, o he said, l ooki i
assures me she can handle the security.o

AEasily, o she nodded.

AAnd despite a certaier smymeloenaed,so0 ah e esrgitds, tloo ogkoi rogv
unrepentant Yil a, Al dm not too dumb to see the advant
house security, then I d6m inclined towards the idea.o

AwWhat idea?d6 Kumi aspedd as Yila all but fist pum

AWedre buying the Velta Paladins, 0 Yila stated vict

ADemirods hobgiouBdocKumyogasped. Al didndédt know an | E

iltds not common knowledge yet, o VYila reeyoli ed. i
areasop Kumi . 0

AiWe and House Trefani are going to enter into a joi
terms arenb6t acceptable, Yila. | tontwlit . ho Wed |l il s | the y

a
inforathityper cent stake. 0
ABuwhit! 6 she barked, jumping to her ffeeknowabod gl ari ng

this if not formd 0
Alf 1 d&dm taking all the risk, |l 6m getting the |ionbs
What ensued was négafour hours of intense haggling. Kumi and Miaari found themselves spectators
as the two most headstrong house leaders iBidmnbutted heads like two rams fighting over a flock of
ewes. Yila was highly cultured and civilized, but when it came toepaihe dark mafia overlord part of
her personality boiled out of her like cancerous ooze. Every time Jason boxed her into a corner and forced
her into a concession, she made veiled threats about costing Jason his profits in throwing her control of so
mary parts of Imperium commerce at him, threatening to hamstring him. Jason countered that by causing a
Friendly Puppy to float off its shelf and into his hands, and he set it on the desk as a constant visual
reminder that Jason Karinne waat afraidof Yila Trefani. Kumi actually learned a few things about
bargaining watching two masters of the craft go at it in a veritable fight to the death over ownership
percentages and profit sharing.
In the end, neither of them was entirely happy, and Jason wadlyaninaing late for his Confederate
Council meeting. They had agreed to a 58/42 split in ownership in favor of Karinne, with away games and
away game broadcasting split 52/48 in favor of Trefani, merchandising split evenly between the houses,
and home gae profits split 77/23 in favor of Karinne. Yila had minority voice when it came to team
operations, able to make suggestions, but Jason had
delegate out to experts anyway. Jason knew almost nothing pitwfessional bachi, but he could find
people whadid. In his opinion, the meddling of house rulers in bachi operations was why some teams did
so poorly. Jason was no Jerry Jones.

The one thing Yilad i dlniébke i n t he ¢ ont rasontopackdovnframhwasa oul dndt g
buyout <c¢cl ause. After 20 year s, House Karinne coul d |
billion plus a percentage based on one year of average profits from broadcast and merchandising. Further,
therewasagpnal ty clause in the contract that would allow

House Trefani used its position or its own IBL team to hamper, hinder, or otherwise devalue the Paladins in
any manner. They were allowed to bid for the saraggus competitively, but if Yila used her knowledge

of the Paladin organization as an advantage foowaiteam, then she was busted and had to sell her

interest in the Paladins to Jason for what she paid for the minor interest, asevellyasredit oprofit the

team had earned thenAfter a dozen years or so, that would be such a staggering amount that Yila would



wet herself at evethinking of trying something like that, cheating for her Tamiri Tigers team at the
expense of the Paladins.

AKumi pbuybd the buyout offer. Expect to have to go
fi have that in the bank, 0 Kumi snorted. AnTel | Fri
Yila gave Kumi a slightly surprised look.
Al 61 | tegaltkamabmut thehbeyodt and make contact with Frinia Foralle after my council
meeting, lawhoch!l | @imght add, 0 he said, giving Yila an e
Awell, this was more important anpofitap, 0 she said ai
Jason had to sigh, which made Kumi | augh and Miaar.
AWedl Il talk about this more | ater. o
Kumi and Yila hurried out, heads together and sending privately, and Jason gave Miaari an annoyed
look that made her laughi ¢ h | y . AChildren wil!| be children, Jason
il see why you |ike Kumi so much. After ten thouse
you feel young. o
Mi aari swatted him behind the head, whiesad made hi m
AiYou can do me a favor and start building a security
sports. o
Al ol l have the initial outline on your desk in thre
AChirk, 06 he said, totalktoMayohBela ofKarsa.rHawe her coifnd hera, ave d
need to talk face to face. 0
fYes, RedvemnadeérHi vaAt what time shall I appoint her ?¢
AfAs soon as she can get here, 0 he replied. The cit
himssd f as t he Grand Duke, which put control of it in D
department, he instead split up the planet and put it under control of its regional governors and mayors,
with oversight from the Land Use Division, which wasodfice that answered directly to Jason rather than
a department secretary. In effect, Jasashis Secretary of Interior. Public use buildings were
administered by the elected executive in control where that building was. Dela was the elected mayor of
Karsa, so that meant that her office had operational
make her wait til |l 6m ready. o
iYes, RevermeaecrHiove
iSee you for dinner?06 Miaari asked.
AOnly if youdbre coming over. oo
Al am nomwi loed.he AUNt i | |l ater, cousin.o
Jason secured the office and got the council on holograms in front of him, and he popped on just in
time to |isten to Dahnai and Assaba squabble over sol
importance. He cutthemdify speaking over them. ASorry |1 &d&m | at e,
lied artfully, bringing up a holo of the aftermath of the attack orlPR 6 . iwWe executed our fi
attack in the PR sector, and it was a success. We destroyed the chaantmne arc section of the
guantum phase device the Consortium is building and did collateral damage tcmmenBonsortium
ships and a control station. o
AHow much damage is that in relative terms?0 SkoéVr e

iltds set themthackh hearkepliwd. moAiWedre preparing t
PR-75 and PRL112, with automated weaponry, but the Karinne fleet stationed in the PR sector is going to
begin its first probing action of t her ,n® blud ae xxhwll aii megd
ilt wenlhlarlwe t o get in there to get at that station, b
them devote defensive resources at the nebula against our ships. Every ship we can pin down is a ship we
dondt haveutopwpmpinwgabp somewher e eljwnpwhielsep etchheayl drye s

in that nebul a. The nebulads mass and gravity field
are much |l ess tolerant of ogerxapvliatiyn efdi.e | dfisT htahtadns swthayn dt ah
hyperspace so far from planets when they attack. It
effectively blockade them inside their fortress, lay siege to it to use a term, which | think we dss do.
soon as we start poking around their nebula, theyoll
AwWell, thatdés some progress, at |l east, o0 Dahnai said
to dig them out of Trieste without them killing off theiciv i ans . 0
AWedbre working on that,o Jason said. iwe can discu

conference. 0



il expect quite a few briefings on what the Karinne
Grace, 0 Vi z z itlkereyes wade hard |Vizzie yas srbanter than she looked.

Alt will take at | east two full days, 6 Jason said o
literallynevers poke at these conferences, andhadandndét even att
ambassador | istening, who didnét speak eithe

AThen this conference is overdue. And aIert your S
of your hotel space problem, 06 Assaba deewilar ed. Al wi
used as my residence and to house my staff while attending the conference. It will only need water at least
sixty-two Skaadragthad e e p . I't is capable of water Il andings. o

AOur harbor in Karsa is deep emtaryutigfyoyrour | mper i al
intentions. 0

AThen you can take the suite intended for me and as

Jason daydreamed his way through the rest of the conference, which only lasted about ten minutes, but
Dahnai contacted himraost immediately. Her face appeared on a hologram just on the far side of his
desk. Awhat is it, hon?d Jason asked as he finished

AWedre gonnald3itll & satheoudt dPtRed.

AWhat about iit?0

Al think you nmay yhawea tf davgiohtatéaenrpi ajpest ¢ she told hi
house of the Imperium, Jason, no matter how independent you are. You jumped to that planet while under
Imperial authority under the rules of war, that means it becomes Imperiumtprpperd

il can make the most bgetthere cINoi mtdareri thouBahmrain., 0 Ih
ANow, if you want to arrange shared food proflts, t h
planet i s becaus eriumnedds marefagiit e d u @aindg t le a h egiviag But | 6r
itt o you. 0

Al think you need Empresse ndeansboenr, ot hsahte Isbam dy owirt h a dar

AAnd whyaud owiwli it h it | Dahnai ? Auctiogtojustturnf f t o t he
around and use it as a way to gain more power, like what was dongtanet? Not just no, biiell na
I dm willing to enter into a Siaonreteivesartequallstarte ofalt at es t hat
food produced at costys one percent to cover maintenance expenses and run the planet qeainon
but I d6m not going t o diSannuwpith hapgees totkeep that sexyassdf power i n
yoursinyour chair. o

fi dondét vemmtlwanttt. Hose t™Mleer ane wants it, 0 she retorte

made you give me passage rights through Exile, Jason? House Merrane is in a weakened position, and we
needsome additional house assets and the profits they bring, or what happened with Terralanddm e 6 s
gonna happeagaint he i nstant one of the Highbornnisosefhi nk House
enough on my chair, but how safev8ilribe 2?0 she asked point eamruscares AThe f ac
religion into all the Highborns, bu have to look at the lonterm health of the house, and the Imperium.
You and me wondt be on these chairs forever, Jason.
and keep stability in the Imperium, | have to start aatiogg 0

H e 6 dught theosame thing himself a few times, but mainly from his point of view, protecting the
house against the | mperium when he was gone and some
seemed that Dahnai was thinking the same way, and in thattesipadid have a point. He sighed and
| eaned back in his -X7ila,idr .he fisytoaut ecda nbdltu nhtalvye. P R | have
splitting the screen and c au-<028, glanatthte@aima spverepiiet t o p
system. I't was charted by Karinne scouts just befo
| 6ve had hyperspace probes and some research ship
I'tds al most extct t gssstainihkgplanEtenialkegionithat seerhsecompletely devoid of
spacefaring races. Gravity, pressure, temperature, and atmospheric gases are all within Faey tolerance.
This planet has a desert climate with heavy deposits of several orasak®tip Neutronium, and can be
terraformed to become arable, it just lackswaBut, 6 he stressed. AThis system a
terrestrial planet, QMQ02-2, which has a prendustrial society on it that have just started employing
steamenginetecn ol ogy . I wasnb6ét going to show you this beca
on Terr a, but you do have a point. So,20Band ebs the de
allow House Merrane to claim the other six planets, all theions, and the asteroids and comets. You can
have every other asset in the system, butdmnot make contagtith planet two. You leave them alone.
They areoff limits. 0
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A Why ? Wedve incorporated primiti vudryimgtolbtingr es i nt o t
theGruugi nt o Karinne?bo
ANo | 6m not, 0 h eshasngthedplanetrEkile with thé&ryug fiflheery 6r e not part

house, and therebés no contact between us and t hem. y
trust you to be as generous with this indigenous race. | respéatrthe urigh t® live on Exile as an
independent entity, butdknowy ou wondét do t he same for this race, so
from you. That 6 s omy ydoevalc.an VYioeua vceani tt.ack e it
AThe point of finding planets is to add their asset
patiently. ifiThe Goraga and the Menoda and the Parri
Kizzik and Makatiweredt f ar behind us technologically when they
fi'Y ocaonquered he Kizzi k and the Makati. The other races
l ong since then that the modern Ki zlmpekalneavdd Makati dot
iSo? |l ncorporated is incorporated, Jason. The mod
Kizzik and the Makatii. We need them as much as they
AYoubre missing the point, D a Ichoiaeinot yourdllimgein poi nt i s, t

there with a couple of divisions of Imperial Marines. | sawawawr ace get subjugated by th
not going to be a party to seeing that donartotherr ac e . 0

AiThen how about a compromise, 0 srhakecentactdiththke ani ng he
race andgivet hem t hat iovitetihceem i nWeodlIltlhe | mper i um. I f they seé
eighth race of the I mperium and subjects of House Met
communications lines open, and Ilvioh c | ai m t h adojoip usaviliegty. Wihith Iithink t h ey
would just be a matter of time, 0 she said confident]l)
tools when we can make them a hundred times more efficient, bring them teghiootogke their lives

easier, and open the entire galaxy to them?0
Altds not quite thatsteady,r i haghmaic.es ,L itkhee yda st nprte u
series of national entities, mu c honé dndtreer. Thatmeans and t he
that notall of them are going to be in agreement. So, until such time that the planet is unified under a
single government, they abandsoff 6 he said sternly. AYou can have evi
their moons, esry asteroid, but yodo nottouctp| anet two or its moons. I n ret
system and provide towing and transportation in and ¢
She |l ooked at him, tousling bhhefinallpsaidut i ful bronze he
Al ol l have your word on this, Dahnai, 0 he said seri
AAl right, you have my wor dermhydopanios.untiloMvevateran set up S
replicators get enough water into the atmosphere to start the organic infusiantemaf ng pr ocess. 0 F
water replicators were terraforming equipment that di

hydrogen and oxygen and combined it chemically into water, then released it as a vapor. It was a basic
piece of heavy equipemt they used in terraforming operations, transforming desert planets intdilkarth
planets by creating water and infusing organic particulates into the desert floor. This process turned a
barren desert planet that was potentially-$ifestaining intotie rarest of all planets, a blue and green jewel
that was an oasis of life in a barren universe. A standard water replicator was about the size of the
Superdome in New Orleans, and House Merrane would deploy about 100 of them in key locations around

theg anet based on its weather patterns to spread wat et
t hat planet ?0
iSome, desert flora and fauna, o0 he replied. ANo se

AAnyt hing dangerous?o0

ANot hing outr ageous | nmeterfemcgsamndshiekls if ybuseét upcoy t ake pe
equipment in the equatori al bel t . That 6s where t he |
theydre fairly nasty. o

AfSend me the sensor |l ogs and fi el dt trierpgpritmt m,n0 tshlee s
sai d. dowaBrutt ,t d make at | east diplomatic contact with
steam engines, no doubt they have telescopes that will notice acbvithpmatic 6 s he sai d before |
could reply, holdinguph a nd . iwWe just call them and say who we a
they knew it was, and by the way, wedre going to movV:¢
since ités uninhabited. o

Jason ponder ed t hathat Wemakpeadefgkhant d &btl.l gAnwdke Iyl | even

astoallowyoutotradeperiejual ity goods for food with t hem. No te



AiThat was more than | was asking for, but 1611 take
indigenous food plants and see if theyodre worth prod:!
He looked to the side, and tapped out a contact number on his console, calling New Karsa on Exile.

Meyabs face appeared on the sidabyandhdMyds epdwded i1
i Pack Saimpitart hegi rl s, youdr e2 ®d2,ithghe etnal dutthe m.QMC
AAlright! Webdbve got everything all running smooth

to do, 0 Myra grinned.

AYou wondt be Empressm@ahnai adthdrizagion dgoiclaira every planet in the system

excepf or planet two, and sheo6l |l be organizing a deployr
out now on the scout ship and do the initial landing and perimeter setup ovegést tameral deposits,
and miners and terraformers from House Merrane will ¢
AYoubre being awful formal, Jayce. I take it her N
AYes, 0 Dahnai c avhidheade looth efthen llugh. ¢ 0 mm,
AiYeah, we know who owns you, Jayce, 0 Myra winked.
AUnl ess you want to make another adventure special,
which made them grin. AFull escort, girls. o
AiWe have allantdhe ealdiyps weemwer e just waiting for you
AiCan we go on with the ful2d02s?c00ut deployment, or st a)
St ay -202at@asuntil Merrane has everything under control, then go ahead and check out
QMD-239. Butyou have sixdaysnly, 6 he stressed. il want you back at
what . | m going to need you two for something el se.
AYou got it, Jason, 0 Meya nodded, then they winked
AThere, everythingds fAsGett wpp,url gpwe,pd eJ asno rt hteo Imb vieer .
for you at Exile. o
Al ol | get a schedule to Myri as sveryship oeesonthe can, 0 s he
far side of the galaxy, 0 she winked.
fi have t hree s hiopandsesaorting thBcimitara cfuiser an@ twpdestroyerd, i
and we rerefitted theScimitarb ack t o its original mi ssion as a scienc
built for. That 6s what 6s sitti ngcrusertlsoaarriessaxi | e r i ght
specially designed interdictor around with it, so the
ACl ever . o
il dondét | eave my peopleds asses hanging out in the
AAlright, |l et melg@etmoomn nighidos Datpetai mpapeopt hen she |
wait to see you, Jason Make sure Jyslin understand:
there, o0 she winked.
AYou are just so predictable. o
il dondét get to wradgd my lodgsenarasurnd wanu t o, baby, o
a smile
ADahnai, sleeping with me isndt ¢ddi2ng thoe maakied me tchh
amusement, putting his chin in his hand and regarding her.
ANever under erstadfmatthee tlhmp eroiveel pussy, baby, 06 she pu
mid-wink.

Jason just had to chuckle. Dahnai was never going to change.
Dela was waiting in his office for him, so he knocked that bit of business out. She almost fell out of
her chd in excitement when he told her about their plans, the elderly Faey woman showing more
ani mation than hedd ever seen out of heréwhich justif
wasthat happy about them trying to get an IBL team, therstnad the Faey on planet would be as well.
And Jason would go to extremes for his people. Kumi ran in as they were discussing the arena sharing time

bet ween the I BL and the KPL teams, carrying a handpatl
fi Ya forwarded a credit line for her portion! | can maghf or i t |, babes! You talk to
ANot yet, so go back to your office and calm down, ¢

spazz, 0 Jason sighed as Kumi ran out of the office.
| heardthat! Kumi warned.
| meant you tohe shot back, which made Dela burst out laughing.
It took nearly three hours to get to the point where he was ready to talk to Frinia, because he spent

most of that time with the legal team. The sale of an IBL teasses@ous fucking businesso he needed



a great deal of expert advice and opinion on possible conditions of the sale. Frinia could demand all kinds
of things in return for selling the team, and his team briefed him on quite a few different scenarios. So
when he had Chirk track down the contact number for Grand Duchess Frinia Foralle, Jason felt he was
entirely ready for the conversation.

Frinia was a very curious Grand Duchess. She was the head of one of the smallest minor houses in the
Siannand almeat never came to court, yet she owned an IBL team, which was a status symbol among the

houses. House Foralle was quiet and went about its |
good friends with Emae Shovalle, one of the most powerfuldsBarchesses in th&iann Frinia was a
very hard woman to know, an®6ianhn heldld tmed thieme aHdddfbd:

The only reason Frinia had an IBL team was that she managed to win a lottery when the IBL expanded to
64teans back i n 4336, and probably s gdradukagthe Falemoul t o t he
Ones, to pull off that miracle.
But, she was friendly enough. It took him all of ten minutes to get her face on a hologram in front of
him, and most ofttat time was giving her time to get out of the bathtub to come talk to him. She was an
el derly woman even as the Faey reckoned things, but |
much. She was very thin, almost gaunt, with pronounced cheekbodea sharp chin, and her white hair
had liberal streaks of blue through it, and had turned coarse over the years, which was another indication of

her advanced age. AwWell, Grand Duke Karinne, l 6m qui
tugging on her bathrobe a little.

AJust a little business, Frinia, o0 he replied cal mly
somet hing of a passing friendship with Yila Trefani.

AiThat young pirate, shebs quite a force, 0 Frinia cbt

AwWell, dshe hédamugh her channels that youbre expres:
continued. hoWwdDher 6knawk, me di dnodét ask her. But that b
i mportance to me, 0 he sai dmanvoesaywantsomethingoma was a pol it ¢
woman. He always had to mind his Faey manners as a man when dealing with the Grand Duchesses that
didndét know him very well. Men were very indirect wl

no, I want oryou 6 r e twawoman. A man had to be discreet, using formulaic expressions that
conveyed those intentions both politely and indirectly.

Aiwhy am | not surprised, o6 the old woman cackl ed.

AWhy are you considering seadatt iaghokseée nuiga®al MThaddass r

iltds part being a petty bitch and part doing what €
daughter is already measuring the curtains in my thr«
cansmellthecrowdl ason, and itds making her boterhblebearhi d and e mb
owner , 0 she added. AShe doesndt have the temper ament
isndédt that hard. We onl y eplarekintoerngriamsystem, ard a inimngt he Vel f
colony on a moon over in the Tamiri system.o

AWhich is how Yila got wind of it,d Jason reasoned.

AProbably, 0 she smileasttt hafnRowning Bhi § Bhotseamis She
disastereas it, and my poor Paladins have enough probl ems.

their money over prime talent free agents, and my poor GM and coaches do the best they can with what
talent | can afford. The simple fact of the matter is, Jdseant to see my team be what it used to be
before they removed the luxury tax and salary caps. | wantto seevihem and t hey wondét do th

daughterés running the team. So yes, | 6m considering
fil can pay you a hundred and fifty billioim, cashrightnow 6 he decl ar ed.
inwel |, itds not that easy, afosloyn, Balsdei smideedsndtilIuo

you cansupportmy Paladins. Where are they going to play? Do you hatabdeifacilities? An office
complex for the fromhagsbhéi Ee&@ncWheé80going to

Awell, why dondét you come to Karis and take a |l ook
il sh@awou. O

AThen you make thél hrbangbemeatas saodn as | get dr es
the lapel of her Terran terrycloth bathrobe, one of the many exports from Terra to the Imperium.

AAlright. Youdl | be cleared al |l t haetingDaagonis,hr ough t c
and theydll escort your ship here. o

AThen | 611 be there within two hours, o she said i mn



After that, he got the Il ast bit of business out of

schedul ed cal |l ¥ lnéchlingjt aut early whilhhie bad iinte arml befoee he got involved

with Frinia. He got her father while he was at work, getting a holo of him sitting at a control console with a
factory assembly |l ine behind hiimisRilemEhaddad abonhs ower e
he said with a smile. iltds good to see you, sonl! \

ATrying to talk you into coming to Karis again, Ri |
permanent!l y. o0

AJyslinds birthdayd™de dhevidashk ead ,s mand.Jasiddmo nred Youbédl
little, though, 0 he coughed. il donét think | can al

Al can pull a few strings, 0 he promised. A know t
domeafaor . o

AThen wedl |l be there. o

Aildm trying for you and Vari as well as Ilvin and hi
that ?20

AWith Vari, none, she has plenty of vacation ti me s
and Yerae.lvin has midterms coming up, Yerae still has three months in her conscription, and you know
how unforgiving they are in the Academy. 0

ARi | bmhhel Academy, 0 he pointed out. Alf | say a st
time off. 0O

Rilen | aughed. iwel |, heés terrified of losing his

ALi ke that 6$gagwe ntai rh atptpaetn,schol arship, 0 Jason snort
conscription? House Denall e?d

He nodded iwWe were subjregctd thert kkeinrs chra psd omh en Ye

Al dl 1 get her some | eave, I 61l twist Aniliyads ar m,
conscription and move her here, o0 Jason mused. AYou |

il s iconracidasan. Ad makimgs o met hi ng here, 06 he replied. il
factory. This place was a disaster when | took it o0\
Grand Duchess Duralle might s-inpontantyyehichmdde Jaspm poach me,
| augh. iwhen my contract is over, weo6ll talk about
she can find a job as a teacher. o

AOn this pdpameétl,em, WMatlJdson assured him. haiBut youbd
and worry |ines, not to mention save me about a hundt

AwWhat for 2?0

AYou think | dondt have people near you protecting
stepfather and i f vy o u indslighttyéensitive pdlitical gosition. éhawve Kimdori in place
around both your family and I vinds family. They keej

i had no idea, 0o he mur mured.

AYoubre an i mportant per swvhro ryow,r Rlialulgehrt,eri fmaa mliy dh e
dryly il dve had protection in place around you for
job, 6 he chuckl ed. ABut enough of stuff you can do
or six standard hour s, I sorta have a |l dongfoing on.
Jyslin, this is supposed to be a surprise.o

Al wondt, o he smiled. Al 6l 1l still bentcthe wor k i n si
workday here. o

Ailtds a little past lunch here, 06 he replied. Jer ar
the I mperiumdéds 30 hour day, and while the planet had
worked a 10 hour daynd worked an Imperiurallowed maximum of 70 hours in a takir, or 7 out of 10
days, 70 hours out of 300 hours in the Astandard weel
had to observe those rules and fit them into their planet, moon,onséeio | ocal daily time rot

they could. That was a standard through the Imperium, if the planet or moon had a 6 hour day or a 147

hour day, which one plandtd have. Its day was about 7 months of its year.
AAlright, |l 6111l be wasdbbhng on your <ca
Al o6l | make sure Chirk reminds me to call before yol
Jason disconnected the call, then stood up to go to 3D and see how things were going over there. He

still had quite a bit to do, but thankiiahe had all day to get it done.
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Command Shipegis Task Force Sevdtagship, orbiting planet PR371-2

She didnét I|ike this.

Admiral Palla Karinne moved through her ready room from her personal quarters to the bridge, passing
by her collection hanging on the walls and sitting on shelves within without paying muctonitindHer
pale pink eyes flinched slightly when she came out onto the bridge deck, which came to attention when the

chime on her door called to signal her arrival on the

right over to the comm, wherthree officers with microphones attached to their interfaces for more clear

transmissions sat. AAre you sure it was decoded pr o]
AfYes, Captain, o her primary comm officer, Lieutenar
She sige d . fGet me Station Liberty. Baroness Maggi e

Station Liberty was the station theydd towed throucg
control center and part staging area, filled to the bulkheads with automated weaponryilaitdwas the
headquarters of all operations at-BRL, in reality the whole thing existed for two people. Maggie
MacCleod and Jake Wagner, two of the original members of the Legion, and representatives from the
shadowy government entity known only d3.3Most had no idea what it was or what it did, but Palla was
high enough in the chain to know the truth of it, and that made those two humans probably the most
important things at PR71. Cunning and resourceful, the two Legion members were the ondsdho
real control of this theater. That was why the orders that came across the galaxy confused her a little bit,

and caused her to get some corroboration. Maggi e Mac
Palla took a seat in her chair. She wake even by Faey standards, short and petite, but with stormy blue
eyes and flaming red hair. AWhat 6s up, Captain?0 she

place calledrexasif she remembered right.
AWebve receivedeondleulsatbojdmpgtout henemyds main co

information, my Lady, o0 she replied. AGi ven | bel i eve
have any specific requests on what we |l ook for?o
ANot hi ng r eal | y-range Y¢ans, b nothingssolian df yolu oan get a sensor dropship
into the nebula and get us some internal readings, it
AThat will be very dangerous. 0
il know, so | o61l1 l eave the military Noamattef t o t he mi
what you get, itds gonna help. o
fUnder stood, Baroness. 0
AfGood luck, 0 she nodded, then her image faded.
Palla frowned and crossed her |l egs demurely, which
and pondered the situation. Shepegh on the arm of her command chair a moment, then glanced to her
l eft . AComm, get me Caplreamen OMar ayi Karinnne aboard
AAt once, sir.o

iMar ayi 6s handsome face appeared on the main screer
AAdmiralcawhh do for you?o0

iWe have orders to initiate a probing action agains
she reveal ed. ATo gather intelligence and survey it :
dropship into the nebula,dn i t 6s going to need fighter escort. Gi v
mission, I need thbestf i ght er squadron in the KMS, Marayi . 0O

iThdi 6on standby and awaiting orders, Captain, 0 Me

whothe besfighter squadron in the KMS was. Everyone already knew.

il want you to carry out the initial probing action
to your command for this operation. Jump in, scan as best you can, and try to ascertiefethees while

the sensor dropship enters the nebula and tries to get more refined scans of its interior and whatever

surprises it holds. Find a sensor dropship and the best pilot you can stick in its chair and prepare the ships

under your flagtojump o t he nebul a, Captain.o
AUnder stood, Captain, 6 Marayi said with a nod. i WF
AAs soon as youbre ready. Orders wil/ be sent dowr
AThen wedl |l be jumping out i n dpkkingapyerheimetut es, 6 she



ATrelle be with you, Captain Be careful . o

iAl ways am, sir, o0 she replied, then Palla cut the c

fAegisout . O Palla | eaned back in her <chair, rapping h
button on her chai, one of her hardline connections. iCommand

AfAye, sir?0 her Makati engineering officer said.

AOQur enemies are hiding their base inside a nebul a.

The Makati <chuckl ed. oufd@bse problerass amd ascouple thatwilldurnt o get ar
t he nebula against the Consortium, o he replied.

Al want you to sit down with your engineering team
youol |l place on my desk as soon as possible. o

iGi veoulouwmws, sir. Me and GrzzOokik have been discu
going in there eventually. We already have a few id:¢

Al ol | be waiting to hear them. 0

AfAye, sir. Two hours. o

AVery good, Commandeod b&8ck dgp. oufiSend Phdwm tshe ord

command to Squadron B and give them permission to dej
Keep me updated as to Squadron B6s mission status, C
she headd back for her ready room.

AAye sir, o0 her first officer nodded.

Commander Justin Taggart of thé"7Ractical Fighter Squadron, nicknamed the Ghost Squadron by
most in the KMS, called the meeting of his 39 pilots and 40 wizzos to order. Most alsisagi been
with him long enough not to take the fact that he was a Terran and a man lightly, but his two newest

recruits |looked a bit irked taking orders from him.
weeks, coming on board just beforeytlieployed to the PR sector. A couple of the girls were wearing
nightclothes, since theydd been called to the briefi:i

Everyone knevsomethingvas going on, because the entire ship was ordered toafjgoerters and the
twenty minute warning for jump had been issued.

Aiwhat 6s going on, boss?0 his wizzo Joae asked.
ANot sure yet, Captain Marayi ordered us to assembl
AAnot her dril |, 0 L iwasthegreanast memlyepofthegaar, yust eutl af flightS h e

school. She had a lot of talent, but like most young pilots, she had something of a discipline problem. She
was also a bit scornful of being assigned under a male commander.

The briefingroomdooo pened, and the squadron came to attentio
Karinnne said as she rushed in, clearly in a hurry.
she touched her interface, and a holo appeared at the frontoftheraginshg a nebul a. iWe hayv

to probe the defenses of t Hayingmeebns dnd commandicermeg t he Cons (

Squadron B will be jumping out in twenty minutes to execute this probing action. What | need from you,

Justin, istenpild i n a Wolf and your absolute best pilot that

sending that SSI dropship into the nebula to conduct
Taggart didndt even have otra tdhuitrnyk .0 hfeWiorg eareed,. y oiug

Wolves and on standby in case a scramble is issued. Wing three on passive standby and four on regular

duty rotation. o

Awhoés flying the dropship, Commander ?0
Al am, 6 he replied bluntly. AWhat 6s t he orders?o
f@ce you | aunch, you have complete discretion, Comr

can. Get in there, get as much data as you can, then get the hell out. The fleet will drop out of hyperspace
here and come to t he eidngge hoefr tihnet enrefbauclea ,t00 sphuet saani di,c ol

forced to retreat, wedll follow this vector so you CcC:
I tds a | ong -3f7l1li gfhrto nb ahcekr et.00 PR

AThat 6s all we needf tpokdlow,exXapsai ms, Wewneed to g
jump. o

AFurther information wil!/ be sent to your ship, 0 st
del i berately. AiGood luck, Justin.o

AWhoés flying your posimmandef?9goL9oe asketde dropst



He | ooked at her. ABerya,
command of Wing Three if youbd
fi Avyaey e, boss, 0 both said.

lyoi came out beside him as they left the briefing room aneredtthe hangarCome on, Commander,
give me a chancelhe sent privatelyl can do this! | grew up flying a skimmer through the Wastelands, |
know how to handle nebula turbulence!
You havenodt even flown your first combat sortie, Li
No, Commader, not a fighter. | want to second chair the dropship. | have the rating for heavy
dropships, and | have real experience flying nebulas. hedm
He glanced at herYou have three minutes to armor up.
Yes!she sent in glee, literally jumping amd pumping her fist in the air. She then ran for the locker
room, her nightshirt riding up to show her bare blue butt.
On board the sensor dropship, the four sensor officers back in the control compartment were bringing
the ship online as Taggart lockbimself in his chair and assumed command of the ship via interface. The
cockpit lit up as the ship started startup diagnostics. Taggart explained what they were about to do as he
saw his element of the squadron float up into their fightS8isap youdrones,Taggartsentl dondét want
anything with a pulse cannon getting lost in that nebula and picked up by the bugs. Torsion drones only.
Got it, bossBeryasentYou heard the boss, |l adi es. Why dondt |
The drones did just thaunlocking from the wings and floating over to the munitions rack on their own
engines as the Torsiequipped drones replaced them, all done by computer control Deck officers were
conducting the final inspections of the Wolf fighters and the dropshipeathree minute warning blared
over the intercomCl ear the deck, get in your jump restraints!
the inspectionsTaggart boomed across the hangar. lyoi all but jumped into the second chair and waved
her hand irfront of the blackglass, which activated her side of the cockpit, then she jacked her interface
into the ship using a fiber cable. Like all military ships in the KMS, it had no manual controls on either
side of the cockpit. Everything was interface colied, and the hard fiber cable was an emergency backup
in case the interface remote system got fried in combat. It would fly by remote by default, then switch to
the hardline connection if there was a problem with the primary system.
All systems onlinecCommandenyoi reported.
Sensor systems online and ready, Commaikersensor officer reported.
Drone swaps finishedBerybakd, wedre ready to rock,
Taggart called up all the information they had on the nebula as the jump countdowaezhntinvas
pretty big, and the command center was square in the middle. Like all nebulas, the density of the gases
varied within the nebula, and there were also currents of gas flow formed by its creation and fueled by the
nebul ads gr aladattiny protéstar that jllumanated the éntire thing, which was located at the
edge of the nebul ads s iinvardin naaltshipf navgaat lingoh léthedleelt act i ¢ c o1
dropped out of hyperspace in a direct line to the nebulp,édhd ar ri ve on t he fAsoutheast
if inward was east, far enough away from the protostar not to have to worry about it, but close enough for
its light to illuminate the nebul ads gaoginand make f I\
twilight. Taggart plotted a course that would take them on a 26 minute course in and back out in a roughly
elliptical route, getting them close enough to get some-tange scans of the command station in the
center and relying on the nebula toéhid t h e m. I nside a nebula shields woul
had reduced range, and the gases created magnetic, ion, electrical, and gravitational fluxes that screwed
with sensors. That was why Marayi was sending in a sensor dropship, so they couddegetiiable
readings deeper inside the nebula.
Iyoi, however, disagreedT hat 6 s not g oi ngshesentgueklykppintiyphmmander ,
pri mary wake current, ités going to mahHesaidit | mpossi bl
tracing a different pathLet the wake current pull us in, get out of it here and swing around for the lateral
pass, then hit this branch current here and let it carry us to this point. Then we punch out and head back to
the Dreamer
And youbodkel swoerk?
| 6pwositive Commander. | was flying worse currents than this when | was fifteen. This nebula is
nothingc ompared to the Wastel ands. That nebula isnét fo
Al right, Lieutenant. We 61 | @ tha fighterstandyhe lridge wa vy . Senc
before we jump, so ités there when we come out.

you take my place as t he
re called up. o



Ay e, ralze Gemtrand used her interface to lock in the plan and then transmit it to the fighters in
Wing A and the bridge, telling the navigator where they intended taigfoinj case.

Dondét <call me t hat, hedsamt in ioitatioraH uFm@aeny . me nC adl ol n 6nte | biokses , b
called that.

Whyever not?

ltds a military tradition on my planet for men to ¢k

joinedthe Imperium.
But only the captain can be called sir.

And thatdés whogshysent événly. cal | me
Aye, bossshe corrected, a bit amused.
Some people hated hyperspace jumps, but Taggart was

hallucinations ad the sensations like everyone else, but since he knew it was nothing but sensory ghosts,
he was usually more curious about them than afraid, and hyperspace never made him dizzy or sick to his
stomach like it did others. The more intense the sensoryggot the more curious they made him. He

had well over five minutes to study the wildly contorting space around him, eyes open and looking around

as lyoibs eyes were closed tight under her hel met . TI
alr't and moving as | yoi shook her head and moaned a |
she complained in a weak voice.

iWel come to the Navy, Lieutenant, 0 Taggart said cri

ASSI Two, you arothe arderecame evédr gfavband.Maiumtcdi,n radi o sil enc
the nebul a. o

AUnder stood, 0 he called back, adjusting the comm sy

pilotds hands busy while he flew,fikclincgeamamiyppwil oh shi
well as his mind, and that created a secondary ghost echo in the command stream that occasionally

confused the interface control computéve 6 r e cl eared f or | aunch. Di amond f
dropship, and pay attentioto the nav. Radio silence, so sending only. Watch it for unmapped currents,

watch your spacing, and stay on your toes, ladies. Nebulas are notorious for rogue currents. Also
remembertorunyourdeoni zers, youdre gonnahulinahurryou themsifs si ve c¢cha
we run into highdensity gas cloudslyoi nodded approvingly as Taggart picked the dropship up off the

deck, then turned it towards the airskin shield.

Least wedre using transl ati on eagingsisraeadventurfol yi ng a ne
remarked as they cleared the ship, then accelerated geometrically towards the roiling mass of reddish
orange gas, backlit and illuminated by the protostar some 56.5 nkiflithina from their position. All that
gravity flux pays havoc with them.

| see youbve read up on the specs.

Since the day | got into the flight academy, beks, replied.

Taggart picked the dropship up off the deck and accelerated through the airskin shield, and saw the
reddish mass before him like awin sky. The fighters came out behind him and assumed the diamond
defensive formation, three fighters in front, two to each side, and three behind. The fighters were synced to
the dropship to match speed, and any course corrections Taggart made shitowed inf i g huper sé heads
displays to let them know exactly where he was going. The squadron of 15 KMS ships veered off on 16
mark 1, while the dropship and its escorts turned into the nebula along 302 mark 355. The dropship
shivered a little when they cgsed into the gas field, then started to vibrate as both ionization and heat
guages for the hull began to rise. Them moving through the gas ionized the hull and caused friction
heating. The sensor officers started their scans, probing deeper intouleawethey headed inside, as the
visual turned into a reddish mist caused by dust particles suspended in with the hydrogen and helium.

Nebula density increasing by six hundred parts per million per secmedyf the sensor jockeys sent.

Keep off STG,end only,Taggart reminded themlhe bugs can access gravband.

This shit is getting thiclBerya noted from the lead fighter, which was 3B@krain front of him and
slightly lower. Her Wolf was hazy in the reddish gloom, vanishing into some of thethdust clouds.

Keep your local mass density sensors on primbaggart sentWe 6 r e coming up on the wa
in two minutes. When we ent er lydinoddedepeofessianallassose st i cl
she glanced over at him.

Surprising you know how to fly a currdéyaisent but you c
privately, a bit lightly.

You can cross a current, just takes plotting for the drétanswered.



Yeah, but the current will take us right where we wargo, why fight it?

That 6s why we went dedsth tylbearrj gl .ot , Weéelclauget id
interior. | was going to reduce speed, but | like the idea of keeping moving. The bugs learn fast, rookie,
and they adapt.

The slip rocked when they entered the current, and Taggart moved into the center of it, allowing the
river of gas and dust carry them deeper into the nebula. The fighters drifted in their formation as lyoi
watched the chronometer, counting the seconds unyilbered out for their lateralpass.6 m get t i ng
contacts, Commandenne of the sensor officers callefass variances at maximum range.

ni ce

S o0ome

Debris?

Theydre moving.

How big?

I candt get a solid readi ng b beokanmsassvaribfnces.he nebul a,
Maybe some rocky debri s, maybe small ships or drones.
variances are pretty consistent across al/l contacts.

Gravity distortion from a grav dre?

No, Commander.

Taggart frowned as he veered out of the current and began a lateral pass of the enemy installation,
which was still some 25,50thradeeper in the small nebula. But for the sensors on the dropship, that
was close enough to get somadings.What about those mass readings?

Theydre changing course, Commander . Theydre defini
engines.

AFuck! d Taggart snapped, jacking the throttle. He
fast@ough. Th ey 6 ve ¢ Daggarfbarged.t er s !

Wher e? d dondt see

Theydre incoming from t hHereplied Gatthaseréadings ladies, ETA 39 sec

cause this is about to become a full contact sg@tsent back to his sensor officasssparks danced along
the hull of the dropship, ionization causing electrical dischaRenot chase themTaggart ordered.
Protecting the dropship is your primary goal!

Deploy ECDsBerya barked.Keep them leashed! Set drones to protect the dnpbshi

They passed parallel to the facility lost in the reddish haze, speeding up as they entered a lighter

density area of the nebula, trailing sparks and with arcs of lightning dancing between the fighters, dropship,

spinners, and drone$orty-one contad@, Commander, accel erating! De
energy readings through the stattbe lead sensor officer warned.

Theydre not drones?

| &m getting | ifesigns, theyodre fighters!

Well, the bugs have a new tdyggart growled as he adjustealrse.

They must have their own fighteBgrya grunted.

finit

| 6m getting an echo &ourictalleé Metiglgomntacts! Coming i fasi!p e boss,

Show 6em why nob B diys! ThggartkadledMawimbch mdrestime? 6

Try togive us twenty more seconds, Commarithersensor officer replied.

Incoming!

The enemy fighters streaked in out of the gloom directly behind them. They were armed with Torsion
cannons, and they looked maneuverable. The pilots in them looked to hetedroempetent, but they
werenott he i nsectoids from the Consortium, and that

me a n

against Faey beford. can sense their minds. Taggarebpoineddohisot bugs!

wi ngo6s mi ndatinthé dockpitssp they boald conduct telepathic combat while the pilots flew.

Not all of them, 1| etds Beryaadded®o mwe fallonfa ihdoesne. f i gh
ot

Yes, nai l al | of O6em. Ma k e t h ehips dreiirgchse they put h
bugs iTaggad eounfermanded.

You got it, bossyecha, the closest mindstriker, replied.

The shooting quickly trailed off as the ten mindstrikers in the fighters around them did their jobs.
They dominated the pilots tifie fighters, putting some to sleep after putting them in a parallel course, but
actively controlling others, forcing them to fire on each other, releasing them somewhat from their control
but convincing them that the other Imxi were the enemy and thaivte defending the dropship.
Taggart didndét relax, for those fighters might
c o u | ddmiréate the bugs that would be on that enemy ship. The enemy fighters were very agile, fast,

ters
her ,

just |



and like mostf ght er s t hat werendét Faey or Karinne, they had
almost completely on their speed and agility to protect themselves. They got some solid data on the ships,
and then they destroyed all of them but one. That oneaMeetded along with them, to interrogate its
|l mxi pilot and analyze I mxi technology. She had t he
telemetry, making it look like his fighter was destroyed along with the rest of them.
I 6 m st uneaymate dudha basid nistaBerya growled as they turned back for the edge of the
nebula. Theyknowwe 6 r e t e | &nowawhét ee can dd, hke when we took back the Shio and
Alliance systems.
But theyd i dkmawtif the Imxi were resistant to ¢ait, like some races are. Now they do. They sent
those pilots out as guinea pigsaggart reasonedlhey were just a probing action.
Well, now we have an Imxi to debrief and one of their fighters to take 8egaya noted.Their little
trick is gonnacost them more than us.
Maybe. Maybe nofTaggart grunted as they neared the current that would carry them back out towards
the edge of the nebuld®id you get good readings, girls?

We got some solid readings, Commander . Wedbre good
Any largeships moving in our direction?
Yes, but they canét go that fast in the nebul a. We

ship, the more ionization and hull heating it causes when it moves around in here. We cangusgfiat
faster than tky can.
Interesting. Do a full scan of that Imxi ship. It might have some virus or nasty onwdheys to

bring back.
Starting the scan, Commander.
Good deal . Al right, girls, |l etds get the hell out

It took them nearly seven minutesdiear the nebula, and the parting of the red haze revealed far more
going on outside than inside. The ten Wolves, dropship, and their captured prey streaked toward a
ferocious battle, as the 15 KMS warships retreated from the nebula with 39 Consortghipsvhot on
their tails, and the flaming debris of several other of the spikged vessels and a different type, a much
smaller sleek nacelled corvette class that had to be Imxi, trailing behind the battle. The retreating KMS
ships lanced white bars déath back at the pursuing ships, sharing the sky with plasma torpedoes and
missiles as the KMS employed their opsace tactic of holding the enemy at optimal range, within range
of particle beams but outside of Torsion range. Another Consortiumlsioiméd in a greenisted
explosion on its port wing as a particle beam sheared through its left wing, slicing the ship in two pieces
and the explosion of plasma and decompression causing the small spiked wing and several compartments
of the stern sectiorpgé away from the main body, fire and atmosphere gouting out of the fatal wound.
Another ship was hit dead center by a plasma torpedo, the entire ship simply dissolving in a hellstorm as
the torpedo detonated. The KMS ships were surrounded in a reddigdring aura as their Torsion
shockwave generators employed as enemy missiles streaked in, exploding before they reached the shields.
Taggart turned into the planned course of the KMS ships before they made the turn themselves and maxed
out the throttleholding onto the posts as the dropship vibrated from the exponential acceleration, feeling
himself being pressed into his armor and the chair as the inertial dampers were overtaken by the inertial
force being exerted, and the towing beam they had omrtkieship was redining, since the Imxi ship
couldnét match their velocity. The KMS warships mad:¢
they also attracted unwanted attention, as a lone Consortium destroyer came out of the red haze behind
them and started to accelerate.

Consortium destroyer moving to intercelyti sent, fear bleeding into her sending as the rookie got
her first real view of naval combatwvh er e di d t hat come fr om? They coul dn

Defensive rear, BeryaTime to use up the droneBaggart orderedSend them in!

You heard the boss, set drones to attack the destroyer. Suicide Wulé&drty drones turned and
streaked towards the advancing destroyer as the fighters realigned, all ten of them gleittithghe
dropship to protect it, turning around and flying backwards to point their pulse cannons in the direction of
the enemy but still accelerating along the same vector as the dropship. The drones accelerated far faster
than the fighters could sin¢key had no pilots, and both the destroyer and the drones opened fire on each
other when they came into range of their Torsion weapons. 28 drones were destroyed as they passed
t hrough the opti mal range of t hededeswhreoryee rtdhse yh ecaovuyl dgnt
well, the drones blasted dozens of smoking holes in the black armor of the enemy ship. Several more
explosions ruptured its hull as the drones continued to fire, then the drones turned and dove into those



smoking craterswithn t he destroyerés armor at full throttle an
shuddered and immediately started to tumble when the drones crashed into the interior of the ships, huge
fountains of flame erupting from the holes, its power blinking oncdhsgleveral times, and then going
dark.
Recall ECDs, get ready to dock on fheeamer, Taggart ordered, then he realigned his thinking to
command thoughtf We 6 r e ¢ omi n g histhought was traBstatedatargeavbarid.
[Port bow hangar deck, Coma nd e r . Donodt camaétiseseply. he wi ndow, ]
The intersection of their courses was smooth and without incident. Taggart turned into the path of the
battleship and matched velocity almost perfectly to line the dropship up with the hangar, andship drop
streaked into the hangar and quickly decelerated. The fighters followed it in, landing skids deploying as
Taggart set the dropship on the deck, then Vecha caused the Imxi pilot to land just behind the Wolf fighters
and then fall into a comatose stdd® not approach that fighter'Taggart barkedGet Medical down here
to scan the ship for microbes! Vecha, keep the Imxi comatose. Captain, we need your best mindbender
down here, we have a prisonée sent with enough strength to reach the bridge.
| saw it. Everyone in the hangar bay, strap in foremergency jigpr ayi 6 s sending washed
them.
Mission accomplished, girls. Good woflkaggart sent as they felt the ship turn again, then start to
slow down to minimum jump speed. He knew thatifelthem, the ships were laying down a withering
carpet of defensive missile fire which would saturate enemy sensors and force them to break off or get
plastered. Those missiles were MIRVs, and one missile would release 60 separate cluster warhgads to for
a wall of warheads that woul d mak eeallythisklabopttryinhpat di d
to fly through it. Like a spy car releasing a smo
enemy, but to force their pursuers to slkdewn or break off pursuit.
The missiles accomplished their goal. Taggart felt the ship stop decelerating, achieving maximum safe
jump velocity, and then they snapped out of reality in the blink of an eye, jumping away from the nebula
and towards the safeof PR371.
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Everything was ready.

Jasonamost skipped down the hall towards his office a
Jyslinbés parents, brother, and brot herloesfamiyami 'y wer e
were already en route, where they would hide on Kosigi tortibrrow. Jyslin hado ideathat her family
was going to be at her birthday party tomorrow, and that made all the cloak and dagger worth it. He had
even gotten her the best present any husband could ever give a wife, at least in the Imperium.

An IBL team.

Frinia Foralle was in his office that very moment and ready to finalize the deal. Houses Karinne and
Trefani would buy the Paladins for C165,000,000,000 in cash, payable by immediate credit transfer by the
attending Moridon bank officials, who haal be there to approve a private, rgomvernmental transaction
of that magnitude. House Karinne would front the entire payment, and House Trefani would pay their 42%
of the buyout price back to House Karinne in yearly installments over the next tennyfg@ahsyas fine
with Jason because it gave him a solid financi al hol
confident the profits she earned off the deal would pay the installments, which gave her 42% of a second
IBL team with virtually no moneywt of her pocket. Frinia certainly di
She had spent three days inspecting the Karsa arena, the city of Karsa, speaking to city residents about their
enthusiasm for having an IBL team, almost interrogating Jason, Kuayia Bela, Yila, and even going so
far as to interview thgroundskeepers the arena to ensure they were up to the task of managing a bachi
field for an | BL team. She spent nearly nine hours |
day hagling the fine points of the contract, which to her credinpletelyrevolved around ensuring her
team was going to be made competitive in the |BL. S|
have the prestige of being an IBL owner. She waateghm owner that cared if the teaon If she
wanted someone that wouldndt care about the team, shiq
college football and he wastremelycompetitive, almost Faelgvel competitive, and he impressed upon



Frinia that while he didnot know much about bachi

could find, and hevouldcompete with the Highborns and their bottomless bank accounts ftetdplent
to fill his roster. After nearly four dayd discussion, inspection, and investigation, Frinia haggled a
buyout price with Kumi and Yila, and the contract was drawn up.

And finally, Frinia would keep a 10% ownership stake in the team so she could continue to have a say,
as well as earn 10% afl Paladin profits taken equally from both Jason and Yila. The minority stake
would revert back to Jason and Yila upon her death, and the 10% profit sharing would end. Her daughter
would notinherit that 10% team ownership. Frinia would also help transitie team to Karis, moving
the operations from Velta to an office building right beside the arena, four entire floors of office space for
the front office to build an operation. The team would share the training facilities with the Knights for off
seasominicamps and workouts until their own could be built, which would take all of two months once
Jason put Red Horn Construction on the job, more than enough time to get them built and ready for the
team when they started preseason training camp in Kiraa.

Or, more to the pointlyslinwould be running the team. Jason was giving operational control of the

Paladins to Jyslin. She wasndt as busy as he was

than happy to find the time to build a contendiBf team for next season. It would bring a great deal of
positive morale to Karis, the house would profit from the Paladins, Miaari already had an operational plan
in place to protect Karis and Karinréén secrets
organizations, and everyone would be happy.

This contract signing was taking place well after dark, 2338 by his clock on his gestalt, but his legal

team had needed time to read the contractabwsynd appro

day. The destroyeFikannehad just arrived from the PR sector after a three day hyperspace journey back

to Karis, and it was carrying an Imxi fighter and its Imxi pilot. Captain Gai Edanne had delivered the Imxi
fighter to Myleena personally, drthe pilot went to Ryn. Ryn was the most highly trained telepath on all

of Karis, a mindbender in all but official title, and Ryn had paired with Haelen Karinne, the oldest
Generation male and one of the most skilled male telepaths in the house,Gglgitiee ability to upload
virtually the pilotés entire mind right into the
Imxi language. The Imxi themselves were both humanoid and quite unusual. They had brutishikeuman
faces, like Neandthals, had the same beige coloring as a Terran, and had a very humanoid body that put
another peg on the board for the t hsehakraial, Whiclh wn as

put him around 6650 or ab o upilotRad foug arrasr assecond setof aines wa s

below hisnormalarms that were more slender and slightly longer than his upper arms, and only had four
fingers on each hand, but had five toes on his feet. He had Hikmanale genitalia, and a DNA scan
showedthat he had remarkably hunmitike DNA, very nearly able to produce children with a Terran or

Faey, but not quit eé mueandtious Baeyt This Imxievagly®fa Fagy, andthee |1 mag e

idea that they could have a baby with something thigtwguld be very disconcerting to them. He was of
the same basic family classification as the Terrans, Faey, Shio, and dakkangh the Jakkans were
radically different form the others, they were diilimanoidby classificatiod in that he only had cose
black hair on his head, in a patch just over his collar bones, above his genitals, and on his forearms and
calves. Jason would classify him as a fatmed Neanderthal and not be far from the mark.

While he looked brutish, Ryn and Haelen proved tleatvhs pretty damned intelligent. He was both
highly educated and well trained, and had been a fighter pilot for 6 standard years. The Imxi had just
discovered hyperspace technology about 250 years ago, used a mixture of plasma to power their engines
andpositronic power systems to power everything else, but had not yet mastered spatial technologies. That
meant no phased plasma, no artificial gravity on their ships, no gravometric engines. Their engines were
standard reaction engines, expending fueléh@mical reaction that produced some pretty incredible
energy, more than enough to move their warships, the largest of which were about the size of a tactical
battleship. They utilized a very clever form of phased ion energy that wasglerdthg for heir weapons
before the Consortium gave them Torsion weapons, and the Consortium was upgrading their ships to
striated metaphased power systems for them, taking equipment out of damaged ships and refitting them on
Imxi craft. Before the Consortium camead), their technology was bout 2,000 years behind the Faey, and
that entire quadrant of the galaxy was similarly technologically backwards. The Imxi were in the vanguard

among their sectordés civilizations,buttbaywerecof t he fi

millenniabehind the empires of the Imperium and its neighbors. This Imxi hadtétégenceto
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comprehend modern technology, his race simply hadnot



there on their own had the Consortimat given them advanced tech, it would have just taken them time to
research, study, discover, and grow.

That explained why the Kimdori had no information on them. They really only interacted with
civilizations that had enough technological advancentebeta threat to galactic peace, then they moved
in and tried to keep war from exploding across an entire sector, or even across a quadrant. Systems like
Terra had no idea that the Kimdori were ofeet. t here, ai
I't was the Kimdoridéds actions that prevented what hapj
Way, where the entire galaxy came to be dominated by only twgadaantic empires, which then engaged
in a war so ghastly that a normal person wdiddmotionally scarred for life to learn the extent to which
both sides had devolved into monsters. The Kimdori worked to allow empires to grow and expaatl, but
become a threat to an entire sector, sector cluster, or even a quadrant, which wdaldadsactic
aspirations.

So, while they wouldnét | earn anyt hingouirom the | mx
learn about the Imxi themselves. Everything that pilot knew, they would know, pulled out of every corner
of his mind by Ryn and Hageth. Their language, culture, customs, the names they gave their own systems
and planetseverythingwould be archived by Cybi into the Karinne knowledge base. That information
might beveryuseful later on, even if the Consortium knew they had an ligktdr and most likely its
pilot. They wouldndt be able to sneak by anyone by |
oneds enemy, the easier that enemy was to defeat.

When he reached his office, everyone was there waiting for him. Two refateges from the First
Bank of Moridon, where Karinne had its house accounts, and two representatives from Moridon Pan
Gal actic Bank, the bank Friniadés house used, were in
the outer office along witKumi, Yila, Mayor Dela of Karsa, Miaari, and Trameken Lenarre, the facility
manager for the Karsa Sports Complex. Also there were four members of the legal team, holding the
approved contract and its three official copies, Ten Marines stood as gudnidshétroom, and Chirk and
Brall sat at their desks watching on.

AAh, there you are, Jason, 0 Frinia smiled as he can
wonder . 0
I had something i mportant c¢omedasheramebvwermotleorry 1| 6

e and sat down between Kumi and Yil a. il s e

ure is, babes, 0 Kumi replied. AWebdbve got t
his contract will transf er iabonaflee@GrandtiDuphessdf t he
House Foralle, to the ownership alliance of Jason Karinne and Yila Trefani, Grand Duke and Grand
Duchess of their respective houses. Transfer of operational control will be immediate upon the filing of
this contract withtheBL Owner ship Committee, 0 Jack Weathers, the
instructed. AHere to officially witness the signing
credits are the four members of the respective banking institutiéngurisdiction over the transaction.
All four are officially accredited with the Moridon Overseer Agency as fully licenses, bonded, and accepted
Notary Publics, with the authority to witness and confirm this transaction. Does anyone disapprove of the

t
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u of these Notaries in this transaction?d Jack askec

then. Upon the signing of the contract and transfer of funds, this contract will be filed with the IBL home

office immediately by courier, andthe Pdlad or gani zati on wi | | begin moving t
The legal team set down the four contracts, one in front of Frinia, Yila, and Jason, and the fourth on the

table in the middle, which woul d b wilreguieonlyBrieés copy.

signature and authorizing thumbprint from each party
The signing ceremony was recorded by one of Cybibs

the four copies of the contract, affixed thgumbprints to confirm ID, then the Moridons carefully

examined each contract and affixed their seals of authorization. Then came the much more invasive

transfer of C166 billion in cash, which required all four bank officials and a dedicated crypbadikito

the Council of Finance on Moridon, which had to authorize a private transaction of that size for legal

reasons, to prove that the contract price was paid. After the exhaustive ID scans, which included a DNA

sample, the transfer of credit was apm@. Abigc hunk of the houseds bank accoun

House Foralle, but as far as Jason was cg@godcerned, hei
mineof income. After that, they traded handshakes and kisses, and the four Moriklap the fourth
contract and i mmediately |l eft for Draconis, to delive

home office.



Thankfully, the IBL commissioner and offices had no say in the sale of IBL teams. Sending them the
contract was simplielling them that the team had been sold, and that an alliance of the Houses Karinne
and Trefani now owned th€aris Paladins.

Once the Moridons | eft, Jason kissed Frinia on the
front office and telltheh hey 6 r e about to move, Frinia, o he told he
systems that much. o

iSuitable severance packages were part of the contr

Velta, o0 she smiled. fi Bhwet tneoasnmt. o fT htehyedbm ewidlelv ommoewvde tvoi ttl
That 6s why | hired them in the first place. o0
AProvided they can pass the security screening, 0 he
Al &m sure they wilfel Theyhvasén. beBachecusithethreat T
make the team great. Just give them the offices and
t hey can. o
AiTheydéll get their chance, Frinia, toptbhemseée, o he t
Al see it as good news, Jason. With you bankrollir
going to finallycompete And t o me, not hing could make this old w
and earnest slmirmest i IAll gluiswe htotpee first time the Pal ad
AYou wil/| be, 0 he assured her, patting her on the s
Jason walked along with Miaari after the meeting ended, Frinia and Yila heading home, Kumi heading
for home herself sinceitwass | at e, and Jason heading for Miaari ds o

down two floors, and when he came in, he saw that her entire staff was in and working, including Tim.

AWedre analyzing the data thats Haelsmedls, Pushe nrge par
already have the Imxi language fully decoded and stored, available for gestalt download on demand, so a

Generation can insert it to one of the other telepaths. Songa has medically screened the pilot as well and

cultured alll mx i common microbes. Her team is working up cu
AiSounds good. Written | anguage too?0
AWe have it all, 0 she nodded.
Awhat about the fighter?0
AFriend Myleena has an engi ntsenranymeportsyetalncani nspecting

almost hear Myleena rubbing her hands in anticipation of somettseg he can t ake apart, 0o Mi
chuckled.

AiYou know how she |l oves her toys, Miaari, 0 Jason adg
ishowtheConsortium adapted it to their own power system

Alt i s pr ob a-pdwgredonndels, thé burikdr emplaoerheint units, so they only had to run
control Iines so the pilot could fire it.o

AProbabl y, he mto dtdaelkde t Meviyrl iemgignes apart, though.
somet hing you see in this sector much anymore. o

ATrul y. They are antiques by I mperium standards, &

AwWell, if thatoés al Inmee ghoa vheo nseo. f aWe, hla vgeu eas sb ilgd nd agyc

Al ol have a report ready in the morning, if you ey

AiHey, some things are more important than being a C(
them, 0 he retor,t etdhi r tfieAennd hruenndernebde rhour s, my house, pa

AWhy so | ate?0 she asked | ightly.

AfBecause my first present to her is making her wal k

Miaari laugh.
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Jyslin wasnét the one walking a Iittle funny when J
very amorous that morning, and since it was her birthday, he felt honor bound to stay in that room and do
his solemn duty until she was completely satisfied.

What it did do is upset his daily plan a tiny bit. The Confederate Council was mieetargher party
today, the only convergence of times so all rul ers w



pretty wildly spread across a day. I't wasnodét easy wl
hours to 30 hour gtimewas usiallgtheyonlydwingod svhera alldnyvolved would be
awake and alert. Some might be there early in the morning, some very late in the afternoon, but that was
the only way it could really work. It was worst when Draconis and Karis were oppasit@nother, which
would be happening in just a week or so. Right now, Draconis was some 9 hours ahead of them, so in that
week or so, day for Dahnai would be night for him, and their council meetings were always crammed into
the very end or beginning tiie day. There would be a three day span next week where there would be no
window for meetings, either. When that happened, they went with the window that served most of them,
and some unlucky ambassador or two would be sitting in on the meeting Eethefthight to report back
to their rulers when they woke up.
He ate breakfast with one mental eye inward, reading a report on the fighter. It had the most efficient
and powerful reaction engines Myleena had ever seen, giving it nearly grav-envgiheslocity, but like
any reaction engine in space, it wasndt as maneuver al
fighteroés case, a clever series of exhaust ports that
and the thrusters we never as good as a gravometric engine. The result was-spaigth but slovturning
fighter that was probably superior to any other fight
Wolf pilot. But, the Torsion cannon the Consortium hadlstutit did make it dangerous in that it had a
viable weapon. Miaari had been right, they were usingpseifering Torsion cannons not unlike a ground
artillery piece, an enclosed unit with its power supply integrated, then rigged up control systeensrso th
could interface with the fighterodés computer. The cal
which allowed them to integrate it inside the fighterl
assembly and power supply and fire froqaat in the nose, not unlike the gatling gun on the cftioA
ground attack fighter. The pilot was literally sitting on the barrel of the Torsion weapon, and it was a
curious matter of serendipity that the ion array and its power plant that they tookoahly slightly
larger than the Torsion weapon they installed, making swapping out the weapons very easy for the
Consortium engineers. Metallurgically, the fighter was composed of an inferior version of shocked
titanium, a form of altered titaniumthams st ronger t han normal titanium anc
to intense heat within an oxygen atmosphere, but it did show that the Imxi had some expertise in
spacefaring metallurgy. Their metallurgical skill actually exceeded their other technof@ditsalsuch as
power generation, propulsion, and shield technology. Metallurgy seemed to be their specialty, and they
knew how to exploit that technological edge against their neighbors.
Biologically, the Imxi were very similar to Terrans, Shio, andy=aThey had similar tolerances for
heat and air pressure, were slightly more tolerant of cold than the other three species, but they breathed
bothoxygen and nitrogenéwhich wouldndét be a problem on
nitrogen/oxygemt mos pher es. Their metabolism was quite unigt
oxygen for fuel and nitrogen for cell health, which they acquired through aspiration...Songa and her fancy
words. S h e tbhay gel their Gittogen oy Hrangs &hgir metabolisms were consistent with
most carborbased species, which meant that the Imxi could survive on their food and vice versa. The
series of pictures Songa took with her reapmedt did cr e
species before, and hebd6d never-artheddeanderthalolbw | ooki ng at
forehead, coarse hair, big nose, wide mouth with heavy teeth, reinforced cheekbones, the Imxi were right
behind the Jakkans and the BBHri on the Terraewwwo-meter. They weraot genetically compatible
with Terrans, Shio, or Faey, no doubt much to the eternal relief of all three species.

Whi ch wasno6ét really an indicator, since Shio werent
three races loked almost exactly identical. That green blood of theirs was the big one that made them
incompatible.

Shioéhe was starting to wonder if the entire damn r

comprised nearly 40% of the newest class of 23,20 applicants, and had held numbers that high since

the Shio were attacked. Shio were dominating the orientation classes, the majority race most of the time,

with the Faey a distant second. Then again, Jason knew that Grayhaekosasginghis peopleo join

Karinne. The Shiobds planets were devastated and t he)
of them wanted revenge for what was done to them. The only way they could really do that was apply to

Karinne and join the KMS. He perustitbse numbers as he finished up his oatmeal with slicegedifuit

and strawberries in it, and was encouraged a bit. There were more external races applying now, mainly

Skaa and Shio, but what got his attention was that even more Verutans had appiked68 of them.



He almost dropped his spoon when he saw what was on the bottom of the lidintitivéad applied.
Imbiri! The Imbiri were a very reclusive and enigmatic species that lived in the Verutan sector. Much like
how nobody bothered the Mdon, the Imbiri were not bothered or harassed by either the Veruta or the
Haumda, since the Imbiri system sat on the border between the two empires. Both empires respected the
small systemds desire for neuttaks [Thiswas becausedthednitbitien used
were complete and utter pacifists. They didndt bel i e
engage in trade with the empires of the Verutan sector and offered their services as mediators and neutral
observes. The Imbiri were sylvan creatures, almost like the fairies or pixies from Terran mythology, about
four or five feet tall, slim, graceful, ethereally beautiful to Terrans, and sporting large chitinous wings that
gave them ability to fly. They were anegravity race, however, their home planet .83 standard gravity.
They wereextremelyintelligent, and favored jobs in the sciences and education, but their code of honor
prevented them from developing or building weapons. Their home planet was heltimad state akin to
a planetary national forest, with only ten major pockets where the Imbiri had their cities, allowed
technology to intrude into nature. Anywhere else on Imbiri, there was nothing but small hamlets and farms
that minimized their impaain nature as much as possible. There was an entire complement of Imbiri at
t he Academy, both students and instructors, but one
employed by the Academy.
You alright, your GraceAyama asked.
Just a littke surprised. Fivémbiriappl i ed f or house membwhy shi p. I 6m ki
That is interestingshe agreed mildlyMaybe you should go talk to them.
I might do that, but not todape replied.
After nearly an hour of listening to the council nmars talk, Jason finally freed himself and ran
downstairs, spun Jyslin around in the living room, then kissed her exuberantlyis the birthday girl
ready for her party’he asked with a smile.
Not i f you make nsherépledwim winkpwhich madedimdatigh éné set her

down.l ém starting to wonder what you have hidden in yol
Wedr e not h heveisillyghe tblth her. Nova aormeyon. | had to fight Aya in a duel to the

deathtoget her to |l et us | eave the strip without armor,
l 6m still very much Awbkentdrmgly from theabarkacky next doeremvhish mu c h

made Jyslin laugh.
Wh e r e 6 slyskhagked.?
My | i has dédady dtotshalparty. So cébmon, theyodre wait
The two of them boarded the corvette sitting on the dock without armor, but with all four of his usual

guards, and they took off for a three minute journey from the strip to the Karsa waterfrocit. didtay

disembarked at the waterfront pier for the most luxurious hotel in Karsanpegial, where Jason had

rented out one of the ballrooms for the party. Jason went so far as to put a blindfold over her eyes and lead

her out of the corvette, Jyslionestly intrigued. Jason was making it a mystery, and the Faey in her

adored the mystery. Everyone in the ballroom remained quiet as he led her in, then he stepped behind her

and took off the blindfold. And right in front of her, among her many diseand ceworkers on the

planet, were her parents, brother, brotheroés family,
but Jyslin was already throwing herself into her fat/l
Papa, I 6 m s o dheaspnpgushingly, saige@and glation!threaded into her thought. She
then turned and crushed her mother in an embrace, then her brother and his wife, then Lorna, both laughing
and crying at the same time.
So, can | find guests for a party, or canJiéson asked lightly as shened and gave him a fierce hug.
I candt believe you got them here without me knowir
I'tds easy when | can maé&senttedsiegiiyowwerekoo husyuo nbtieel f t o de @

She laughed helplessly, kissed him, then punched him @hthdder.Soy o ubthe reason why | 6v
been working so hard!

Myli was in on it, toohe winked.

Having her family there made the party a smashing success, at least for Jyslin. She sat with them for
the entire party, catching up with them, as frienat$ family drifted back and forth to her table to talk to

t hem. She talked to them over vidlink quite a bit, I
her two year old niece Jiji who was an absolute cutie, and let her family get to bbeightvith Rann and

hear him send. Her telling t hearilghimesend. d-ar higlpars e nd was n ot
Rann and all of Jasoné6és other c¢hidudtan@éuncleandr e dr awn t o



grandpaandgrandma which suprised Rillen and Vari and made them quite happy. Kyri and Sora and

Aran and Zach werenét their grandkids, but they were
Jasondbés wifeésort of. I't was ene®tugtho flomowh&ans ¢ w6 h ap{
children, though. I't wasndét all just | ocal friends,
and Kumi at the table beside the table of honor. Ja:

party and morer less crashed it, and since Zach was going to be there, she made sure to bring Dara along
with her. Yila was getting bolder and bolder, and Jason had the feeling that he was going to have to step on
her fairly soon.

Then came the gifts. Jyslin had antiee table full of presents, and it took her almost half an hour to go
through them. From the silly and naughti{umid to the soberly practicadl Naviid Jyslin got clothes,
jewelry, art, a Parri Dream Stick directly from tsleamarof the Parri village, a dése that was supposed
to bring pleasant dreams, and Dahnai had sent Jyslin both a gag gift in a fully animatronic sex doll
patterned to look exactly like Kelliso you never miss hiread the card, which made Jyslin laugh, to a
new double occupancy hovadler for the twins. Jason made sure that his gift was last, because he had it

in his pocket.
When it was his turn, he sat down beside her and fished the envelope out of his back pocket and
unfolded it. AWhat i s t hwosuyl dmdvte ?foe eslh el eafstk eadu ta.l oud,

AHappy birthday, 0 he told her.
She opened it, read the first line of the paper, and then screamed so loud that she scared most in the
room half to death. SHeerally knocked Jason off the chair when she crashed into him, kgptliem to
the floor, covering his face with kisses as the gathered friends laughed.
What ever could produce that?0 Temika asked with a
He gavPaladird 0t hsehe scr eamed.
The whut?0 Temi ka asked, but intheaobm.pr oduced some ga
We bought the Paladins | BL bachi t eam, Temi ka, 0 Yi
official announcement. We had the IBL office sit on this until today. In fact, the press release should be
going out any mi glanting at heo watcly which veas aRbléxeste, bought from Terra
that was built for the Faeybés 30 hour day.
That caused some excitement in the room. Jason ran some footage of the Velta Paladins for Temika on
a holo, then revealed the new uniforms, whiarevalmost exactly the same as the old, just with the Foralle
crest replaced with the Karinne crest on the shoulder. Jyslin received the first uniform jersey, which

ot O Ot Dt

amusingly the players didnét wear whrets trhame pdmad etdhe |
number 1 on the jersey, which was always reserved for
to be the one that interacts with the teambés front of
going to be signingte checks, and wil!/| be the face of the owner
coming here with the team during the move, and Frini:
organization. They do seem to know their bachi. o
AAh, Okay.id WNatmrmedvbdracdi muc h. Ahdédm a football Kkinc

That buzz swirled through the room for quite a while, at least until Miaari stalked up to him and put a
finger on her memory bandl just got some news, Jason.]

[Good or bad?]

[ 6m not s fumyeackyates just caGghtesomeone trying to infiltrate the biogenic
warehouse in Kosigi.]

[What? Who? What happened?]

[ dondédt have the specifics yet. Cousin Braan i s s
was a sleeper agent, amperial mindbender under the effect of a psychic clone. Notveyean detect
that,] she banded to him grimly. Psychic clones were a division of the psyche, forming a secondary
personality that could be as detailed as any real person, with its own iegrh@tory, and if set up right,
its own presence in the system. The other personality was sealed away and required either a telepath to
bring it out or some kind of conditioned trigger that caused the personalities to switch. Psychic clones were
extranelyhard to do right. Jyslin could do it, as well as about 300 telepaths on Karis, but Jason himself

didndét have that kind of training. From the sound of
phrase or specific image that caused tlaeskpersonality to replace the initial one, which in this case
would most I|ikely be the spyds original personality.

past the Kimdori, but from the sound of it, the agent was caught after she activhteddto steal
something, be it technology or datafiles.



The reason why Kimdori couldndét detect a psychic cl
was completely suspended, comatose, and thus there was no mental activity to give it away t ra Kidds
unique ability. Even a tel epat h ezaotywha théytverel et ect a p:
looking for, and they were ala@rygood. Jyslin couldreatea psychic clone, but not even she could
detectone. That took very specific traing of a level that possibly only Ryn possessed on the planet. But
given how hard it was to create a psychic clone of that kind of complexity and siab#iting one to
trigger on some visual or audio triggerwa easp i t wasnodt s o rhenestlyiexpgctedta s on had
come across quite like this. Psychic clones became unstable over time unless there was a mindbender there
to constantly stabilize it, as Jyslin had to do for Luke when he volunteered to carry a psychic clone back in
the Legiondays!l f t heydéd sent an agent here with a psychic c|
creation, then whoever created that clone was a fucking telegattaat

Jason gave Miaari a grim lookHoly fuck, if Dahnai has a mindbender that canttat] he
communed, then shook his head.

[I know. This will surprise even the Denmothévijpari agreed with a nod]lt also means | will
double security at all sensitive locations. There might be another agent carrying a psychic clone among us,
but we will be had pressed to find it until the clone activates.]

[I know,] he nodded, then blew out his breaBftuckingDahnai. This was from her, there could be no
doubt. This had to come straight from her stable of most experienced mindbenders, and she was
demonstreing that she wasot going to stop until she managed to steal Karinne technology. The fact that
shewas hisamudorais ur e as fucking hell wasnét getting in her
Karinnes since he cl| ai mendlledherdor fiveoyaassenpow thanstie hadiaocess he 6 d
to Karis, she was sending in the spies, sending spies with more and more cunning and complex covers to
get them into a position to make an attempt to steal secrets.

But what earthly gain could it be fore r ? She knew that if he found out,
mel tdown, and hedéd find out pr et detecthibgenandevicassand She di ¢
the instant one was where it wasnodt suipgherealyd t o be,

think it was worth having Jason have a conniption just to get her hands on biogenics?

Well, obviously, she did.

And thereweres o me bi ogenic applications that didndét need
system was based onbiogeniegss i ng a sl ightly different kind of bioge
as it were, sensed thought and reacted to it. It was the closest the ancient Karinnes had come to their dream
of machines that could interact with any telepath. Any empireecisélator would kill for interface

technology.
[I am quite wroth about thisMiaari conveyed, anger creeping into her banded communicdtiam
going to contact Ji naami and have her raid the | mper.

detectthese psychic clones, but if Jinaami can get her hands on the list ofcdloging agents they have
sent , hawetowokd 0 t

[Good idea. You have my backing,Jason agr eed. That wouldndt be easy
areas were defendedbyi ndbenders, and since Kimdori werendét Faey
shapeshift. For that reason, the Kimdori had to be much klissgon Impossiblesque to get their hands
on that kind of information. Jinaami would call in specialists who wawldde the intelligence agency
and steal the information from their computers, or get close terhigting members and lift that
information directly from their minds.

Damn it. Just when he thought they had a handle on sedudkyngDahnai sends sogthing new at
them, something that actwually got into a position to
but this wasndét Miaarids fault; in fact, she acquitt e

caught the spy before ssttould accomplish her mission.

He sighed, frowning. There was a reckoning coming between him and Dahnai, he could smell it. She
wasndédt going to stop until he put his foot down, and
actually pullel off stealing something, she would force him to do something drastic to get it back, and
something that might poison both their relationship and the alliance between Merrane and Karinne, and
therefore destabilize the entire Imperium. She was using¢he fat hat Jason coul dnét back
| mperium to send in her spies, abusing the situation,
succeeded could have heavy repercussions, the least of which was the expulsion of every outsider from
Karis.

He had to do something, and do it soon, before this got entirely out of control.
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Chapter 3

Brista, 23 Demaa4401, Orthodox Calendar

Monday, 10 May 2014, Terran Standard Calendar

Brista, 23 Demaa, year 1327 of thé"9@eneration, Karinne Historical Reference Calendar
The White House, Karsa, Karis

Jyslin was in heaven.

l'tds not every bdaacyhia tgeianmh fgoert sa abni ritBhhday pr esent .

her duties between 3D and the Paladins, finishing working on the Consortium ship, then overseeing the
transition of the team to Karis. She was there along with Frinia to welcome theffioamtall of which

had made the move from Veltana to Karsa, settling them into truly huge and luxurious off space, floors 12
26 of the 207 story Bren Isala building right beside the arena. The building was mostly empty, so it was
not a problem at albt secure 14 floors for the offices and organization. Red Horn Construction was

already on the job to build a first class practice f:

and they promised to have it done in 27 days.

Ah,thejoysof having a top rate Makati contracting fi
Actuall vy, the practice facility wasndt all t hat

practice facilities close to where the players would be living to cut down on centimats, so the practice
facility was square in the middle of some of the upper class housing not far from the strip, only about 12
kathra away. There, the Makati would build four full size bachi pitches, workout facilities, training rooms,
offices for the coaches and equipment managers, a warehouse for equipment, individual offices and private
rooms for every member of the team so they could contiagtbusiness, almost like an apartment

complex and office building in the practice facility. IBL bacliyers were paid a hell of a lot of money,

and not all of that came from their salaries. Like pro players back home, they had endorsement deals,
investments, side businesses, parlaying their bachi skills into a personal financial empire that would support
them when their playing days were over. The average life span of aleVBLbachi player was 7 years, it

was a much rougher game than most people realized, so they had to make sure they made those 7 years
count And part of what the franchise did wasdhthem dahatas much as possible so they could focus on
playing the game.

So, while Jyslin and Frinia got to know each other, even become friends as they worked to bring the
Paladins to Karsa, Jason was ha rrgybemng hadvtbwarkedfoun t he
other attempts to attack Imxi systems over the week, using its clairvoyance or whatever the hell it did to
almost instantly call up a response to anything that Maggie and Jake did over there. All of their attacks,
even the lasbne that was supposed to be an ambush, had failed. The Consortimot gtapid, they were
adapting to the toybox that his Legion members had taken, but to be fair to Maggie and Jake, they were
trying to fight a different kind of war than the one that t egion usually did. The Legion was a guerilla
operation at its core, meant to strike without warning at targets of opportunity and then fade away. Jason
was asking them to conduct actual warfare, so they were having problems with it.

The only thing hat was really working over there was the solar collector. They had deployed a second
one and gotten a successful kill with it, taking out an arc section under constructio7 2t Wiich was
Gervalxia by Imxi designation. The energy being had trowgséng those things for some reason, so it
was able to deploy, power up, and get off two shots before Consortium cruisers jumped in to stop it, when
Maggie had it self destruct to deny them the chance to study it. Those two shots were all it needed. The
first cut the arc section in half, and the second cut one of the the halves into two quarters, which would
make itextremelyhard to simply put the thing back together and repair the cut section.

Not bad atll for something that ran off a class 7 PPGf Efc i ency wi s e, it was t
ever built. A weapon running off basically a hovercar power plant that could blow a hole in anything not
made of Neutroniumégiven optimum conditions, of
to that kind of efficiency was the railguns and rail cannons.
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Yeri was hard at work as well. Shedd secured hot el
out all the details, making sure palatable food was available for all the various speciggjny¢aurs of
Kosi gi and parts of Karis deemed not high security,
Cybiésort of. They all k knewCybidinoe si@ylitd interactavth them,h ey al |
but there was no way in helason was allowingnyonenot in the highest circles of Karinne anywhere near
Kosiningi. It was the only part of Karis where the KDF had orders to shoot to kill with no warning if any
unidentified ship or flying craft violated its territorial space.t,Bhe rulers would be given the chance to
interact with Cybi at a much more personal level
Yeri was also working out the itinerary with the staffs of the rulers. It would be a six day conference
with the rulers being on Karis for seven nights. Theyldiaurive late in the afternoon and be given the
chance to settle in and rest overnight, then the first day after their arrival would be mainly sightseeing and
relaxation after their journey, a little down time for the busy wartime ruler. The seconddalystart wth
a tour of Kosigi, then theydd have their first major
SkéVrae had a chance to sleep and the others had ti me
conferences daily mixed with personal time and down time for the rulers, with the rulers returning home
the seventh morning. Yeri, Aya, Myri, and Miaari had worked out all the logistics for security, both for the
rulers andagainstthe rulers, since each one was coming wiglesonal staff that would no doubt hold a
spy or two. Jason would almost be disappointed if theydtnroyy anyt hi ng. SkdoVrae woul
had too much respect f orudelJUrismbohad sbnee utusuglsogialyt hi ng quit e
conventionsput they also made them very predictable.
It was dirty deeds that brought him to work today. He had all four of his usual guards with him today,
Ryn and Suri walking behind with Shen and Dera walking ahead, part of the increased security Aya had
ordered m preparation for the summit. Jason had been escorted by all four of his guards since the summit
was announced, and would be until it was both over and Miaari gave clearance for him to go back to just
two guards. And most of the guard detachment had fneléng extra time guarding the school. There
were 10 guards deployed in and around the school whenever it was in session, in addition to 25 Dukal
Guard, which were the elite guard unit in the Karinn:é
ard under her command. It was the Dukal Guard that guarded the White House, the Shimmer Dome,
Kosiningi, 3D, and other highest security locations, and it was Aya that commanded the Dukal Guard,
handled the security for them in addition to the strip. Steangpecialist in guarding people and locations,
and Myri had been more than happy to give Aya jurisdiction over the places on Karis most needing
protection. The Imperial Guard restricted themselves only to the Dukal family and where they were, but
Ayahal admitted that the women in the Dukal Guard werer
most important sites on Karis secure. It was whit@ored Dukal Guard that stood in posts at key
intersections in the White House, their white armor withsgipes going down the arms distinguishing
them from all other military units. Much as the Imperial Marines were easily identified by their signature
black armor, the Marines in the Dukal Guard wore snow white armor with red stripes and the Karinne cres
emblazoned on the breastplate. The Imperial Guard wore white armor in the palace, but on Karis, they
wore black Crusader armor with a gold crest. Most KMS Marine and Naval armor was black unless they
had specialist PTS jobs, the natural color of cosgrd Neutronium, but the gold crest on the armor made
it abundantly clear just who those women were to anyone with absolutely any experience with military
heraldry.

When Jason once asked why Aya didndét hpalaee, t he gu
she told him it was t anthepalaéend t hem t hat they weren
Their destination revealed itself around a corner, the Division of System Intelligence, or the DSI. This
was Miaaridés realm, where she doftherhostimpgrtanb as t he Ga me
Gamekeeper positions among the Kimdori, Jason had mai

the cousins against a repeat of what happened during the Third Civil War, protect technology that the

Karinnes developed thatthee st of t he gal axy wasn6t ready to have (¢
more or | ess opened up to the | mperi um, Mi aari 6s job
breaches into the system were just a handful of successes #roasgnd®f attempts, and from more

than just Dahnai. Every single empire in sector and several quddranthad made attempts to get

surveillance or infiltrators onto the planet, usually in the form of sleeper agents trying to get past the

screening process tetome part of the house. Though they were in desperate need of new house

members, the screening process had not been changed in any way other than to make it even more

stringent. A hopeful had to pass a background check, a session with a Karinne neérillbsodlly a
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Generatiob and t hen get past the Kimdoriéand that was no e
managed to elude the screening process, and that had been someone implanted with a psychic clone. The
main threat was with the temporary workewsh o s e screening wasndédt as stringen
do a job and they were confined either to Kosigi or to the northern continent, which had only started the
terraforming process. It was a barren desert up there where they were building affattoried
almost done with them, actuadiythen those workers would leave Karis and return to the Imperium. Most
of Miaariés work dealt with keeping those outside wol
most of the Kimdori that worked dfaris, the Clan Thresxt, did their jobs.
Miaari was the Gamekeeper, so it was her clan that was responsible for Karis. And that in itself was
yet another source of pride for her father among the Kimdori. Her daughter the Handmaiden was entrusted
with ore of the most critical Gamkeeper posts in the galaxy, while another daughter, the youngest
Gamekeeper ever in the history of Kimdori, protected the Academy and Terra, which was also an
extremely important position in that so much information flowed throtegha that it was a gold mine to
the Kimdori. Nearly every spacefaring civilization in the sectors making up their entire arm of the galaxy
had students, emissaries, and spies on Terra, and Kiaari managed that cesspool of intrigue with an
increasingly d& hand. Kiaari often unearthed new information from Terra long before other Gamekeepers
got word of it in other systems.
Mi aari 6s office was in the main administhbhigati on buil
The place was milling witlKimdori, Faey, Terrans, a few Shio, a couple of Makati, and now a few
Beryans. These were the diligent information gatherers, analysts, surveillance personnel, and field agents
that Miaari employed to keep Karis safe. Tim worked there, had his owa pffitdown the hall from
Mi aari 6s, where he worked as an analyst, studying inf
verygood at his job, Miaai had confided, one of her better analysts. His guards lounged about near
Mi aar i 6s ama very youreg&imaoti male from her clan here for training, and Jason headed into

Mi aari 6s office. She was sitting at her desk in di st
mal e that Jason didnét know, Witultucahthebdusewasd hi m mor e al
becoming.
AAh, Jason, 0 she said as the door <closed. Altds goc
Awel |, |l 6m here, so whatdés going on?0 he asked, gl &

young, looking to still be in inscription, talnd willowy, with pale lavender hair and luminous yellow eyes,
while the Shio was a very tall man, looking youthful but experienced at the same time, with black hair that
no doubt made Faey women look his way and strong amber eyes only slightly ddrkiehanthan the
womanobés yellow eyes.

AFirstly. Tim and Kravakk you know, friend. Thi s
more recent hires. Kini is from the IBI, and Kendru is a recent acquisition from the Shio Federal
Investigative Selfivc e . 0 The 1 Bl was the I mperiumbés intelligenc

Intelligence. The Federal Investigative Service was one of the elite law enforcement agencies of the Shio
Federation, like the FBI, sent out to investigate and solve the mursg da baffling crimes, or to track

down and capture criminals that crossed system jurisdictional lines. In the Shio Federation, every system
was semiautonomous when it came to law enforcement, so if a criminal managed to cross to another
system, the B was sent in to hunt down the criminal. The FIS was the only Shio agency that had
Federatiorwide law enforcement jurisdiction.

AiYour Grace, 0 they both said, Kini bowing slightly

ifGood to meet you, o0 he noddfedhdro deér=kn, tfaNkawgwh ated «

AiDenmot her sent me a new packet of information abou
was important for one reason. The Benganateesistant to telepathy as the bugs are. In fact, the bugs
were egineered to resist telepathy because oBtiega 0 s he stressed, bringing up a
her desk. AApproxi mately five percent of the Benga |
psionic capability, and they use talentasaweppoj ust as the Faey do. 0

t J

o}
ason decl ar e

iSo, Wolwil bfei ehiftfeerces i ve agai nst hem, o
chair designed to handle someone in armor.

AfYes, your Grace, but on a ship thtwosldeeardof a smal l
pressed to take control of someone that could do any
S

AiThat 6s a point, 0 Jason agreed, scratching hi chin



il wi || as soon as we fini s&Coosorfiimavantsthe searesswfe r e d . il

the Generations so badly, 06 she c on orlyaliovetbeir Alt also ¢
insectoids to fight. Anyone el se would be vulnerabl ¢
inwel |, I guess wedbae Peinhgr tor dinidngouitnwabobt t hree
il dare say we have the advantage, my Duke, 0 Kini s

more than anyone else. If anything, Faey have extensive experience fighting against tekbeaths
doubt the Benga have the same background. 0

il know that my own training in telepathic combat v
instructor, 0 Kendru said dryly. il t hougepath. my tr aini
I was wrong. 0

AWhen did you lock horns with a Faey?0

Altinvahe FI S, my Duke, 0 he replied. AwWe hired her f
one of our talented investigators had to capture a telepathic suspect. We wantezhtty be fight in the
realm of the mindscape. It was a rude awakening, 0 he
instructors prepared us for the day whendicehave to capture a talented Shio criminal. Our Faey
telepathic battle traininggsv ed our i nvestigator from having his brai

Ailt is what wedbre known for, Kendru, 6 Kini chuckl ec

iYeah, I remember those |l essons, 0 Jason noted I|ight
solid month with a nosebleed. 0

ﬁGodmembee that, o Tim grunted. i never believed t
Jyslin oul d. o

ﬁWeII|a| nJytshe top ten percent, o0 Jason noted Iightly.
hadnét have washed eomupte.r a ngehnet dfiodrn 6itt .hbave t he t

ANow, as to the other matter. Ladies, gentl emen, r
said evenly, hitting a switch on her desk that put her office into secure mode. When her console beeped,
she put her elbowsonhdre sk and | ooked over at Jason. AFriend Ji
decl ared. iShe is even now formulating a plan to gai
the agents theydre sending against us. o0

Kini whistl &d. ADangerous.

AWe are Kimdori, o Miaar.i said simply. iWe wil| S uc

AiSo, any idea when we might get something back?59o

AThat will depend. As Kini intimated, friend Jasor

someone as clever and capable as Jinaamidibe able to do it. It is not a task for anyone but a master
Gamekeeper. The IBl is probably the one place with more mindbenders than anywhere else in this galaxy.
Even for the Kimdori, that is a challenging obstacle to overcome. The sheer nundyetierftelepaths
the I Bl employs makes any attempt to infiltrate thei:-t
AiSounds | ike Jinaami mi ght need some help, 0 Kini S &
defense against a telepath is another telepath. Andilugseo wor k t here. o
AYour reports are going to doEhpwlJiyoaami | Ommensel ¥y he
to get their hands on you, 0 she said dryly.

Kini | aughed. iNo doubt . I had no rwadndtoyalty tc
given much of a choice. It was work for the IBI or have my brain scrambled. Sometimes | wondered why
in Trellebébs name | didnét just wash out in phase one.
Kini was a mindbenderéinteresting
AYoubre a mindbender, Kini?06 Tim asked in surprise.
fiWasa mi ndbender, Kini corrected. ABut yeah, I wen
brainwashing i y ask me,d she said darkly. AiHal f
n

i f
ABing a mindbe r requires a certainéenthusiasm fc
AfYeah well, I I t that ent husi aderancggade thewpork,d a mn f ast
but that tolerance went straight to the bottom of thgkJeit after | graduated and the 1Bl made me

0
o}

de
0s

interrogate people. I dondét get off on hurting peopl
enforcement anyway, 0 she noted.

AiSo, Jinaami wil!/ be st art udkgve wilknowjpugiwhoat i on very soa
programmed that pyschic clone, and who el se they hav:i

ACan you find a psychic clone, Kini?06 Jason asked.



She shook her head. AThat 6s advanced even in mindt¢t
from mindbender training last year. You have to earn your diamonds in the 1Bl before they start teaching
t hose advanced techniques. 0

Al f friend Ji naa mineeslsonceone witth sufficient tekepathievteainimgdonfiddta
psychic crlionneo,toe dMi aaiNow, on to the other matter. Th
against our allies6 attempts to gather information,
againsthem 6 she said with a t osboftheyffice fiierd dason, sdilétheege br i ef ed
over my plans with you. o

Jason listened along with the others as Miaari went over both her preparations to defend against
espionage, and putting nétaey telepaths into positions where they might skim thestfaoughts of the
entourages of the rulers, or the rulers themselves. There was absolutely no doubt that a majority of those
staffers with the rulers were telepaths, since Kagisan Imperium planet that jubappenedo be the
home of the most powelfu t el epat hs i n the galaxy, so theyéd be in
people from telepathic snooping. This was where recently acquired people like Kravakk or Kendru were
going to come iiveryhandy, since nobody would be absolutelysufe t hey wer e telepat hs.
have that luxury, since even civilizaitons with no contact with the Faey had heard about them just through
traders and rumor. Half the galaxy knew that the Faey were a race of telepaths, the only fully telepathic
racein the entire galaxy.

They finished up, and Jason headed for his office to tackle his inbox, as well as attend the daily
Confederate briefing. He was fairly sure that Jinaami was going to be able to pull it off. She was actually
one of the most capabldddori, her position as the Gamekeeper of Draconis and ambassador to the Faey

a glaring indication of her capability. Zaa woul dnét
had dealt with Jinaami qui t danaspirabondto get\niemandsdnderyear s, at
and bring her to Karis, have her work for himéand he
calling Jinaami a friend.

Someone that he wasnét quite so sur eficavithenh¢ i n t he f

arrived. Yila Trefani was sitting on a couch to the side, chatting with Brall. Thfadexi Grand Duchess

was wearing something nearly as scandalous as she did when she talked him into buying the Paladins, a
simple black haltatike top with the Trefani crest on it, elegant black slippers, a necklace and waist chain,
and nothing else. She had her legs crossed demurely as she talked to Brall, then smiled when Jason came
in. Jason,she sent easily as she patted Brall on the hand.6 s tinaeb o u t

What do you want, Yilal?e asked absently as she stood up and stepped over to him as he approached
Chirkodés desk.

Who said | want anything?

Youdre not wearing paaanswerad.bluntlyae he aceepted a handparelt hi n g,
from his Kizzik aide.

Yila laughed lightly, patting the shoulder of his arm@kay, okay, might have some business |
wanted to propose.

Mmmhmm,he sounded mentally, nodding at the malikis Chirk. And youb6re not sure if
it, SO0 you came dressegarfnegotiation.

| 6 m thatprédictable.

He gave her a long, steady look, and a faint flush of purple bloomed in her ckeeksie o0 n l etds ge
this overwith before | have the daily meetiigHo | d any <call s for a bit, Chirk, o
has something on her mind. o

She nodded silently.

Yila followed him into his office, then sat on the edge of his desk rather than sit in the chair beside it.

ACybi, could you c o mleckaawnh theoffieealasesRedsentYi | a cal | ed.
Cybi manifested herself on the other side of the desk from Yila, putting her phantom feet on the
carpeted flooriWhat is it, your Grace?0
A have some information |I didndét want to bandy arc
AWhat 6s ga?ag on, Yil
Al donét have all the information yet, but this is
haltar and pulling out a memory stick. il dve had my
coming down on my side of the Imperium,andhi s got my attention. o

i Wh a't is it?0



AiSomeone is trysmagl & oc lpamicrug ee d wmirpgment , 0 she answer

a factory. It éds being done by a new corporation t hat
Lur al | e.suppodet te peamedical supply company, growing cloned replacement organs. But, the
problem is, some of the equipment theydre trying to
or gans . -sizetl doses,bathrthe tomdeptiontaaks d t he growt h accel eration f
handing Cybi the stick.

AFull sized? As in cloned peopl e?o0

She nodded. iAs you know, cloning has been ill egal
she said. AYou candy bawmkshbereki ndtédsomassbwmel y il e
to get cloning equipment from the Alliance. Full cloning is legal there under certain conditions. Anyway,
since the interdictors make smuggl igletheminipoughsi bl e now,
the TES. I f they candédt manage it, theyo6l !l bring in
in to do it, but nowedy6d rat her have the vats

Jason frowned, because it certainly did raise a red flag with him. Claniniging other than organs
or tissues wamassivelhyjllegal in the Imperium, based on their religious beliefs. The same reason a Faey
woman would nevergverhave an abortion unless her life depended on it or undergo in vitro fertilizations
wasthesameeason that they didnét allow cloning. A Life
natural order was seriously, seriously against all three of their religious teachings. The very fact that any
corporation in the Imperium was evirinking of buyingcloning vats large enough to clone a person was a
major aberration, and right now, anything that unusual was something that had to be checked out.

House Luralleéit was the smallest of the Highborn
the smallHighborn houses were. Carissa Luralle was a fairly young Grand Duchess that had the sense to
stay out of the political machinations and intrigue that plagued court, since her house was small and not in
all that much of a solid situation. She just kephérself and listened while in court, and because of that,
she was one of the few Grand Duchesses iSihent hat Jason didndét mind talking
was on the Highborn Council, but the deéerhoasewddi ghborns
small and somewhat poor compared to huge, rich houses like Doralle, Shovalle, Trillane, and Merrane.
Carissa was like Anya and the other five Highborn Grand Duchesses, shunted to the side and forced to play
a dangerous game to hold theispimn without getting pushed into anything stupid by the more powerful
and ambitious Highborn houses. Much like Anya, Carissa openly allied herself to Dahnai and just went
about its business while trying to stay out of the way of the more powerful hesigasch as possible.

And now sensibled, dondét tCarlssa was lryng to ersiggle cloning equipment into the
| mperi um? That wa slizérte andthat imeant that & was something that Miaad fad
better check out.

AHow m®mgahpment are (Cybeagkedt ryi ng to get ?0

AEnough to fill an entire factory, Cybi,o0o Yila ansuv
Farrol |l Medi cal for ten thousand v adlsotyiggstdclwsas t o gr ow
deal with InzikKetrik fortwentyt housand vat systems. 0

AThirty thousand cloning units? That 6s some seriovu

AThat 6s a damn good question | &d&m gonna find an ansyv
datat ick in a handpanel. AEit her theyére sucking a wh
richer than she pretends to be. o

Al believe | shoul d i nvGQysdaid asahe seerned ® berreadimythe ut er s, Jé
handpanel, though sheas probably directly accessing it through the handpand.,.h ey mi ght have mor
data hidden in their computers that might solve the |

AiGo for it, Cybi, if thatodés what you want to do, 0 F

Awel |, I feel j ust iildnoteddleabingiomhgrihangd and Ibokirey overcat Cylw. u , 0 Y
iWhen | heard about this, I i mmedi ately thought of t1

AWhy?0o

AfiBecause if | could, Jason, Il 6d clone you, 0 she sai
inthe Karinne, and besides, I 6m making way too much money t
cloning systems inside the | mperium? Someone has t hi
smart to try something likéhis. I think s o measafodtso hideswhmtigey dreeand ho u s e
they have Cari a by her bush to make her cooperate.

Ss
AYou think so?0



AfJayce, dear, any of the | arger Highborn houses hayv
l i ke this, 0 she t oHoutthdhiogenissearGeneration isystrongerfirBaleattharwie t
are. Clone up a few hundred thousand programmed soldiers that can kick the shit out of the average Faey

soldier, and youbve got an army capable of challengi:H
Jason gowled wordlessly, then leaned back in his chair. Fuck, Yila was right. If they were going to
try something likehat t heydéd have to keep it as secret as possi |

inside the Imperium. No way would a Grand Duchda®try to set something like that up outside the
| mper i um, not with the very strict entry protocol séi-t
t hrough the TES from some other empire came from, sit
were stronger talents than regular Faey, it would give that Grand Duchess a strong army of telepaths to
overwhelm others.
Fuc k ét hekastlywhwaJaison had pulled all his people back to Karis in the first place.
AThat i s a \ybadgreedi Aoy cer me 0a Faey starts to dabble
something nefarious and wicked in mind. It violates the most sacred teachings of Trelle to create a life
outside the womb. Such a |ife would have no soul .0
AMost politicianst ey menddy tacs Iroedk,gi @ybsi ,abs Jason gr
nodded with a dark smile. ACould you take that dat a:
i Ce r t ashemdplied, icking the handpanel under her arm. She then picked her feet up off the
floor and floatel towards the door, which opened for her.
So, yowweme now, Jason Karinn#jla sent with a predatory smile, reaching over and patting his
cheek with a manicured hand.
| certainly owe you thanks for bringing that e agreed.
You owe me more thanath and you know what | want.
| told you, woman, Zach gets¢choosewh o h e 6 s g ché renginded der anchlyTrhye,r e 6 s no't
going to be any bethrothalunlesea s ks f or one. And hedés only five, for
make that kind o4 life-altering decision.
| knew who | wanted to marry when | was thralee snorted.
You had that choice made for you.
No, | chose Emrinshe answered easily.

You must not care all that much about thegshot si nce | €
back.

And thatdés exactsheyaddediHye 6Is csweee¢ , Eki ind, and innocent,
know what | do. Heds what | it tsheeentwitha slgltsnmdld. mor a | ancl
dondt | ove uhilmvtehel ywdy nyyo but 1 éd&m very fond of him, a
out swindling pensioners, as you |love to put it, heo:
attention. Heds the perfect husband for someone | i ki

And how didyou decide that when you were three?

Because he used to share ty& with me, so | knew he was a kind and generous boy. And my mother
always said that kind and generous boys make the best fathers, so | picked him. Besides, he was really
cute. It tookme six years to hag my mother into securing the betrathalchuckled aloudAfter all, he

was from House Hemalle, so it wasndédt much of a politi
Where did you meet him?
He was the son of a minorHeraall nobl e that | ived on Tamiri. Wedd |
them, since we donét do al | t $haleanedoverrandrkissed himg So | s
playfully onthe cheekBut donét you worry, | 6lirliforkmnvi nce Zach t ha

You stay out of it, Yila.
I wondét have t oshdtoldhnulightly. Ad fhave to datishbring Bara here. She
really likes him, he really likes her. Nature will take its course.
And youbre sur e h ednly segsariaybgonde a talrioverlsome giin hislclash
that he sees every day? My, webre very confident.
Of course | am, itdés t he sheaihked.Dea roafé sa tchrei mynsatle rtyo, bae
know how we adore a mystery.
Well,atlast youdre honest.
Never accuse me of hsheretsrted; whickh raagechan,laugh hefplesdlpwn s ul t i n g,
as part of you paying me back for bringing this to you, wiluinvite me and Dara to dinner tonight, a
nice little intmate dinnewith just you, me, Dara, Jys, Zach, and his mother s$lieg declared haughtily.



Youwill have Terran steak and lobster,andwil have Ayama make another cheesec
going to make two, so | have some to take home. Themilyit with me in the hot tub while we discuss a
few business ideas, maybe take a walk on the beach.
Oh, listen to this.
| know how to get back what people owe me, Jafeegrinned, poking the upper chest of his armor.
How about | put you on the next transpback to Draconis, you demanding little bitch?
Bring it on, Jayce, | 6m not afraid of you anymore.
| need to fix thathe noted dryly.
You can try, baby, you can tighe sent patronizingly, patting him on the cheek, then she uncoiled
herself from his dgk and sauntered out of the office, making sure to wiggle her bare butt for his
benefitémainly because she knew he really admired her
Faey, she loved to show off what a man thought was sexy, which explansstant penchant for
choosing attire that lacked anything below the waist and above the knees. She knew that Jason thought she

had a sexy body, and in particular a very sexy ass, ¢
possible, particularly e a s s . It was a form of harmless flirtatio
seriously.

But she was certainly a piece of work. Sometimes he wondered if it was worth it to be her friend, but
what shedéd brought t o hi ewaswosththeaggfaetion. rivyilarhadthers ago pr o)
hands elbow deep in almost everything going on in the Imperium, and she was one of the few that could
have found out what shedd brought to himésomething t1l
Clones. Somethg about it just made a chill go up his spine, because Yila was right. Someone out

there had finally come up with the one thing he hopec¢
a Generation. It made him triply glad that the only Generationsn Karis were deeply entrenched in
Dahanai 6s palace, virtually untouchable to whichever

Even if it didndt <concer n h-scae closingogeratiog wedl,¢hatt r yi ng t c
was something that Mari needed to check out anyway. It was completely against both Faey law and
religion, so that meant that it was not something that was meant for anything moral, ethical, or even
beneficial.

At |l east Yila wasndt being an insufferable bitch.
He decidedo humor her at least to the point where Ayama served grilled steak and lobstengaith
roots cooked on the grill, salaidhyi beans, and cheesecake for dessert. Dara was running around after
dinner with Zach and Rann, heading for the beach so theg bailtl a sand castle, llia and Jyslin walking
behind them after shedding their clothes, not bothering to go get their bikipistémtake them off again
when they got there, finally adopting Jasonds mental.
however, stayed behind, and Kumi joined them in the hot tub as taded, dangeous Grand Duchess
broached a few new business ideas to Kumi with Jason there listening, since he had to approve most of
them. Kumi did a lot on her own, but when it caimdactory production or replicator access, Jason would

find out about it, so they had to tell him about it.
goodness, just some trade deals between the Karinne/Trefani business alliance and some eflintor
empires. Theydédd gotten their claws into the Verutan

were six other major spacefaring civilizations in that sector, which meant six other potential trade partners.

To trade that far away, wh¥ila was fishing for more than anything else was space on Karinne freighters

not tied up in the Skaa food efforts, since Karinne |
and that translated to profit. Karinne also employed robotic freigh s , but they didndt put
engines in those, since they were too easy to capture. The ability to jump trade goods to the Verutan sector

in real time was a major cash cow, since it was a 15 day jump from the two closest systems between the

Imperum and the Verutan Empireéwhich ironically was Kar
was a 19 day jump to the Verutan system of Urkarr.

Strange, though, t hacbzywith HimeaandKarmi. Shehad té hawe sosnetliinge | |
elseuppr sl eeve outside of just trying to get her daugh
that in a weird way, he rather liked Yila Trefani. She was an unrepentant criminal, thief, and all around bad
girl, but she was also intelligent, charigirand affable. In some ways, she reminded Jason of Semoya, one
of the most welliked Grand Duchesses, but also one of the most feared.

But business only went so far at his house before much more fun things presented themselves.

Symone stepped out oéhhouse on the far side of the hot tub deck with nothing but a towel over her



shoulder, showing off her sexy body, then she climbed into the hot tub and snuggled up tdldason,
hey babyshe purred mentally, putting her hand on his chest. That ¢datadim everything he needed to
know; Symone was on the prowl.
Well, about time you got home, lovie told her, looking down into her eyed/hat took so long?
We had to test over a hundred Gladiators toddng repliedThey 6 ve al mowtonadioubl ed pro

6em, so all the riggers are putting in extra time gef
That 6s what you do, Yihwskalne? Youbre a rigger?
More or lessshe replied. Hweon 6t | et me do anyt hi ngoffthen, so | 6m st
production |Iine and making sure theydre ready for seil

she added with a grin that made Kumi laugh.

Not hing but practice t ar ge tlasonnobkedHave gouestecetlrest t hose doc
missile pods yet?

Yeah, we just got the first osherdpled Mhetmissileepedsday s ago.
were an external adon system that the engineers had designed, like the flight pods, that armed a Gladiator
with 72 Hellgdorm minimissiles. They were primarily defensive weapons, the Hellstorms designed to
intercept incoming missiles, but they could also be used offensively to fire on enemy targets. It was a
necessary addition since the Consortium used missiles a gatagidimg Gladiators an extra layer of
defense on top of their shields and ar mor . The Hell ¢
from the railgun scabbard, and it was just one external shemidented system the engineers were
designng for the mecha. Gladiators were built to be modular, able to equip and utilize multiple external
systems, which they called pods. They were also designing a heavy pulse cannon pod for the Gladiator that
could fire a heawymount pulse cannon, the kinchese shots explode after penetrating rather than just
dissipating like infantryfevel pulse weapons did. The power requirements for the heavy mount version
was too much for smaller mecha, and even a Gladiator needed an additional power plant in the pod to
augment its own power plant to fire the shouldeos unt ed heavy c¢ aonyomthe It cou
Gl adi atords power plant. Well, technically, it <co
system on the rig except the pulse canndfihat are you guys up to?

Not much, just discussing how we can open up new trade routes into the Verutarydector,
answered.After | made him serve me Terran steak and lobster anyghayadded with a sly smile at him.

Be lucky, | have to suck his Hito get that kind of treatmeriymone replied with a naughty tilt to her
thoughts.

You do not!

Well, maybe ndbaveto, but | love to do it anywaghe sent, throwing all kinds of sexual innuendo at
him as her hand slid under the water meaningfully.

It hi nk wedr e MlaenoteddightlyitoKomii.s s e d

Not Symone, she6l | Kudianswered with g dirtly smile® h endyenore fuo f u s,
than Jyslin is.

Symone, you dirty girila laughed.

| 8m t he ki nk ySymanesentiback shamelesslghalliwe give them a show, lover?
Symone sent as nastily as possible, her hand gripping
amu doraj she was in the mood, and she knew how to get him excited. Of course, herindmguear
certainly was helping that along.

He was almost thankful when Cybi broke {dason, Myri needs to talk to you immediatekhp
communed.

[Thank god, | think you just saved me from a compromising positierghswered.

[Symonecanbeentau ast i ¢, QCybi answenedlightlyc e d , ]

Sorry, love, Cybi just told me that Myri needs to thlk said, disengaging himself from her. She
pouted a bit, but didndédt press the issue.

Al right, but hurry shpsentsehsigl!| be i n your bedr oom,

Jason dried off on his way up to his study, and as soon as he got in and put in secure mode, he used his
gestalt to get in touch with Myri, causing a wsitted hologram to shimmer into being on the far side of his
desk. She was in the main situatioom along with all the generals, and the place was pretty busy.
AWhat 6s going on, hon?0 he asked.

AiThe Consortium is on the move, 0 she replied. il A s
heading here. o

AHow big?o0



AThree thowmseankpdhiegls, 0 AENn route to Trieste, and w
three days. 0

AWhat ? How much of their fleet is that?09

AAbout a quarter of it,o0 she replied. ANearly half
Imxi have afourtho sand ship navy. | paidfomdti tse® how t hey fucki

AiMost of them are corvettes and small destroyers, t
build, at least for wus. o

AHow many ships do we have in the PR sector?0

ATwo hundr,edd Jaunnda nainnsewer ed . AAs well as a heavy ga

ATheir defenses?9d

AThe Kimdori are conducting surveillance as we spes
looking away and pointing at something, then snapping herrngen aide came into the hologram and
gave her a handpanel . AWedbre getting some i mages in

The hologram split, and he saw some video of Trieste. He saw the Consortium moving their ships
insidethe moon, flying them domwthe tunnel they dug into the moon to install those hyperspace jump
engines.
ATheydre definitely making a major move, 0 Jason gru
phase device, they decided to do something else. 0
AMost | i kel ygr eleacs.on,mMWeNasvhidulad al ert the war room o
Confederation for an attack. | have a hunch that the Consortium is about to launch a major offensive. |
think theyoéve realized that the KMSePRa&ectorjsobtheyf or
may try to pull wus back here by attacking anyt hi
AHow ampettingt hegye ships here?0 Jason asked with
technology is about two hundred years belmma i nst r e a m. Tntaeageto uroputieidshipst e v e n
across the galaxy, yet here are some three thousand |
Af0dds are theydre being towed behind the Consortiur
utilize those oversized gmes, Jason, they couddisiyt ow t he small er | mxi ships thr
AfiYeah, yeah, youdre right, d Jason agreed. ATh [
theydre corvettes. o He studied t he kiupthiglites fr om
party? Think we could ambush their fleet in tr
A re smarter than they used to be, Jason.
Il mxi with them, so ttdled Yyaweitt®ds sg®ipn@ntdo rtea
for t to get here, Jason, 0 Juma noted. Al f they ¢
over here in 238 minutes. With them dropping out and conducting sensor sweeps, setting up an ambush for
them woul dndét be easy. o
Awell, we can put a few traps in front of them, alo
wonét take much in the way of resources, and we might
bl ew out hiicsk.br eLaetth.me et my ar mor on, and | 0611 be i
Cybi, 0 he called. She manifested her hologram in frc
y can, and tell them | dltlhebeVNht her doaisesoomedd It dhmm
a to start thinking of ways we can slow down that 1
611 get r i ghshenodded,ithen herphaogram wihkea oue , 0
s hologram split again, ands2@agdgouf ade cagiye&dmedv, U
AfGenerals. o
enmot her, 0 Myri replied with a nod. AAny word fr
ATheydre conducting scans of PR systems now, 0O she r
my infiltrators on the comnmal station in the nebula. The fleet from the PR sector was deployed to Trieste
in preparation to attack Karis. My children havenodt
that the Consortium believes they have an alternate method to biypasgetdictor, using their current
technology in some new application. From what my children report, this is the first of a series of ship
movements. The Consortium intends to bring the majority of the Imxi fleet to Trieste as they build
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whatever device hey plan to try to bypass the interdictor. o
ATheir ships just donét have the power to overcome
Al know. This is something el se. I dondét know whe

beingextrere | y secretive about it They know we have eyes
up with, itéds only known to only those with critical



iJuma, |  wa nMictory anddentato togs @ Btargatle eut to the PR sectghtnowy 6 Jason
said immediately.

iwe don6ét have a Stargate to spare, Jason, 06 Juma pr
iwWe have two availabl e, J uma. We can take the one
here, we donét need thoser dingtmedespawetdadawencraepl uad

reason we left them up and running was as an emergency way into Karis around the interdictor in case a
ship without our jump engines had to get here in a hurry. Denmother, can your ships drag that Stargate out
of the radiation shield and bring it to Karis? But leave the shielding up in the bubble, we might have use
for that. o

Al will do so i mmediately, cousin, 6 Denmother said.
nodded. Alt will obe at Karis in two hours
AAlright, now we -37lkat fadt ds avé posSiblyacangsa bue shipsaherP ¢an get back
here, and also give us a window back to the PR sect ol
there to protectetawaypy®d&tem while webd
Al wi l |l keep a ship | ar ¢3¢ le momug hr ethrm vteow tt hen Stasregat
Zaa offered.
AThat sounds perfect, thank you, Denmot her, 06 Myr. n
AfHave them t carefullylGaneral Blyriayougtawing sh might literally cross paths
with the Consortium fleet. O
AWedl I make sure they take a |l ess direct rout e, Der
Al ol l have a task force ready to take pos-session of
371, 0 iduma sa
Al ol l be right over, o0 Jason said, Afunl ess you have
iNo, I have my own tasks to oversee, cousin. I owi |
AAlright then. I 611 be over as soon as | <can. o
AWedl |l kéowe ryoemady for you in the corner, Jason, 0 I
lighten the mood a bit.
il proably wonét be there |l ong enough to complain, ¢
off, then he opened to door directly to his roo8ymone was laying on the bed, naked and in a sensual
pose, and she stretched languidly as he stepped in.
Ités about time, baby, | was starting to get |l onely
| 6m afraid youoll h a vhe sent with gicerecrégeesas thedaonmgr slili m, | ove,
open, and his armor stand slid out on its motorized mo8atething really big is going down, so | have to
go in to work.
Aww, come on, | 6 mshe eomplaineds | vy in the mood,
Baby, believe me, nothing would make me happier than tryibgesk the bed, but work always come
before fun. It even comes before $exsent seriously as he picked up the codpiece of his attaera,
he called.
Shebs of f HarajaosweredlGradadcseme hours with her.
Hara, track down two guards,have to go to the White House, and then to 3D aftervierdold her.
I 61 1| have them at the corvette as soon as youbdre re€
Good girl. Jyslinhe reached outl have to go to work, something came up.
Al right, |l ove. D a nceol ul pel 6es osft adyaiynsg, osvoe rs htehbel I n ebxet her
Okay. Yil a, | e told heo, sending opéniysgp meea hk . ngbés going on, the

just made a big move. Go ahead and head home.
Kumi offered to take me a couple of nighclubs, Ikhinl 6 m going to hang around a t
Whatever, but I dm gonna be busy. Probably real bus
Keep me up to speed, if you can.
Aya was off duty, but she rousted Dera and Ryn from the barracks to accompany Jason. They were

standing by the corvette hatevhen he got there, and he explained what was going on as he boarded the

Marine corvetteBroadsword and sat back in the tactical post as they took the four minute ride to the White

House. When he reached the main command center, Myri already had hdmmast of the generals and

commanders of Confederate forces on holos around the main display console, along with a tactical map of

the galaxy showing the position of the Consortium forces. The Confederate command staff had increased

with the inclusion othe Jobodi, who was sitting between a Shio and a Stevak from the Alliance. The

Stevak really stood out. Stevak were one of the most unusual sentient, spacefaring species in the galaxy,



because they werendt a c ar b osad, andtbatfandamentalediffédremae m. They
had created, literally, a living thing made of stone. Stevak had a mineral exoskeletal covering protecting
their soft tissue® which was a relative comparison, since they were mifsas¢d so they resembled
stonecoverd, seven foot tall gorillas. Their arms were so long that they could put them on the ground and
walk on all fours just by slouching, kind of like a gorilla, and when they did that, they were capable of
bursts of speed of up to 40 miles an hour for stiistances. What made them somewhat disturbing was
the fact that their faces had three eyes behind an armored lid that looked like the visor of a helmet, and a
small mouth with no teeth, just a ridge of bdike rock behind their lips that were sharp egbto chop
up food and strong enough to crush rock. Being silicon based, their diet was also radically different from
most other species. They literally ate silicon in addition to the meat of ehes@d and silicecbased
creatures, andnly meat. Theyvere incapable of digesting the vast majority of plaasged food. Things
like sand and glass were something of a food source for them as well, what they used to replenish and
maintain their armored exoskeleton. They were a silicon based speciesotheat! éy preying on both
carbonbased life forms and other silicdrased life forms that shared their home planet, eating only meat
and sand and sandstone.

What was creepiest was that they were genderless. A Stevak produced one offspring every twenty

vea s in a cycle they called Athe budding, o and it was
years, all Stevak returned to their home planet and produced an offspring, all at the same time, which
effectively doubled the Stevak population everyiiey y ear s . A Stevak youth coul c

but on their home planet, due to its unique ecosystem. Only after they finished growing could a Stevak
leave.

AThereds |ittle doubt that this is mdaedihitst o be a se
raspy, bellowd i ke voice. AWith Farroll interdicted, theyodr
primarily Stevon and Hashir, o it surmised. iWe shoul

AThat or an anseard, ctookidndoamn Jason. ifAre there a

ALemme | ook, o6 Jason said as he sat down, bringing
one available right now, Gener al Sh a drmoatluseful So youbdd
But before you start planning, l et me give you what |
AiShe got information that this fleet movement is the
to our sector. Herinfl t r at or s found out that the Consortium thin
to get around the interdictor, so theydre bringing t|

AiThat does explain a few thingg,tbusiitatdo€&snétst egé
answered Ailt would behoove them to harass the | ocal

AThat 6s true, 06 Jason agreed.

Ailf only we could interdict Trieste, but the Consor
Admiral GrdéVess grunted.

AThat will be our Il ast resort, o0 Lorna said. i dor
billion Alliance citizens exterminated. 0

AStevon is the more precarious of t1Bhsseanwo s YyiOuems
Stevaki friends cannot afford a wholesale disruption

Al should be selfless and discount you, Admiral, b L
takes place in two years. The preparatns have already begun. o

AAlright, so we interdict Stevon and have the Karir
objections?d Lorna asked. When nobody at the table ¢
concentrate our main defensive pickat Hashir. That gives our fleets response to the other Alliance
systems in that area, 0 she said, studying the hologr
side of their territory, with Trnicees twe Obveei nggo tctleons, e ttheoe
ships wondédt be as much as a threat as the Consortium

ATheydébve been installing Torsion weapons on the | mx
dangerous enough. Did you gettheslogand vi deo of the | mxi ships attacki

ifiWebve analyzed it, but it doesndt give us much use
him a wry smile. AYour ships destroyed them too f ast

especially since they didndét really fire back. 0
ell, blame my girls for being smart, o0 Jason said
olding them outside Torsion range is one of our ¢t

ot
=



AThe big question iwhewhathetyheybarceh graiinegs tteo 6doLor na
hologram, which cast a pale light over the scar on her face, which passed down through her eyebrow and

upper cheek. The eye between those scdacksonwas cyber ne
Karis, then their best course of action would be to
doing. But they also wouldnét want to risk too many
theydd havewnsghpsri skmmmedrshe mused, studying the map.
ilt comes down to whatever this alternate plan they
told her and the other military | eaders. AThey must
butwhen we blew that up, they brought this other plan back out. Their primary target has always been
Karis, and specifically Cybi. o

ifAre your people ready for something |ike that, you

AAs ready as we canfibeemw Wiasbnhagrfunted fl eet in the
pretty heavy defenses. Our fleetwillbelbasto f t heir worries when they attacdk
we do need to slow them down a little, and I think | have an idea how to drawghenkb t o t he PR sect

AThe nebula?d0 Myri asked.

Jason shook his head. fiDenmot her got intelligence
deployments to bring the I mxi fleet to wllbetosector. \
leave theiowne mpi re undefended when the KMS starts attackin
toys. Sioa, draw up plans for a ground invasion of,
i P-B8 . ltdéds goptl ankbtee amdabwbedf them are arabl e. T
foment a little discord between the Imxi and the Consortium. They may want to conquer and rule, but they
may not be so willing to throw all their ships in with the Consortiumrié¢ ans | osing their own

Awhat do we know of the I mxi?0 Lorna asked hi m. il

ATheydre vulnerable to talent, o6 Jason said simply.

iAh. That means the ground aifijdask aoddiiccober subeessf

invading PR88, your Grace. | think the Confederate rulers might have something to say about that
system. 0

A have no intention of keeping it, Lorna, 06 he repl
here TheKarinnes have no desire to hold planets on the other side of the galaxy, especially ones holding a
hostile race that és hi qdtdonqueees,ghere is soimember of thishhaiseKar i nnes
that didndt come to wg wiol Icihragqlgy, tdrad wedri e ynot Waelkdd |
system to provoke the Imxi, then pull them out when t
mor e. 0

AAn effect i twearoanbel,e ipfl anethsa,s0 t he Shio admiral agre

ilt hascs siobnel ipti es, 0 Navii agreed. iWe should also

corvettes and gunboats to attack Imxi supply routes, ships that can jump in real time and have the firepower
to attack and destroy freighters and supply ships quicklw, jthrap out before the Imxi can respond.
Disrupting the I mxi empirebs operations would make t |
forces to this side of the galaxy. 0
Al have lots of toys over thesnet hMavioi hel &lali dt el Ii GK
their freighters is more along the |ines of what the
AHow many small attack craft do you have over there
AThere are twenty corvettes amdesiSetvean ogtnlbaatasn s dve
at should be enough to cause some chaos. 0
That just might work, your Grace, 0 Lorna agreed.
s side?0
A Ilittle over a hundred ar e veestaapilolshpl teyaer.J uma r ep
It was commi ssioned just a takir or so ago, and just
ifiGood, good, 0 GrV s chuckled raspily, smiling. AT
readiness to respond if the Consott m s tie out from Trieste. o
AActually, I thin i t Iyeoariio éasHirso we cay ose itlas & cbmmand o br i ng
center, and have it there to react iif the Consortium
Grace?0
Al docerebtanyt hing wrong with it. Do you guys?0 he a
Ailt would be good to get him out into the theater.
home planet, o0 Juma replied. il canrshawe a task forccé

e
0
k



A We shoId send the carrier as well, 0 Myri said. 1

AAnd t ha puts all those fighters in position to fi

AAlright then, | et 6 s slgforcevoiFarroll, sb ih an sit in detéasivd pickef u mp t he
until the Confederate fleet arrives at Hashir. How long of a jump is it for Confederate ships from Farroll to
Hashir?o

ATwo days, sixteen hours, o the Stevak replied.

AfSo theyoll béheetheoCdnsesteum Jason noted. iGoooc
ot her systems?0

Al mproving daily, thanks to automated weapon platfoc
admiral spoke up. AEvery Conf shbtha @khacdefengive piokah not behi
and weapon platforms in place. Our allies have graciously allowed us to move our defense ships into
Alliance systems. 0

iwe wonbét say no, Admiral, 0 the Stevak answered. f

ANumbers arenyogcomsiadengot hhe Skaa said simply. i Anc
obsolete ships, when you have enough of them. o

Jason al most chuckl ed. Hedd seen that particular v

attacked the Skaa, and were repkely uncountable hordes of smaller, older ships. Their tactic was to

build dedicated defensive corvettes and frigates and reinforce them with older naval ships when they were
replaced in the active navy wit h |theroléghipspteydeitgger shi j
them to planetary defense force pickets. And now the Skaa had moved their defense forces from

interdicted systems to Alliance systems, since they
must have taken the fréitersweekgo tow them all out.
The Skaabtés advantage was sheer numbers, and they ma

naval combat. Trying to launch a ground attack on any Skaa system would be the definition of insanity.
AAlrightikettbBauadsolur best course of action, o Lorn

to Hashir and |l et the KMS wait at Farroll. Just have
told Jason and Myr.i. Alelyinarif @ rndhidodbtaglsddlpl. owant t o

AThat 6s not a problem, 6 Jason replied.

AGi ven how important this operation is to the AlIlia
personally, 0 the Stevak decl ar ed.reandfak®tommahéqgart for |
the theater. o

Al f you want, Admiral Gnud, 0 Lorna answered. Al tos

AMy thanks, General, o0 Gnud replied.

AJust be a little wary of Capt ai newhaldhawmanod Jason sai
doubt shedl | be overprotective. o

AAl I captains are when their ships are newly commi s

iAwe all have some things to arrange, so |l etbds meet
Jumasai d it would take two hours to assemble her task

AAbout that, General, 0 Juma nodded.

AThen | etds reconvene in two standard hours, 0 she ¢

When the holograms blinked out, Jason looked at his three military commanders and their mentor.
Sioa, how many Imxi systems do you think we could overrun in ten days?

Depending on how we do it, maybe sixe replied.More than that if we just go in and smash their
defenses then jump out, less if we deploy ground forces and try to hold the pldmetsystems.

Alright. | want you to draw up plans to invade both-®8RandPRL06 t o start out with.
their major food producers and one of their biggest industrial hubs. That should seriously get their
attention. I If invade PRI GaadsPRIP2. ,That sbattens owt théinvaded systems to the
far corners of their territory and makes it harder for them to consolidate a response without Consortium
assistance.

Thatodos rather Naviehuakledt your Grace,

| 6 ve bwwthinkkohctever things from time to time, Nawé,smiled. Minimize contact
between our ground forces and the civilians, Sioa. And make sure our rockjumpers can pull out in a hurry
when they get the order. Wewiitb e i nt er di c one thage to tWreod in tasehva thiek
theydre going to send too many to g¢gebacktouhePRIi rl s of f t
sector.



I know what you mean, anshdenoddedA fétl dr bal Ir,e |l vad vaed ryd te aisry
staythere.

Exactly. We go in, invade, make a lot of noise, and try to pull the Imxi back to protect their own
territory. Every ship we pull to us is a ship that ¢
blow them up much easiever theg, he stressed with a grinlVe do to them what they did to us, make
them fight a war on two fronts.

We do need to interdict, Jasdipa injectedEven i f everyoneds all but sitti
still going to take about an hour to get thathout of there. Besides, if the idea is to keep the Imxi in their
own territory, then taking two or three of their most important systems and denying them to them will make
them crowd the other systems to keep us from takhérg Meanwhile, we estalsh a garrison behind a
hard shield in the capitol city of every system to pour salt in their eyes, but otherwise just leave the systems
al one. I f that fighter is any indication of | mxi te:q
justestabi sh the hard shield out of Torsion rifle range,

That might work. How many interdictors do we have available?

On their side, they have two interdictors on top of the one protecting PR . Theydre the eme
backup a&ad the one we were going to put at the nebula to trap the energy beings in the nebula so we could
capture them. Therebébs none on the board right now o0\

in the next 29 hour s,lsugg8sbwe invalle PBBeaddrPRLOG] like youginitialp do t hi s
suggested. We strip them of their biggest food producer and their major industrial center, then roam a
strike force around their territory, jumping in, attacking, then jumping out, just trying amage and
keep them from | eaving to protect what they have | ef 1
versed with, Jayce.

| like it. It does maximum damage with minimum ri¢&yii agreed with a nodWe can use a fast
attack package ofdet r oyer s, corvettes, and gunboats, ships so
with them.

Myri, that sound good3ason asked.

Yeah, | say we go with ghe agreed.

I 61 1 ma k eJuma bfieredoShadild wegust let Palla organize theognd assault, or do you
want to do it, Sioa?
Sheds a great captain, but doesnét have much exper.i

plan. Give me four hours, then we can send down the orders.
Al right, sounds g o o daari guys,&ee wigabtherKigndoti knowgtlmttheya | k t o M
havendt g odasorannounceKkiese py erte, up to speed on whatds going
No problem, Jaycevlyri nodded.

Jason went up to Miaaribés office, whialersmfis jumpi ng
poring over images being fed to them. When he got to her office, he used her comm to bring up Maggie
and Jake. They looked a little sl eep, Maggiebs red |
APrepare our iinvenwerkndwrhaowmea hd o, Mags, 0 he answ
pl ans. A Wedl I have much better success cho-king off t
up war, 0 he concluded. Al want thédheews oftkem mekeoube s o afr
their wills before departing. o
Maggie gave a wicked little smile. AWe can do that
supply routes thanks to the Kimdori, so we know where to set up the ambush spots. Give wsithree h
boss, and wedl | h ave armpdcavamen wehtdeynselves. YowdaretalkttonMyrs e f o ur
and tell her webre going to need to borrow four of t|
use jump boomers for this, we havgtea mp shit in real time. o
AJust tell Palla, you guys have blanket authority.
AThis is shit wedre good at doing, 0 Jake added witet
AiThat 6s why wwedr ett bembest o being asses, Jake, 0 Jac
AYup, itds time for Maggie Mac to go PMS all over t
burst out laughing.
iDon 6 toorhwaovke f un, Mags, 0 Jas on veWwallasomahelpwiithdomea s mi | e.
of our toys. The KMS is going to invade two systems over there on top of us attacking Imxi supply lines,
itds all to try to keep the I mxi from allowing their

collectors ve still have in stock ready to deploy to back up the ground forces. One or two shots from one
of those will scare the piss out of the Imxi, especi:



il know just what to do, b o s somedof dvraothey foys asnvelld d e d . i We
we wonbotthatmaed alfl wedbre going after freighters. o

AThat 6s why you two are there, guys Now do 3D proc
AYou bet we will, o Jake nodded, and Jason cut the ¢
AAnYyrm missives from Denmother, friend?0 Jason ask:¢

her take it. It waker office, after all.
ANot vyet, but wedbre busy analyzing Godjuroédmi, tryinr
AiWe camytt hgemtg anside that moon to see whatodés going o
up our infiltrators with passive mass sensors. | think Denmother will authorize field agents to attempt to
infiltrate. We need eydaside 0
Al thougdaddy weadltrhem. 0
ANo, we have no units inside Trieste, 0 she shook he
up from the Consortiumds communications. We know wh:
ADamn, 0 Jason gruntled,. t aikWhmg onfef nheiesd ggaowun t o do i s
Denmot her and explain this to her,d he said offering
expansiorthat came when a Kimdori interfaced with his nervous system. She took in all theiindale
a second, then nodded.
ACl ever, 0 s

he d as she l et go of his hand.
surveillance to e

n

r

se
i d accurate information for Pal
Jason sat i hair ave ftroormtctofvaher theslspi dieWe ,
with a dark gru fi
theydre gonna p t
handla s ket . 0
iwe may, but not yet, o0 Miaari replied, putting her
muzzle, supporting it. AfActivating the spiders tell
fail, weol |l n e v @e shauld saveahe eptdérefor the dvemntnadity that we have to attack
Trieste, or when webre certain that theydre about to
them a chance to counter them. We have until those ships gather at Toirsterhen they arrive should
we consider the spiders. o
Yeah, well, I dondét I|ike the i deathepaftackngt ti ng t hem
m, 0 Jason replied. AThat 6s why weor esamgltyy ng after
drive a wedge between the I mxi and the Consortium.
Well, either way, there is little else you can do
e
N
T
t

e have no idea what the Consor
off as soon as they get those

tm e ™ —

s

rest. o

o, Lornadés gonna call back in about an hour, I sh
hsatMyri 6s job, not yours, 0 she told him. AGo hom
o speed in the morning. o

il guess | can, 0 he yawned. iltds not that | at e, b u

Jason was taken home, and after saying goodbye tjuigs, he carried his helmet up to his house.
Ayama wordlessly offered him a cup of coffee when he came in, and he took it with a grateful nod. He
could sense that neither Jyslin nor Symone were home,
He went upstairs to take his armor off, bypassing to look in on Rann and Danelle. They were in his room,
awake, playing a game on the vidlinkey kidlets JJason sent as he came What you doing?

Just playing a game, DaddRann replied.What happenedat you had to leave?

The Consortium is making a move, | had to go talk to Myri and Miaari abdw igplied.] t 6 s al most
bedtime, guys, so find a place to wrap it up. Have you had a bath yet?

Nuhuh, Danelle answered.

Well, finish up your game ande 6 | | take care of that. Wherebs your
She and Aunt Symone went out somewhere. Mo mmy sai
Hu h . Wel |l , wedll have everything done before she ¢

here,he smiled.

Ja®n herded his son and his adopted daughter into the bathroom after he got his armor off, and he
relaxed in the tub while they showered, pondering t he
on more than one way to attack Karis at once, justiecat he Kar i nnes countered one o
only smart. It was whatewould do if he were in that situation. Whatever their backup plan was, it

couldndt be as effective as the quantum phase devi ce,



almost felt stupid for blowing up the quantum phase device now. At leastkhieeyabout. Now he was
going to worry about what else they had planned, something major enough to incite a major force

movement . He wasndt sur e systems wasfyding o be, butet wastagoad ki ng t he
idea. The Consortium was using the Imxi, and not just for their ships. Their resources were being used as

well , and wreaking havoc on the I mxiod6s systems woul d
dent in the Consortiumds master plan, in addition to

to the Consortium cause.
Knowing the Consortium, they would simply abandon the Imxi to the mercy of the Karinnes, take their

ships, then attack Kariwith them. But, thémxi might not allow that to happen. The best case scenario

was the Imxi declaring war on the Consortium. The worst case scenario was the Consortium and Imxi

military abandoning its civilians to Karinne attack, with the intentoshing back after the fall of Karis and

retaking the systems. It was just going to come down to where the Imxi stood, if their society would allow

harm to come to their own to further the Consortiumb:
One thing theydd b esiege o Kariss tf taerConsartmum pulled &fithis planofi s a

theirs and somehow got that fleet to Karis, then the\)
ships, but those ships would have to get past Karisé
Jason hirself.
Danelle climbed into the soaking tub and sat on his lap, her little legs straddling his and her hands on
his chest, a very improper position gi Veaeyout hey wer e |

alright, Daddy Jason?$he asked serigly.
[ 1 dm f i mereplieg, giving kier d gentle smile and pulling her into a warm fitttank you for
your concern. Youbre always so thoughtful .]
[Well, is there anything we can do to help?]

[Just keep being you, Danell&g answered, touchgrher tiny nose with his own, which made her

giggle alittle.] Someti mes | d&m amazed that your mother doesnot
keeps her away from you.]
[You can be honest, Daddy Jason, khvest hat st uf f s henddkmavsheloveBut | donodt

me,] she replied seriouslyfAnd | know how important it is. Mommy says all the time that if not for her,
the Consortium people might destroy our home.]
[ That 6 s mor &soochuckledl aleud.tYowe , Imot h e bedtdried malltheu st my
worl d, pippy, sheds one of twaysmastei mploanameé, peopslee
one that handles all the technology.]

[ Well, at | east when s h esbesgrinbad snpishly[l | tdfiosvasyysod get t o st
as being with Mommy.]
[ Donét | et her hear you 3aaoylaughed tRano climked aveér thd sidé e ar my

of the tub and promptly fell in, broaching the swirling water and spitting out a mouthful of i@seful
there, Rann,]Jason warned.
[ 6m okay, | u serepled [tmleatiwhat hlearnedthavgo, dp today!]
[Show me.]
Rann took on a look of intense concentration, then a column of water rose up out of the tub. He
narrowed his eyes, gritted Hiseth, then jerked his head, and the water shuddered, then broke away from
the water, rising above them as an undulating globe. The globe then changed into a cube, then into a
pyramid. A bead of blood for med aovertheirrheattlseandn 6s | ittl e
reformed into a huge sphere of water, then he gave a smile as he deliberately dropped it right over his head
back into the tub. Danelle laughed as the water sloshed over the sides, but Jason was far more impressed
than he was amused\ffecting water like that wanot easy, and to form different shapes and hold control
over it for that 1long? Wel |l , Zach wasndt going to bg¢
wiped at his nose as it started to bleed more seriously, whicted Jason to fetch a rag from the rack with
his own power and dislodge Danelle, then tend to his son.
|l 6ve told you not to maklaeasgpoausenbtsehbdeadl i e hhbhit
back.
Aunt Ayuma says that a nosebleed justins you tried your best.
| m going to have a | ondeserddaikly. wi t h that woman tomor
The good part about that kind of nosebleed was that it ended quickly. After just a moment, the
bleeding subsided, and Jason leaned back and relaxeBavigile on his lap and Rann playing with a little
boat, the two of them chattering at each other via communion. It surprsied him that they gevdato



itébut then again, it was some kind of padogrammed abi
DNA. It was instinctual, in a way.

Jyslin and Symone appeared in the doorway, both of them nude and carrying {Dhvegksyou guys
are,she smiled as shecameMh at , you coul dnét wait for us?

You snooze, you lose, babBgson replied withasimie as Danel |l e sank Rannds boat
squabble to erupt.

Any word on Tim, Jayce? He had to go to work just like $gmone asked.

I saw him there, hhe @ntweredT ey 6 ew wmo ke nlgalysiims s o me fr e
and Symongot in the shower together and started cleaning off, not afraid to carry on a little bit in front of
Rann and Danelle. Like everyone else, the children knew, in the way of a child, that Jyslin and Symone
wereamu werevery special friendsIt was hardo explain what imprinting was to a six year old,
nevertheless trying to explain a concept like homosexuality as it applied to his wédenardbzei A child
could understand the concept of a girl liking a girl, but it got a bit dicey when he trieglainexhy Jyslin
only like Symone that way, and Symooelyl i ke Jysl in that way. But they di
not from the general public, and definitely not from the children. Jyslin had completely gotten over her
shyness and maybe a litdenbarrassment over imprinting Symone, and Symone was never that straight to
begin with. Rann understood it better than most of the others, since Symone and Tim spent so much time

in the house. Hi s ¢ oamsgawe him a ettamdesstandieg oftlee nuances par ent s 6
invol vedéwhich just proved how mature Rann was, even
finished showering and climbed into the tub, Symone grabbing a laughing Rann and tickling him in her lap,
making him thrash aroundlai t t | e bit as Danelle moved from Jasonds
her with Jyslinbs arms around her.

Well, weodre dozmsy ithocdani,l eldi dblveetr, DaneWhaddsslgoal der ,

you so cuddly?

Not hi nd, M dustmgsttinglaylitie Isléepy.

It is close to your bedtimdyslin said, looking at the clock over the door. It was later than Jason
t hought, almost 2250, and the kidsd bedtime was aroul
a night, needig much more sleep than an adult, but it worked out fairly well on the strip, since it was very
close to the equator and the nights ranged from 13.5 to 16 hours out of the 29 hour day, depending on the
time of year. Rann usually went to bed not long aftarset, and woke more or less right around dawn.
With them being in the start of the autumnal ¢
could wake wup around dawn. As t he ni ghthsnighte ng
so he could wake up at the same time every day, to give him an established routine.

We had a busy dafpanelle told them.We went to the mountains today and learned about rocks. It
was kinda fun, but we had to walk around a lot.

That armor carget heavy after a whildason agreed with her unspoken commémwen with the
power assist.

Yeah. And after that, Miss Ryn gave us all a long lesson.

What did you learn?

How to defend against someone trying to get in our miRdsn replied.

S h etréirsing you in combat techniques?

Well, she said that since wedre the children of the
from bad people. Miss Aya makaeslearn how to wrestleRann replied.

Thatds to protsantthudeu from Shya,

When can Shya come visit again, DadBghn asked quicklyl miss her so much! Talking with her
over the interface just isnét the same!

| 6m not Jdasaneepliedihppys are very busy right now, and i
leavethe palace right now.

Well, | hope we make the Consortium people go away quick, so Shya cdre\psitclaimed.

Jason chuckledl can agree with that, some replied.

They fnished up before Danell e f ketdRanmasdDarelle i n Jys|l i
in bed. He then cast out and said goodnight to all his children via telepathy, which was his nightly routine,
then Jyslin pushed him towards the bedro@ymone said what you did to hehge sent with a smilel.
think you have to bpunished for that.

I t  wmaydaul) it was pretty damn important that | had to go into work.

ycl e, i
t n

C 1
hened,



Therebds no exc amuedozEso horny sheahas tongy chgse down JySiiimone
grinned as they pushed him into the bedro@m y o u 6 rpendaty eght makingsit up to both of us.
Well, | think I can live with thatye replied lightly as Jyslin closed the door.

It was a fun night, but a rather rude awakening.
[Jason!] Cyhi called very forcefully, startling him out of a very deep, extetisleep. He jerked and
half-sat up groggily, not entirely sure what was going on, at least until Cybi called to him again and shook
the cobwebs out of his brain. Symone and Jyslin were similarly passed out on either side of him in the big
bed,andthee ar kness on the other side of the window told h
by the bed and saw it was 0418, still a good two or three hours before dawn. He sat up fully and scrubbed
his face with his hands, then blinked and looked tds/géine shimmer of light that heralded Cybi
manifesting a hologram in the roorf\What is it, Cybi?]he asked, a little more alertly.
[Miaari needs to see yommediately] she answeredf Sheds wai ting in your den. ]
[Okay. Give me a secondhg said. tdr hologram winked out, and Jason was left a little blinded with
the loss of the light. He managed to untangle himself from his wifanddozeiclimbing out of the bed
by scooting down and sliding off the foot of it, then he padded for the dooradfibes without bothering
to put anything on. Miaari was sitting in front of his desk when he opened it, the lights on, and she got up
and handed him a robe wordlessly when he got inside. A hot cup of coffee was sitting on the desk waiting

for him, whichwasn6t a good sign. Jason put the room in sec
down, then took a long drink of some pretty strong, l
here at this time of the morning, o0 he finally said.

AOhjisj®d® she said with a grim nod. Cybi mani fested
one of her more favorite places, regarding the two of
I BI . 0

AThat was fast. o

AJinaami wasconoits pbuwetc aours eDrséhe is inept, cousin, 0 Mi

managed penetration and acquisition of information in remarkable time. Denmother will be very pleased
with her for her swiftness, o she noted.

AiSo, did you get the |list?0

She nodde , holding up a handpanel that was on th
are carrying psychic clones, 06 she ans whentheyare f
supposed to activate. For four of them, we evenknowthemet of activation. 0O

e desk.
We Kkno\

ifGood. Tell Denmother to give Jinaami a big kiss f
ABut | &m betting thatoés not why wedbre here. o

Ailt is not, o she replied. Aiddraediatety,0 you must recall

fi Wat? The IBI is going aftdrer? o

AThey already did, 0 she r eplBlithatéhaught afithat acoairmgmi di scover
equipment, and they used mindbenders on Saell ebds Mer.

fiwhat The IBI attackedvin? 0

Aihey did, 0 she nodded. AThey had him take a DNA se¢
she has with her dondédt sleep in their room, Jason. |
erased knowledge of wh a taftethhe didtteid biddimgn Eheykmow mw Ev i nds mi n
power ful Saelle is in talent, they took no chances s

was of a plan to clone Saelle Karinne, and clone her biphthesandsto create a large segment of

populd i on with Generation DNA that could then be used t
Jason al most felt his stomach drop out. nDlded d
AiShe did. I't revealed to t he | Btooimpgodanttotlehve.y ad bee

Jason, Dahnauthorizedd hi s operation, 0 she decl ared grimly i We

knowledge of the exact specifics of it, but the oper:
Jason leaned back inhisahai al most st u betrayedhim. Shesdétrayad hénsab e

certainly as if shedd stuck a knife in his back. She

minute she had Saelle in Draconis, she trigddneher.

AfJason. We Datinaikrew juskvirats w ei fwas aut hori zing, 0 Miaari wq

l ook on his face. AThe | Bl is notoriously secretive,

chance that they simply asked her for authorization for an operationth&&y di dnét expl ain, or

to her about its objectives. What we do know is that Dahnai told the IBI to get their hands on biogenic



technology. There is a chance that Dahnai doesnd6t ki

Generationste ms el ves are, in a way, part of biogenic techn
ANo, 6 Jason growled, h iksowsvtoe clken ehva.u nt Tekldi. s iAsSrhé&t ktnleew.
tried this shit, Mi aari, just not o nlatorshipswiths c al e . Yol
me stand in the way giolitcss.  And t hat 6s al |l t hpolticsi &8 he dhaeird wiotlh ta cl
scream, throwing the handpanel across the room, whicl
bel i ev e hisfarleToyihg tgclmneBaelle? What are we going to do about this, Miaari? If we pull
out Saell eRashiheydl IDathmmvae i s wil | owngaugheasgquindahi s f ar |,
pig. Thatwas why she was so adamant about keepingber he r aged, getting up and s
room, starting to pace. AShe doesndt fucking care i

A

just wanted her for her DNA! She wanted her for the pamietf hat 6 s i nsi de her! o
i Cal m daenwlinpamiisaesen now trying to get into position to touch Dahnai and take stock.

Let us not jump to any conclusions until she reports.
il want those cloning vats destroyed before they ev
overtothed sk and sitting down, then activating the c¢comm.
you have to do to get her ass on the vidlink, o0 he tol
AYour Grace, Yila Trefani is at Kumidés house, 0 the

Jason turned his face in that directiofiLA! he sent with such power that he probably woke up
everyone within ten miles of the house.

Mmph! WhatTame her reply.

Get your ass over to my houdght now, he sent, rage bleeding into this sending nttendow hard
he tried to control himselfWait in the kitchen until we have time to talk.

What 6s going on, Jayce?

Wedre going to do s o mehetepliedgventing a littleSo getaver heredee r hande d,
we can work it out.

I 61 1 bver. ri ght o
AYi |l ads on her way over , Ruckihgbahhad lsttishbv sheahororsthee | e nc hi n g
bonds betweenthemamudoraj t o try to steal not just his houseds

what the houswas? Trying to clone Salle? Trying to breed thousands of Generations using Saelle as the
alpha ancestor. And what would happen to his daughter Raisha once Saelle was out of theresheNould
be the one whose face was stamped over thousands of clones, then used as brodéhsddaitai so
insanely determined that sheéd go that far?

She would. She was the Empress, and that made her ruthless.

AfJason. Only you can recall Saelle, 0 Miaar. ur ged
Jason gave her a look of equal parts fury and dread, then nodded and ¢toGlbd tvho looked both
very concerned and goutr@aimplut & Clydobnd iin.6s Itnvnedd otrhe E

I
el se t heyodestroyito i nwja,k et hen abundantly cl eawongyo t hem t ha
people. o

i | | atend the matter immediately. If you will excuse me, this may take some time. A computer like
that will have formidable defenses. It will take my
AJust be careful, my friend, and dtomirdportanttwsi t ate t o
me to |let some I C system fry your crystals. o
She gave him a fond smiléi |  wi | | be very careful, myshéri end. An
said, putting a hand on her upper chest. Then her hologram winked out.
Al thoughtteroft oadloi jgist that, but as she said, the |
countermeasure systems, 0 Miaari said. ACybi is far t
il have faith in her, o Jason said. i sehoe 6 | | know wt
strong. Now give me a sec, |l 611 get hold of Saell e. (
He wasndt wearing his gestalt, so he had to utili ze

Hanvariand t hen t hr ou g [Baelledhe kdlled.fBaelleGdnswdri Amerright now]

[What?] came a bleary reply. Jason forgot that it was the middle of the night in Dracora right now as
well.

[Listen to me, listen to me very carefullipd communed, making sure that all his fear and concern
transmitted through his thobyg [I want you to get your armor on, get in your Gladiator, and get the hell
out of there. Right fuckingow.]

[ What 6s goi ng o nsheaskedsmuthhmerealerta t hr eat ?]



[ Yes, Saell e, and i théansweredfTaepniirdbgndersiinghle tBl btokeEvide y ou, ]
He @lekadydone somet hing and they wiped it from his memor
theyownhi m, and heds a danger to you. Just get your arr
Kimdori there, jusget your ass out of there.]

[What did he do?]

[ 611 tell you when you get here. Nrowi s tTohpa tadssk i n g
anordet]

[ 611 be on the ghegamsweredr i n half an hour, ]

Jason pinched his nose betweenfhisnger s, feeling a headache coming o

told her to just get in her Gladiator and take off, and not to tell anyone but her Kimdori. | hope they can get
out of the palace on their own. oo
AEasily, Jason, 0 she replied.
Jason waitedh tense silence, keeping a touch onltamvari, accessing its sensors, after telling its
captain, Himari Gemalle, to pick Saelle up as quickly as she could without entering the atmosphere. The
KMS ship picketed at Draonis kept a constant lock on Saslle G| adi at or as a matter of
which was kept in a secure courtyard under the protection of the Imperial Guard, which was probably the

one group that not even the mindbenders of the | Bl wi
Sael e 6s mec ha exacllywdh at hathewasdi d. But they wouldndt storg
taking off, since it waberGIl adi at or . He al most sighed in relief whe
the palace and ascend towards the cruisex,i ng its flight pods. He even put
feed, Saelleds blue and gold mecha flying up towards

the other. That had been her mecha before she took the assignment at thehmlaas,a rigger by
occupation. Jason and Miaari watched as the mecha escaped the atmosphere, and about ten minutes of
tense silence later, it was in the main hangar of the cruiser.

And her departure was certainly not missed. Not two minutes latdi asuiser broke orbit and
haded for the Karis Stargate, Dahnai was beeping his comm using her personal contact number. Jason shut
it off, not even wanting téalk to her until Jinaami got in touch with them, which would tell Dahnai nearly
asmuchasifdtdd answered the call

He didndét know what hwaswessgoalihnigyt ofack dvhatwad f i Dahhias é
he going to do? Declare war on Dahnai the instant Raisha was born and take her by force. Have the
Kimdori steal her? They absollitecould notallow a Generation to be cloned, and despite Raisha being
the daughter of the Empress, she w&eaerationfirst and foremost. And had Dahnai completely lost her
fucking mind? Right now, of all times, she tries to pull this kind of shiickvivould force the Karinnes to
do something drastic, and potentially tear the entire Imperium apart? It wé&arthresthat kept stability
in the Imperium, not the Merranes, not the Imperial Navy. The threat of the Karinnes annihilating any
noble hous that tried to do what the Trillanes did kept everyone marching in lock step behind Dahnai. She
had to be absoluteipsanetod

Thatwould be insane. Dahnai was ambitious, she was unscrupulous, she was somewhat ruthless, but
shewa s ardzy. Andshews nét stupid either. I f she pissed Jason
throne, andhe knew it But it would certainly behoove another house if they could drive a wedge between
Jason and Dahnai. Could this be a convoluted plot from one of the Higitbor

Maybe Miaari was right. Maybe Dahrii dkmdwtthe specifics of it.

Before he could ponder that, Jinaami s face appear e
one Zaa used to talk to him when she was calling about something that was énigitiyes. He
i mmedi ately reoriented his mind to speak in Kimdori,
di fferent, so automatic that he didndt even think abc¢
explosively. Gwhpat did you find o

il got a hand on Dahnai, 0 she answered. ifShe has ¢

APartial how?o

AShe fully authorized the agents sent thot Karis to t
have knowledge of the cloning operation. 0

Awell, thatodéds somet hing, at | east, d Jason sighed.
set this up without her knowing?o

AJason, tmaet HiBlgdo@Rahnai doesnb6t know about, 0 she a
them what tad o , but shoe dainddn 6tthesyabyr e f ar more ruthless than
about the delicate political balance in the | mperiul



to steal biogenics as a platform to pursue this cloningm r a m. Il 6m not sure what the
intended to do with the progr am, I didnét get a hand
she said with a grim kind of smile iwWe ®tole the DI
using in the | ab. |l 6m going to send one of our comp!l
they doné6ét have that information somewhere el se. 0

AWay ahead of you, Ji naa miperso@yybd is doing just that

iShe cofudrd @aosiigr than we, 0 she reasoned with a nod
extreme caution. o

AwWell, thatés what | sort of suspected, 0 Jason grur
know what the | Bl wa sanets piss ind off to that extegt,.since Shé adiddiosdb e i n
her throne in the bargain. o

ABut this exposes a grave threat and risk, Jason, 0
hopes of cloning a Generation. Jason, what are we to do aboutRaisha

il know, 0 he sighed, looking at Mi asafeforthe Al once sae&

Generations but on Karis after the Consortium outed I
which both Jinaami d gohfteMRasha.r Mayba wottlte éBd, lsdmednd h e y 6

eventually wil!@l. The entire | mperium knows shedés a
in as much danger from our own people as we are from groups like the Consortium. Karisig siageo

harbor in a universe where everyone and everythlng Wi
have to convince Dahnai to give up Raisha, nd that |
look.

Al dare say whheant shhaep pfeinredds tooutSael |l e, she might not
Jinaami supplied. iNot whnexh She may sendherstd ydugustédo t hat Rai s|
protect her from those that would take her for what

iDahnai wirgelthe Bbavtlee varydeagh, but not even that can ensure that someone else
does not have the same idea, 0 Miaari agreed. AUnIl es:
| mperi al palace, she will n e wgh Evib provesahbtedt evendhet hem get t
palace is entirely safe. o

iYeah. Wedre going to have to do something, girls.

the desk in front of him.
AWhat do you mean?o

fi mean | 6m not goi wgyt ovjeust hleesek at hemptset o st eal
replied, changing tacks on them, but they seemed t o
Nobodyelsef r om out si de wil |l be allowed i n t hhehossgst em. We
but webéd better be more careful about who we take.
a psychic clone, or something even more sinister we

il d6ve been considering thatd vvee rcyh apnogsesdi boiulri tiyn dou cMiiaos
take things into account. 0

Ailn the meanti me, we continue to |let them work wup i
of f the planet. Wedl |l finish buil dionig Thehoangetact or i es
it done without much effort. Those workers can just help build more ships. And | want you to quadruple to
surveillance on those outsiders. I dondét want them |
flushed or not. o

ibcking down all biogenics is also a logical step,

AWedbdbve already done that, o Jason replied with a nooc

Zaabs face appeared besi de Jpisseda mifiJo matame ! ho Whgr a m,
not contact ménmediatel? 0 demmanded.

Ji naami shrank back a |little. il was going to cont
Grand Duke, my Denmother. Yeoldme t o report to him i mmediately upon
She frowned. il yoiudof Alhitglt shle akpdliead, which m:
report your findings to me. Go over everything you |
They all went over everything theydd talked about,
of Raisha. Zaatappedhérhger ti ps together as she |istened, then |
time to seal Karis off once again, o she stated. Mi a

are protected. 0
ATrdrecl an, my Denmoedher 20 Miaari gasp



AA good portion of it. You wil |l need the assistanc
cousins to us, it is the right of your clan to accept the duty and the privilege of establishing itself on Karis,
as was in olden times. Clan Grelvtlust abdicate the honor they once held in favor of Clan Thresxt. It

wi || be Clan Thresxt that oversees the training of 1t
il dondét have any objection to that, Denmother, 0o Jes
AThose whkarsied twiel lonnumber slightly in excess of fi

steady | ook. Ailn the olden times, the clan who stay:¢

of Jaxtra, where young Kimdori from all clans were given trgnifthis requires Kimdori from every field

of expertise, from builders and | aborers to the cl ani

training operation. | am sure that we can reach accommodation with the Kizzik already thee ts &tlo
settle in Jaxtra. The city was rebuilt with the others, and is simply awaiting colonization. As | understand,

Jaxtra is very close to the colony they have built.

AYou have my blessing,é daspnofaldxi mmedsayeluys. i
|l eaders of Kirga and explain it to them. Theyodl |l pr ¢
Kizzik are actually very social creatures. o

AThe hive mind i s st rloomtgctyounfatheh Biaasi,@nd hake thes a i d . Al wi
necessary arrangements. This is sooner than | intended to restore the clan ways of Karis, but current
conditions demand it.o

AWell, you should have said somet hi niththe Denmot her , 0O
Kimdori coming here and establishing a colony. 0

AWe felt that the house needed a little more time t

as time for us to prepare our currentimaedooliBeosibdke an.
there is a war going, Jason, and it would have been a distraction for both of us. But this escalation forces us
to play our hand. Miaari needs many more of her clan there to defend Karis and its secrets, and there is no

reasonnottosiml vy est ablish the original training school at
AYou draw up the timetable, and wedll do our best t
Jayce, | just got @&erynasty call from Dahnaijyslin sent.What the fuck is going on?
Fuck. Ttalld td herhinearfew mi@iutes. Something seriously major is going on, love, and
Dahnai 6s tangled up in it. Just tell her 1 d&dm i n a ci
her.

Alright. Just make sure you apologizryn i ¢ e | yseriousl$tbrquédsoff.
No doubt, he mused darkly. She must know about the attack on the IBI, and she was right in linking

Jason to it. ADahnai called Jyslin, o6 he told the thi
No doubt she knows was behind the attack on the |1 BI .o
AThere is little more to discuss, and we have thing

Karis. Jinaami, be prepared to assist Cybi in any way possible if she requires it. Also, make preparations
to purgethe IBI of those not loyal to Dahnai. If she will not doagwill.. Jason, you must confront
Dahnai. Her ignorance of the cloning plot is no excuse, and besides, she is directly responsible for the

many spies Miaar. has uncovered. 0

AOh, thatwoddbegdbiowvgly, 06 Jason grunted, pinching his

iwe have our work to do, so |let us get to it, o6 she
Jinaami nodded and her face vanished as well. Miaari stood up, then looked thiwnrvih compassion.

Ailt wondét be so bad, cousin, o0 she assured him. fiJu
things have gotten. 0

iYeah. Have Yila come up when you | eave, I 611 get

She noddedhen put her palm to the plate by the door, which removed it from secure mode. She left,
and almost immediately, Yila rushed in. She was only wearing a pair of blue silk panties, and her dark hair
was dishevelledAbout ti me. What 6s going on, Jayce?

Yila, | want you to get with Miaari and make sure those cloning units you found never leave the
Alliance. | want them alllestroyedhe sent intenselyBefore they even make it to the entry station.

She gave him a long, steady look, then noddedke t you found out what they were for?

Oh yeah, | sure fucking ditie replied darkly.They were going to try to clone Generations in them.

Who?

A rogue element of the IHig answeredT hat 6 s why we have to destroy then
entrystat on, therebs no telling who the | Bl &s mindbender s
those vats make it to Draconis. We have to stop them before the IBI is in any position to get their hands on



hem. He blew out his breathDahnai is waitingfor me to call her so she can read me the riot act. | sent

t
the Kimdor.i into the | BI earlier to get to the bott ol
itds the 1Bl thatds trying to setuttelinganoeewhdtoni ng ope!
theydre doing. Dahnai doesndt even know.
Trel |l edsYisgadpddy hai r,
Yeah. They may not stop just because Dahnai tells
Mi aari get toget her anHleitn® knperisnuspaee, Yildy evendf werheateso don dt m:q
attack and destroy the freighters they ship them on.

We 61 | di scuss my f e eshésentwihawirk, trging toiimorénimla itk ét | Jason,
make sure it getdone.

Good. Now excuse me, | have to talk to Dahnai.

She nodded, then turned and hurried out of his office.

He steeled himself, then turned his comm back on, which immediately started to beep. After putting
the room back in secure mode from his dégkgot averyangry Dahnai on a hologram in front of the far

wal | . AHave you mod albhycéd8tsheuraggedkahmost | mmedi e
I BI ! 0

A had a damn good fucking r eas onmdorointhetetandc k t he | Bl
you know what they pulled out? A cylinder filled wit
clonesof her . 0

fiwha? © Dahnai gasped.

AYou heard me, 0 he said with an ugly st takee. i Mi ndt
DNA from Saelle whil eonybhee wabats|l eepli dghavdeeps!| tded it
that has access to her in a private situation, well, outsigewpfdo he al most snarl ed. AThe

that DNA back, then they fried eéhab where they were holding it to destroy the computers they were
using. And right now, thirty thousand cloning vats are waiting over in the Alliance to be shipped into the
Imperium through a dummy corporation that traces back to the I1BI. They wagetgatlone Saelle,

Dahnai. They were going to makkmusand® f ¢l ones of her . You dondét order
vats for an isolated experiement. o

AYou can prove this, Jason?o

Aiwhen Cybiés done raking it oéoéuttaof prloeier i maionhreame |
also found outthafouor dered spies to Karis to steal biogenic un

She blushed furiously, her entire face turning an instant and brilliant shade of violet.

AThat 6s how t hey snuck i butddythem o gefbiofeaidsraayivayd he gr o wl
they coul d. Wel | bGememteoms docthey? dSo, mftert theywneerrily stokeisdmie o u t
biogenic units, they were going to clone up Generations to use them, all nicely controlled by IBI
mindbendersYou 6d better take a good fucking |l ook under €
it is, |l 6m so pissed off 1 6&m tempted to blow thei [

il dve recalled Saell e. | t Osafeom Draconi,aat evenwouf uc ki ng c | e
palace 0 he said with a hiss. iThey got a mindbender in
heranywhere hat someone | &m not absolutely sure about has
immediately seahg off of Karis. No more outside workers are coming in, and most likely a bunch that are
already here wildl be kicked out . thidsdnd ed e Ision kyionug ctahned t:
open it without my authorization. And | swear to God, i&ihif | find out you had direct knowledge of
this cloning scheme, | 6m gonna duckimgs e nos eDreascso,roa haen ds al i
hot Il vy. AThen 1611 fucking declare war on the | mperi.l
the ground. To th&ucking groundl 0

Adl didnodt ! thatlod ds hnee vperrotdeost e d . AfJason, you think |
against me, I wouldndét be needyotunliogs t hrone ten years f

AYou obviouslyt dwdedtyohiokdefedhwahe | Bl to steal b
sl amming his hands on his desk, making Dahnai flinch.
words! ltrustedyou, and this is how you repay me? Doesaaumean anythingo you, or was it just a
way you could get your c¢claws into me?0

She |l ooked al-Jnmmsdn,stlr 9k efakkdé ifinflggoi n | ove with youl!od
protested. AYoubve touched me, you know my mind! Y

Awel |, | ngbute sesn d vagapees§iosr he heai d with a hiss. AOr i s
matter more?o0



She looked away almost unconsciously. Thatevastywher e she st ood, but she wo
AYou promi sed me Saell e wo Uotalthiigg and abbuethe onyloing 6 ve pr or
| 6ve gotten out of t hem we rtrestybueanymordy Brmpress.aYodproveds gu st .
that swinging your tits around matters more to you than anything like love, or honor, or integrity. You
payed me, Empress, and | &é&dm not giving you the chance
what Cybi uncovers sent to you as soon as she gets it. | highly suggest you purge the IBI, your Majesty,
because theyo6r e op asohyouringructionstarsd krbwledgef Until the sumitul n

dondt want to talk to you again, 06 he said flatly. fi
in for me. l 81l just be too pissed affite. beNbw, any
excuse me, your Majesty, | have to track down and arrest the nine spies you sent to Karis carrying psychic
clones. Expect them back in a couple of days, 0 he sz
reply.

Jasorleaned back in his chair, feeling a little trembly after that. He was honestly, rightfully pissed off,
and he felt he had the right to be furious after he caught her spying. But she was going to have her own
problems, he could see, mainly with the IBithey could get a mindbender into the palace, if they were
wilingt o send a mindbender into the palace without Dahn:
of a fucking lot. Dahnai needed to focus on that particular problem at the momiéstesthought Jason
was too pissed to talk to her, she could put her attention where it needed to be.

Stilléthis did not bDatina sowedné whose Vefy selatofpoweru | dnét trust
depended on Jason and the Karinnes, then his house taldytngstno oneoutside of the Kimdori.
Dahnai 6s spying and this attempt to clone Saell e sho\

The House of Karinne could not stay in the Imperium. They could not be theoretically subject to the
commands of an Empredsely could not trust. And Dahnai had proved to him that no matter how much
she loved him, she would always be Brapresdefore she was hanmudoraé and per haps he was n
to believe that she could be anything other than what she was. As muchasdhddoFaey yet hated
what they were, it was all personified in his relationship with Dahnai, a woman he loved, but could not help
but be what she was.

And he couldndét allow his house to be subject to he
Shewasthe Empress, after all. She could dadhashe coul@rder him to open the Stargate, and she
could bring her entire navy to Karis and park it in

not without committing treason. The only thing stopping her was the fact that she tgpereded him.
But this proved that when she didnét need him anymor ¢
her love for him be damned.

He looked out the window, out over the dim light of-pieavn shimmering over the rippling surface of
thesea, lost in grim thought. It would be very dangerous to break away from the Imperium, for many
reasons. Dahnai would fight to keep the Imperium intact, and the other empires would fall on Karis like a
pack of wolves if the threat of Dahnai draggingthenp er i um i nto it was removed. Y
things they way they were. He had worried about the day when some future Empress would demand of the
future ruler of Karinne that they turn wasendt heir seq
just a worry, that was a mathematical certainty.

But hedéd have to find a way to do it. The House of
I f the Consortium or the Benga didndét widfem t hem out ,
ally today, or forced into a civil war against the Imperium itself when that future Empress declared the
Karinnes outlaws for refusing to hand over their secrets. He had to find some way to free the Karinnes
from the Imperium without starting tleourth Civil War, and without having a battle fleet of Skaa or
Alliance vessels trying to get past the interdictor.

And he knew for a fact that no Generation, not even him, would ever be safe anywhere but on Karis.

He sat there in dark reverie, knowir@at today, he had reached a crossroads in his life. After today,
nothing would ever be the same, and the fate of the house itself hinged on just exactly what he finally
decided to do. The fate of millions rested on his shoulders, and he had to mad&t dhecksion he could.

He couldnét | et his people down, nor codhod he ignor
therightd to live their lives without the constant fear of ending up on some lab table.

Today, things were going to change. Wieetthey changed for the better, that, only time would tell.
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Vesta, 25 Demaa, year 1327 of th& @eneration, Karinne Historical Reference Calendar
295" Street and Oceanside, Karsa, Karis

Nobody recognized himéand to him, that was a good t
Jason Karinne alked slowly along a pathway between the Trentor Building and Bayside Arena, a
small sports and entertainment complex that hosted a planetary AAA league bachi team, a Karsa Local
League soccer team, a Karis Planetary League baseball team, and had fist@ayad began hosting a
Shioverzikiteam. Jason walked without escort, without guards, his hands in the pockets of his jeans, just
wandering aimlessly as he thought.
Hedéd been thinking for two days now,erteemdetrmnl y one t
of the Confederate Council that would begin tomorrow. Yeri had been all but doing his job for the last two
days, both organizing the summit and sitting in for him during council meetings, while Chirk and Brall
more or less ran his office aheir own.
He was thinking treason.
That was the nepolite way to think about it. The simple fact of the matter was, he was thinking of
the survival of his house, the survival of the Generations, the very existence of Cybi, and preserving the
essencef what it meant to be a Karinne at its fundamental level. The people around him had embraced
that essence and hadcomeKarinnes. The Faey woman with a teenage son, on their way to the public
beach on the far side of the arena. The quartet of hurdamiting hoverboards on the vehicle lane beside
the wal kway. The Shio woman in a KMS traineeds uni f
by a pair of Kizzik nobles and their four w@wrones, whi
because Kizzik were pretty big and their legs stuck out from their sides a little bit. A laughing Faey child
pulling a gravkite, watching with joyful eyes as the toy spun and whirled at the end of its string, getting
further and further away fromheapr ent s as t hey |l ooked at a projected h
way they were dressed, they might be going to the theater on this warm, glorious late afternoon. They were
his people, they were Karinnes, they had left behind their old allegiandekeir old loyalties and had
embraced the drearhis dream, of prosperity, and above all, peace.
He walked slowly, others passing him by from behind, his hands in his pockets and his head down.
Aya would Kill him for not paying attention to his surralimgs, for not wearing his armor, for not having

his guardséat |l east she would when she got down off
until he stripped her out of her armor in about two seconds and parked her, Shen, and Suri dothe roo
Myl eenabés house, which was of Faey architecture and |

meant well, and it was her job to keep him safe, but from time to time, she had to be reminded that he
really wasthe one in charge. He neededliink, and what was most important, he needed to be among
those who would be affected by his decisions the most
to make welreasoned decisions. His girls in the KMS were the most at risk in the immiediiass but it
was these people, the backbone of the House Karinne, who were the most vulnerable and the most
dependent on him to make careful decisions. They depended on him for stability and security, they had
shown faith in him by coming to a dead maand breathing life back into it. They needed him, and he
needed to be among them when he made decisions that would mogtheffect
He sat on a public bench and put his elbows on his knees and his hands under his chin, his mind going
in circles. Hehad to secede from the Imperium, thosgleedanay be too harsh a term for it. The reality
was, he needed to find some way to either convince or force Dahnai to let the Karinnes go, but at the same
time, he had a duty to her to help keep the ImperiumiseaB whi ch woul dndt be for | ong
and the Shovalles saw one of the houses obitliensuccessfully break away from the Imperiuthis
better to rule in hell than serve in heawsas a saying that many Faey Grand Duchesses would adopt for
their own, and it might cause the complete dissolution of the Imperium as house after house broke away so



its Grand Duchess could be the Empress of her own territory. And with their new Torsion weapons, the
Alliance and the two Skaa governments might detidtry to capture the renegade houses for themselves,
which would turn the Faey into a subject race scattered across three or four different empires.

It was the mother of all cateh 2 6 s . Jason couldndét | eave tehe | mper i
couldndét stay in it either. Either -widewar,bréék ed t he Fol
risked the future of the Generations, and the House Karinne as a whole.

Dahnai éhe sighed. He | oved hehelpbutbeavholsbewwasy her deerpg

and she was the Empress Dahnai Merrane of the Imperium, ruler of 77 star systems and a woman that got

what she wanted, no matter who she had to trample under her boots to get it. He had expected her to send

spies, but it still het. It was still a betrayal of his trust, that she would still do something like even when

she knew, knew better than most anyone, exactly why he did what he did. She was a very intimate part of

his life even with them living on different planets, andvpoow he could no longer trust her. It was clear

that she would not stop until she got what she wanted, and it was just a matter of time before she was

buying cloning vatéerself He |l oved her, but WheDabmiwaschmadnger. | et t hat
Dahnai was now the enemy.

But, despite that, he did have obligations here. F
it, and he wouldndét | et the other empires attack the
much as héated what Dahnai was and everything she represented, he still lowedntiag still loved the
Faeypeople and he was hopeful that someday he woul dndt he
away from them anymore. But until that time, he had tdbethe that would protect the Faey, from
themselves f needs be. I't was his duty to Dahnai and to t

just the lives of the people in his house that were at stake. He had too much compassiqeépitoé
the Imperium to make them suffer, but he also had a sacred duty to his house tdgrpesxgile.

So, how does one peaceably secede from a government that would fight to prevent it? How does one
secede from a government that depends on you for iks $fability without having things dissolve into
civil war?

That was the question that had tormented him for two straight days. He had gone over idea after idea,
studied it, considered it, then discarded it. It was a conundrum, mainly because heeogdvay to
break away from the Imperium without either causing Dahnai to declare war on him, or having the entire
Imperium descend into chaos. Even if she agreed to it, the Highborns would see that as weakness, and it
would cause them to either secedent the Imperium themselves or challenge Dahnai for the throne.

And there were more personal i mplications for him.
was going to do about Shya. He had made it clear that his boys would marry who thexy twamarry,
and God, did Ranaverwant t o marry Shya. I't was almost | ike the
Dahnai 6s daughter, an | mperi al Ptrastherehesshevanid t her e ws:

fifteen and came to the housPahnai had some nine more years to prepare little miss High Princess
Duchess Consort Shya Merrane Karinne to do her mother a solid and steal biogenic secrets for her. But,
Rann had chosen Shya far beyond the piece of paper that betrothed them, anétle wanb honor Rannods
wi shes. He didnét want to break his promise to his ¢
Then there was Raisha. He might indeed start a war when he came for his daughter when she was
born, and he fully intended to do just that. When Raisha was born, he would hie tiade=her home to
Karis, to the home of the Generations, to the only place in the entire universe where she could grow up
safe Not even her title as a Princess would protect her from some diabolical maniac out there with a
needle and dreams of empira&.s much as he didno6t | iweaponstbatwah i nk of t h
exactly what they were. Jason Karinne was the most powerful weapon on the planet, because he had the
strongest merge among all the Generations with Cybi, able to exert thesgpeater due to their
compatibility. There were many out there that would treat them like weapons instead of people, assets,
things The rogue elements in the IBI had wanted an army of Generations, wanted thousands of living
weapons. Though what theyutd do could be used in a military manner, they were sentient living beings,
and they were nokeapons Making the rest of the sector see beyond what they could do atitesdfer
who they were would be virtually impossible. Every government in thersextept for the Urumi and
several outside the sector had all tried to steal Kal
consistent.
To the rest of the universe, they werembers To Jason, they wepeople
And there were far more peephvolved in this. The Karinnes theoretically had five systems in the
Imperium on top of Karis. Terra and the four Urumi protectorates were under Karinne control, and those



systems were part of the Imperium. Dahnai would fight to keep the Imperiutheéotpecause of the
critical assets those systems brought in. Terra was the second largest food producer in the Imperium,
Aurigae was also a major food producer shipping food to both the Imperium and the Collective, and the
heavy metals they were bringiitgfrom Bellar was powering the military buildup without draining the
| mperial treasury. Jason had made a promise to hi
deal with SkéVrae, who might conwnaofitkeir t he seces
agreement éand he knew fully wel!/l how the Ur umi
to do was run afoul of SkodéVrae, particularly at
were only going to be in the Impem for thirty years, for those thirty years, they whig peopleand he
had a responsibility to them.
They were the very people that surrounded him at that moment. He looked up and leaned back on the
desk and watched them pass by. Most of them waeg and Terrans, but with the opening of the house to
other races, they were starting to appear in more than just the KMS. Just watching a moment, he saw a
Shio, a Skaa, and a Baari walk by. They were people that were depending on him to do hitobest
make sure that the dream they had when they joined House Karinne would still be there after all this
insanity finally settled down. These were not soldiers, they were the common citizens. They were factory
workers, shop owners, employees, entrepnenedventurers and explorers, those who wanted to breathe
life back into a ruined world and restore gwilof the planet, as the Pastiamarmight say.
It was one of those newcomers that sat on the bench beside him, studying a map on a handpanel,
looking quite perplexed. He was a Colonist, about five feet tall and with that big head, large black eyes,
and grayish skin that many Terrans equated to the aliens from all the UFO conspiracies. He was young as a
Colonist went, his black hair thick and cragpshort on his head, his lofiggered hands wrapped around
the small computer. Colonists had vision issues with the sgdéesl projection holograms they used in the
interfaces to provide a visual interface, so they carried a handpanel, usuallytdiriked interfaces.
AExcuse me, citizen, I 6m Il ooking for the Jentra buil
passingly decent Faey. fiMi ght you know where it is?q
iltds two blocks that way, onethkaskteft idbtJhaasnar &pek
in the plaza in front of it, you canét miss it.o
Many thanks, 06 he said, shifting the map on his har
ason | eaned back on the bench. AMi nd answering a
My, ceotmé ndigplied, | ooking at Jason as he |l ooked
rieséwhich wasndédt that high compared to many buil
shorter.
AWhy did you join Housko&kRrmngnepo Ja¥bat abkedghttyod
AWhy, opportunity, o he replied. AThis house is goi
technology or this war. | could tell when | spoke to the recruiters that they were looking for people with
drive, with vision, with determination. | imagined an entire planet filled with peoplewaintedto be
here, who would roll up their sleeves and work hard for something important to them, and | could see that a
planet like that would be a wonderful placebte . 0
AiThe Colonies arendt a bad place,d Jason protested.
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men and women advising him on the council. The Col o1
most respected civilizations in the seabor.

AOf course it is. I l ove the Colonies, but as muct
somethingspecial And that is what Karis is to me.o

iSomet hing special, o Jason mused, |l ookYogbdue at t he

given me something to think about. 0
The nameless Colonist wandered off to find the Jentra building, leaving Jason on the bench, watching
the people of Karsa wander by, continuing to ponder what he knew would be one of the most important
decisiongof his life; not seceding from the Imperium, thawhe would do it. He sat there as the sun went
down, as the walkway lights flickered on, as faint cheers came from the sports arena as a game was being
played, as a pair of armored police officers walkgdsending between themselves. He continued to
worry over the problem, discarding several more ideas, sitting there with his chin propped on a hand like
The Thinkesstatue. He needed to come up veitimethingbecause he had to get this out in the opiém
Dahnai before the summit. He didndt want to spring
forgive him, so he had set a deadline with himself to have a decision and the framework of a plan in place



by tomorrow. The summit was in 12 dago he really had that long to have a plan in place, but he also
needed time to work out the specifics.
At least Dahnai took his warning to heart. Even now, there was a massive purge going on over in the
IBI. Dahnai was raking her claws through thérenorganization, and she was out for blood. Half the
upper management had been fired, several arrested, and she was subjecting the mindbenders to telepathic
examination to ensure just where their loeeythat.t i es | ay
They were shamed, humiliated, and infuriated when they found out that the 1Bl had slipped a mindbender
into the palace and attacked the foster father of t hi
one of the few telepaths in the lemum capable of putting a mindbender in her place. They were going to
make sure thateverhappened again, because it reflected on them that someone had managed to get past
their security and attack a highly sensitive target within the palace, evevag theoretically someone on
their own side. Then again, the history of the Faey was filled with betrayals that required the Empress to
live in a fortress in the first place. Faey fought each other even more enthusiastically than they fought
outsiders.
He was still there, sitting on that bench, when the game let out, causing a swell of pedestrians down
the walkway. He ignored them for the most part, at least until a Terran man sat down beside him, a young
man wearing a baseball cap with the KarsaBembs s hi el d on it, which was the |
what ever are you doing out here?0 a female voice ask:¢
He blinked and looked up, and was almost surprised to see Molly Fletcher, with lan sitting beside him.

She was leaning over him, andfrom¢ | ooks of her, l'ife on Karis had bec¢
of her weight and her hair was much shorter now, but she had the same kind face. She put a hand on his
shoul der . AWhere are your guards?o0

ARi ght now? Probablny mar eami hicrhg wfaiirrd ngnd ocoutme t o g
in English, which made lan burst out laughing. lan was a tall, handsome young man now, 21 years old and
taking Academy courses in business management. Molly and lan owned a little coffee Steparth
side of Karsa, he recalled, Molly taking her restaurant management skills to their natural conclusion, since

she was also a pretty good cook. AiThey didndt want 1
with them.o

AWel |l , drehfrggedagsoe tthson, seriously, o Molly chided him.

il feel completely safe being on the streets of Kar

AYoubr e usafbeutf rtohner eds a war going on, Jagtlhab n. Even
managed to sneak onto the planet, it was all over the news. They told us to look out for anyone acting
unli ke themselves, since the energy thing couldno6t pi
there could be another one around with gun, 6 she said, her arm on his shol
him stand.

Al dm fine, Mol Iy, o he said firmly. Al just needed

iNo, ifine,d sJ amod n . I f vy oyouwyolecould @ttleasivtbinkbout evdryoaehwbou t
|l oves you. |l 6m sure theydre worried sick, you wande:l

Good old Molly, always knowing exactly how to go foc
it. He sat back down, then surprised her by almostgilngcher onto the bench beside him, on the far side
of 1l an. AAnswer me a question, o he told her.

AwWhat ? You want to ask questions?0 she flared, the
when Jason shatched it away with his power, then pothiei hand.

AHumor me, 0 he said evenly. AwWhat would you do if
start a war no matter how you choose? Choice A star:t
possibly afford another war. Choice B pttie war off for maybe a hundred years, but makes it ten times
worse for waiting. I f you had to choose between wat
for fifty times more deaths after youdre gone, which

Molly gave him asurprised look, then fell silent. lan too fell silent, looking at the ground, and both of
them spent more than couple of moments in thought as

il 6d say that both choices landimalkysadand 1 6d be [ ooking

AThere is no choice C. 0

ATheawayss choice C, Jason. Usually thereds a choice
Legion, 0 | an said wi ahiaysoound gnothieswayntgdo soanéthing that yobody A Y o u

elsetbught of . lItds why we won the war against Trillan



here 6 he said seriously. AThere candt just be an A or

way . That 6s something else you taught me. 0

Jasongve the young man a long |l ook, then he chuckl ed
good advice, lan, 0 he said, then he stood up. Al t hi
my probl em. Who won the game?o0

l an |l aughmier s iThiex Bobo five. 0

AfGood, 0 he replied, then he put his hands in his poc
like any other resident of Karsa.

It took him about an hour to get back home, and in that time, riding two subways and a startede
thinking about the problem as an siagiegribler. dfihe I't was a
compartmentalized the issue into individual units, he could find solutions to those unitized problems, which
would give him an overall solutionlt was like annealing components onto a moleculartronics board.

There were all kinds of different little things you had to do, but when you finished, it all looked nice and
neat and organized and it worked perfectly.

So, breaking it up into differemtroblems, he foresaw six different individual issues that he had to
address.

The first was the keeping Dahnai on the throne after he was gone.

The second was ensuring that the I mperium didno6t fI

The third was bringig Raisha to Karis.

The fourth was what to do about Shya.

The fifth was making sure that noboelgetried to mess with the Imperium after the Karinnes pulled
out.

The sixth was figuring out what the hell to do about Terra and the four Urumi systemseveno
Karinne systems but also critical parts of the Imperium.

And the seventh was ensuring the welfare of the house by making sure no other empire tried to attack
Karis once they were no longer any part of the Imperium.

He sat on the subways and consadkeindividual solutions to those seven problems. Some he could
find easy solutions to, but some were very tricky. He rode the tram consolidating those problems by
finding a common solution that would solve more than one problem. He then walked thioéksrfrom
the tram station to the gate of the strip, padding along as he considered how to apply those solutions in an
interconnected way that solved all seven problems. He was completely oblivious to the malevolent glares
from the guards as he cameaihgh the gate, though he did absently intercept Aya as she charged towards
him, hanging her in midair as he walked by, her legs kicking in futility and sending both emotions and
graphic impulses to beat Jason ddehavesehtalkMSufitctor | eavi ng
go get him and they both knew it. But she knew better, she knew when he gloatikiewas best to just
back off and shadow him from afar, as he was absolutely certain the guards had done. He had no doubt that
every city carera was tracking his every move, there was a dropship at high altitude with a battery of
cameras and sensors watching everything within ten blocks of him, and there was probably a few Wolf and
Gladiator units along with Marine units in position for ragdponse. Almost as an afterthought, he
dragged Aya along behind him, her stild]l hanging i n mi
the bench by hisyetree, which was really filling out, the canopy thickening and widening over the house.

He sat down and parked her on the bench beside him, then reached over and grabbed her arm, unlocking
her gauntlet from her vambrace.

Just get over ithe sent curtly after he took her gauntlet off, then he took her hand so they would have
completely personand intimate communication, at a level where not even Dera would be able to hear
them.

Ayads eyes widened in shock when Jason shared his t
Dahnai like few others did, even had insights into her that Jasehm 6 t |, and he needed her a
how to deal with this situation. He needed to know hovEtm@ressvould react, noDahnai Aya was
honestly not very surprised that Dahnai had tried to steal biogenics, and even tlwyaltfya had to
grudginglyadmit that in the face of what happened, that splitting the Karinnes away from the Imperium
might be the only way to protect Raisha and all the other Generations. Aya was flatly resistant to the idea
that Dahnai would use her own daughter as a guineduidf the IBI could get a mindbender into the
palace, it meant that not even the palace would be safe for Raisha. If someone wanted her bad enough,

t heffndad way to get at her. After all, theeyfhdri dndt nee



blood. Getting the stem cells around the stomach would be best for cloning, but sufficient DNA could be

harvested from a blood sample to produce viable clones.
For nearly an hour, they discussed the problem privately, holding hands, as Ayangdnez honest

advice, and he found that it was solid and dependable, just like her. They considered his individual

solutions to the seven issues, debated them, expanded the discussion to analyze how the seven issues would

interact, how the solution to ermight affect another. They finished up, Jason letting go of her hand, then

he leaned over and kissed her on the cheek gelnélyme go discuss it with Miaari and Zaee told her.

|l 6m sorry | scared you, but vyioherefomvwew me. You candt |
| m going to prove you sherepliadgvith ginoamusenmedtiwamedr n man, Yy ou

you what would happen i f you thpnkthidigoderon t hat | eash, J:
Usually 1 6d submit mysmel heeded o pgeniouéncderleyt Ayat t K

a decision that affects every living thing on this planet without being outwhiréhem, so they constantly

reminded me just what aTheyaras st ake. Il &m not the hou:
She gave him a stongok, then sighed and stood up. She took her gauntlet from him and put it back

on. Still, youwill be punished, Jason Tomorrow, you and me are going to have one of those talks you

really dondét 1i ke. Itds going to involve a paddl e.
Youdr e g osillywgaringginklanorkuith little lace ribbons tied all overhg replied as he

headed back to the hous¢.o u 6 | | |l ook even sillier spending about tv

Gladiator.

| can cheat too, Jason.

Nowherenearas good as | carhe replied dryly as he went back into his house.

He went up to his office, sat down, and called Miaari and asked her to come to his house. He then
beeped Zaa asking for an audience, then leaned back in his chair and turned it around to look over the
moorit ocean. [Cybi,] he called. A shimmer of light behind him heralded her forming her hologram, and
she floated over to the side of his chair and looked down. He conveyed the meat of his conversation with
Aya to her in about a seconfiVhat do you think]

[ think some of it will work, but ehelnswerel. we can s
[Everything will hinge on what she does.]
[l know, ] hesighedf | can onl y pvomaagl tkhnaotw snhoerbesEmphbasn s heds t he

especiallywhere it concerns the safety of her daughter.]
[When are you going to tell her?]
[Soon, after | have some solid ideas in place of what totaorgplied.[This isnota bomb | want to
drop on her during the conference. She needs to know as sooss#sgdout not until | have something |
can actually tell her.]
[True.]
Zaa finally got back to him, a full hologram of her forming on the other side of his desk. The
hologram moved around to the other side of his chair form Cybi and looked dowm.athi A Thi s must t r L
be i mportant, d she noted. iwhat decision have you r ¢
AThe House of Karinne candét stay in the | mperi um, L
emotionless voice. AOQur only protadtion diss jwsmp lae tma
time before Dahnai, or Sirri, or Sirribés daughter der
Alt is a matter that past Grand Duchesses pondered
snoop, 06 shel yt.ol diBwitm wiatlhmt he secret of the Generatio
consideration. o
ADo you think that Raisha wil!/l be safe in the palac
ANo. I do not. o
AThen itds time, 0 he repl i e datestake mhdynore tham that.eThes af et y ¢
safety of thesectoris at stake. The last thing any of us wants to see is ten thousand clones of Raisha grown
in a factory, meant to be the breeding stock for an army of Generations, which could flatten any other
military in the sector and turn whoever controls those Generations into a conqueror that nobody could stand
against, not evens That 6s what the | Bl wa dannedfliettlgmdoo do usi ng¢
that to mydaughter o6
iYou havree d otntse dientricacies of your decision?0o0
AFor the | ast two days, 0 he replied quietly. Al tF
Mi aari . o
ADahnai will not be pleased. o



Al know, but all we ¢
army of Generations would use it agaibDsthnaif i r
it past her, 0 he grunte
Al wi || be on Karis within an howmn,® she told h
He nodded. il ol be happy to have you, 0 he rep
Mi aar i had ifferent reaction when she arrive
inevitable, Jason, 0 she told him. i We 6 vtthe had man
entire galaxy knows about you, complete autonomy
iltds not gonna be easy, 0 he grunted.

ANot hing worthwhile is easy, my friend. 0

When Zaa arrived, they spent more than half the night deep in discussion and debat about d s
plan, sitting downstairs in the |living room rather 1t
worried about who might overhear what they talked about. Jason had learned over the years that Zaa
wasnodt just a powseruldr,iand the ené gersqgn towhoen Jasan sould take his most
difficult problems for good, solid advice. Of course, she ntldrhim what to do, she alwagsiggested
what to do. But more often than not, those suggestions were exactly what he ended.u dey went
over his seven individual problems and the solutions, and again discussed the ramifications and collateral
actions that would come about because of them. Zaa liked his solutions for some, was skeptical of others,
but she was adamantly agstihis solution for how to deal with Terra.

ANo, Jason, that would be a monumentally bad idea, ¢
served Jason coffee and Zaa hot chocolate, which she rather fancied.

AGo to bed, womanei tstheere schf. usl tddosnétotknavwehow t o mak
told her, swatting her on the butt as wi#hoegivevent b
Terra up, Denmot her . We just work around that i

AGi ving Téehrerra htoou saeeny ucstt wondt wor Rcademysdne t ol d
Terra, and the only reason many come there is because of the neutrality of the Karinnes. If you turn Terra
into a partisan system, the Academy is going to suffer. Unless you hoyeademy here to Karis, you
cannot relinquish Terra under any circumstances. But you cannot do that. Because everyone knows about
t he Generations, Karis must be a closed system.o

Jason frownedét hat was most | iikpylhandaverthésystem Jason ha
to Anya, because shedd proved over the years she was
completely within the rules Jason had set, and the Surrales were actually very welcome on Terra because of
their actions. Theeople of Terrdrustedthe Surrales, and would have accepted being transferred to
Anyabds house.

AiSo, you think that making Terra a neutral sy

She nodded. AThe United Nat i ovesithb@apet.pThey ved t
maintain their treaties and contracts with the Imperium, but are considered a neutral planet in all political
matters. Dahnai lets them handle their own affairs, and they continue to produce food for the Imperium.
As long as the fans meet the quotas, she has no reason to complain. It also provides a neutral meeting
place for the various governments that doesndt have t
she noted dryly. Al n addiitiyom,f itthef Actaldemyr &i nf or c e

iwhat about defense?0

ANo government would be crazy enoughthigsqgeuadrant t ack Terr
We simply maintain the TES and interdiction, that should be defense enough. In fact, it might be to our
advantage, Jason. If we approach the governments of the Confederacy, we can turn Terra and the TES into
the entry point foall interdicted systems. Trade for the entire sector would flow through Terra, which
brings your birth planet profit and prestig&nd that importance will also protect it, even above the
presence of the Academy. It will bring the various governments of the sector closer together, sharing a

a n h o pAdter allsthetorfe ¢hait clendisehats e es t he ¢
st I f itdéds not Dahnai doing
d.
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common way station, and that will promote trade and |
ABut it al so ,aswelhas amwears oflpayalyzing thenemtaeksector by creating an

irresistible target to attack, 0 Jason countered. i We
Awell, we start the conferences in twelvea,dlays, anc

Zaa said with a slight smile. iwWe cannot piggyback t

will need a system of trade routes when the interdictors are turned on, and a Stargate hub can provide it.
Dahnai makes a lot of money leasingt ber Stargates, with proper protections for them of course, and
everyone is safely behind their interdictors, at least as long as they want them. Besides, the Karinnes



becoming autonomous would reassure some of the more skittish members of the Confbdethey are
not handing over the keys to their empires to Dahnai
AThat s a good point,d Jason agreed with a nod. fi
interdictors after we beat the Conegetridofthen, 0 Jason gr
interdictors when she has Stargates, it makes the Imperium absolutely unassailable by every other
government in the sector. SkéVrae has the same good
been this happy with their lone systdehind an interdictor and the only way in defended by both us and
their ships. And the cooperation between the Imperium and the Collective can be a model for how we
expand things into the Empire, the Federation, the Alliance, the Colonies, and thédrefpud as long as
we can create a viable means of moving goods and ensure sovereignty and security for the systems, the
other governments will probably want to keep their interdictors as well. They provide an almost
impenetrable defense to protect thwistems from attack, and that fits in with my overall plan to keep the
peace in the sector. You know, just maintain the Confederate treaties even after the war is over. All the
militaries working together, which also prevents any one military froningeginy bright ideas, and the
governments working in a common logistic system for trade, which increases r y poofitabiity
ANow you are thinking |ike a galactic power player,
something out that turns iira into a neutral system but it maintains its contracts with Dahnai. You need to
discuss these things with Secretary Kim, since this is a serious issue for Terra. As the leader of Terra in

your stead, he should have a say. o0
il know. | ht ml Hehemfbrwahe summit, d Jason answer ec
this before then. Il 81l give him a call and ask him t
iGood. Now what about the Urumi systems?0

il was thinking that wekfleavelthqugshtbenwaygpltbéyt:
broken my wor d t othaSktdéu\riade ,0 ahned sinbom treotinicallysécédeo se syst e
along with the Karinnes, but they malntaln all their contracts, treaties, and agreements vaiettienh.

I n a way, theydll b e | threeoftud instedd efivoef us. yisetkarimmes willj ust bet we
administer, the Imperium maintains its contracts, and the deal we made with the Urumi will be upheld. But

I 611 need Sk dodtraaythibgswe dopmihrthmse ayistenss. This invoherpeople, even if
theydre theoretically not wunder her control right no\

Zaa took a drink, then sighed. AThe other probl ems

A know 0 Jason al mo e awagstadirg overdraisha, Bdnmatharn Andthemo st s e
t herebds hya As much as | | ovieusthéat ohcetsbedsr Ranhi
wi f e. When Iom gone, that puts her | iltyteheral |y in bed
mot her , it could undermine everything we do. o0

iFa yarearace with Iittle loyalty, Jason, 0 Zaa S
interest, and Shya is virtualbbsessewvith marrying Rann. If she has to choose betweemRad her
mot her , she wil/l choose Rann. After all, shebds the
sit on the throne. If she is smart, she marries the future ruler of an independent house, and becomes a ruler
in her own right. o

Jasorsighed and nodded. Thiatwhat a Faey would do.

Ailt also solidifies the ties between the | mperium a&
creates an alliance that neither side would willingly break. Sirri and Rann would be attacking their own
families if either ever declared war, i f wedre talki:i

Al know, I figured that that might be a selling poi
back on the couch. br@Bkemawialyofigloml tihet é mg etr @ um, I do
with Dahnai. | want us to be strong allies, just be in a position where | can protect the houser.fram

AfAgain, it all hinges on Dahnai, 0 Zaa noted.

Jason nodded. i Wreacefdileor it taris inte theaHourth Qivél W/ar depends

entirely on her, butwo nbdet t al ked out of this, 0 he declared gri ml\
stake, and ités my sol emn dnlywaylcanadhikp rooft etcaa dmy ipte.odp | e.
There was a shuffling from the stairs, and Rann came around and into view. He was wearing a

nightshirt and was yawning, but gave a sl eepy smile t
declared.
AwWell, good mothen®Ranha, poshel smiled as she picked

ABut ités the middle of the night. Whyever are you



il got thirsty, and heard you talking, o he answer ed
shoulder . hefilmg didtl er @d | Ityhet ni ght ?0

AYes, 0 Jason answered. Al think a certain someone

inwel |, maybe a |little. Shyabés going to come to my

Al n two weeks, yowmsialllmpsa hdsandt edsdodw kfelyed up
week. 0o

Sheyés face appeared as a hologram against the back
AWel |, hell o Rann. 0

AHI, miss Shey! o he replied with a wave.

AwWhat 6s going on, Shey?0

AYou said you wanted to be informed when we had nev
of PR106 has begun. The invasion of 8R8 wi | | begin in twenty minutes. 0

AAny casualties?o0

AOnly light damage to f i vemcorpietlghysdurpssk andsheyhade r e d . f

very little defense. The KMS has the system effectively blockaded, and the ground assault is underway at
this moment. o
Al think we should move up to
Rann back to bed and meet you 't
toothy smile, making Rann laugh when she tickled his sides.
Though hedd wanted to invade t wo dgayzzagaum, unfortu
attack then she expected because they didndt have th
systems. Once she had that, she organized a plan, then they had to wait for optimal conditions. The Imxi
were very capable at rigfighting, with eyes that were very effective in low light situations, so they
waited for day cycle to coincide at the capitols of all three inhabited planets in those two systems, causing a
nearly 30 hour delay in the invasion. His girls could fightight as well, but the sheer bravado of a direct
assault in broad daylight sent the message to the Imxi that the KMS had little but utter scorn for their
military capabilities.
Jason did just that, moving up to his study but leaving the door unlockeud.different holo screens
popped up around his desk, and Cybi joined him, sitting on the edge of his desk as he watched a tactical
holo of troop disposition, another of naval ship deployment, and camera feeds from his marines who were
boiling out of theirdropships at that very moment. The Imxi had responded with tanks and infantry, but
they were firing ion weapons. The Teryon shields on a Gladiator, which his riggers rarely used since they
were useless against pulse and Torsion weaponry, made itlyiftoaiune to those weapons, and the
Crusader armor his marines wore was able to stand up to multiple hits from ion blasts, which gave his girls
formidable protection from enemy fire. But that didi
camera feeslof entire squads of Imxi defenders as well as fleeing civilians just drop to the ground in large
swaths as the mindstrikers in the marine units did their jobs. There were telepathic techniques for attacking
entire groups of people, very advanced ondslegpath attacking a@reainstead of anind, but it wasnot
something that the lay Faey learned in primary school. It was mindstriker training, a military application of
talent taught to those telepaths who specialized in using their talent in battlenifdstrikers mixed in
with his marine units, added to the talent of the other soldiers, simply withered any resistance, leaving it
laying unconscious on the ground or running screaming in circles with two of their four arms holding their
heads. His mame units just marched right up the street, knocking out, subduing, or outright controlling
anyone that dared challenge them, to the point where a large contingent -gaslagkmxi, dominated by
marines, marched in front of them like puppets, demomsgréte utter futility of the Imxi getting within
five kathra of a Karinne Marine as well as forming a moving shield of friendly soldiers that made firing at
the marines hard to do without the | mxides.hat werenot
There was some fighting, however, when the Consort.i
construction crews and other technical workers rather than dedicated infantry. They were wearing armor
pieces over t heir ooktheosankead tieey didros thetinfaatty undsiJasondhad sden
when they retook the Federation and Alliance, and t he
soldiers to hit KMS soldiers. The mindstrikers simply pulled back and used the Imxi theatkairto
attack the bugs, softening them up for when the marines and the Gladiators rolled in and mopped up, done
with Gladiators and Wolf fighters. The bugs didnét |
the KMS destroyed all the Imxabks, the bugs had no heavy armor or weaponry to try to counter the KMS.
Besides, the Faey had turned the Imxi soldiers against them, letting them stay safely behind the hard shields

your studlpuso you car
er t

u
h e. I rarely get (

r
[



while they made the Imxi do the fighting for them. Using that tadte KIMS swarmed over the
Consortium bugs in about fifteen minutes, collected up their Torsion rifles, then marched onward.

It took his marines only about half an hour to conquerlPR6 6 s capi t ol after destroy
Consortium garrison, leaving behind g swath of unconscious Imxi and dead bugs.
Andthatwas what made the Faey so fucking dangerous. T

Gladiators or their pulse rifles, it was their talent. And he had some of the best mindstrikers in the fucking
galaxyin his Marine Corps.
Jason checked out the aftermath. The navy had destroyed the shipyardE0étatRer than capture
them, leaving burning hulks of mostly finished ships and a huge debris field of docks and support stations,
some of which was fing into the atmosphere to burn up. The secondary space stationlf6RiRs in
three pieces, with equipment as well as quite a few Imxi bodies floating around theuplisedion. One
of the three pieces was tumbling out of orbit, and would hiatir@sphere in just a matter of minutes,
probably blown downward by the explosive decompression when a particle beam cut it in half. That same
decompression was what had blown all that unsecured debris and Imxi out into space around the station.
Thebeam didnét | ook to hit anything volatile enough to
pieces in almost eerily good condition, with the bulkheads and decks of its internal structure quite visible,
almost like an opened dollhouse. Imxi damage cdmias never meant to counter something being cut in
halfd no damage controlwas, redllywhi ch seal ed the fate of every | mxi i
pressure suit. If they were in pressurized compartments within the station and no help came fbethe
faced a slow death from either asphyxiation or starvation. But, KMS recovery units were already moving
towards the remains of the station, theydéd take the :
intelligence and anything that mightb usef ul |, mainly samples of | mxi tech
core, and samples of their armor and weapons for future study.
PR-88 took nearly two hours to conquer by ground, because they had three inhabited planets in the
system, but it took athf about ten minutes to secure by space. Ditmamerled a task force of 17 ships
into the system and wiped out the very weak defenses there, sirg@ Ww&s well within Imxi territory and
they probably never dreamed anyone would attack it. All theyvead orbital stations and some defense
satellites carrying missiles. The ships split up to attack all three planets at the same time, the interdictor
being taken in to planet two, which was the only-aoable planet there. It was an airless, barrek aoc
little bigger than Mercury that the Imxi mined for metals, and Sioa had made no plans to take that planet by
ground forces. Fighting to get into their domes might shatter them and kill everyone inside, so they just
blockaded off the planet, tligreame parked by the interdictor to protect it. Planets three and four, on the
other hand, already had dropships descending into the atmospheres. Those two planets were one of the
most rare cosmic phenomenon in the galaxy when it came to planets, theydeeldeplanet system of
two planets virtually the same size that orbited each other even as they orbited around the star. There was
no fixed planet and orbiting planet, each planet orbited an imaginary axis created by their velocity and
gravitational pull the two planets spinning around that point, eclipsing each other from the star at regular
intervals. Such systems u 9laretlastgd mweh maretilah a couple &ft abl e t |
million years, but those two planets were perfectlylstabtheir unusual orbit. For that matter, such
systems usually tore each other apart while the planets were forming.
Both planets were almost tempting to keep. Pl anet
gravity, and .972 pressure, wherergafour was .97 gravity and 1.01 pressure. Both had the exact same
atmospheric composition, well within tolerances, and both planets were dedicated to farming, most likely
feeding the vast majority of the Imxi systems. Jason, Cybi, and Zaa watchezpasteof PRLO6
happened on both planets, as Karinne Marines dominated, knocked out, or drove crazy the Imxi militias
that opposed them. Marines took planet three in little more than an hour, and took planet four literally
without firing a single shot.

My r i and Sheyds faces appeared on a hologram after
Jason. PRBB8 is secured. 0

ifiGood work, o0 Jason replied. ANow kick Maggie in th
paralyze Imxi shippingir oughout their entire territory Strangl e

AEasily done, 06 Myr. nodded, then the hologram of he

ilt comes down to how attached the | mxi are to thei

AAny del ay we can caueset tihem iime awe eandbn i mge  t hde nrhadt
grimly.



ANow t hen, I think wedve talked enough, Jason. I e
therebés little reason for me to go home nos, 0 she nof
going to be very hyper tomorrow. Youobl | need your r ¢

He passed a hand over his face. oniYoudre right. I

iNo, Il 61l stay in the guest room, otosefueedivamy,| i ed, st ¢
cousin. I think | can 6é6rough ité for the night, as

AfiDonot go all Dahnai on me, Denmot her, 06 he said, w

iGood night, Jason. Sl eep well, 0 s hoetJasamtventn e d . She

through the door to his bedroom, where Jyslin was sleeping He sat on the edge of the bed and scrubbed his
face with his hands, worrying a bit over his girls over in the PR sector, now occupying hostile planets to

draw the Imxi back to thehome territory and foment discord between them and the Consortium, but

dreading 1325 and the arrival of Dahnai. He just hoped they could get through the party before Dahnai had

her explosion, he didndét want to ruin Rannds day.
Jyslin stirred on the bedhen he felt her arm drape over his shoulder, pulling herself against his back.
ltds about ti me. Whatdés going on, |l ove?
I guess | can tell you now, |l ove. | 6ve made my dec
And?
Webre seceding from the | mperi um.
There was a long silence, thiker hand gripped his opposite shoulderf you t hink itds what
to do, love.

I t 6 s Wwdvetotdo,eeeplied grimly.| 6 m j ust trying to figure out how
try to make her wunderstand nweerdiounnd.t wéen tj utsot sceavnebrt thie

control . Not now. What happened with Saelle just c:i
will be my daughter
She wondét accept it, Jason. Shedol |l fight.
Shewahti o fi ght , Jytontosabno,ad when her assstayimgpos that throne is
directly because of me. I tds not Siane Gettihgbomiframo r r i ed ab «
under Dahnai will be theasyp ar t . Making sure the e¢anthdother | mperi um d
houses sees a house successfully break away, thatods
And thatodéds why shedol |l fight.

| have a plan for thathe assured her, patting her arm.

And what would that be?

Easy. The House Kar i nnteharsi tsye,c ebdutn gi tférso ns tDalhln ag odisn
and call when she needs us. Say, to put down an insurrection from another noble house. And besides, Jys

my | ove, dondét f orget t hngetdictedvNetraghiptansove anywhdame t he | mper |
Dahnai 6s territory without her approval. And i f she
designs of breaking away will find itself walled off and starved of supplies and food. Semoya or Emae
mightwantto break away, butiftheydoihte y 6 | | be stranded, i solated, and s
supply interdictors to Dahnai, she maintains an iron grip on every system in the Imperium.

She was quiet a long moment, then she chuckled sdtigver.

| just need to make Dahnai see reasod ant focus on the negativée sent wearily.

What about Shya?

|l 6m | eavi ng herteglied.| dp hteo wRanrs, her, then 0811 do ever
betrothal. But again, thatds goi ng tanbumbshermipet on Dahn:
revoke it.

Give her a little credit, | ove. I think if you car

And thatdés ¢ besenhevanlgNawh,e itfriycdkky donét mind, my | ove,
s ome s | e daveryexthadsting cobipke of days.

Jyslin nuzzled the side of his neck, then started to pull his shifdpe n | et 8s get you undr e
tucked in so | can be your teddy bestre sent lightly.
I f | did half the thiwgs, tbodybeée edrgnoteddylyb & ékeodoe

which made her burst out laughing.
Some teddy bears have all the luck.
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The invasion of the Imxi systems had been a success.

So far, there was no visible reaction from either the Imxi or the Consortium, which meant that the
arguing was taking place behinlb®ed doors. The corvettes and gunboats were already terrorizing the
| mxi 6s shipping | anes, t-technolkgy hypesspateljuep éngimas. fTleey i ons of |
were so antiquated that they could barely toleaategravitational well disturbace, requiring Imxi ships to

get a serious distance away from the systemb6s star.
di stance that Saturn was from Terrads sun, if the sy:
even greater distans.

Such engines werend6ét just used by the | mxi. Many c
engines so old that the ship had to be all but out si

battered old freighter that brought Jasml the squad to Karis in the first place. That freighter had had to
all but leave the Draconis system, jump, then jump in at the very edge of the Karis system, because its jump
engines couldnodét tolerate t heeroldengieslikethateMere of t he st
economical, since there was no crew in it to get bored as the ship came into the system at sublight, and
what it was carrying was already scheduled with the time delay in mind. Those older engines also took less
power to opeate, so they were economical in a power consumption sense as well as a financial sense.
The damage had been considerable in just 11 hours. Maggie had gone nuts on the Imxi, deploying
mines and automated hunter/killer drones along all the shipping take®g advantage of the fact that the

|l mxi couldnét communicate with their ships in hypersj
dropped out of hyperspace into the jaws of an angry lion. Maggie was a bit cruel about it, attacking
anythingthatdo pped out of hyperspace, including civilian tr

like it, but those civilian ships might be carrying Consortium bugs, weapons, or supplies for the Consortium
attack on Karis, so he had to swallow his disgusttatkihg civilian ships and remember that at that
moment,anythingin the PR sector was a fair target. Maggie completely paralyzed all logistics in the Imxi
empire within 10 hours, and then she started attacking the Imxi military ships trying despersgelyre
those hyperspace arrival points to protect helpless ships coming out of hyperspace. But the Imxi learned
quickly that the Legion fought dirty, utilizing CM&nabled drones, mines, Buzzsaws, and dormant
missiles that activated when targets canmthiwirange. She also went letech, towing asteroids into the
jump arrival points to create obstacles and bottlenecks to fluster Imxi ships and protect their assets. The
mass and gravity of the asteroids messed up the arrival of the Imxi ships, foerimguit of hyperspace
beforethey got to their destination, exploiting the old engines their enemy used and the basic law of
hyperspace that prevented a ship from jumping directly across a point of high gravity in real space. That
reached into hyperspaamnd older, weaker engines would get knocked out of hyperspace by the distortion
gravity put into that domain.

Hyperspace travel was line of sight unless the engines were of the quality the Faey and other races in
the sector had or better. Only enginike that could pass through the effect that the gravity well of a star

had on hyperspace without getting knocked out, becau:
through the area before the gravity altered their hyperspace inertia. Enginesrdgiidid the ship in
hyperspace if the conditions didnét change by a | ar g:¢

creating so much distortion in hyperspace that only powerful engines like the Karinne or Kimdori engines
could withstandie constant fluxéand even then only with their
allowing the jump computer to sync the engines to the effect. Extremely old engines could get knocked out
of hyperspace by a large concentration of mass in their dia¢let like a rogue planet, but when a ship was
preparing to drop out of hyperspace, the presence of mass close to the arrival point could cause the engines
to drop out early, putting them a few thous&athraaway from their expected arrival point. Inlkte
travel terms, that was like a dropship landing a half an inch off the landing lines, but it was enough to make
the Imxi ships face a good ten to twenty seconds of attack from automated weapons before the Imxi
defense ships could arrive to protect them

And in typical Legion fashion, as soon as the Imxi figured out what Maggie was doing, she changed
tactics to keep them guessing.

But that was going on over on the other side of the galaxy. Jason was sitting in his office, his chair
turned so he coulbok out the window, tapping his fingertips together as he proofread and edited a
document in his gestalt that was going to make the Imperium go up in flames. He and Zaa had discussed it



again that morning, with Mi amnupiwithetheidstregypfor wHatwast eni ng i 1
going to be an unheard of maneuver. He and the legal team had gone around and around with the

document, him sending it to them, them returning it with language changes or areas where he was going too

far, but each dift came back with fewer and fewer revisions. This last one might be the one they approve.

I't was the Karinnebs Declaration of Autonomy. To ¢
correct, buindependenceea s ndt as t ec hnidasautbngmyc o rHee cdti dinnd th iwsa nmi na
complete and irrevocable split with the Imperium, what he wanted was to be as much a part of the
Imperium as possible without being subject to Dahnai. He intended to retain the military alliance, retain
the trade agreemestkeep his ties to Merrane to keep that house on the throne, even keep his IBL team.

The only thing he wanted was for the House of Karinne
was the only way that the Karinnes would be safe, because hedcaubt t r ust Dahnai anymor e

Which sucked He |l oved that woman, andtustawokdnithatbed hi m t o
loved But he was too wise now to let his emotions rule him, where they might have just five scant years
ago. He had trulyettled into the role of the Grand Duke Karinne.

He finished the revisions and sent it back to his |
approve it without doing more than just pointing out grammar errors.

He sighed and looked back ovs chair as Chirk clattered in on her four legs, carrying a handpanel as

she kept her blade arms behind her back, mainly to ke
heéd do without her. She was a Bhewasth&hestdamn h an al i er
administrative assistant in the entire Imperium. She was probably the most powerful person on Karis, truth
be told, because Jason more or less did what she put on his schedule, and he rarely if ever questioned it. He
trusted Chirk marly as much as he trusted his own wife, because sheavigzyo f t hat tr ust . il s
cabinet in the meeting room?06 he asked.
i T hey sheanswerked using her translatir]l assume you are telling them )
AThey need to Lsiobwv ea,s0 stoo nr el ipeod, turning his chai

she offered. He read over the bit of busy work, an authorization for the infrastructure department to being

work on a new broadcast power hub, and signed off on it. Ever since tkee fadwre, Rund and Harvann

had been tweaking the power grid so that didnoét happ:¢
secretary of power and Harvann was secretary of communications, which had authority over an aspect of

the broadcast poweysst em i n that it was his communication frequ
and Kumi arenét not the only ones that are going to
to her . youfinvhak dPb it, Chirk?o

Al t i s ntoproffensn opidioa, cegered HMee ader . 0
AiBe that as it may, | 6d still |l i ke your opinion, fr
Al think i tshelmaswered,dahneng hei ratHer,useless wings absénfyn e Kar i nnes

have operated in an autonomdashion since the return of the house six years ago. This proclamation

only makes it official. For the house to truly prospendeds el ease from the | mperium. 0

AWhy do you say that?0o

AfBecause most of the plans fuland pnospdeoas sector, andthae hous e i
cannot come about so | ong as Empress Dahnashe exi sts a:
answeredA The | mperium seeks to conquer and rule, even wh
those actionsire harmful to the Imperium itself. The Kizzik are not afraid to make war, but war is waged
as a last resort. It is harmful to the hive as a whole, and only when the haohnoéking war overcomes
the harm war causes will the Kizzik enter battle. sThithe wayou think, revered Hivdeader. In many
ways, you think as the Kizzik think, which is why two separate colonies have moved here. We are inclined
to being part of a house that thinks as we do, a house that thinks of the group over theahdiMig Faey
and Empress Dahnai see war as the solution to problems that can be corrected by far less drastic means.

So long as the Karinnes are chained to Empress Dahnai
potential. The Karinnes amotthel mper i um, even i f they are subject to
Jason digested the mechanical words of the translator, but saw the wisdom within them. He gave her a
single nod and |l eaned back in his wthmustrask,willthE hank you,
secession of the Karinnes cause any discord between t
Al woul d gharepbed after thinking about it a momefitWe Ki zzi k move very car

within the Imperium, revered HiMeader. | would veture to guess that half the reason that the Most
Revered Hive Leaders have not yet moved on your translator offer is because they are pondering the
ramifications of the Kizzik becoming move involved in Imperium affairs. So long as we had the language



barrier, we had arexcuseto keep ourselves separate. And the Faey, they would not like our opinions in
many matters. 0
Jason just had to laugh. Thedsa good reason why the leaders of the Kizzik were being so slow
about accepting his offer to sellthereth r i ght s t o manufacture transl ator ur
speak your mind here, o0 he told her Iightly.
AWhich is why so many -lKader. zHerk, wafeetas ifiveeloreg, Thatisver ed Hi v e
the true gift of the House Karinne, that elces and species may come here and feel they are an important
part of the group. Herallmat t er equal | y. And to the Kizzik, this
He gave her a smile, then stood up. AThat 6s what v
where | grew up, America, had a similar mindset. Its unofficial mottogivesme your tired, your poor,
your huddled masses yearning to be fré@at means that in America, everyone was welcome, because in
diversity there is strength, but it also medmtanyonecould come to America and have a chance to make

themselves better, if they worked hard enough for it.
AAnd there is wisdom i-lne & dGhirkagegdfMTha&c IKj zze kermned Hioyt €
xnophobic as many believe us to be. o
ildve noticed, 0 he nodded, then he stood up. A Wel |
everyone. 0
iGood luck. o
Jason went down the hall to his cabinet meeting room, and saw all his members at thikitaple ta
and it was a curious mirror of the conversation heod

three Makati as they talked with each other, with a Terran leading it. That was the four most active races in
the Imperium. And he couldnty wonder if there might be a Shio or a Skaa or an Urumi sitting at that

table in the next ten years. iSettle down, guys, o0 J:
took their positions by the door. ABoy, do we have :

il bve been hearing some strange rumor s, Jason, o0 Tre
used first names.

ATheydre true, o Jason replied. Al dm dropping the n
Trenirk. The House of Karinneisggin t o decl are autonomy from the | mper.i
explosion of gasps and started exclamations, then sat
lightly, 0 he said as Miaari c¢ame hischiefofii@diigenceyasndt t ec't
she often sat in on the meetings. Aln fact, | reall)\
t h a tDahndisbesndi ng most of the spies webve caught . We ¢ca

ourselvesom her authority.o
AHoly shit, o Kumi breathed.
I

| )

AYeah, tell me about it, o Jason grunted as Miaari s
ourselves from the | mperi um, because i f Dahnai <canoét
comeatandorderus t o open our door s. And we candét do that,
going to give you the same option | 6m giving every m

resignation and return totthébdelcpasri drdmi motthaytod ngwh ot
This house haalwaysb e en about people being here because they w

AYoubre notwanyghinmg ¢geot sep from this table, Jason, o Y
nodded.

nSo, no t akkead,? ot Hears ome abl ew out his breath. AThan

Jason spent nearly six hours discussing his plans and debating them with his cabinet, discussing the
i mpact of independence on t he B auwdshe grablemsschatitwasy, t he r «
going to cause. The peopl e of iklependenfromthed i dndt sign uj

Imperium, though many did come because it sgggarate The people of Karinne had to choose what to
do, he owed them that micgive them the chance to leave before the house split away. Plans to handle
that were made, as well as military contingencies with Myri in case the Imperium tried to fight. That would
be the most unlikely scenario, since all they had to do was dbinBtargate to protect themselves and
recall all KMS units within reach of the INS. His legal team finally got back to him after those six hours,
and approved the final draft of his proclamation.
It was ready. There was nothing left to do buttell Dahna because he didndt want to
the summit. He steeled himself on his walk back to his office, Shen and Dera following closely behind
him, his gestalt assembling the rest of the language of his proposal to Dahnai about the splib ieader t
at least after she got over the explosion and she got her temper back. He closed off his office and sat in his



chair, then turned it around to look out the window for a moment of quiet contemplation before he initiated
the call to Dahnai.
There vas a soft light behind him as a hologram of her shimmered on the far side of his desk, and that
l ight made him close his eyes and bow his head sl ight
him, and she leaned down and put her hand on hidd#rouHe nodded and sighed, then turned around and
faced Empress Dahnai Merrane.
And she wasothappy. She stood before him in formal robes, obviously just coming from court, her
hands on her hips and anowyduevanhta lad kk ton meer fAdde.r |PQle,
|l ast two days trying to get past that fucking Kizzik
AThe House of Karinne no |l onger recognizes the autt
| mperium, 0 the gai @t imomaceol fADue to acts of espionage
that demonstrates the unwillingness of the Imperium to respect the agreements and treaties formed between
the Empress Dahnai Merrane and the House of Karinne, the HousdarofKafficially and immediately
withdraws from the Imperium. A written copy of this declaration is being transmitted to you as we speak,
as well as a written treaty to maintain all legal contracts and obligations that the House of Karinne has
legallyente e d . 0
She looked absolutetunned
AiThe House of Karinne wil!/ honor all its obligation
The House of Karinne will also honor its commitment to keeping the House of Merrane on the Imperial
Throne by bein@t the service of the Empress Merrane should she issue a general call to arms. The House
of Karinne will remain as closely tied to the Imperium as we possibly can be, but we will no longer
recognize the right of the Empress Dahnai Merrane to rule oyaptiafter the Empress Dahnai Merrane
personallyordered acts of espionage against the House of Karinne. The Karinne Military Service will
continue to aid and support the Confederate navies against the Consortium, though with us being
autonomous, the Hee of Karinne no longer expects or demands that the Imperium or the Confederacy
continue to protect the planet Karis. The farms of Terra and Exile will continue to supply food to the
Imperium, and the House of Karinne will continue to administer theloumi systems as per our
agreement. We will honor our treaties and our obligations to both the Imperium and the allies of the
Confederacy, but we will no longer submit ourselves to the will of an Empress that has broken her word

and violated ourtrust. Ad t hat i s all I have to say, 0 he said, st:
give you one standard day to read my proclamation and the attached treaty offer. Thety e, will
I talk to you, Empress Merrane. 0

And he cut the comm, caing her shocked face to dissolve into nothingness.
He bowed his head, feeling cold inside. Having to do that in the face of a woman he loved, it was like
stabbing himself in the chest and then twisting the knife. Cybi put a comforting hand on hiteshaodl
patted it, and he looked up at her with emotional eyes.
il know, Jason. But it had to be done. 0
iSometi mes | hate this job,d he said in a bare whi s
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Jason had given Dahnai a full standard day to read his transmitted documents, and he never got out of
his office before he and Dahnai had their redkgn
When he wasndét in conference with about everyone or
public declaration. And while he was doing that, the word had rippled through theCmifederacyof
Jasonbés shocking moves wa@emét higmg nghato md megntosecr et
threw what could only be called a raging fit in the throne room immediately after he cut her off. She
actually threw her crown across the room before storming off into her private hallway, casisirtted
guard to pick it up and hurry after her. Rumor quickly spread, someone leaked the confrontation, and then
it swept through the Imperium like wildfire that the House of Karinne had declared independence. It was all
over the news within two hourand Chirk was being absolutely assaulted with demands for conference
from every Confederate ruler, the Emperor of the Veruta, the High Archon of the Haumda, even the
Magister of the Imbiri.



Jason was too busy to do anything but make plans and prepatébhisannouncement, but he also
got two very shocked visitors in the form of Frinia Foralle and Yila Trefani. Both were still on Karis, and
unlike anyone else, they had the ability to park themselves outside his office and demand vociferously to
talk to him. After the fourth hour of them trying to bull their way into his office, he finally let them in. He
explained things to them as calmly as he could, both what he didreytte did it, then sat with them for
nearly three hours to discuss his intentiomemain more or less in the Imperium in everything but one
aspect, and that was that he would not recognize Dahi
Frinia was an old warhorse of tBéann and was quite savvy and intelligent. After she read his
proposal to Dahnavhich basically let her keep all the benefits of the House of Karinne while only having
to accede that Karis was sovereign territory she didi
moment and gave her opinioit.does bait the trapshe findly answered.Your document makes it clear
you dondt want to do this, and you want to stay as cl
very much out of the agreement except the ability to
aroundin the first place. It just makes what we all suspected official.
What did you suspect?
That you di dn o sheeplisdBdre 6tso | Bahiyaiu, get everlety wi th mor
any of the rest of us get away with.
That 6 s b e c aassngilasnjected, mer nalight contemplative, ponderifidne Merranes
arenbét as strong as they used to be, Frinia. I f sh
Emae and Semoya, we might be rdtabossaround/sonheonegouneedi ght t
to keep your own throne.
Be that as it mayJason drew her away from that train of thougletyou see anything in my proposal
that theSiannmight get pissy about?
Not really. The document makes it clear that the i@ will all but be part of the Imperium except
t hat t égealsidot subjebte The only possible problem | see is from some opportunistic Grand
Duchess that tries to take over Terra or the Ur umi S
systems, yet under the control of a rebel house. Semoya would probably kill her own first born daughter to
get her hands o bilioBsoff thaaplanet. Sheéd make
| worry more about how th8iannwill see Dahnai allowing me to secede.
What can shéo about it? What can ti&ianndo about it?Friniareplied. They candét do shit,
You have all the koba nuts in the pod in this game. Without your interdictors, the entire sector would be
slaves to the Consortium, and we all know it.

e
hi

There mighbe some minor grumbling, but | dYdilaét think an)
agreed.The Karinnes have been separate from the rest of us since you restored the house, Jason. And they
were before the Third Civil War, for that matter. Aftereveryoreads t hi s, they wondt thi.
we ak . In fact, i1if | didndt know what | know, I 6d al

How so?Jason asked.
There are some major opportunities here for the Imperium, Jason. The Confederacy, Witeahe
interdictors up all over the sector, it makes the other governments rely on Faey Stargates or Karinne
freighters just to get access to their planets. As long as you keep those interdictors in place, they have to
payusto move theirown goods,ut t he probl em i s, it also represents
us she sent with a quirky smild. f | wer e Dahnai, |1 6d have kicked you o
you up as an independent client state, neutral in the eyes of otiboesgthen used that neutrality to gain
an unbreakable monopoly on all transportation in and out of every major planet in the sector. Not to
conquer, but for thenoney Charge the Confederacy a set rate to use the Stargate that makes it just
slightly moe expensive than standard freighters and logistics, and the money would be rolling in so fast
that the Moridon banks would explode from the deposits. All of them would pay that little bit more to get
their goods to their destination in real time, in jhsturs, where it could take a takir to get a shipment from
one place to another without us. It would also make all of them totally protected by the interdietors,

added. The only threat would be from the Karinnes with their ability to jump theintedic s, and | d&m sur
that more than one ruler has worried that Dahnai will order the Karinnes to do just that someday. If the
Karinnes are independent, that threat is removed, an:
and bargain agreementsl hat 6 s what |1 6d do if | were Empress.

I think 1 s e e Frniaotded/Dahndi uses Jasanyas anmney mint and rakes in the

Stargate usage fees.



With that much money in the treasury, Dahnai coul d
dynasty all but eternakila declared.Every house would be rolling in credits, to the point where nobody

wouldwantt o try to take the throne from Dahnai, theydd be
economic boom of epic proportions. Nobodywod want a house war when everyon
money.

I woul dndét al | owasanshppliedd madeream oath &orkgepv@akinai on that throne,
and despite her br eakimng Daheaai beimgoon tte throneemsureatithe br ea ki ng
|l mperium remains stable, and thatdés whatds most | mpoi
because it pr oveayonelgidst | meanjtheywattackecdSadll¢ inpadacea stand it 0s
Dahnai herself sending the spies teatbiogenic technology.
Dahnai someti mes doesndt know when what she has in
vine, Frinia snorted.The interdictors make us absolutely unattackable, and with the interdictors up and
Dahnai in control of the targates at Draconis, no house could even manage to get a fleet there to attack
Merrane even if they did try to dethrone her. For that reason alone, she was totally insane to try to steal
from you. Even after the Consortium and the Benga are dealthsiting those interdictors up in
conjunction with our Stargates would give Dahnai an absolute stranglehold on the Imperium.
That OYilaagreedeAf t er t he interdictors went up, I had to
get my operations back up anghning,she added with a wink at him.
Webve al ways wonder ed wh Frinigsent dndypwhiohdnade &ilafaugh.h  t i me h e
The honest truth is, we have quite a few profitable and ent@galjoint business operations going
on,sheanswead. The Pal adins are only the tip of Demirdés swor
making me reconsider crime. Almost.
That ol | n dasoa sent tvith drp amosement, which made Frinia laugh.
[Jason, Myri needs to talk to youClybi cutin.
[Go ahead and patch her inHe glanced at the two Grand Duchesdéscuse me a minute.
[Jason,]My r i 6 s v oi ¢ éWethavaiacplolklem.] h i m.

[What?]
[Empress Dahnai is aboard tHee y a r i arsl is Sligoet thnreatening execution to anyorfew
doesndt brirughgnoljesrh et o8 okadr ihsi m. Jason winced, hedd com

three Karinne ships at Draconis. Thee y a r i G&vas oiepfahe new Mark Il cruisers, only
commissioned two months ago.
[I totally forgot they vere picketed there. Go ahead and order Haya to bring her to Karis, and

arrange her to get to my oHfeflookedtothe twodaeywomén. goi ng out
Dahnai 6s on her way here. | s ugg ershe miglt thinkk wo dondt e\
youbre a part of this.

That 6 s a Fripiaageediwith@aod. 61 | be over at the Paladin offi
about a few things anyway.

And | have a few things to check on with Kuviilia added.l 6 | | bwei lidi ndc,e but | wonodt
Kumi 6s office until ités all <clear.

Sounds like a plan. Thank you for your input, ladies, it does make me feel a little better.

You should have talked to us about tieforeyou told Dahnaifrinia scolded himl 6 ve e en i n
chair |l onger than youdve been alive, young buck. I
of f Empress coming over here to kick your ass. And
she warned with a slight smilé.suggest you greet Dahnai with your armor on.

That might be a good idedason chuckled aloudsood thing | have my armor here. Aya lets me take
it off as long as | dondét | eave my office.

The two Grand Duchesses stood up, and Frinia came around the desH, d@wn, and kissed him on
the cheekGo put the ar mor on, Jason, youbre going to need

| will, he nodded. He stood up and opened his armor stand closet as the two walked out, then Aya and
Dera came in. Aya would let hibe alone with those twdDahnai is on her way here, and from the sound
of it, s he othetolththeen@s hie started taking oféhis shirt.

| think she has a good reason forAlya sent dryly.

| have to ask you something, Aya.

I f we &INo,sherepdiede 6 ve t ol d you bdspatchedere. Albofus will we wer e
remain on Karis until we pension, and not even Empress Dahnai can recall us.

Even with me openly defying her?



The Imperial Guard does not involve itself in pofitishe replied simplyWe are here because Rann
i s betrothed t o aBythingsgoingtodhangetibb ndt t hi nk
| think we agree therdhe nodded as he unbuckled hisbéltb m gi vi ng Rann the choice
keep the betrothal. My boget to marry who thewantto marry. | think we all know where he stands in
that particular matter.
H e &illl you if you revoked the betroth@lera noted lightly.
Exactly.
Dera helped him get his armor on as Aya monitored the arrival ¢ they a peamd Gapt&in Hariya
must have run at flank speed once they came out of the Stargate, because Dahnai was on a dropship coming
down by the time Jason got his gauntlet dhis is bound to get ugly, Aydason sent as he weighed

whether or not he wanted veear the helmetl 6d | i ke you and Dera to stay in t
calm if nothing else.
|l 6m not putting a hAyardtoteddn my Empress, Jason,
I dondt want vy oumghe sentpdintediydstilthave anwalmosioovessinong
need to punch Dahnai in the mouth. I dondt think th:
Aya smiled. No, that would start things out on a bad fitg agreedSi t i n your chair and
up . As | ong as she st gpted Amlunmeanddck youeaanohshe agdeds wondt be
Thatds not a bad idea. Now | just have to resist

Dera gave that voiceless, wheezing laulyraybe we should remove all unsecured objects, Captain.

Soneitherof them can use therAya nodded.Her Majesty is a fairly strong TK herself. Jason, make
sure you stay back inside the radius of the panic shield. If Empress Dahnai looks about ready to get
violent, activate it.

That s not a bad ihrdvethings at éadhathenevagreed ag die sat dacldir his

chair. Like Dahnaids throne room, there was a hard
his office, the line running just at the front edge of his desk. If he were ¢xeked, the hard shield would
activate both in front of his desk and over the window behind him, protectingihiGyy bi , youdd better
outforthislhe cal l ed. Cybiés hologram shi mmered into bein
hologram compdte with feet which she placed on the carpeted floor daintily.

ADondét worry, Jason, shesadwitha lightespressor as ghesatohtheom her , 0
edge of his desk, in her favorite spot.

Al may need it, o0 he replied aloud.

It took Dahnaonly about ten minutes to get on the ground and into the building, and she was all but
running. She had six of her guards with her, hurrying behind her, as Dahnai stormed into the White House,
and Jason made sure that everyone got out of her way drat [get to his office unchallenged. He
mentally steeled himself when Chirk opened his door, and Empress Dahnai Merrane stormed into his
office. She was wearing the armor Jason gave her, the helmet locked behind her head, her tousled bronze

hairpulledlack in a ponytail that dangled halfway down her
il dondét want to hit a man who isnét ready for it!ao

i Sdowvn 6 Jason snapped in a tightly controlled voice

ADonét yowoonder Jmsoa Karinne! o she shouted in repl
declaration! Yowmrepart of the I mperium, and | wonét | et you gc

AWhat are you going to do, Dahnai ? Decl are war on

She slammed her hands down on his desk, glaring hdtly am. Al f have to, 0 she r
hiss.

A Wel lypurfiatublst it came to this, o he toldatyene bl untl y.
past this solar system, and | have a solemn duty to protect my people, even from thelr ovengl, 6 he sai d
flatly.

ABull shit! o Dahnai snapped, pointing an armored fir
playing, Jayce. Did Yila suck your dick so hard that
AWhat, ywantedt i d&hdé hs 8@ back, getting tingouhi s feet.
palace Dahnai ! And it was your own peopl e! Do you thi

the determination to give it a try? This is the only way | can protect the Gensrdtémause if you can
i ssue orders to me, then | <candt guarantee that theyc(

get access to us!o

il took care of that, 06 Dahwsaeesnappedswépr {t he ctBF I



AAndhows to say that the next time itds not the Bur e

decrees? Doyoreallyt hi nk t hat wedre going to be safe so |long a
the system?0

fiyes 0 she screamed, sdganmmi ng her hands down

Al édm soyglLéddetdbmati dent, when youdbdbre the one that ha
sitting back down. Alt gives you more opportunities
them try to take apart yourarmor. @i d t hey?0 he asked pointedly.

She flushed a tiny bit.

AiThey couldnét figure it out, could they? Not with
He glanced at Cybi, then | eaned back iDahndiils chair. i
thought about it very carefully fatays | tried every way | could think of to stay in the Imperium, but |
couldndét find any way to do it that guarantees the s;

hundred thousand clones of $@a@unning amok in the Imperium and trying to take your throne. The
simple fact of the matter is, Dahnai, thiely way that the Generations will be safe, and the regbofvill

be safe fronus is if wedre separated. o
AiThat is such mawedk efRtesés odogshedown to the root o
willing to take this just to punish me for what | di

the typical male torturing! Yes, I tried to steal biogenics. Did yinktl wo u | ™ Iha@vé as much a duty
to the Imperium as you do to your house, and part of that is ensuring it is strong and secure! Biogenics will

make the | mperi al military unstoppable! o

ifSo, you dondt mind at al | sfdrecsldngas you cagcomuweemoyet hi ng my
worlds, 0 Jason snapped. AThanks for justifying my d:¢

iAiWhat ?0

AYou chealdout me, my house, or what it stands for, o
power, that Faeynededo conquer and rul e. What 6s next, Dahnai,
just so you can borrow his sword?0 he asked, giving I

guess you donét care about him either. o

fi Hodarey o u !edcrearhed.

AiYou once told me a |long time ago that |1 6d have to
war, but | see | failed, o he replied, sthigkgodi ng up hi
do, but you love your power mer When you had to choose between me and it, you chose your power, and
the opportunity to ganorepower. | tried to save you from yourself, Dahnai, but you just smacked my
hand away. Yowantthat war, Dahnai. Not with Semoya or Emae, but with anyonethink you can
crush under your heel. Tlaaly reason you wanted biogenics was so you could do what the Consortium
tried to do, useisto conqueiothers And that is the one thing that the House of Karinnewvellerallow.

The House of Karinne wilhiever, ever, by any means, allow itself to be used to inflict our will or another,

or allow anotherés wil!/ to be inflicted on the innoc:¢
Dahnai,andyod on 6t c&o@ dondt c ar e totsdeany bioganicswseditbabnqdee st r oy m
ot her s. You dondt care how lyoufselfed or what | think,
AThat 6s not truel! o
AOh isnbét it?0 he asked, sitting back down. Al f yoc
different agers to Karis to try to steal biogenics? What would | do when | found out you were using
biogenic technology to make war on the others? Huh ? (
She was quiet a moment . Ailt wouldndt have matterecd
ARiIi ght, becEBmpses 0y hed rsea i tdmeret fangers together m frant obhim.
AAnd eéexacdlywbyg | did what | did. Because | have to do
shit out of luck. Even i f what you do goes against ¢
Y our istpartwktrEmperium o
AiNot anymore, o0 he replied evenly.
ABuwhit! 6 she screamed. AwWe went to war for you, Jaso
il trusted you, and you repay me by trying to steal

th e p o ikeptyou dn §ourghronfer the last five years, Dahnai, and then you go and bite the hand
that holds up your throne?9

She turned an ugly shade of violet, but said nothing.

ALet 6s make it abundantly @memot chamgi mMermy mimgdit
proved to me by you and everyone else that the Generations aafesut long as the House of Karinne is



technically subject to the c¢ oangwherafsthisplnetatheyout si der .
attackedSaelle under youiuckingnose, Dahnai. Under your nose! | have a duty to protect what few of us

are |l eft, and | candt do t hat sfockingehingthattysuwgmb u can up
the Generations for yourself, or you or one ofrydescendents decides on a whim to demand me or my

descendents to give you access to everything Cybi knc¢
civil war between the I mperium and House Karinne, we:i

amicably as we can. | have to protect my house, Dahnai, and you proved that | have to protect it from my
friendseven more than | do mgnemies 0

AYou about done making speeches, Jayce?0 she asked
diatribe forterh 0 u r s . careWhatdsityyass teason you use to justify breaking your oath of fealty. |
donotaccept it. Therebts only one way youdre leaving tF

dead body! o
AYou want a war wit dpugmaciousahnai 2?0 Jason aske
ABoth of y o Cybidbarked standing upnanddstepping around the desk, towards Dahnai.

AfJason didndt make this decision without careful con:
Ma j e sheyold ber, puttingherhdrs on Dahnai 6s ar mored shoulders and
AAnswer me this. After knowing what was nearly done
Raisha will be safe in the palace?0
AOh, you better belli éhvaeves ntedllloclke idafdeo,wne we s hief see-
inSo, Rai sha wil!/| Il i ve her enQybimoedi Fdre driodper wislolned wi

safe anywhere el se. 0
Dahnai blinked.
fiJason i sndtyouafmhmkiyomgraMaytest y.Raishae &he saidicalrmyk i ng abou

AThat i s why the treaties he sent make it clear that
intimate political alliance with both the Merranes and the Imperium. The declaration of autonomy literally
onlyappliestoone t hi ng, Dahnai, and thatoés that it makes Ka

your authori trgadt h eButtr eyact uistessiskechgaintedlyy o u ? 0

Dahnai looked a tad guilty.
Al thought a seadthadobumentskeechtyowou woul d see the truth
t o accoCppithidsdifiJ@ason i snét abandoning the | mperium, he
heds not vyaup a@he shiol ma reassuringto@But he feels he hng,d0 a duty t
me, and to the house to take steps to protenbudnstead of a starting a war in the future, when one of

your descendents demands of one of Jasonds descendent

eye and tell me that day will nevey ene , D a h n a CybiMtaltengadn givingdher steady, cool look.

iwWe, we could, o she said. Al can make it <clear to
daughter, and so on. o

AAnd you truly believe that. o

Dahnai gave Cybi a nearhelpless look.

AYour attempts at espionage only hurrdyl®tdld a deci si or
herilt demonstrated to him that the Geverwmndeyondons are t |
Karis only wants to use themfére power t hey wi el d. Il ncluding you. 0

fil naottod

Al f that were true, then you OQybisaddimpgiydivve rndevhery tri ed
are useless without a Generation. What would you have done with a biogenic unit but no Generation to

pair with it, your Majesty?o0
AThey do thatod eshédamhal | enged. il oncethishaeacar d you sl
|l 6m no Generation, 0 she said, rapping her fingertips
more effectiveA | control systems than standard cybertronics
AAnd that was worth destroying your reQy@tionship wi
challengedAWhat use would an i mproved Al sytsy®2m be in any
Dahnai was stonily silent.
AAnd there you go, 06 Jason said grimly. fiWhen the ¢
thatdoedm&t on Karis turned on me, I knew t here was no

I o o k . only tiifghthat was holding you back from what ywsantto do is the fact that you need me to
keep the Imperium stable, and then you turned around and twisted that, used the fact that you need us to get
close to us and try ctroossstienagl hfirso na runssgngequkiedsolol |, d ahcetri,o n



Majesty, everyours Your interest in me and my house was never about anything more than what you
could get out of us, just likevery other fucking house intB&@annd6 he sai d, kXaggerdtell g o ut e v ¢
word.
AThat 6s not true and you know it kndbwhsohwe Ib afrekeeld 0i n r €
AAnd thatdés what makes it worswasndhtatenihegdmapgp ad.at

fi Y ousedme, Dahnai,andifyodi dnét think 1 6d do something about it
at all . I f my love for you wasno6t apythogughfiNot make y ol
Saell e, not with rulership over hy RRosda, ® he said,

fWhat? o

il want Rai sha, Dahnai, o Jason told her, staring he
protection so long as sheds in your palace.- No di sr ¢
armored guamdect fwehdy emough from t hrwatlntet fr om out si
concern me, threats they wondédt see unt il itds too | at

would be seen allies. Unless she wants to spend her entiredlifgisoner inside the palace, Raisha will
never be safe anywhere but here. 0
AiThene way i n Trirwdlleles@s reardleandny daughter, 06 Dahnai
hunching over her hands which were on his desk and giving him a cold stare.
fi T h yowmust ask yourself, your Majesty, if you are willing to be called to some warehouse one day
in the future and find Raisha floating in a cloning vat. And another Raisha, and another, and another, and
a n ot ICgbrsaidwith cold, grim logic, lookingtder. il t i s not who sltweatshes t hat th
is, and they will not care that she is an Imperial Princess. That fact will only make getting to her more
difficult. Raisha is a Generation, your Majesty, trdy Generation not safely on Kariand that will make
her a target that both your enemies and yallies will never stop trying to get. And what happened with
Saelle shows howeasilyit can be done. You would have to keep Raisha in armor and behind hard shields
her entire life to pratct her from those who want what she is, and can get it without you ever knowing. Is
that the kind of life you want for her, Empress Dahnai? Would you turn your daughter into a prisoner in
her own home just to keep her, and face the threthioofsande®f Rai shas used against you
Cybi asked simply.
Dahnai almost said something, then closed her mouth, her expression turning a little worried.

iSee what | 6ve been trying to say, Dahnani 2?0 Jason e
not trying to punish you. I know how much you | ove )
up. But | 6 rRaishdnotratounme@r esebyouu |t Raisha is ever going to have a life outside
of the palace, a life where she caalf® any waynormal sheés only going to find it
l ocking her aweadt.hoslef dwocwbme nhasvd sent, youdd see t ha

of passage rights between Draconis and Karispblytyou and your family.Youwill be welcome here, to
visit with Shya once she marries and so Raisha always knows and loves her mother. Karis is the only safe
place in this entire universe for us, Dahnai. If you want to visit one of us, you have to come heage You

family, Dahnai and no matter how pissed off | am at you rigl
for your children, and hopefulytoseeeo nce bot h of wus finally get over it.
AAlright, so, now that both of yegbeitiatimetositt arti ng t o
down andalk, €ybi said, urging Dahnai over to the chair and pushing on her shoulders until she sat
down. She then went around and sat back down on the edge of the desk, leaning over on her hand and hip
and regarding Dahnai calmly.
A had no idea you were so obnoxiously pushy, Cybi,
AYou nomeged Jason drawled, which made Aya and Dera s
chair.
ANow, l et ds t al k a bengfitfronnsoneutral Kaeinnd, yop eMd ju@pbitcya,no
noted, crossing her legs demurely.
AfBenefit?o
AOh yes, if you step back and | ook at things, your
with a neutral Karinne. Yil a ishenotetdiyheady drooling at
Dahnai act uadghétyhilnakusg hsehde. c afnl fmake some money out of
proposal, 0 she said, |l eaning back in her chair.

For nearly six continuous hours, they talked it out. Jason explaireggithingto her, and to hecredit,
she listened carefully to him, then she explained all of her own issues with it. They kept things civil and
calm, debating the issues in a rational manner once the emotional outbursts were cleared out. She heard his



reasoning for his actionsishplans for the assets under Karinne control, and his plans to keep the Karinnes
closely tied to the Imperium while protecting Karis and the Generations. After he explained all that,
Dahnai actually haggled with him over the finer points of the treatréwe up, but most of her bargaining
was trying to keep some kind of control over or hold on Jason and the Karis system. vizatiedlason
under her command, and it was the one thing they kept coming back to over and over and over and over
again, becawsthat was thenething that Jason absolutely could not allow.

After discussing that, Cybi and Jason called in Yila, then the four of them discussed the ways that the
Imperium could use a neutral Karinne to absolutely rake in the profits. Yila wdganglcunning, but
one of her best assets was the ability to react quickly to opportunity and see the best way to profit from it.
That was one of the things that made her so effective as a mob kingpin, able to navigate shifting legal and
illegalopportini t i es t o best benefit her house. Dahnai seeme
using the neutrality of the Karinnes to form an Imperium stranglehold on all trade in the sector, mainly by
leasing out Stargates to their allies in the Conferjeaad charging both for the leasing of the Stargate and
its use. Using the legendary neutrality of the Karinnes like a battering ram, Dahnai could work the
Imperium into a position of being the most powerful, influential, and important empire in tbe, seaybe
in all the sectors bordering theirs as well, and she could do it without firing a single shot.

As darkness settled over Karsa, after taking a break for some food and to use the restroom, Dahnai

returned. Her hostile posture had softened consaldd | v since she arrived, but Jas

she startedisteningt o hi m. She didnét have to agree with him,

very much to him. Yila flopped down on the couch on the side of his office, yawninlg,aalit Dahnai sat

back down in the chair in front of his desk. AAlTrigl

t hose documents you sent, then send back my counterof
iSo, youdre at | east considering allowing us to serfr
i Onliméedbasi s, 8 she stressed. Al candét deny a couple

Rann, your kids, and Raisha, and all the others. But | think we can reach a compromise that protects Karis
without completely releasing the Karinnes fram tmperium. But Holike the ideas you had about

Terra, 0 she said, noddi ng at pro¥ectdradeof the Ifnfetium,couldg it 1 nto

really rake in the credits, and it helps protect the Academy, which the Impaoiesmake mong off of.

As |l ong as it keeps producing food for the | mperi um,

some of my advisors before we reach an agreement on
AThere is some | mperi al precedteyntdo for the protector
Ailém a history nut, Cybi, | know, o she agreed. filt

territory between the houses, but we can apply the protectorate standard to Terra and make it legal. Hell,
|l 6m using the proteewofat et s¢ afndar dUrumgih systems, sir
those systems. 0

She stood up, and Jason and Yila did the same. She came around his desk and actually dared to kiss

him on the lips, and not ver y dbhamotreloyw aatf ttelranto.on, ol &sl
hi m. Al ol | read over your offers and send back my r ¢

AWedll save the arguing for after | see how i mpossi
chuckle.

AAs | ong as oybafyoudrselfy @emighgbe able todigure something out. But there is
one thing we can agree on. o0

AWhat ?0
AAs much as | h a tdeesnteheed itdoe as poefn di ta,t Raeiasshta some of h
acceded. Al t hi nkewhereshaspenadssamk of beutime laere sandrsentk tirhe in

the palace. | want Saelle and Evin to stay her foster parents, and they can bring her back and forth. That

way she gets to keep her title as an Imperial Princess, batsstgets to have a lifeutside the palace.

Sheodl |l have to have that I|ife here. I agree with vyou
outside the palace. 0

AJoint custody?0 Jason asked.

She nodded. ALi ke a takir hesabputlmwthsidekofher i n t he pal
heritage, and shdoesy et t he chance to be a child. Maer, Sirri

AiNo camer as, no intrigue, no ohyi gudasen pFastd, t hadcek
nodded. anfimikeaesore she stays saf e, I wouldndét object

Al ol | have my commander of the guard draw up some ¢
that mindbender infiltrated the palace. 0



Dahnai 6s guards nodded.

AAlright. | 6mndogery BoOomgor ke ime |l 6ve only been her
opening the door with his gestalt.
il need to get back to Tamiri, I have some paper wor
your Majesty, just call me. There are pleofyother business opportunities in a neutral Terra that Jason
doesnbd6t necessarily need to know about, 0 she said wit
Al wil |, Yila, 0 she said, l ooking to her.
il dm about to yank on that Il eash, Yila, 0 Jason warrm
i Suuuur e shg replied dippantlydpthen she sauntered out of the office.
Jason sighed, which made Dahnaimey adgbon. dYoubre t he
i know. I f she wasndt so damn smart and wuseful, I

Jason took anoment to collect himself after Dahnai left, monitoring her return to Draconis from his
office while he considered their long talk. He had some hope that he might be able to get her to agree to
the core of his plan. He might have to give a little on sohtke finer points, but as long as he could make
Karis outside of Dahnai b6s reach, he thought he could
But he was most glad that at | east Dahnai was start
joint custody, that just rght work. Raisha would be spending her time in the palace in armor and behind
hard shields, but at least half of her childhood would be spent playing in the warm sun, laughing, and with
her brothers, sisters, and friends on the strip.
Clearly,hehadtbui | d a house for Saelle and Evin. He woul
anywhere but on the strip. There wasnoét really any 1
A hand gripped the back of his armor and pulled. He turned and looked, and saw@ogimng Aya
standing there. Holding a paddle.
And you thought we forgathe sent, brandishing her weapon.
Youbre gonna get a fight this time, Aya.
Thatds why therebs tshesdntwih asrirk,arsd indead, ttivelva moreoguatds i d e
filed into his office. Kaera smiled ominously when she closed the démur reckoning has come, Jason.
Put on your boxing gl oves, |l adi es. This Grand Duke
That ol |l just make padddragrimgd. you t hat much sweeter,
Ladies. Get himAya barked, and they all rushed forward.
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It was more than his pride that was injured.

Jason woke up feeling sore all over, and waitarticular throbbing in his butt and around his right
eyeét hat was where Aya punched hi m. He had little dc¢
Aya was very strong, and he hadndédt had wmngah chance t
over him. But, there were a few guards that would be waking up or going to bed with some bruises of their
own.

At least all the girls had had the foresight to remove their gauntlets, or those bruises would have been
broken bones.

It had taken 14 of them to subdue him and strip him out of his armor, then Aya administered the
chastisement. Usually Jason would have played around, given them their pound of flesh to keep the peace,
but this wasnod6t one of t h odAyathat merglership odestheostig asi onal |y
sometimes had to be won in battle, that Jason wasnot
Jason felt he did what he had to do, and Aya had to live with it. And while they were able to physically
overpower him and spank him like a toddler, they had to fight for that privilege.

Jason was easy to order around, but hard to control.

He left Jyslin sleeping in bed and used the bathroom, then checked himself in the mirror. Sure enough,
he had quiteasi ner around his right eye, courtesy of Ayabs
punched him because he punched her first. He made it clear right off the baivefsagatng to be a fight,
and he struggled all the way to the bitter end. Bugmit was over, they shook hands, neither side taking it

personally.
Business was business.
Not hing that Songa couldndét fix with her medkit. J

the kitchen, who was preparing to make breakfast, and tiecadev er t o Luke and Songads h
up, as was Jari, Songa cooking breakfast as Jari watched on. Luke was still asleep when he got there,
having pulled some |l ong hours over at 3D. There wer
becaise everyone was so focused on the war, going with what they had and just running with the current
projects instead of starting new ones. Luke had been working with Leamon on the CMS meson cannon,
but now that that was more or less done, Luke had beeagimy inventory production while waiting for
a hew project. He didndét feel he was ready to come |
education he needed, but Luke was a member of the Leginitical member, and he knew his duty when
the Legion was reformed. Jason had been avoiding giving him his own major projects since he was in his
last semester of the Academy, and had a lot of homework to do.
Why on earth did Aya punch you in the faBghga asked as she inspected his eye, lettirignind
the bacon in the pan.
We had a little disagreement over my restriction to the stepeplied, his thought amused.
Oh, so this had something to do with me seeing her
Mmmmaybehe replied, which masher laugh.
And here | thought that maybe Aya and Myleena were having adingsteplied with a naughty smile,
though she looked awfully angry.
| put her up there when she tried to stop me from leaving the Is¢rigxplained.Seriously, woman,
comeout of the annex from time to ti me. Youbre woef ul
Believe me, sometimes | wish | code replied as she wiped her hands on the base of her dfpron.
knew how much paperwor k it i serhavedékenthipjobhdbr e t he one in



Liar, he teased as she went to her carry bag, which was sitting by the kitchen door. He sat on the edge
of the table as Jari carefully turned the bacon. Songa returned with her medkit, her traveling first aid kit
that virtually every doctor in the Medical Service carried in case they happened across an emergency. She

withdrew what | ooked |Iike a metal pen, then stepped I
The touch of that device immediately produced a hatagé@m in his skin, heat that quickly seeped into the
flesh beneathl 6 | | |l eech out the pooled blood, sosh@at | east vy
informed hi m, her thought focused as <bedapai d attent |
di sposable hand towel, 0 she said aloud. Jar i hadnot
the only ones on the strip that hadndt.
iokay, Mommy, 06 she replied, hurrying over to the pe
Luke came into the kitchen, yawning. Heswaearing only a pair of boxer shorts, which showed off
hiswides houl dered physique. AOh, hey Jayce, 0 he said. f
AfGetting medical attention, o he replied lightly wit

AWhat happened?90
ALet s just say tohat wi thadya opieri mydtdiavelssiestrri

Luke chuckl ed. AwWhy am | not surprised, o0 he said ¢
interface and checked the bacon, then stepped past them as Songa continued to use her device on his bruise.
The devie was heating the pooled, hafo ngeal ed bl ood that had | eaked out

been punched, and would draw it out, literally making the bruise bleed out its color. A bruise was nothing
but subdermal bleeding that had nowhere to go, alter

AHow are the inventories looking?o

AAl most up to standard, which gives me time to stuc
tilting his head in Lukebés direction.

AHold still, you silly man, 0 rGuwnedwihaddwel,cbffedng t aki ng &
it up to Songa. Songa went back to her bag and produced anothetieat®vice, then brought it up to
his face. AAlright, this might sting a little,d she

It did sting, as she lanced the bruise with a needigviothe bruise blood a means of escape, then used
the probe to massage the purple towards the pinprick, which caused the bruise to bleed out. Jason held still
as she drained the subdermal bleeding that colored the bruise, all but massaging the bikind bat
medical device, wiping it away with the towel. AJar.i
my bag, 0 she ordered as she finished up. Jason sc
finished treating the bruise, theshe came back with a little dollop of what looked like petroleum jelly on
her finger. It was a topical biaccelerant that would stimulate his body to heal quickly, preventing the
bruise from reforming and reparing the ruptured capillaries that causdxuise in the first place. She
smeared the tingling gelatin all around his right eye, from eyebrow to cheekbone, and he felt the angry
buzzing settle deeper into his skin, all the way to the tissue, as his skin absorbed the medical compound.
AYou Whaw you need to do, Jayce dear ?0
AEat a hearty breakfast and drink a | ot of water, 0
no greasy feeling there, because his skin and tissue had completely absorved the accelerant. That was how
the acckerant was designed to behave.
AiSince youdre here,
ATheydre true, and

ayce, mind ex aining these wi
1 be going p l'ic with it | at
and tapped Jarionthenosehi ch made her giggl e. AThe House of Kar
the Imperium. We actually kinda alreadigl, but Dahnai didndét take it very w

Al dm not surprised, o0 Luke said mildly aisushe removeoc

move. 0

J p
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Ailt was necessary, 0 he replied simply. Ailtds the ¢
sending here. I have to protect the house, Luke, an:q
iAwel |, if you say it was edrapped thesbacoryinabaskeetmdraint was, 0 F
AJust surprised you had to go to that extreme. What
iwWe have a plan for all that, o he replied as Songa
stowe ADahnai actually agreed with my plan to turn Te
keep the Confederation at | east partially together af
hub, where the other empirescanuse Yjaat es t o move goods. Since everyon

neutrality of the Karinnes, it kinda puts us in a perfect position to control the door everyone uses in and out
of their home empires. o



Luke chuckl ed. iSo, youwhiyndédfkrloyw dhe Fmaey. ¥ou got
iSort of, 0 he repl i edprotectdrateo fa tstmé | lemp e MiiTem.r a Twhadtl e
like the Virgin Islands or Guam was to America. A possession, a territory, sorta like a colony, but not part

of the sytem. Thedey wi | | defend Terra in a military sense, b
the planet . All we have to do is keep meeting the f:
run itself. 0

AThere must be mor etedasshe gackddex medkitbackup.0 Songa n

AOf course there is, 0 he replied. Ailtds a little
Dahnai how a neutral Terra actually makes Dahnai more money than the way things are now. Oh yeah,
Ki mbpposed to be here in a couple of hours, o he r eme
Anyway, i f Dahnai does things right, she can make qu:
has to do is let Terra run itself. 0

AHow?O0 &ed ougoaislya s

AiTrade, 0 he replied. AWith the Karinnes neutral ar

the Imperium, Dahnai can turn it into a trade hub, using the TES and Stargates to allow the other

Confederate empires to move theirdigahrough Terra, you know, sorta expanding the system we have

with the Collective to the others. As long as the interdictors are up, the Confederateaedisame way

to get access to their interdicted systems, and there ya go. The neutral plaared sérves as a nexus for

Confederate Stargates, Confederate governments geétnmeadccess to their systems on top of being able

to trade without having relativity delay, and the neutrality of the Karinnes keeps everything above board.
Withusadminst er i ng t he trade hub, I have a good feeling t
managing the entire Confederate freighter system, piggybacking allied freighters with Karinne ships that

can jump the interdictors. This way, we just put a Staligatee system instead and everything moves

through it. o

iAnd Dahnai gets usage fees, 0 Luke reasoned.

AAmong other things, o0 Jason agreed. AAfter Yila |Ii
could make insane amounts of money off the ideaasbet ual | y went for iit. o He rubl
time, then stepped back a little. AAnyway, | need t
li ke Jyslin is beating me. 0

Songa | aughed. AEat a big kbaédkmasd, saedrieplyed ks

dropped a slab of what looked like ham into the pan.

Jason did just that, going back home and raiding the fridge for what he could scarf down as Surin
cooked pancakes, reading the reports as he drank his coffee. Maggi#l wasadting havoc in the PR
sector, so much so that Consortium warships were now trying to break up her little operation, but only one
or two ships at every major hyperspace jump point. Maggie could get around just one or two picket ships,
so she was dtiannihilating virtually all Imxi freighter traffic, and that combined with capturing two critical
| mxi systems was putting a major dent in the enemyos
was also favorable, for the Marine Colonel thatsvput in charge of each planet had done what Sioa had
wanted, just barricaded the occupation force behind armor and hard shields and told the Imxi to go about
their business. There had been some attempts to attack those headquarters, but after thestalesrsn
demonstrated for the newcomers how silly that idea was, the Imxi stalked off and started worrying about
their daily lives. Al'l three planets were either ar:
them, but the local Imxi aifials had to figure out who was in charge with the Faey blockading the planets,
t hen organize things so they could feed their people.
Sioa had made it clear to them that they were only there temporari t hat t h ekedpiaghé nnes wer e
planets, so the occupying Marines were living out of their packs and were staying in mobility status, so
they could evacuate back to the ships within 30 minutes of receiving the order. The first wave of ships
fromthe PR sector had arrived at Trieste, and according to the surveillance images, they entered close orbit
around Triesteds moon, Godjur 6mi. So many ships, so
infest them all. mimadeo selieplichte, tosbuildvampies of théemsgivespsg they
only had a finite number. Jason frowned when he did the math, and realized that with just the first wave,
they had more ships than they had free spiders floating around the space aroued Thestpiders
woul dndt be able to infect every ship.

They might have to do something about that.

Despite the recent storm between Jason and Dahnai,
their job. Jason looked over the initial colonizatiorcéothat arrived at QMQ02 from Exile just a few



hours ago, Merrane commercial ships and transports t ¢
They had an interdictor there and had just turned on,
make diplomatic contact with the largest nat&iate of QMGC202-2. Meya included some images of the

planet and some aeri al holos of sever al native vill af

l ook out of pl ace heindigifoasracaon QMe022hwas cthssifled @ hrumanoid,
but they were a bipedal canoid species like the Kimdori and Beryans, vaguely resembling jackals or
coyotes, eartioned shorthaired fur with narrow muzzles, where Kimdori resembled big, shagegswol
and Beryans looked like small terriers. Like Beryans, these QMC canoids wore clothing, where the
Ki mdori wuswually didnét . Then again, the clothes woul
weremadef r om t he Ki mdor i ,wesaor tahneyyt huisnuga Itlhye yd iddindont6t f or m
mass.

I't was kinda creepy to touch a shapeshifted Kimdor.
they felt like wool or cotton or silk, it was actually made of Kimdori flesh.

The Merraneswererale ady hard at work at planet 3. Theydd mov
Myra had built in the equatorial belt, and had already anchored the first of the water replicators, securing it
to the underlying bedr ock, marnow Thephweyedatingupsome t i vat i ng |
modular hydroponic farms and groumdusion terraforming bulldozers, which were farming tools that
turned sterile soil into soil fertile enough for growing crops, most likely tough crops capable of handling
the39degre€el si us average daytime temperature along the e
be a problem, since theydd have the water replicator
equipment to get at those ore deposits under the initial site

Outside planet 3, the Merranes were also hard at work. Exploration and survey ships were fanning out
to scan the other planets and moons, looking for usable materials or potential sites for other colonies. Odds
were, theydd set aofthesbamto meonsomiling ong of thengasogiars to mine the
gas giant for rare heavy gas compounds, and there were several asteroids that had some usable ores in
them, according to the preliminary scans.

Good, that was why he gave them the systenthey could do just that. Jason sent a text message to
Meya reminding her to get some samples of the indiginous food plants for the Karinnes as well, so they
could see if they were worth growing. Meya hadbgbkonrof simple undyed wool, cotton, andkstloth
in the hold of theScimitar, perioda p pr opri at e trade goods theydéd offer ir
looks of the denizens of planet 2, they already had their own version of wool, and maybe cotton as well, so
their cl ot h wa dThedilk @nthemther haatmt weukl bet ekotic.

He then |l ooked up todayébés schedule up at Kosigi. F
docks today, but a KMS ship was also being finished today, the next tactical battleship. That ship was
being handled a bit differently, because they didnét
to park it, and it was going to wait two days until a crew was ready to take it over, then it would be

officially christened; in the KMS, ashipasné6ét christened unt il it was opera
operational without a crew. Juma and Myri stildl had:i
wanted Sevi to move up, but getting her to leaveAthaaxwas going to take an act ob& . Theyodd

probably go with Ravai, who was the captain of the heavy crié$ésrson Ravai had been on the

Jeffersoomor e t han | ong enough to satisfy the minimum dut

captains, and Ravai was a damn good ship taptend of course, that would create the captain carousel as

captains were promoted up through the ranks so each chair was filled, until they put a new captain in place

in the destroyerds chair that was wultimately freed uj
Looking ahead, he saw 5 motas coming off the docks in the next three days, two destroyers, a

cruiser, a tactical cruiser, and the second carrier. The next heavy ship coming off the docks was a full

battleship, which was in four days, and the day after that, two more full biflea tactical battleship,

two cruisers, and the third carrier was coming off the docks all in the same day. That was going to be a

very busy day for Juma, trying to crew those ships.
Looking even more ahead, he saw that by the time the leadersvatiaor the conference, they

would have 7 full battleships, 3 tactical battleships, 2 cruisers, 2 carriers, and 14 destroyers coming off the

docks. Juma said she had crews in training for those ships, but he also foresaw a major shakeup in the

commandstuct ure as so many big ships came off the docks

hell of a lot of people up the chain to get experienced commanders in those big ships, then replace them on

the ships they left, and so on and so on. They wdarg do have darge number of complete greenhorn



captains in the destroyer fleet, as any destroyer captain with any experience whatsoever was going to move
up to the cruisers to replace captains promoted up to the bigger ships.

Hell, at this rateJyslinmi ght end up in a captainébés chair, becaus

Sorabds Pride

Right before getting dressed, he looked up the altered Gladiator production, which was now 216%
what it was just ten days ago. Sioa was really crackingthe wiipmdoon t he producti on
shifted some Wolf production over to Gladiator production. They were now at that point where they had
more Wolf fighters than pilots to fly them, with some 4,500 sitting on a tarmac on the northern continent of

ne:

Virgaj ust waiting for a pilot. Theydd built them proje

plundering fighter squadrons from other ships. At the height of production, there were 14 Wolf fighters
coming off the production line every mireuét the 26 different factories producing them. There were only
12 factories producing them now, the other 14 retooled over to building Gladiators, building up their
numbers in preparation for the Benga.

And Symone finally had something real to do. thlt time playing around in a Gladiator made her
quite experienced, and with them needing so many riggers, Symone had been transferred from line testing
to a spot in the military as a rigger instructor. She was now a Major in the Karinne Marines, attémnst

her bars yesterday, who would be traini hayetorbew recr ui t

an officer to pil ot amGlozidghewas ofuckingbutetgoing to be awighs Jasonods

ranking officer if she was entag military service.

Given the KBB themselves trained Symone, and she ledrighteninglyfast, Jason had little doubt
shedd t ur ngraderriggers ftoméder trainipg platoon.

Gladiator service was something of a fast track in the armygthoAll riggers were at least
sergeants, so taking the path of the rigger was a guaranteed line promotion upon graduation. It was even

faster for Wolf pilots. They didndédt require Wolf

to be a god pilot, but all pilots were at least warrant officers in the Marines and Army and full officers in
the Navy. If one could pass the qualification tests and become a Wolf pilot, it was a fast track to jump right
over the enlisted ranks. Buttherestriccn was t hat they couldnét ever |

Academy degree, but it did take about two years of classroom trainingjraumi of four years of service
in the KMS, and a recommendation from a commanding officer. A Wolf pilot would stay a Wolf pilot until

he fulfilled all other officer requirements, then
commandr engineering or astrocartography, and retai

That was why Jason thought that Sioa had the better system with her warrant officers. They could
become officers the same as the Naval Wolf pilots by completing the officer qualificagi@rements, but
until they did, they stayed warrant officers. I
Navy Ensign, they had the same pay scale.

That did make him a bit curious. He jumped over to the Academy Annex and lookedcupréme
crop of officer trainees. They had a dedicated two year Academy course for officers, kind of like ROTC,
and there were ®n of people enrolled in it. There was an alternate version for currenly enlisted KMS
personnel that had the same requireim@s Naval line officers; enlisted had to serve for four years,
academically qualify through testing, have an excellent record, and have a recommendation from their
commanding officer to enter the officer training course. The third version of offic@ngavas the
induction program for officers from other militaries who joined the house, which was much shorter since
those officers already had the basic training and skills required to be a good officer. The ROTC version
was a two year course, the OC8aflemy for enlisted candidates was a 6 month program, and the OCS
program for new house members who were officers in other militaries was a 7 week course. The ROTC
course was one of the most popular satellite courses they offered. The vast majorgeyesiad
Terrans, but there were a large number of Shio in the first semester class, the fresh enrollees, and there
were also a bunch of Shio military officers in the induction program, which took officers from other
services and trained them in KMS proaues, like Ensigns Javra Blackstone and Mikano Strongblade.
Both had been officers in the Federated Navy before joining the house, took the accelerated course as part
of their basic training and PTS training, and graduated as officers in the KMS.

Those dficers would also be on the fast track for promotions until they achieved the equivalent rank

theydd held in their prior service. Javra had been

promotions would come quickly, until he reachedthe sammen k heéd once hel d.

eave
did all the coursework and extra training to qualify

q



After getting into his armor, Jason kissed Jyslin goodbye and headed in to work, with a very smug
looking Ryn and Dera along with him, and Shen and Suri already at the office waiting for him. The Marine
corvetteThunderdanded at th White House, and to his surprise, U.N. Secretary Kim was standing at the
landing pad waiting for him, nearly two hours early. Chirk was also standing by the platform, which was
very unusual, the large Kizzik and Kim in conversation. Kim was a trefsudason, since he was highly
intelligent, politically cunni n-lpgkingspedies blledhe timedhn 6t s c ar ¢
his role as the ruler of the planet that held the Academy. Emissaries came to the Academy all the time to
look it over, check on their people that were taking classes, and with Ayuma restricted to Karis, it was Kim
that was greeti ng trénking schaoltofficiald yKimnhadgpobablyi netn®re species
in his role as the Secretary General than Dahad as the Empress, since Kim interacted with
governments far beyond the home sector, many of which avoided the Imperium like the plague, either due
to the telepathic Faey or their infamous bent for conquest.

AKim, 0 Jason said hs DBDeraamepdoBynolhehihedhhat m. filYou

il know, your Grace, but | thought it important to
bit on the | apels of his very smartly tapbpriggtred gray
out over what happened between you and the Empress. Many of the government officials are ringing my
phone off the hook, because they candét get any answeil

Al didndét think of that, o he ugerhuntreodubl eil0 hope t hey

AThey didndt until the BrheeseiiloQheenephowdd ufpSha mgr
insistent. 0

iOQuch, 06 he winced. AAl right, I 61l call her as soor
Karis. 0

Al wi |l | UWunnMagsticdHivel eeader @ mmedi at el y Qlpiomk&=®turn to
translatorcalledAi| wi || see to it she has clearance to travel

ifGood, thanks, Chirk. Tel | her 1 dm in conference v

AAlTrigdhan, tlall me whatdés going on, 0 Kim said in a m
Ki méds Korean need for propriety sl iwepegoddfends.i t when t |

APretty much what you he aersonpal mamek Jason dften thowglipt that e d | usir

with a name like Kim Duk Moon, he might have been teased a bit in school, but Kim had done all his

schooling in Korea befor e thatumusmlinKpraag Bluch ligensgeveraind hi s n:

otherAsiamc ul t ur e s, in Korea, the family surname al ways caé
a

| mperium due to a bunch of crap | wondt go into in
public declaration later today to be played over aliti@h e | d pl anet s. 0

AwWhat 6s going to happen to Terra?2bo

That 6s what youdre here to talk about, 0o he repliec

What about t he wdperrrtanofpeohplse ?2de cAraer ati on?2o0

No, 0 he replied. subjectoeKarmnef notmeenbesof KafinneT But meaanda r e

Dahnai are working something out for Terra | think e\
When they got to his office, Jason sat Kim down and explained everything in detail, both why he

declared independence and what they were trying topsfetr Terra, and much as he expected, Hith

Il ike that bit of news. Al f Dahnai changes Terra to

authority for the planet, o0 Jason told hinmstatfiThat me:

handling all those things that either the Karinnes or the Imperium handles right now. Dahnai will be

sending you a list of quotas, and as long as the planet meets them, Terra is independent. Thatimeans

will have to handle diplomacy with ¢hother governments, managing planetary security when the Imperial

o ) B e 1§

Marines |l eave, and youdll have authority to make tr acf
wonébét have to worry about is milit ®ahgaiwlbethewmet i on . A
defending the planet iif itdés attacked. 0

iléthink | see what youb6re after, o0 he said, tapping
agreement with the Collective to go seetor d e . 0

AExact !l y. We 6 | | albaeoungd Tetrd ainchlepving thaTE§ astthe enly way in or out

of interdicted space, which will mainly deal with outside governments not in the Confederacy. Terra will

be the new hub for most commercial traffic in the sector, if we can get the otherfotatg But with
TerraneutralandlConf eder at e governments all owed to park mild@
anyone will mind that much. A neutral hub system might be the incentive the others need to sign on to the

deal . 0



AThey mwipghdj nd on the concessions that Empress Dahr
mo ment . AThe Dbiggest wo insidetheir temritory. MeanwowlditHedretidally t he St a
allow Dahnai to link those gates to other gates where Dabuodd send her fleet in and take over a
system. 0O

ANot when |1 &m the one controlling the interdictors,
shut off the interdictor at Draconis and all the syst

AThgtuéddsd one of the things wedll have to work out af
happen, but itds going to take quite a lot of discus:
make the others trust her with something like colitiglthe only way they have in and out of their own
systems. 0

Al know, thatoés why | think the summit is going to
chuckl e. iBy the way, consider your seduthoriiyofai t ed, Dul

neutral planet, so you have the right to sit at the table from now on. That includes meetings of the
Confederate Council .o
Al dm sure | can manage the extra meetings, 0 he chuc
SkéVrae barged int opidseads x ¢ifEfaii me yoandedlie Uaclhad Kar i
in hissing Urumi.

Ailéd be happy to, your Majesty, o0 Jason said cal mly,
for her Majesty?0 he called |l oudly. cldiaNomsylneeti at | 6ve
your input on how we handle the four systems the Karinnes administer. | had no intention of violating our
agreement, your Majesty, o he said quickly. il dm not

approve of those decisions. 0
She looked quickly mollified, taking a seat in the chair Chirk quickly brought in, a reinforced one with

a very low split back to accommodate Sko6Vraeds heavy
Gener al Kim of the yebranés governing authorit
AWe know each other quite well, your Grace, 0 Kim se
is good to see you again, your Majesty. o
Al 6m glypuhetree,seKéd m, 0 Skbé6Vrae said firmly. Al respe
fi | & m ohteersame feason you are, your Majesty. The Grand Duke Karinne is moving faster than
the rest of us would Ilike, and maybe a touch faster |
AAnd here | am, trying to catch eeememnne amdBuevedryt
couldnét wait any longer. 0
AVery well then, JBwrmthing 06 Explain this to me.

And he told her everwaymadrneg .i n floarsmant igoarv et hSeknd Vireabed g i
telling her exactly what he did, why he did it, andngoover all his plans for handling the Karinnes
splitting from the | mperium. AMe and Dahnai havenot
yet, but one thing we both agree on is that a neutral Terra acting as a trade hub for all our Ceaiédsrat
benefitseveryone The Imperium makes money, the Confederate empires gain a fast and efficient way to
move their goods from system to system, and it creates a web of quick access points that Confederate ships
can use to respond to any ConsortmnBenga attack. But those Stargates are going to be as much a

worry for the others as they are a blessing. You know, be€alsgaii s t he one controlling t
A had my own share of reservations,6Auernioguageh, o os hlei mi
agreed. ABut your idea does have some potential. | f

and that the Karinnes witlot support any aggression that Dahnai incites, they might just agree to your
idea. My own trade reveies have increased by nearly ninety percent since Dahnai placed Stargates at alll
Collective systems. The Entry Station has done everything that you promised that it would. Our goods
move quickly, and the interdictors combined with the Stargates makeotleetive an impregnable
fortress which our foes cannot breach. 0

AFor now. Theydre working on something to get ar ot
not the Collective, o0 Jason told hbeyob6r @l 6pet god my p

AfiDo not forget that the Benga are only three years
council, 0 s he thethgauddea of d&inBtearkeoliSsargatas find interdictors has a great deal
of potential to becomerka t y. 0

fGood, because we need a better system than piggybes
said. iltds stretching my merchant marine fleet to I



il am confident that the Shi o sahimmmetddtedy, wichne Col oni e s
should take some strain off your freighter fleet, o SI
for all their systems bordering Trieste, which will give our combined militaries immediate response to any
attack fromthedr ces hol ding Trieste. 0

il é6ve thought of that too, 06 Jason nodded.

Al f might interrupt, o Kim said politely, Al t hink
Empress Dahnai to put control of the Stargaté®imanhands, putting a neutralgiet in control of the
link status of the gateways into our allied systems, they might be inclined. The main fear that they will
have is that Dahnai can use the Stargates to initiate surprise attagtkshd$ no control over those
St argat edoffo he trail

AThat has potential, 0 SkéVrae agreed. AThe Stargat
Station that would have operational control of them. That is how it already works at the Entry Station, as
we l | as at Aurigae. o0

AThe t bieckowiviihcing Dahnai to do that, o0 Jason grunt
the four jointly held systems?0

il am not backing out of our agreement, 0 she replie
the systems, | will leave thingsshey ar e. Has Dahnai spoken of this?0

AA Tittle, mainly hinting that sheé6éd |l eave things t
smart enough not to get creative. o0

AUr umi adher e lettepandwe expertootherstd do tlkeasteee 0 t he Br ood Queen
ABut with your house becoming an independent entity
reflect this change in status. o0

ifSo, we dig up Houseoftbd Irdperunvith mdependenp Hoase/arywhere it
shows up, then sign them again, o Jason shrugged.

Al was of a simil ar YouJdason, ldrost. ¥ou Bavedkept youa wardp ahdiaeed . fi
well known among all in our sector cluster to be hon

Ailf they onlay knuew tahastcoludmrel as the rest of them,
burst out |l aughing. Even SkéVrae gave a |ittle hiss

ADo you intend to keep the profit sharing system wi

He nodd e d tomaifidin stdbiity withiath&iann 6 he repl i ed. AWith every
cut, no house can compl ain. I'f they do, the other he

Al do |l ove your |l ocal colloquialysweylod Stké Vamgr ynadé ¢

AA ITittle bit. I't mainly means that the | arge pack
tried to change the agreement. For some houses, the stipend from the four Urumi systems is a significant
piece of their yearly revene . Bellar is a higly profitable planet. o

AAs | know, 060 SkdéVrae agreed. Al wi l | be most weager

With Kim and SkdédVrae there, Jason had a seasoned poc

feedback on his publi@announcement. He read it to them and they debated it, mainly over how much he

had to reveal that caused him to make the move, and how much he should say about how it was going to

change things. Both of them agreed that he needed to be fairly desaifticeut Kar i nneds goal s |
the move, as well as lay the foundation for the idea of a trade system that would be controlled by the

neutral Terrans and overseen by the neutral Karinnes. The main thrust of the announcement, however, was

declaringallbtt i n st one the Karinneds desire and intent to
maintained many of their ties to it.
Chirk came back in and politely madeMyher sel f noti ce

apologies,majestic Hivkeader, butthene et i ng of the Conf eder ahedaoldCounci |

i
them.AiDo you require a room so that you may attend frorn
iActually, it would be best i f we all attend, from
serlousaboutleanlng what Jason intends They all know that
iYah, they should hear it from me before | make t he
ﬁDoes ahnai know this, Jason?0 Kim asked.
He shook his hcelaejar|mg°\n|dtl\@imt moher Il bdbodbéehand wer Tha
youanymorée hat this is all about. o
SkdVrae gave that hissing chortle. AThis | want toc

Chirk helped turn SkoVr ae aupthe ilognainsafter theyillkhad ar ound,
something to drink. The others appeared along the back walfldeging two dimensional holograms,



with a rather surprised Dahnai in the middl e. Zaa Wi
she was busy Kimdori. She had one of her aides sitting in, who would only listen, would not speak.

Aiwhat are you doing there, SkéVrae?0 Dahnai asked poi
AGetting the truth o persomalfy ot hseh eGraannsdw eDruekde bKl aurni tnlnye.,
ASpeakhatg, offettés get all that on the table right no

havedeclared independence from the Imperium. Me and Dahnai are currently negotiating over the finer
points of that declaration, but the basics of it is thathstsagreed that Karinne needs a degree of
autonomy. 0

AAut onomy may be too strong a word, o Dahnai stated.
A have several reasons for doing this. Mai nl vy, it
said, giving her amntsigtean differensspiésdodéris to tryficSstea lBiogenissp e
exploiting the fact that sheang et t hem here. 0o

Dahnai flushed just a tiny bit.

ifiSo, the main reason | made this declaration is so
hecmmt i nued. AThe finer points of my declaration invo
Imperium and what to do about the five planets that the Karinnes administer within the Imperium. But the
main thrust of my intent is to turn Karis into an indepamtcand completelgeutral system wher@o one

has any political authority but the Karinnes. 0
AThat much I 6m inclined to give, 0 Dahnai told the ¢
AYeadwyou are after | found all your spies, 0 he repl
ABut | & m n o tKarinnesgo. They have dotigs ahdiokligations, as webhatsactswith
the I mperium. 0
AfAnd t hereds also the fact that the Karinnes are a
Badmr abei nsedtahee dKkar ifinVee s . 0
AWedre not badckihemgideals that created the Confeder:
| 6thinkingabout the Confederation by making this move. T
the authority of Dahnai any mogrthe logisticBueérations te keeplthe be mansz:
interdictors in place, wedll still be offering those
remain a part of the Confederate military alliance, 0
agreeabout is what to do about Terra. Both of us want to turn Terra iptotectorateo f t he | mper i um. 0
AWhat is this protectorate?06 Grayhawk asked. i Wh at
Ailt means that it wildl be an i ndéyptleimperiam, pl anet bei
Grayhawk, 06 Dahnai answered. AfSecretary Kim there wil

planet, and while the Terrans will be considered Imperium citizens and have passage rights within the
Imperium, their planet itself willdindependent. They will be subject to no house and free to make their

own | aws, so long as those |l aws donét violate the col
independentolonyof t he | mper i um, basically a ward of the thr
fiYetshhat is how it was explained to me, o0 Kim nodded.
Nations wil/ need to do to take over operational <cont
AThereds a bigger reason behind doisaidturhingihis t hat al |
chair slightly and putting his elbow on his desk. -
together much longer the way itdés going, o0 he told the
the breaking point,andwko n6t even have all of our alliesd syst ems
adding just five more interdicted systems to the schedule is going to start causing food and supply
shortages. By turning Terra into a sgifverened planet whose neutralgylreadyestablished, due to the
Academy, we can turn Terra into a hub for trade and logistics using Imperium Stargates to open into
strategic systems in each allied governmentos territ
outnewlogis i cs schedules that wondt push us to exhaustion
i mage of the system that he had in mind. AThis is t|

been discussing. We create a hub of Stargates at Teese Stargates will be controlled and operated by
the Terrans not the Imperium, placing them under the control of a neutral third party. The Stargate on the
other end will be set up so it requires a command code to be transmitted by the governnargide, th

giving that government the ability to remotely link or delink the Stargate, giving you a key to the door, as it
were. From the hub system on the other side of the Stargate, we create a network of supply lines that
services all systems surrounditig hub system, which is a much more effective usage of Karinne
resources. We create a hub of centralized supply lines and logistics at Terra that services all allied



governments in the Conferederation, but also offering these services to the Zyathya Moddon, since
theyalreadyhave Stargates opening from Terra to their respective planets. In addition to being used for
military purposes, Dahnai offers each government the use of the Stargates for all commercial traffic as
well, for which you pay anodest transit fee for commercial traffic that would be equal to or perhaps even
cheaper than trying to transport those goods by hyperspace, with the added benefit of being able to move
your trade goods from source to destination in real time. Militagyofishe Stargates will carry no fee,

since free passage through all Confederate territory is part of the Articles of Confederation we all signed.

Al know this is asking several of you to invest a |
sada y I vy, Abut part of this idea is to place the main
neutral party. The Terrans were conquered by the Faey some seven years ago, and let me tell you, quite a
few people on my planet will do backflips jofy when they hear that the planet is being liberated. Every
one of you here has been to Terr a, alofyducgnagreéeve seen hi
that the Terransanbe neutral and objective, especially when their neutrality isaheerstone of their

independence from the | mperium.?o

ANot i ndemptectodtesntcaet,us, 6 Dahnai <cut i n.

AAs far as the Terrans wil/l car e, itds independence
all governments, my esteemed colleaggyed he added. AAI'l of you wildl have

from Terra for both civilian and military traffic. So all of you can park your fleets in Terran space freely,
and you will have the right to defend the Stargate leading into your teijtigirgs the Zyagya and the

Moridon have those rights. And |61 1 t enythingthkatll of you,
think goes against the neutral status of Terra, I 611
bluntly, whih made her glare at him a bit. i know that th

your territory might be a little worrisome, but with the Karinnes neutral, Terra neutral, and with me willing

to sign individual dual protection treaties with diyou that will state that if the Imperium violates the

agreement, the Karinnes will declare war on the Imperium, that | hope to convice all of you to seriously

consider my idea. A trade hub like Terra can behgf us profit, and allow all Confederafi@rces the

ability to rapidly deploy to any threatened planet ol

Dahnai in check to the best of my ability, which is half of what me declaring independence from the

Imperium is about. | have so miubope for our sector, ladies and gentlemen, but we can only realize it if

the Karinnes are an independent aedtralp ar t y. 0O
AwWwhat about the Academy, Jason?0 Empress Vizzie ask
Alt remains exactly as it i s, lwayhwl bautterlyand e d . AThe A

strictly neutral, in all things. It exists solely as a place to learn, ope@myavho has the desire to get an

education. The main reason | wanted Terra removed from the Imperium is to put that fact in stone, to use a

Terran idom, to make it inviolate and absolute. The Academy is neutral, and it will be placed on a neutral

planet whose only ties to the I mperium are the commet
to provide military prwhiech ipmotidctis 0Berewvads anée wtcrkald
AThe Moridon are willing to recognize Terrads neutr
Academybs status as a neutral place of | earning is t
TheMor i don will pledge support for a neutral Terra, foc
AAs will Fihel doMads ha&l Grranés vocoder agreed, hi's
words.
Al think we all @¢aAssabpuhadeedo thBhe fHlofdademy is f
us, for it functions as much as a point of common operation as it does a place of learning. The War Room
is placed within the Academy, for example. 0
AThat will have tojedtaanpge, KyvmusaildmpapohbdbgMaically.

partisan military operation within the Academy and maintain its neutrality. With the planet itself becoming
neutral, we need to move the military command center out of the Academy. | will consuktwvethls
Makati firms on Terra about building a Confederate military headquarters, where the current military

cooperative effort can be centralized, yet remain on
Al think thatoés a good idea, 0 Astn@auntidtheaBgngaeaeed . iGi ve

vanquished, which is some years away, moving our combined military headquarters into a dedicated

compound built specifically for that purpose is ideal
Al agree. I put forth we pr oWbydenemlSecektargm, f or a nev

with our military commanders supplying the requiremeil



Aiwe wondét require funding, your Majesty, o0 Kim cougt
states that the planet of Terra bears responsibilitglf@xtensions of the Academy. Since the current
headquarters iwithin the Academy, this technically means that Terra is responsible for constructing your

new headquarters. The Academy will take care of it .
AThen | et wus vote owhemovtihneg ntehwe bhueialddgiunagr tiesr sr eady, 0

voted, and it passed without objection. AFor one, J:

as suitable safeguards were in place to protect the sovereignty of the Colonies, bevimaléhed to

recommend this idea to the Grand Master and the counc
Al 61l 1 need more information before | consider it, o
Al ol | have that information for you once me and Dat

Dahnai nodded. Jaso was somewhat sur pr i s eodperatireaHe haDthehfeebng was bei
she had something up her sleeve when it came time to iron out the agreement.

AWedre having a bithowwhdepeadgumehntheo Kar sagumets ar e (o
ryly, which made Grayhawk chuckl e. Al do under st ani
ndependence iif this idea is going to work, I see wh:
AWhat about the betrothal ?0 Grayhawk asked.
AThat 6s still in place, 6 Jason replied. He was
Grayhawk was a romantic at heart. iRann has the
particular matter i s dhatchuecke. bot h our hands, 0 he s

Dahnai actually |l aughed. Al éll say. [ revok
no intention of revoking it anyway. If the Karinnes are going to be neutral, having our two families joined
by marriage warns the ahhouses of th8iannthat an attack against the Merranes will bring the Karinnes
intothe warorours i de. 0O

The other rulers nodded, understanding the value of
or |l ess on paper, 0 Badmrabdei noted.

ANDt wil |l not, 0 Jaswihbe empdduterdal , fAbfthte IK&avw e nailerseady p
the Karinnes will maintain stability in the Imperium by acting as a sledgehammer that smashes any house
that gets any ideas of trying to challengethe Memas f or t he t hrone. But thatods
right that with the Merranes becoming part of my f ami
dondt, the Karinnes wiwhybutd lenpepumtpalitics. Hf ta Kerienbsvaeeso and st ay
be trusted to run the logistics operations for the governments of the Confederation, our neutrality must be
beyond reproach. My allegiance to the Imperium will begin and end with Dahnai and her family, and
keeping them on the Imperialrtho n e . I f it doesnét involve keeping Dat
will stay the hell out of it. o
il see the value of such an arrangement, 0 the Over s
Imperium finally achieves complete politicsthbility, and all it costs her Imperial Majesty is releasing a
house that is already mostly neutral anyway. Quite

AThat 6s one of the very few reasons,bbésgebeagepetdeto
cal ml y. AWith the Karinnes being nenaverbeal , it puts me
chall enged. The Merranes wil|l hold the Imperial thr«
houses of th&iannto gaina measuef aut onomy. 0

AAndalwant a stable | mperium, 0 Badmradei stated. fi
I would |Iike to read over the ideas you and Dahnai al

Al ol l have an initial r o u onth Datinaiddve a fewermrd thingsto a coup | €
hash over, and | need to talk to Jrzdédkii and get her
in place. But , | 6m putting it forward that Secretar)
a this table from here on, since heds the one in con
majority of our coordinated interests. He needs to be part of the Confederate Council so he can better
coordinate Terran operations to host Confadere oper ati ons and activities. o

Al agree. I put forth the motion, 0 Assaba said. I
Confederate Council. i Wel come among us, Secretary Ki
Al extend the tbbankedoNafTeona tadbéehgranted a seat

said eloquently, standing up and bowing in the Korean manner, then he sat back down.
ANow that that business is out of the way, General

briei ng, 6 Dahnai said as a holo of Lorna appeared.



Jason drifted through the rest of the briefing, since it was all stuff he already knew yesterday, mainly
since it was the KMS and the Kimdori that supplied most of that information. While they debated the
moatives of the Consortium by moving all their ships to Trieste, Jason pondered the initial reactions to his
idea. In his opinion, it went better than expected. He expected skepticism from the larger empires and
cautious optimism from the smaller ones, betwas pleasantly surprised that Assaba seemed willing to at
least consider the idea, and much as he expected, the Shio and the Nine Colonies to favor it. Grayhawk
hadnét given a solid opinion either wsarywas but his ffaci
explaining it, and that was a good sign. Shio were so much like Terrans and Faey that it was very easy to
read their facial expressions. The Moridon were enthusiastic about it, and that was always a good thing.
The Moridon had a greatdealafp i t i c al clout in the sector, even if t
military. They had all the banks, and that gave them considerable power. If the Moridon liked it, they
could convince the skeptics to support the idea.
After t he br\VraefandrKign,sperdt anstbentwo h8uksdaliscussing his plans and the
political ramifications that a neutral Terra would entail, mainly revolving around the Confederation. Jason
and SkdédVrae went over that with Kihavetolkoldhicossn he was goi
against people like Assaba face to face, to deal with people with towering egos that would look at Kim like
a fat yearling ready for eating. After SkéVrae star
home, and theleft him to finish revising his public declaration. They had counseled him to be as open and
honest as possible, and he decided that that was the best course of action. His public declaration made it
abundantly clear why he was breaking away from thestiam, both because of the attempted espionage
and to serve as a neutral party to manage combined Confederate operations like logistics. He included the
plans for Terra in his declaration, and once he was done, he sent it out as a text press relgalsetaver
gravband to all diplomatic offices.
His declaration to the people of Karis was done via video, from his office. With Dera and Ryn
standing behind him, he sat at his desk, in his armor, and addressed the people of Karis.
AfGood aft ersnuwroen. mandys ofodényou have heard through r umo

radical move of declaring autonomy from the | mper i um,
caught the Imperium in several attempts at espionage, trying to steal biogenandrsthematics. These

acts just hastened what was going to be inevitable, o
of the house were never very formal. fi knew this d:
was going to eame this soon. So, to protect Cybi, the secrets of the house, and after the attack on Saelle
Karinne in an attempt to clone her, | 6ve decided t hat

and biogenics is to be opleofikanineen Sodomgas Empless ®ahnav er y si mp | «
Merrane carorder us to open our doors and hand over the secrets we protect, the house of Karinne is not
secure, nor is it safe.

AFor the |l ay citizen of the houseependentin much i
everything but name as it is, and this split sh
t h tr
t

goi
I

still have eir jobs, wedl !l all go to wor k, e

trade partners, andttce me mber s of the house who are from

Imperium or telecom service interrupted. Whélt change, and is already changing, is that alk non

Karinnes are being moved off t hosigi,pvhesenwe ¢adkeepsightr f ac e .

control over them, and a hell of a lot of job openings are going to come open for what those guest workers

were doing. They were building a series of factories on the unterraformed northern continent of Virga for

thewarebrt, and wedll|l take over building and operating

those jobs, check the listings on the house employment agency site on Civnet and get your applications in

qgui ck. Theyol | b e re& will be both actanyepositidng andstérrafsrmimg\pesitdons The

open.

il dm going to release a much more |l engthy written e
|l m not going to tie up the | uncht ihickemadeiDdralsmilemak i ng vy «
despite herself behind him. ABut 16l1 go over the :
Empress Merrane are currently in negotiations over just how the house is going to split from the Imperium.

As just about evgone knows, | have a personal investment in the Empress, and the stability and prosperity

of the Imperium is very important not just to me, but to every government in the entire sector. The House

of Karinne is going to remain as close to the Imperiunt @éan without being subject to it, and that means

we do what wedre already doing now, keeping the | mpei

]
0
a
h

® o c



| mperial throne. Webre also keeping all our militar)
the | mper i um. Wedbre not backing out on our agreement s
ANow, the other half of whatés going on, outside of

for a while of declaring neutrality to try to create a much more cooperative atmosphere within the

Confederation. Most every empire and government in our sector and the next sector over honor the

neutrality of the Karinnes, despite the fact that we were at that time a part of the Imperium, due to the

Academy and our policies. Ever since the houserwasf or med, wedbve stayed as neutr
with me declaring independence on behalf of the hous:
Karinnes completely neutral, itds my hopwerioushat we car
governments of the Confederation, mainly through the
she agrees that we have a good idea with what weore |
neutral planet, the system bedoga protectorate of the Imperium rather than a subject system, that acts as

a trade hub for all Confederate empires much the way it already operates for the Imperium and Collective.

Our hope is that Terra becomes neutral space where everyone hasehgbktsmf passage, the planet

acts as a trade hub to ship goods from sysem to system anywhere in Confederate territory, and it acts as a
chokepoint to protect the Imperium, the Collective, and our Confederate allies from outside agents and

enemy attack yoforcing everything coming into Confederate territory to come through the Entry Station.

ltds our plan to interdict every system held by our
St argates at Terr a t hatandalow them tousesthose ISlargatesito mowd tladee s 6 t e |
goods and military warships back and forth to Terra, and from Terra they can go anywhere in Confederate

territory quickly. It promotes trade, it provides the fast movement of military assets, apdnevboth

makes money and has security. Most of our allies would never allow this if it was the Imperium managing

the system, but thayightd o i tuswhfo iarées hol ding all the keys to the
t hat | 6ve s excmellthednonepthat mightthe flowirey into the Imperium with my idea.

iFor the Faey and Terran members of the house. I K
web6d break away from the | mperium, hemeyuwaottobdrave t he |
I dondét have the exact specifics ssetretjabdfieldtlmat |, but wed!
wants to return to the | mperium to do so. Clearly, i

secret technologies youdére stuck here because you know secrets
you want to repatriate back to the Imperium, you will be given that choice. Just remember this, friends, and

be warned. That 6s a o n e thalageriumyyoupwilhotbelaflowedtowe r epat ri at ¢
apply for admittance into the house. If you leave, you leave for good. So think very carefully about what

you want to do, and dondt feel rushed. Itds going t«
havendt even ironed out all the details with the Empi
slightly sour face. AwWhat | can tell you is donodt dc¢
see where the house will stand lie thew system, wait to see what the rules are going thdranake

your choice. | want everyone to make a careful, informed, anetlight out decision about what you

want to do.

AOkay, | think thatdés about euneo ubgahc hoif manttcehr,rou pntei nngo
glancing over to the side. ABy the way, ités six to
said idly. fEveryone keep an eye onrboxesh &mef ficial Dul
official declaraions and more information will be sent to every vidlink and interface on the planet, and as
al ways, if you have questions, get in touch with youl
have the most current iamdclomonedornmal@amouaceraentlatalpress . I 61 1 mq
conference once | have everything finalized and we have an operational treaty in place with the Imperium.

So, thatdés it. Everyone have a good day. 0

When the feed cut off, Chirk opened the door and lookedRevered Hivéeader, consort Aura
wi shes to see you. O
Dera and Ryn smirked.

AfYeah, yeah, push off both of you, 06 Jason snorted,
voiceless laugh. Aura padded into his office, wearing her armor which was nowdpaitiie uniform
code and colors of a personnel transport pilot, worKk.i
the job training, flying in the copilotés chair on t|
asked.

Nothing of imprtance,she replied with a smile, putting her helmet on his déglst finished my duty
assignment, and wondered if perhaps youdd Iike to go



Afraid Iédm a bit too busy to go out, hbafftedwhy dondt

Am | staying for breakfastéhe asked pointedly.
You arenow, he sent immediately, which made her smile.

Well, that was easghe laughedl wasné6t sure i f youb6d have ti me
heard.
Wedll talk adogwdaod hiadea of wamat t he average citizen

them around. | know you can hear them chatting.

Oh yes. Therebs al | skeanoddesAngway, letummget homefsd Ixanng ar ound,

change. When should | arrive?
Whenever. Jys is home. She worked from home today, mainly talking over free agents with Frinia

Great! I havenodt g shesentprgldly. vurda amd Jgsénrweré veny goad whi | e,
friends, somet hing J a s o &t leastefrone a Terfam poiht ®fdiiewt. blisWife nd a bi t ¢
was good friends wistHaeyhi 1 emirgdt sdhed&t hdote wae running

More or | ess. Friniads the one making suggestions,

Then we have much to tadbout, we had no bachi on Exile and | find the game absolutely fascinating,
Aura chuckled aloud, picking up her helmet. She came around his desk and gave him a kiss, then headed
forthedoorDondét st shgordeesh | at e,

I wonot .

With actual plansvaiting for him after work, and wanting to have a short day after all the stress of the
last couple of days, Jason whipped up the initidlonise press release, going into more detail about his

plans for Terra and how tumeith&ars lieieg aiclosede aummmdusi g wi t h

system, as well as his future plans for fostering cooperation among the Confederate empires by acting as a
neutral agent. He pushed it out as Shen and Suri called in a corvette to take him home, and thefour of th
walked with him through the halls of the White House, which now had many more guards at the hallway
intersections, and they were all armed with external railguns or pulse rifles. It was lunch hour in the
building, so the halls were thick with Dukal elapees, many of which bowed or waved to Jason as he

moved towards the landing pad. The Marine cordettegeranded just as he came out, the pilot skillfully
parking the large ship on the pad in the only way it would fit, with its bow almost agaimsaitduilding

and its stern hanging over the perimeter fence. The ship still gleamed, betraying the fact that it was built
and commissioned only a couple of weeks ago, and its captain had bow art on her ship, a depiction of the
Imperial Rangers from ancieFaey history. The Rangers were a legendary society of archers from the

First Unification period whose aim was without peer, and had never lost any battle in which they fought.
The painting was a lithe female Faey, her hair tied back in a topknodnagldgant composite bow in her

hand, drawn and ready to fire. Those composite bows, he recalled from Faey history, had been a
technological breakthrough that gave the Rangers far more range and accuracy than other archers, and that
attributed to their stcess. The Rangers wore no armor as a taunt to their enemies, were adept at firing
their bows from a mount, even firing while moving, and they wore only a loincloth or short skirt with a
headband that had the insignia of the Rangers stamped on it. tAdimfalso wore a tight wrap around

their breasts to bind them so they didnét interfere

Whoever painted that had gotten all the details exactly right. Marine Colonel Jaxira Karinne appeared in
the hach. She was the one of youngest commandl officer in the KMS, even younger than Jeya,

having just earned her Colonel ds bar | ast mont h.
Hey Jax, nice shiplason complemented as he came up the stairs.
The paint i sshe@tinnedstonigdo ¥y f yber brilliant white
warrior, that was for sure. She was short for a

waifish build when not in her armor. But her slender little body was almost obsceoaly atrd durable.
Jaxira ran a marathon a week and could do it carrying a battle pack that weighed half as much as she did.

She was also very pretty, pretty enough to easily

slender build, and smdreasts were not the ideal Faey build, not the Faey concept of ideal physical

beautyéJdyslin was more or |l ess the perfect example

the best, because Jaxira, or Jax as she was more commonly knowneWwel @ia Marine. Highly
educated, well trained, and with plenty of battle experience before coming to the KMS, Jax had been one of

the girls captured in the Trillane attack on Terra

then, had rached the rank of Sergeant in the Trillane Army. She was one of the many Trillane soldiers that

took Jasonédés offer and enlisted in the KMS and serv

went to officer school and worked her way up to Capthen she retired to pursue her dream of starting
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and running a business. But she rejoined the KMS when the Consortium attacked, barely four months after
she retired. Shedd worked her way up frem Captain t«
were in desperate need of capable corvette commander
usual way had she stayed in, but they needed her on the bridge of a corvette, so she was fast tracked to
Colonel. Jax brushed her silver hair ouhef face, which was thick, straw straight, and somewhat wild,
giving her a pri mal kind of l ook, which was accented
but she didnét have Pemai d6s dar ker Noiwn dceltdrs tghedat orue
hookyplaying Grand Duke home for lunch.

That 6s ab o u tasdan keeat withra gchudkle as he bbarded the corvette, his guards filing in
behind him. 6ve had a stressf ul coupl e of tledpaposand so | 6 m gon
have a nice dinner with my family.

Always good to keep things in perspective, your Graepe smiled as her helmet floated over to her.
Jax was a telekinetic, and a fairly strongsheoneéand | i
came to House Karinne. Everyone knew she was a TK, but like many Faey, she concdatedsjushg
she was Jax had gone to the Academy course for telekinetics to further refine her ability, taking dedicated
training in it, and it had been very sessful. From what Jason recalled, Jax was capable of lifting
upwards of 3konn or about 31 kilograms or about 70 pounds or so. For dGemeration, that wagery
impressive. The training had nearly doubled her strength by helping her refine antddopower, as
we l | as |l earn advanced applications of it. Jaxbds nat
bursts, like a telekinetic punch, delivering a stunning blow at close range. It was like being hit in the face
by a barbell, and armavas no protection since she could focus her palreughthe armor to strike the
flesh and bone beneath. That waseasy to do, almost as hard as affecting liquids without resorting to
manipulating the space they occupied.

For a Marine, being ablet st un someone that <coul dndhdkradway t el epat h
was arextremelyuseful little trick.

Jason took a seat back in the tactical center with his guards, and Jax sat with him as the pilots ferried
him back to the strip, just catching with her. Jason knew most of the upper ranking officers in the KMS
personally, and had long friendships with many of t he
t he KMS. She told him about her sneewewasbatlsintsehop, now
KMS, where she bought and sold jewelry from or to almost every race in the sector. From Urumito Shio
to Faey to Colonial to Skaa, if it was meant to be worn on the body to accent or emphasize, she either had it
or could get it. She even had three craftsmen in her shop that did repairs and made custom orders, a Faey, a
Terran, and a Shio, who oddly enough were the three races that had the greatest love of jewelry in the
sector.

That made Jax a good woman to talk to about tihenoercial impact declaring independence might

have on the planetds businesses. When he explained

and considered it, then leaned back in the chair at the sensor post, turned to fadenhignwell, for met

wonot 1 mpact mshe tglchhompThevorly pyoblemul migght have is getting offworld

materials we can6t replicate, l' i ke Urumi trimetal

right, I woul dnét buyointnaf mam a&nwyyaoryd he lnge .t hrlofu gwe oTrea

cause a major bottleneck right at first, as the TES tries to deal with the massive increase in cargo going

through it. The TES woul dndt be managing shipments within
T h e pefiat she sent stronglylt has to gosomewherevh er e it can be scanned, esp

coming here. Theydd put fifty spy probes in every sl

Well, we were planning on using a series of space stations footifpr each government. If it goes
through their Stargate, they have the right to inspe:¢
Okay, that makes sense. But thatodéds still gonna sl c
| 6d bett etfputlinow erdeGova n a |
Webdre about t othelpiotrsentpoltelyur Gr ace,
Settle in when we land, grab some mess over at the Imperial Guard batdastig,called backlax,
l etds talk a little more about this.
Sure.
Jax ate lunch with himral Myleena, who was down from Kosigi to grab some gear out of her lab, and
Jyslin and Aura were out at the shopping center just down the street from the strip. He bounced ideas off of
her as an entrepreneur and got her honest opinions about how thilgsffieigt the small business owner
like her, an outlook that Kumi couldnoét really exten:t



in, just sitting down and getting some rest, and from the look of her, she needed it. She was still tearing

that Consortium battleship apart, learning the differences in technologies they employed in their big ships
compared the the destroyer theydédd captured, and she |
sleep in the last three days. She yawned @uiitie, and Jason almost had to force her to eagrddedlanks

andimi beans that Surin made for them.

I 61 I have some detail ed report shewldhinhasehe gpaonadl es hi p r
beans into her mouth, eating ravenously oms®d finally made her committothe me8lo f ar , ités bot
what | expected and a little surprising.

How so?Jax asked.

She glanced at the Colonel. Myl eeena didndédt know t
the table, it was clear thae lirusted her with whatever Myleena might seyell, they upscale their tech
very effectively, at least until you get to their power generation. They use an entirely different type of
striated power plant than they do in the destroyers.

That 6s ikeost We jusigscale our singularity plants for the power requiremintsjoted.Or
use standard PPGs for low power applications.

Yup,MyleenanoddedT hei r battl eship plants have an entirely

as efficientag heir destroyer c¢class plants, because it seems

striation decay when striated output goes over siXx t¢

massive plants and just outproduce the power loss frontstrian decay. Majorly fuckiné
I'tdéds t he best JaxisenysoberhWeethought that meigpltased plants were the combs

in Trellebébs hair before we came here and saw singul al
| 6m not complainimngateaesd,| cohgyds$s |t meVylecmassent ac k t he i

with a slightly malicious smile.

Jyslin and Aura almost bounced in, both of them in their armor and carrying a few shoppingieags.
love,Jyslin sent withasmileLunch, f antiagti c! |l 6m starv

Where were you two?

Buying Aura some Paladin fan stughe winked.And some pretty sexy lingerie. Gotta keep you
interesteds he sent with subtly erotic undertonesénot for A
seeing Aura wearing whatedf bought. Lingerie was a Terran affectation, since Faey considered the nude
body the pinnacle in natural beauty and thus were willing to show off what was under the lingerie, but it
was starting to gain a foothold in the Faey romantic scene, as wiedl agipping and prostitution scene.
Sometimes, teasingly hiding something was more erotic than seeing it, and Faey women were starting to
l atch onto that factébut in a weird way. Faey women
was strangelyet i ci ng, and fAmasculine |lingeried was spreadin
Terran art of striptease was also getting really popular in the Imperium, for watching a man, or woman,
teasingly undress while intentionally trying to incite desireihe spect at ors wasnét somet h
in Faey culture, again due to the Faey love of the nude body. Faey striptease, if it could be called that, had
always been about the dancer already being naked when they came out and dancing for theutrowd. B
some women did like to wear lacy, sexy bras and panties, Myleena particularly, so there was a market for
what Jason would call more traditional lingerie.

Ah, so this is AuraJax sent lightly, giving Jasonaslylook.6 m Col onel J aixafthd Karinne
KMS corvetteRanger she introduced.
Yes, | 8hmnoAdedl &8 6s nice to meet you.

You have good taste, Jasdax declared, which made Aura preen just a little bit.

You have no idedne replied easily, which made Myleena grin.

Oh,lal® got some steaks for the gr i IJyslinadded(foffeaqngr ed youd
a bag to Surin.

Youbve been peeking in my hedaasonactusedlightthm sl eepi ng ac

Who needs you to sleepdwnyou, sillyboy. The pretty | ittle head of yours
thought | d ocshedebsekwittbavsmieb ou't |,

Much as 16d | ike to hangMyrenosentdtandinigugot a ton of wor

Youbdbd better be balasknsdnbempatiaer e f or dinner,

| will be. | need to get my notes organized, and | do that better in my home lab. Can you watch
Danelle til | get home?

Dondét | al ways?



After he finished talking to Jax, she got back to her duties, and Jason deliberately avoided doing any
work. He sat at the piano and just doodled in a musical sense as Jyslin and Aura got rid of their armor and
l ounged around the house in shorts and bikini tops,
wandered in and joined Jason with kemirin, sitting on a stool made for an armored sitter, plucking at her
old instrument with casually masterful proficiency. Jason had found out that the instrument got its name
because it was invented in the city abdfpoWwennihat i n, t he

was a surprise to him, since the instrumentoés design
shakuhachivood flute or old medieval lute. In reality, tlemirin had been a mainstream instrument for

onlyabout 600 yearsamda s n 6t i ncluded in most traditional Faey o
orchestras didnét include electric guitarséand 600 vy«

when the Faey were the most technologically advanced race in the bettits design was simple, basic,
almostancient

It was really curious that someone ddbyTerrme | mperi um
standards. But, that was life when one lived in a spacefaring culture.

Jason and Aya basically justdgied for nearly two hours, Jason getting more and more relaxed as the
piano worked its magic on him, and when the kids got home from school, he scooped Rann up and sat him
on his lap and both gave him a lesson and let him watch Jason play. Rann wssnyeferly and earnest
interest in the piano, and it |l ooked |Iike hedd I earn
parent. Jason had learned the piano from his mother, who had been a professional concert pianist, first
informally sitting n her lap, then taking more formal lessons from her. Rann had started down that same
pat h. Memories of his gentle motherdéds fingers danci i
some of Jasonbs earliest athaneleo mateese because shedied when i on s .
he was so young.

He did pause in his revelry to read some reports sent to his gestalt, as Rann and Danelle carried steaks,
hrugaroots, and corn on the cob out onto the patio with Surin, preparing to grill. STéneg in the PR
sector were gettingéodd. scalingebadRhwindefense of therhyparspate t he | mx i
jump routes barely two days after the Consortium dedicated ships to protect them, and two more convoys

of ships had left Imxispaceenout e t o Triest e, nearly 2,300 ships by

were Imxi ships, being towed by Consortium destroyers and battleships that had been repaired after the

mine attack at the start of the war. The Consortium ships in those convoyswemna nned by | mxi , Za
reports stated, replacing the insectoid crews killed
nearly as effective in combat. Zaa had made sure heil

identify them wien the attack cardenot if, wherd and either ignore them in favor of taking out more
dangerous ships or wiping them out quickly so they di
generals wanted to take it.

Jason sat at the outdoor table, getting corezkrif the Consortium had convinced the Imxi to

abandon its territoryé.
[Myri,] he called using his gestalt, and the communion network connected him to her interface.
[Myri.]

[Yeah, Jason?]
[You read the last Kimdori activity report?]

[ I dm r eighuhow]ghe dnsweredf | 6 m getting a |little worried, Jay
[Me too. When will that Stargate get to BR17?]
[ Fourteen hours, but I think 1 6m going to contact t

jumps and minimum restshe answered[| want it in place and linked back to Kaffiscking now]

[ Youbve got my bl e $esrépled, brmging ipahe galadic nap. dttshowed thes |, |
location of the Stargate towing task force, a Kimdori battleship being escorted by thdefit&and both
Kimdori and KMS cruisers and destroyers, finishing a wide arc that sent them very wide of the
Consortiumds sensor pickets along their convoy jump |
there instead of three. The same Kimdori battip that pulled the Stargate from that natural bubble of
altered space around the quasar was currently towing the Stargate, trading towing shiftsJ&itl e
reduce stress on both ships over towing something that big that far, but if both ipsttteshproblems, the
cruisers could team up and tow the Stargate in their
shi ps, J absultoriskiosisgrthdttStargate if its two towing ships both had breakdowns and left
thatvery expensive piee of critical hardware stranded in interstellar space on the far side of the galaxy.

Natur al bubble of altered spaceé.









































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































